ISSN:2149-7893 E-ISSN: 2536-507X

# CALERCES CONTRACTOR OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

Indexed in the Web of Science

# Volume: **7** Issue: **2** April 2022



## REVIEWS

- Immunoglobin G4-Related Diseases
   Tinazli and Tinazli. IgG4-Related Diseases
- Adult Basic Life Support Practices During the COVID-19 Pandemic Period Kaya and Aydın. Adult Basic Life Support and COVID-19

## **ORIGINAL ARTICLES**

- Evaluation of Drug-Drug Interactions and Side Effects in COVID-19 Patients in an Intensive Care Unit Taner et al. Drug-Drug Interactions in COVID-19 Patients
- Correlation of Rapid Antibody and RT-PCR Tests With Clinical and Radiological Findings in COVID-19 Patients Admitted to an Employee Health Outpatient Clinic Köse et al. Rapid Antibody and RT-PCR Tests in COVID-19 Patients
- Investigation of 2019-2020 Seasonal Influenza Activity at a University Hospital in Northern Cyprus Abujamous et al. Activity of Influenza in Northern Cyprus
- A New Insight Into the Treatment-Naïve HIV Infected Patients: Whole Blood Viscosity Evren et al. Treatment of Naïve HIV Infected Patients and Whole Blood Viscosity
- Colour Perception Studies on Students of Nnamdi Azikiwe University Nnewi Campus, Nigeria Nwobodo et al. Colour Perception Among Medical Students
- The Association of ERG and c-erbB2 Expressions With Gleason Scoring in Adenocarcinomas of the Prostate

Dağ and Karabağ. ERG and c-erbB2 Expression in Prostate Carcinoma

Evaluation of Cytotoxic, Membrane Damaging and Apoptotic Effects of Origanum majorana Essential Oil on Lung Cancer and Epidermoid Carcinoma Cells Ayşe Gökhan. Cytotoxic effect of Origanum majorana Essential Oil on A-549 and A-431 Cells



Official Journal of Cyprus Turkish Medical Association



www.cyprusjmedsci.com



Volume: 7 Issue: 2 April 2022

# **EDITORIAL BOARD**

Editor-in-Chief Sonuç Büyük Department of Pathology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus sonucbuyuk@outlook.com https://ease.org.uk/member\_profile/sonuc-buyuk-5661/

#### **Associate Editors**

Ahmet Özant Private Clinic of Orthodontics, Nicosia, Cyprus ozantahmet@gmail.com

#### Ahmet Özyiğit

Department of Clinical Embryology, University of Nicosia, Cyprus dr.ahmet@elitenicosia.com

#### Ali Özant

Department of General Surgery, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus ali.ozant@yahoo.com

#### Ali Cenk Özay

Gynaecology and Obstetrics, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus drcenkozay@yahoo.com

#### Amber Eker Bakkaloğlu

Department of Neurology, Eastern Mediterranean University Dr. Fazıl Küçük School of Medicine, Famagusta, Cyprus amber.eker@emu.edu.tr

#### Aysa Ayalı

Department of Oral and Maxillary Surgery, Near East University Faculty of Dentistry, Nicosia, Cyprus aysaayali@hotmail.com

#### Ayşe Baha

Department of Chest Diseases, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

#### Ayşe Ülgen

Department of Biostatistics, Girne American University Faculty of Medicine, Karmi, Cyprus

#### **Barış Peker**

Department of Orthopaedics, LBNDH drbaris@yahoo.com

#### Burak Kavuklu

General Surgery, LBNDH burakkavuklu@yahoo.com

#### Cemal Gürkan

Director of the Turkish Cypriot DNA Laboratory, Nicosia, Cyprus cemal.gurkan@gmail.com

Galenos Publishing House Owner and Publisher Derva Mor Erkan Mor Publication Coordinator Burak Sever Web Coordinators Fuat Hocalar Turgay Akpinar **Graphics Department** Ayda Alaca Çiğdem Birinci Gülay Saday Gülşah Özgül **Finance Coordinator** Sevinç Çakmak Emre Kurtulmuş

Project Coordinators Aysel Balta Duygu Yildırm Gamze Aksoy Gülay Akın Hatice Sever Melike Eren Özlem Çelik Çekil Pınar Akpınar Rabia Palazoğlu Sümeyye Karadağ

Research&Development Melisa Yiğitoğlu Nihan Karamanlı

Digital Marketing Specialist Ümit Topluoğlu Publisher Contact Address: Molla Gürani Mah. Kaçamak Sk. No: 21/1 34093 İstanbul, Türkiye Phone: +90 (212) 621 99 25 Faks/Fax: +90 (212) 621 99 27 E-mail: info@galenos.com.tr/yayin@galenos.com.tr Web: www.galenos.com.tr Yayıncı Sertifika No: 14521

Publication Date: Nisan 2022/April 2022 E-ISSN: 2536-507X ISSN: 2149-7893

International scientific journal published bi-annually.



Volume: 7 Issue: 2 April 2022

# **EDITORIAL BOARD**

#### Cenk Conkbayır

Department of Cardiology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus cenkconk@hotmail.com

#### Ceyhun Dalkan

Department of Pediatrics, Division of Neonatology, Near East University, Cyprus Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus dalkanc@yahoo.com

#### Doğan Ceyhan

Department of Ophthalmology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus doganceyhan@yahoo.com

Düriye Deren Oygar Department of Nephrology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus derenoygar@yahoo.com

#### Emil Mammadov

Pediatric Surgery, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus emil.mammadov@neu.edu.tr

#### Eşref Çelik

Department of Medical and Clinical Microbiology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus esref.celik@neu.edu.tr

#### Erol Dülger

Department of Opthalmology, Near East University Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus drerold@yahoo.com

#### Hasan Mete İnançlı

Private Clinic of Otorhinolaryngology, Nicosia, Cyprus mete.inancli@gmail.com

#### Hülya Efetürk

Department of Nuclear Medicine, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus drhulyaefeturk@gmail.com

#### Hüseyin Kaya Süer

Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus kaya.suer@neu.edu.tr

#### Gökçe Savtekin

Department of Oral and Maxillary Surgery, Near East University Faculty of Dentistry, Nicosia, Cyprus gokcesavtekin@gmail.com

#### Gülten Sucu Dağ

Department of Nursing, Eastern Mediterranean University Faculty of Health Science, Famagusta, Cyprus sucugulten@gmail.com

#### İzgen Karakaya

Department of Restorative Dentistry, Near East University, Faculty of Dentistry, Nicosia, Cyprus izgen96h@gmail.com

#### Kaan Erler

Department of Orthopaedics, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus drkaanerler@yahoo.com

#### Mahmut Çerkez Ergören

Department of Medical Genetics, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus mahmutcerkez.ergoren@neu.edu.tr

#### Mustafa Tașeli

Department of Ophthalmology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus mtaseli@gmail.com

#### Mümtaz Güran

Department of Medical Microbiology, Eastern Mediterranean University Dr. Fazıl Küçük School of Medicine, Famagusta, Cyprus mumtazguran@gmail.com



Volume: 7 Issue: 2 April 2022

# EDITORIAL BOARD

#### Nail Bulakbaşı

Department of Radiology, University of Kyrenia School of Medicine, Dr.Suat Gunsel Hospital, Kyrenia, Cyprus nbulakbasi@yahoo.com

#### Necdet Özçay

Department of General Surgery, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus necdetozcay@gmail.com

#### Nedim Sezgin İlgi

Department of Anatomy, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus sezgin.ilgi@neu.edu.tr

#### Nerin Bahçeciler

Pediatry-Children Health and Diseases, Department of Allergy and Immunology, Pediatry-Children Health and Diseases, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus nerin74@gmail.com

#### Nilüfer Güzoğlu

Department of Neonatalogy, Eastern Mediterranean University Dr. Fazıl Küçük School of Medicine, Famagusta, Cyprus nilufer.guzoglu@emu.edu.tr

#### Ozan Emiroğlu

Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus ozanemiroglu@gmail.com

#### Ömer Taşargöl

Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus omertasargol@yahoo.com

#### Özlem Balcıoğlu

Department of Cardiology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

#### Özüm Tunçyürek

Department of Radiology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus ozum.tuncyurek@neu.edu.tr

#### Serap Soytaç İnançlı

Private Clinic of Endocrinology and Metabolic Diseases and Internal Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus inanclis@yahoo.com

#### Özay Önöral

Department of Protetic Medical Therapy, Near East University Faculty of Dentistry, Nicosia, Cyprus dtozayonoral@gmail.com

#### Özen Aşut

Department of Public Health, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus ozen.asut@neu.edu.tr

#### Pınar Tunçbilek Özmanevra

Department of Otorhinolaryngology - Head and Neck Surgery, Primemed Clinic, Kyrenia, Cyprus pinartuncbilek@gmail.com

#### Ramadan Özmanevra

Department of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, Primemed Clinic, Kyrenia, Cyprus rozmanevra@gmail.com

#### Remzi Gardiyanoğlu

Department of Childrens and Health Disease, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus remzigardiyanoglu@gmail.com

#### Sinem Şığıt İkiz

Department of Radiology, LBNDH sinemsigit@gmail.com

#### Şanda Çalı

Department of Public Health, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus sanda.cali@neu.edu.tr

#### Uğurcan Balyemez

Department of Radiology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus ubalyemez@gmail.com

#### Umut Maraşuna

Department of Endocrinology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus umutmousa@yahoo.co.uk



Volume: 7 Issue: 2 April 2022

# EDITORIAL BOARD

#### Zeynep Taşargöl

Department of Gynocology and Obstetrics, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus zeynepyt84@hotmail.com

## **Biostatistical Editor**

**İlker Etikan** Department of Biostatistics, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus ietikan@gmail.com

## **National Advisory Board**

Ali Ulvi Önder Department of Urology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

**Ayşe Gökyiğit** Department of Pharmaceutical Services of the Ministry of Health, Nicosia, Cyprus

**Beste Kamiloğlu** Department of Orthodontics, Near East University School of Dentistry, Nicosia, Cyprus

**Bülent Haydar** Private Clinic of Maxillofascial Surgery, Nicosia, Cyprus

**Cenk Conkbayır** Department of Cardiology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

**Ender Volkan** Cyprus International University School of Pharmacy, Nicosia, Cyprus

**Erdem Beyoğlu** Barış Mental and Neurological Disorders State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

**Fatma Deniz** Department of Dermatology, Girne Akçiçek State Hospital, Girne, Cyprus

#### Filiz Besim

Private Clinic of Maxillofascial Surgery, Nicosia, Cyprus

**Gamze Mocan Kuzey** Department of Pathology and Cytology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Gönül Küçük Department of Pediatric Surgery, Dr.Burhan Nalbantoglu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

**Gülsen Bozkurt** Private Clinic of Hematology, Nicosia, Cyprus

**Gülten Sucu** Department of Nursing, Eastern Mediterranean University School of Health Sciences, Famagusta, Cyprus

Hanife Erçal Ezgi Department of Dermatology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

#### Hasan Besim Department of General Surgery, Near East Unive

Department of General Surgery, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

#### İdris Deniz

Department of Forensic Medicine, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

**İsmet Başar** Department of Urology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

#### Kenan Arifoğlu

Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoglu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

#### Kerem Teralı

Department of Medical Biochemistry, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Mehmet İnan

Department of General Surgery, Private Magusa Medicine Center, Famagusta, Cyprus

Meltem Nalça



Volume: 7 Issue: 2 April 2022

# **EDITORIAL BOARD**

Department of Radiation Oncology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

#### Mümtaz Güran

Department of Medical Microbiology, Eastern Mediterranean University School Medicine, Famagusta, Cyprus

#### Murat Uncu

Department of Biochemistry, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

#### **Mustafa Kalfaoğlu** Department of General Surgery, Magusa State Hospital, Famagusta, North Cyprus

Nahide Gökçora Department of Nucleer Medicine, East Mediterranian University School of Medicine, Famagusta, Cyprus

#### Nerin N. Bahçeciler Department of Pediatrics, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Sevda Lafcı Department of Anatomy, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

# Sezgin Handan

Department of Nursing, Eastern Mediterranean University School of Health Sciences, Famagusta, Cyprus

#### Sibel Tozaki Department of Dermatology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

**Songül Acar Vaizoğlu** Department of Public Health, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

## Süha Akpınar Department of Radiology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Tarık İzbul

Department of General Surgery, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

**Tevfik Eker** Department of General Surgery, Private Magusa Medicine Center, Famagusta, Cyprus

#### Tijen Ataçağ

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Turgay Akalın Private Clinic of Neurology, Nicosia, Cyprus

**Ülvan Özad** Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

## **International Advisory Board**

# **A.C. Joao Lima** Department of Radiology, Johns Hopkins Medicine, Baltimore, USA

Aliye Özenoğlu Department Nutrition and Dietetics, Üsküdar University School of Health Science, İstanbul, Turkey

# Alp Usubütün

Department of Pathology, Hacettepe University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

#### Alper Sertçelik

Department of Cardiology, Sanko University School of Medicine, Gaziantep, Turkey

#### Ayla Ünsal

Department Of Nursing, Ahi Evran University School Of Health, Kırşehir, Turkey

Ayşe Nihal Demircan

Department of Opthalmology, Çukurova University School of Medicine, Adana, Turkey

#### Aytekin Besim



Volume: 7 Issue: 2 April 2022

# **EDITORIAL BOARD**

Private Clinic of Radiology, Ankara, Turkey

#### Bengi Semerci

Department of Psychiatrist, Institute of Bengi Semerci, İstanbul, Turkey

#### Barış Doğu Yıldız

Department of General Surgery, Ankara Numune Research and Training Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

#### Çağrı Büke

Department of Enfectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, Yeditepe University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

#### Cem Ertan

Department of Emergency Medicine, Akdeniz University School of Medicine, Antalya, Turkey

#### Cem Terzi

Department of General Surgery, Dokuz Eylül University School of Medicine, İzmir, Turkey

#### Coşkun Yorulmaz

Department of Forensic Medicine, İstanbul University Cerrahpaşa School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

#### Dilek Yavuz

Department of Internal Medicine and Endocrinology Section, İstanbul University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

#### Ebru Yılmaz Yalçınkaya

Department of Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation, Gaziosmanpaşa Taksim Research and Training Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

#### Elif Arı Bakır

Department of Nephrology, Kartal Dr. Lütfi Kırdar Training Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

**Egemen İdiman** Department of Neurology, Dokuz Eylül University School of Medicine, İzmir, Turkey

#### Emre Canda

Department of General Surgery, Dokuz Eylül University School of Medicine, İzmir, Turkey

#### Erkan Göksu

Department of Emergency Medicine, Akdeniz University School of Medicine, Antalya, Turkey

#### **Erol Baysal**

Dubai Genetic and Thalassemia Center, Dubai Health Authority, Dubai, UAE

#### Fatih Köse

Department of Oncology, Başkent University School of Medicine, Adana Search and Practise Hospital, Adana, Turkey

#### Fazıl Tuncay Aki

Department of Urology, Head of Transplantation Unite, Hacettepe University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

#### Funda Tuğcu

Department of Orthodontics, Ankara University School of Dentistry, Ankara, Turkey

#### Gökhan Berktuğ Bahadır

Department of Pediatric Surgery, Mersin University School of Medicine, Mersin, Turkey

#### Gülnur Göllü Bahadır

Department of Pediatric Surgery, Ankara University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

#### Gökhan Nergizoğlu

Department of InternalMedicine-Nephrology, Ankara University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

# Gölge Acaroğlu

Private Clinic of Opthalmology, Ankara, Turkey

#### Hür Hassoy

Department of Public Health, Ege University School of Medicine, İzmir, Turkey

#### Hakan Altay



Volume: 7 Issue: 2 April 2022

# **EDITORIAL BOARD**

Department of Cardiology, Başkent University İstanbul Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

#### Hüseyin Bakkaloğlu

Department of General Surgery, İstanbul University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

#### Hüseyin Mertsoylu

Department of Oncology, Başkent University School of Medicine, Adana Search and Practise Hospital, Adana, Turkey

#### İlhami Kuru

Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Başkent University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

Kemal Bakır Department of Pathology, Gaziantep University School of Medicine, Gaziantep, Turkey

#### Kemal Dolay

Department of General Surgery, Bezmialem Vakif University, Bezmialem Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Kürşad Türksen Samuel Lunenfeld Research Institute, Mount Sinai Hospital University of Toronto, Toronto, Canada

**Lale Tokgözoğlu** Department of Cardiology, Hacettepe University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

**Levent Sennaroğlu** Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Hacettepe University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

Mazhar Tokgözoğlu Department of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, Hacettepe University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

Melih Atahan Güven Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, Acıbadem University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Mustafa Camgöz

Department of Life Sciences, Imperial Collage School of Natural Sciences, London, United Kingdom

#### Müfit Akyüz

Department of Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation, Karabük University School of Medicine, Karabük, Turkey

#### Müslime Akbaba

Department of Opthalmology, Acıbadem University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

## Mustafa Sertaç Yazıcı

Department of Urology, Hacettepe University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

## Neval Duman

Department of Internal Medicine-Nephrology, Ankara University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

# Nihat Yavuz

Department of General Surgery, İstanbul University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Nilgün Kapucuoğlu Department of Pathology, Acıbadem University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

#### **Nilüfer Rahmioğlu** Department of Genetics, University of Oxford School of Medicine, Oxford, United Kingdom

Nuray Başsüllü Kara Department of Pathology, Acıbadem University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

#### Nuri Özgirgin

Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Bayındır Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

#### Orçun Şahin

Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Başkent University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

#### Oytun Erbaş



Volume: 7 Issue: 2 April 2022

# **EDITORIAL BOARD**

Department of Experimental Medicine, The Scientific and Technological Research Council (TUBITAK-Martek) of Turkey, IL, USA

#### Özgür Deren

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Division of Maternal Fetal Medicine, Hacettepe University, Ankara, Turkey

#### Özgür Özyılkan

Department of Oncology, School of Medicine, Başkent University Adana Search and Practise Hospital, Adana, Turkey

#### Peyman Yalçın

Department of Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation, Ankara University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

#### Pınar Zeyneloğlu

Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Başkent University, Ankara Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

#### **Ralph Tufano**

Department of Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery, Johns Hopkins Medicine, Baltimore, USA

#### Rahmi Kılıç

Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Kırıkkale University School of Medicine, Kırıkkale, Turkey

#### Salih Marangoz

Department of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, Acıbadem Mehmet Ali Aydınlar University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

#### Selçuk İnanlı

Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Head and Neck Surgery, Marmara University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

#### Serap Öztürkcan

Department of Dermatology, Celal Bayar University School of Medicine, Manisa, Turkey

#### Serkan Durdu

Department of CardiovascularSurgery, Cebeci Kardiac Center, Ankara University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

Serkan Sertel

Department of Otorhinolaryngology, University of Heidelberg Neuenheimer Feld, Heidelberg, Germany

#### Serpil Altındoğan

Department of Oral Maxillofascial Surgery, Ankara University School of Dentistry, Ankara, Turkey

#### Server Serdaroğlu

Department of Dermatology, İstanbul University Cerrahpaşa School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

#### Şaziye Şahin

Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Gazi University Dental School of Dentistry, Ankara, Turkey

#### Teslime Atlı

Department of Geriatrics, Ankara University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

#### Tolga Karcı

Department of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, İzmir Şifa University İzmir, Turkey

#### Ufuk Ateş

Department of Pediatric Surgery, Ankara University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

#### Vedat Göral

Department of Gastroenterology, İstanbul Medipol University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

#### Vural Fidan

Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Yunus Emre State Hospital, Eskişehir, Turkey

#### Yeşim Sağlıcan

Department of Pathology, Acıbadem University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey



Volume: 7 | Issue: 2 | April 2022

# AIMS AND SCOPE

Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences (Cyprus J Med Sci), the official organ of Cyprus Turkish Medical Association.

This journal is an international, open access, scientific, peer-reviewed journal in accordance with independent, unbiased, and double-blinded peer-review principles. As of 2022, the journal has become a bimonthly publication, publishing in February, April, June, and August, October and December. The journal's publication language is English. (E-ISSN:2536-507X)

The aim of the journal is to publish original research papers of the highest scientific and clinical value in all medical fields. Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences also publishes reviews, rare case report and letters to the editors.

The target audience of the journal includes healthcare professionals physicians, and researchers who are interested or working in all fields of medicine.

The editorial and publication process of the Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences are shaped in accordance with the guidelines of the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE), World Association of Medical Editors (WAME), Council of Science Editors (CSE), Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE), European Association of Science Editors (EASE), and National Information Standards Organization (NISO). The journal is in conformity with the Principles of Transparency and Best Practice in Scholarly Publishing.

Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences is indexed in Web of Science-Emerging Sources Citation Index, TUBITAK ULAKBIM TR Index, EBSCO, J-GATE and Gale.

All manuscripts must be submitted via the online submission system, which is available at www.cyprusjmedsci.com. The journal guidelines, technical information, and the required forms are available on the journal's web page.

All expenses of the journal are covered by the Cyprus Turkish Medical Association. Potential advertisers should contact the Editorial Office. Advertisement images are published only upon the Editor-in-Chief's approval.

Statements or opinions expressed in the manuscripts published in the journal reflect the views of the author(s) and not the opinions of the Cyprus Turkish Medical Association, editors, editorial board, and/or publisher; the editors, editorial board, and publisher disclaim any responsibility or liability for such materials. All published content is available online, free of charge at www.cyprusjmedsci.com.

#### **Open Access Policy**

This journal provides immediate open access to its content on the principle that making research freely available to the public supports a greater global exchange of knowledge.

Author(s) and copyright owner(s) grant access to all users for the articles published in the Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciencesas free of charge. Articles may be used provided that they are cited.

Open Access Policy is based on rules of Budapest Open Access Initiative (BOAI) By "open access" to [peer-reviewed research literature], we mean its free availability on the public internet, permitting any users to read, download, copy, distribute, print, search, or link to the full texts of these articles, crawl them for indexing, pass them as data to software, or use them for any other lawful purpose, without financial, legal, or technical barriers other than those inseparable from gaining access to the internet itself. The only constraint on reproduction and distribution, and the only role for copyright in this domain, should be to give authors control over the integrity of their work and the right to be properly acknowledged and cited.

#### **Creative Commons**

The journal's content is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) which permits third parties to share and adapt the content for non-commercial purposes by giving the apropriate credit to the original work.

A Creative Commons license is a public copyright license that provides free distribution of copyrighted works or studies. Authors use the CC license to transfer the right to use, share or modify their work to third parties.

Open access is an approach that supports interdisciplinary development and encourages collaboration between different disciplines. Therefore, Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences contributes to the scientific publishing literature by providing more access to its articles and a more transparent review process.

#### **Material Disclaimer**

Statements or opinions stated in articles published in the journal do not reflect the views of the editors, editorial board and/or publisher; The editors, editorial board and publisher do not accept any responsibility or liability for such materials. All opinions published in the journal belong to the authors.



Volume: 7 Issue: 2 April 2022

# **INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS**

Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences (Cyprus J Med Sci) is the scientific, peer-reviewed, open-access international publication organ of Cyprus Turkish Medical Association. The journal is published bimonthly in February, April, June, and August, October and December. The journal's publication language is English.

The journal aims to publish original research papers of the highest scientific and clinical value in all medical fields. Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences also publishes reviews, rare case reports and letters to the editors.

The target audience of the journal includes healthcare professionals, physicians, and researchers who are interested or working in all fields of medicine.

#### EDITORIAL AND PUBLICATION PROCESS

The editorial and publication process of the Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences are shaped in accordance with the guidelines of the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE), World Association of Medical Editors (WAME), Council of Science Editors (CSE), Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE), European Association of Science Editors (EASE), and National Information Standards Organization (NISO). The journal is in conformity with the Principles of Transparency and Best Practice in Scholarly Publishing.

Originality, high scientific quality, and citation potential are the most significant criteria for a manuscript to be accepted for publication. Manuscripts submitted for evaluation should not have been previously presented or already published in an electronic or printed medium. The journal should be informed of manuscripts that have been submitted to another journal for evaluation and rejected for publication. The submission of previous reviewer reports will expedite the evaluation process. Manuscripts that have been presented in a meeting should be submitted with detailed information on the organization, including the name, date, and location of the organization.

#### **Submission Fee Policy**

As of August 1, 2021, "Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences" charges a submission fee of \$75 for all submitted manuscripts from the authors during only first submission. No additional fee will be charged for publication.

You can make your payments via remittance method by using the bank details below. You can visit our website to find more about purchasing (https://cyprusjmedsci.com/).

IBAN: TR04 0006 4000 0026 8180 2764 37 Account Name: Kıbrıs Türk Tabipleri Birliği Bank Name: İşbank (Türkiye İş Bankası) Swift Code: ISBKTRIS Branch Code: 6818

\*\*Authors do not need to make a payment for the resubmissions.

\*\*Please note that the submission fee purchase affects neither the evaluation process of the manuscript nor priority.

\*The physicians who are the Cyprus Turkish Medical Association members are waived from the submission fee.

\*If you are a member of the Cyprus Turkish Medical Association, you can upload your membership card photograph instead of the receipt.

#### PEER REVIEW PROCESS

Manuscripts submitted to Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences will go through a double-blind peer-review process. Each submission will be reviewed by at least two external, independent peer reviewers who are experts in their fields in order to ensure an unbiased evaluation process. The editorial board will invite an external and independent editor to manage the evaluation processes of manuscripts submitted by editors or by the editorial board members of the journal. The Editor in Chief is the final authority in the decision-making process for all submissions.



Volume: 7 | Issue: 2 | April 2022

# **INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS**

#### ETHICAL PROCEDURES

An approval of research protocols by the Ethics Committee in accordance with international agreements (World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki "Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects," amended in October 2013) is required for experimental, clinical, and drug studies and for some case reports. If required, ethics committee reports or an equivalent official document will be requested from the authors. For manuscripts concerning experimental research on humans, a statement should be included that shows that written informed consent of patients and volunteers was obtained following a detailed explanation of the procedures that they may undergo. For studies carried out on animals, the measures taken to prevent pain and suffering of the animals should be stated clearly. Information on patient consent, the name of the ethics committee, and the ethics committee approval number should also be stated in the "Materials and Methods" section of the manuscript. It is the authors' responsibility to protect the patients' anonymity carefully.

For photographs that may reveal the identity of the patients, signed consent of the patient or their legal representative should be enclosed, and the publication approval must be provided in the "Materials and Methods" section. However, the identities of the patients should be concealed in the photographs.

#### PLAGIARISM

Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences is extremely sensitive about plagiarism. All submissions are screened by a similarity detection software (iThenticate by CrossCheck) at any point during the peer-review and/or production process. Even if you are the author of the phrases or sentences, the text should not have unacceptable similarity with the previously published data.

When you are discussing others' (or your own) previous work, please make sure that you cite the material correctly in every instance.

In the event of alleged or suspected research misconduct, e.g., plagiarism, citation manipulation, and data falsification/fabrication, the Editorial Board will follow and act following COPE guidelines.

#### PREPRINT

Authors must provide the journal with the preprint server deposition of their article accompanying its DOI during initial submission.

Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences does not consider preprint publications before publication. In other words, authors are allowed to present and discuss their findings on a non-commercial preprint server before submission to the journal.

If the article is published in the Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences, it is the responsibility of the authors to update the archived preprint and link it to the published version of the article.

#### **AUTHORSHIP**

Each person listed as an author should fulfill the authorship criteria recommended by http://www.icmje.org/recommendations/browse/roles-and-responsibilities/defining-the-role-of-authors-and-contributors.html). The ICMJE recommends that authorship is based on the following four criteria:

- 1. Substantial contributions to the conception or design of the work; or the acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data for the work; AND
- 2. Drafting the work or revising it critically for important intellectual content; AND
- 3. Final approval of the version to be published; AND
- 4. Agreement to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

In addition to being accountable for the parts of the work he/she has done, an author should be able to identify which co-authors are responsible for specific other parts of the work. Also, authors should have confidence in the integrity of the contributions of their co-authors.

All those designated as authors should meet all four criteria for authorship, and all who meet the four criteria should be identified as authors. Those who do not meet all four criteria should be acknowledged on the title page of the manuscript.

Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences requires corresponding authors to submit a signed and scanned version of the Copyright Agreement and Acknowledgement of Authorship form (available for download www.cyprusjmedsci.com) during the initial submission process to act appropriately on authorship rights and to prevent ghost or honorary



Volume: 7 Issue: 2 April 2022

# **INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS**

authorship. If the editorial board suspects a case of "gift authorship," the submission will be rejected without further review. As part of the submission of the manuscript, the corresponding author should also send a short statement declaring that he/she accepts to undertake all the responsibility for authorship during the submission and review stages of the manuscript.

#### **DISCLOSURE AND CONFLICTS OF INTEREST**

All sources of financial support should be disclosed. All authors ought to disclose a meaningful conflict of interest in the process of forming their study. Any financial grants or other support received for a submitted study from individuals or institutions should be disclosed to the Editorial Board of the Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences. The ICMJE Potential Conflict of Interest Disclosure Form should be filled in and submitted by all contributing authors to disclose a potential conflict of interest. The journal's Editorial Board determines cases of a potential conflict of interest of the editors, authors, or reviewers within the scope of COPE and ICMJE guidelines.

The Editorial Board of the journal handles all appeal and complaint cases within the scope of COPE guidelines. In such cases, authors should get in direct contact with the editorial office regarding their appeals and complaints. When needed, an ombudsperson may be assigned to resolve claims that cannot be resolved internally. The Editor in Chief is the final authority in the decision-making process for all appeals and complaints.

#### MANUSCRIPT PREPARATION

The manuscripts should be prepared in accordance with ICMJE-Recommendations for the Conduct, Reporting, Editing, and Publication of Scholarly Work in Medical Journals (updated in December 2019). Authors are required to prepare manuscripts in accordance with the CONSORT guidelines for randomized research studies, STROBE guidelines for observational original research studies, STARD guidelines for studies on diagnostic accuracy, PRISMA guidelines for systematic reviews and meta-analysis, ARRIVE guidelines for experimental animal studies, and TREND guidelines for non-randomized public behavior.

Manuscripts can only be submitted through the journal's online manuscript submission and evaluation system, available at www.cyprusjmedsci.com. Manuscripts submitted via any other medium and submissions by anyone other than one of the authors will not be evaluated.

Manuscripts submitted to the journal will first go through a technical evaluation process where the editorial office staff will ensure that the manuscript has been prepared and submitted in accordance with the journal's guidelines. Submissions that do not conform to the journal's guidelines will be returned to the submitting author with technical correction requests.

Authors are required to submit the following:

- · Copyright Agreement and Acknowledgement of Authorship Form, and
- ICMJE Potential Conflict of Interest Disclosure Form (should be filled in by all contributing authors) during the initial submission. These forms are available for download at www.icmje.org.

#### **Preparation of the Manuscript**

Title page: A separate title page should be submitted with all submissions and this page should include:

- The full title of the manuscript as well as a short title (running head) of no more than 50 characters,
- · Name(s), affiliations, highest academic degree(s), and ORCID IDs of the author(s),
- · Grant information and detailed information on the other sources of support,
- · Name, address, telephone (including the mobile phone number), and e-mail address of the corresponding author,
- · Acknowledgment of the individuals who contributed to the preparation of the manuscript but who do not fulfill the authorship criteria.

Abstract: An abstract should be submitted with all submissions except for Letters to the Editor. The abstract of Original Articles should be structured with subheadings (Background/Aims, Material and Methods, Results and Conclusion). Please check Table 1 below for word count specifications.

**Keywords**: Each submission must be accompanied by a minimum of three to a maximum of five keywords for subject indexing at the end of the abstract. The keywords should be listed in full without abbreviations. The keywords should be selected from the National Library of Medicine, Medical Subject Headings database. (https://www.nlm.nih.gov/mesh/MBrowser.html).



Volume: 7 Issue: 2 April 2022

# **INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS**

Main Points: All submissions except letters to the editor should be accompanied by 3 to 5 "main points", which should emphasize the most noteworthy results of the study and underline the principle message that is addressed to the reader. This section should be structured as itemized to give a general overview of the article. Since "Main Points" target the experts and specialists of the field, each item should be written as plain and straightforward as possible.

#### Language Editing Before Submission

Authors must send their manuscripts to a professional language edit service before submitting their manuscripts to the system. They need to upload the language edit certificate to the system during the submission.

You can find some useful and relevant links for language edit services below. You can also use any other Professional language editing services freely.

Enago: https://www.enago.com.tr/

Editage: https://www.editage.com/

Scribendi: https://www.scribendi.com/

Elsevier Language Editing Service: https://webshop.elsevier.com/language-editing-services/language-editing/

#### **Manuscript Types**

**Original Articles:** This is the most important type of article since it provides new information based on original research. Acceptance of original papers will be based upon the originality and importance of the investigation. The main text of original articles should be structured with Introduction, Material and Methods, Results, and Discussion subheadings. An original article can be signed by maximum 6 authors unless it is a multi-center study or that it required extensive labour. Please check Table 1 for the limitations for Original Articles.

#### **Clinical Trials**

Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences adopts the ICMJE's clinical trial registration policy, which requires that clinical trials must be registered in a publicly accessible registry that is a primary register of the WHO International Trials Registry Platform (ICTRP) or in ClinicalTrials.gov.

Instructions for the clinical trials are listed below.

- Clinical trial registry is only required for the prospective research projects that study the relationship between a health-related intervention and an outcome by assigning people.
- To have their manuscript evaluated in the journal, author should register their research to a public registry at or before the time of first patient enrollment.
- Based on most up to date ICMJE recommendations, Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences accepts public registries that include minimum acceptable 24-item trial registration dataset.
- Authors are required to state a data sharing plan for the clinical trial registration. Please see details under "Data Sharing" section.
- For further details, please check ICMJE Clinical Trial Policy at

http://www.icmje.org/recommendations/browse/publishing-and-editorial-issues/clinical-trial-registration.html

#### **Data Sharing**

As of 1 January 2019, a data sharing statement is required for the registration of clinical trials. Authors are required to provide a data sharing statement for the articles that reports the results of a clinical trial. The data sharing statement should indicate the items below according to the ICMJE data sharing policy:

- · Whether individual deidentified participant data will be shared
- What data in particular will be shared
- · Whether additional, related documents will be available
- · When the data will be available and for how long
- · By what access criteria will be shared



Volume: 7 Issue: 2 April 2022

# **INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS**

Authors are recommended to check the ICMJE data sharing examples at

http://www.icmje.org/recommendations/browse/publishing-and-editorial-issues/clinical-trial-registration.html

While submitting a clinical trial to Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences;

- Authors are required to make registration to a publicly accessible registry according to ICMJE recommendations and the instructions above.
- The name of the registry and the registration number should be provided in the Title Page during the initial submission.
- Data sharing statement should also be stated in the Title Page even the authors do not plan to share it.

Statistical analysis to support conclusions is usually necessary. Statistical analyses must be conducted in accordance with international statistical reporting standards (Altman DG, Gore SM, Gardner MJ, Pocock SJ. Statistical guidelines for contributors to medical journals. Br Med J 1983: 7; 1489-93). Information on statistical analyses should be provided with a separate subheading under the Materials and Methods section and the statistical software that was used during the process must be specified.

Units should be prepared in accordance with the International System of Units (SI).

Editorial Comments: Invited brief editorial comments on selected articles are published in The Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences. Editorials should not be longer than 1000 words excluding references. Editorial comments aim to provide a brief critical commentary by reviewers with expertise or with high reputation in the topic of the research article published in the journal. Authors are selected and invited by the journal to provide such comments. Abstract, Keywords, and Tables, Figures, Images, and other media are not included.

**Review Articles**: Reviews prepared by authors who have extensive knowledge on a particular field and whose scientific background has been translated into a high volume of publications with a high citation potential are welcomed. These authors may even be invited by the journal. Reviews should describe, discuss, and evaluate the current level of knowledge of a topic in clinical practice and should guide future studies. The subheadings of the review articles should be planned by the authors. However, each review article should include an "Introduction" and a "Conclusion" section. Please check Table 1 for the limitations for Review Articles.

**Case Reports:** There is limited space for case reports in the journal and reports on rare cases or conditions that constitute challenges in diagnosis and treatment, those offering new therapies or revealing knowledge not included in the literature, and interesting and educative case reports are accepted for publication. The text should include Introduction, Case Presentation, and Discussion with an unstructured abstract. Please check Table 1 for the limitations for Case Reports.

Letters to the Editor: This type of manuscript discusses important parts, overlooked aspects, or lacking parts of a previously published article. Articles on subjects within the scope of the journal that might attract the readers' attention, particularly educative cases, may also be submitted in the form of a "Letter to the Editor." Readers can also present their comments on the published manuscripts in the form of a "Letter to the Editor." Abstract, Keywords, and Tables, Figures, Images, and other media should not be included. The text should be unstructured. The manuscript that is being commented on must be properly cited within this manuscript.

Table 1. Limitations for each manuscript type						
Type of manuscript	Word limit	Abstract word limit	Reference limit	Table limit	Figure limit	
Original Article	4000	250	35	6	5 or total of 10 images	
		(Structured)				
Review Article	5000	250	50	6	10 or total of 15 images	
Case Report	1200	200	15	No tables	4 or total of 8 images	
Letter to the Editor	400	No abstract	5	No tables	No media	

#### Tables

Tables should be included in the main document, presented after the reference list, and they should be numbered consecutively in the order they are referred to within the main text. A descriptive title must be placed above the tables. Abbreviations used in the tables should be defined below the tables by footnotes (even if they are defined within the main text). Tables should be created using the "insert table" command of the word processing software and they should be arranged clearly to provide easy reading. Data presented in the tables should not be a repetition of the data presented within the main text but should be supporting the main text.



Volume: 7 Issue: 2 April 2022

# **INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS**

#### **Figures and Figure Legends**

Figures, graphics, and photographs should be submitted as separate files (in TIFF or JPEG format) through the submission system. The files should not be embedded in a Word document or the main document. When there are figure subunits, the subunits should not be merged to form a single image. Each subunit should be submitted separately through the submission system. Images should not be labeled (a, b, c, etc.) to indicate figure subunits. Thick and thin arrows, arrowheads, stars, asterisks, and similar marks can be used on the images to support figure legends. Like the rest of the submission, the figure should be blind. Any information within the images that may indicate an individual or institution should be blinded. The minimum resolution of each submitted figure should be 300 DPI. To prevent delays in the evaluation process, all submitted figures should be clear in resolution and large in size (minimum dimensions:  $100 \times 100$  mm). Figure legends should be listed at the end of the main document.

All acronyms and abbreviations used in the manuscript should be defined at first use, both in the abstract and in the main text. The abbreviation should be provided in parentheses following the definition.

When a drug, product, hardware, or software program is mentioned within the main text, product information, including the name of the product, the producer of the product, and city and the country of the company (including the state if in USA), should be provided in parentheses in the following format: "Discovery St PET/CT scanner (General Electric, Milwaukee, WI, USA)"

All references, tables, and figures should be referred to within the main text, and they should be numbered consecutively in the order they are referred to within the main text.

Limitations, drawbacks, and the shortcomings of original articles should be mentioned in the Discussion section before the conclusion paragraph.

#### References

Both in-text citations and the references must be prepared according to the Vancouver style.

hile citing publications, preference should be given to the latest, most up-to-date publications. Authors are responsible for the accuracy of references If an ahead-of-print publication is cited, the DOI number should be provided. Journal titles should be abbreviated in accordance with the journal abbreviations in Index Medicus/MEDLINE/ PubMed. When there are six or fewer authors, all authors should be listed. If there are seven or more authors, the first six authors should be listed followed by "et al." In the main text of the manuscript, references should be cited using Arabic numbers in parentheses. The reference styles for different types of publications are presented in the following examples.

Journal Article: Yazıcı A. The efficacy of endoscopic ventilation tube insertion in pediatric populations. Cyprus J Med Sci. 2019; 4(2): 73-6.

**Book Section:** Suh KN, Keystone JS. Malaria and babesiosis. Gorbach SL, Barlett JG, Blacklow NR, editors. Infectious Diseases. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams; 2004.p.2290-308.

Books with a Single Author: Sweetman SC. Martindale the complete drug reference. 34th ed. London: Pharmaceutical Press; 2005.

Editor(s) as Author: Huizing EH, de Groot JAM, editors. Functional reconstructive nasal surgery. Stuttgart-New York: Thieme; 2003.

Conference Proceedings: Bengisson S. Sothemin BG. Enforcement of data protection, privacy and security in medical informatics. In: Lun KC, Degoulet P, Piemme TE, Rienhoff O, editors. MEDINFO 92.

Proceedings of the 7th World Congress on Medical Informatics; 1992 Sept 6-10; Geneva, Switzerland. Amsterdam: North-Holland; 1992. pp.1561-5.

Scientific or Technical Report: Cusick M, Chew EY, Hoogwerf B, Agrón E, Wu L, Lindley A, et al. Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study Research Group. Risk factors for renal replacement therapy in the Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study (ETDRS), Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study Kidney Int: 2004. Report No: 26.

Thesis: Yılmaz B. Ankara Üniversitesindeki öğrencilerin beslenme durumları, fiziksel aktiviteleri ve beden kitle indeksleri kan lipidleri arasındaki ilişkiler. H.Ü. Sağlık Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Doktora Tezi. 2007.

Manuscripts Accepted for Publication, Not Published Yet: Slots J. The microflora of black stain on human primary teeth. Scand J Dent Res. 1974.

**Epub Ahead of Print Articles:** Cai L, Yeh BM, Westphalen AC, Roberts JP, Wang ZJ. Adult living donor liver imaging. Diagn Interv Radiol. 2016 Feb 24. doi: 10.5152/ dir.2016.15323. [Epub ahead of print].



Volume: 7 Issue: 2 April 2022

# **INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS**

Manuscripts Published in Electronic Format: Morse SS. Factors in the emergence of infectious diseases. Emerg Infect Dis (serial online) 1995 Jan-Mar: 1(1): (24 screens). Available from: http://www.cdc.gov/ncidodlElD/cid.htm. (Accessed on June 5, 1996)

#### REVISIONS

When submitting a revised version of a paper, the author must submit a detailed "Response to the reviewers" that states point by point how each issue raised by the reviewers has been covered and where it can be found (each reviewer's comment, followed by the author's reply and line numbers where the changes have been made) as well as an annotated copy of the main document. Revised manuscripts must be submitted within 30 days from the date of the decision letter. If the revised version of the manuscript is not submitted within the allocated time, the revision option may be canceled. If the submitting author(s) believe that additional time is required, they should request this extension before the initial 30-day period is over.

Accepted manuscripts are copy-edited for grammar, punctuation, and format by professional language editors. Once the publication process of a manuscript is completed, it is published online on the journal's webpage as an ahead-of-print publication before it is included in its scheduled issue. A PDF proof of the accepted manuscript is sent to the corresponding author and their publication approval is requested within 2 days of their receipt of the proof.



Volume: 7 Issue: 2 April 2022

# CONTENTS

#### REVIEWS

- **156 Immunoglobin G4-Related Diseases** Mehtap Tinazli, Remzi Tinazli; Nicosia, Cyprus
- **163** Adult Basic Life Support Practices During the COVID-19 Pandemic Period Ufuk Kaya, Nida Aydın; Nicosia, Cyprus

#### **ORIGINAL ARTICLES**

- **167** Evaluation of Drug-Drug Interactions and Side Effects in COVID-19 Patients in an Intensive Care Unit Neda Taner, Betül Şirin, Deniz Kızılaslan, Cem Erdoğan; İstanbul, Turkey
- 175 Correlation of Rapid Antibody and RT-PCR Tests With Clinical and Radiological Findings in COVID-19 Patients Admitted to an Employee Health Outpatient Clinic Şükran Köse, Pınar Şamlıoğlu, Gözde Derviş Hakim, Mutluhan Yiğitaslan, Rıfat Somay, Bengü Tatar, Mehmet Bozkurt; İzmir, Turkey
- **180** Investigation of 2019-2020 Seasonal Influenza Activity at a University Hospital in Northern Cyprus Sahem Mowafaq A. Abujamous, Ayşe Arıkan, Emrah Güler, Kaya Suer, Tamer Şanlıdağ; Nicosia, Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus; Manisa, Turkey
- **186** A New Insight Into the Treatment-Naïve HIV Infected Patients: Whole Blood Viscosity Hakan Evren, Emine Ünal Evren, Elif Çekirdekçi, Kaya Süer, Figen Sarıgül Yıldırım, Ali Asan, Barış Buğan; Kyrenia, Nicosia, Cyprus; Antalya, Bursa, Turkey
- **191 Colour Perception Studies on Students of Nnamdi Azikiwe University Nnewi Campus, Nigeria** Ed Nwobodo, Nneoma Darawuzie, David Chibuike Ikwuka; Nnewi, Nigeria
- **196** The Association of ERG and c-erbB2 Expressions With Gleason Scoring in Adenocarcinomas of the Prostate Kenan Dağ, Sevil Karabağ; Tekirdağ, Turkey
- **201** Evaluation of Cytotoxic, Membrane Damaging and Apoptotic Effects of *Origanum majorana* Essential Oil on Lung Cancer and Epidermoid Carcinoma Cells Ayse Gökhan; Antalya, Turkey
- **207** The Relationship of Food Addiction With Emotional Control and Socio-Cultural Factors in University Employees Elif Reis, Gülistan Çakır, Havvanur Demirkaya, Neslihan Kuzu, Türkan Atay, Aliye Özenoğlu; İstanbul, Turkey
- **213** The Effects of Achievement-Focused Motivation on Lifelong Learning Tendencies of Nursing Students Sibel Şentürk, Bircan Kara, Alev Yıldırım Keskin; Burdur, Hatay, Konya, Turkey
- 222 An Assessment of Restless Legs Syndrome and Sleep Quality in Pregnant Women Sevil Şahin, Döndü Sevimli Güler, Kevser Özdemir, Alaattin Unsal; Ankara, Sakarya, Eskişehir, Turkey



Volume: 7 Issue: 2 April 2022

# CONTENTS

229 A Comparison of Gluten-Containing and Gluten-Free Food Products in Terms of Cost and Nutrient Content in the City of Antalya, Turkey

Ayşe Meydanlıoğlu, Ebru Köse; Antalya, Turkey

- **234** The Relationship of Between the COVID-19 Pandemic and Professional Belonging Levels of Student Midwives Filiz Yarıcı, Burcu Avcıbay Vurgeç; Nicosia, Cyprus; Adana, Turkey
- 241 Assessment of ELR, NLR, MPV, and CRP Levels in Patients With Acne Vulgaris Munise Daye, Selami Aykut Temiz, Elif Nur Yıldırım Öztürk, Begüm Işık; Konya, Turkey
- 245 Determining the Attitudes, Behaviours and Affecting Factors of Female Seasonal Agricultural Workers Relating to the Early Diagnosis of Cervical Cancer Fatma Yavuz, Fatma Ersin; Adıyaman, Şanlıurfa, Turkey
- **252** Fear of Birth: An Increasing Fear in Pregnancy During the COVID-19 Period Öznur Tiryaki, Özlem Doğu, Koray Gök, Mehmet Sühha Bostancı; Sakarya, Turkey
- 259 Current Threat in COVID-19; Asymptomatic Carriers Feyza İzci, Zeynep Türe, Gamze Kalın Ünüvar, Burcu Baran Ketencioğlu, Gökmen Zararsız, Bilgehan Aygen, Orhan Yıldız; Kayseri, Turkey
- **266** Long-Term Results of the Arthroscopic Meniscectomy Following Non-Traumatic Tears Due to Mucoid Degeneration and Traumatic Tears

Yunus Emre Bektaş, Osman Nuri Eroğlu, Halit Pınar; İzmir, Turkey

#### **CASE REPORTS**

271 Pancreatic Ewing's Sarcoma Synchronously Diagnosed in a Patient of Carcinoma Cervix: A Case Report and Literature Review

Rahul Patil, Sucheta Gandhe, Yasam Venkata Ramesh, Raj Nagarkar; Maharashtra, India

277 Ascending Aorta and Aortic Root Replacement With the Bentall Procedure in a Patient With Dextrocardia and Situs Inversus Totalis

Özlem Balcıoğlu, Barçın Özcem, Aşkın Ali Korkmaz; Nicosia, Cyprus; İstanbul, Turkey

**280 Transparent Foreign Body Randomly Found in the Nasopharynx During Adenotonsillectomy** Hasan Şafakoğulları; Nicosia, Cyprus





# **Immunoglobin G4-Related Diseases**

#### Mehtap Tınazlı<sup>1</sup>, Remzi Tınazlı<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Internal Medicine, Near East University Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus <sup>2</sup>Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Near East University Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

#### ABSTRACT

IgG4-related disease (IgG4-RD) is characterised by its pathological, serological, and clinical features, and its recognition is gradually increasing in the literature. This disease is generally observed in middle-aged males and older groups. IgG4 positive plasma cells and T lymphocytes infiltrate various organs, characterised by the etiology of an unknown disease. Almost all organs of the body are affected, but those most frequently affected are the pancreas, bile duct, gallbladder, salivary glands, retroperitoneal region, kidneys, lungs, and the prostate. The histopathological features of this disease are storiform fibrosis and obliterative phlebitis. Corticosteroids are useful in the treatment of this disease.

This study aims to increase the awareness of IgG4-related disease through a review of the recent literature.

Keywords: IgG4-related disease, clinical manifestations, diagnosis, treatment, recent literature

#### **INTRODUCTION**

IgG4-related disease (IgG4-RD) is an immune-mediated, systemic, fibroinflammatory disease.<sup>1,2</sup> However, it is not a new disease: "Mikulicz disease", "Ormond disease", "Riedel thyroiditis", "Küttner tumour" and a variety of other diseases are seen in the IgG4-RD spectrum.<sup>3</sup> Its most important features include tumour-like masses, IgG4-positive plasma cells, lymphoplasmacytic deposits, and typical storiform fibrosis. Serum IgG4 levels are increased in 60 to 70 percent of IgG4-RD patients.

Most patients with early-stage disease respond to glucocorticoids, but exacerbation of the disease may occur in patients after the steroids are reduced or discontinued.

Different names are used for IgG4-related diseases.<sup>4,5</sup> These include:

- IgG4-related disease,
- IgG4-related systemic disease,
- IgG4-syndrome,
- IgG4-associated disease,

- IgG4-related sclerosing disease,
- IgG4-related systemic sclerosing disease,
- IgG4-related autoimmune disease,
- IgG4-positive multi-organ lymphoproliferative syndrome,
- Hyper-IgG4 disease,
- Systemic IgG4-related plasmacytic syndrome,
- Systemic IgG4-related sclerosing syndrome,
- Multifocal fibrosclerosis,
- Multifocal idiopathic fibrosclerosis.

In 2001, serum IgG4 levels were detected to be high in patients with sclerosing pancreatitis (Autoimmune pancreatitis-Type 1). In 2003, these autoimmune cases were shown to be due to the involvement of other organs and blood, and autoimmune pancreatitis was considered a systemic disease. In 2012, an international study group suggested the concept of IgG4-RD.<sup>6</sup> IgG4-RD can affect all of the organs in the body.

To cite this article: Tinazli M, Tinazli R. Immunoglobin G4-Related Diseases. Cyprus J Med Sci 2022;7(2):156-162

ORCID iDs of the authors: M.T. 0000-0002-7858-0696; R.T. 0000-0003-3066-4804.



Address for Correspondence: Remzi Tinazli E-mail: remtinazli@hotmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0003-3066-4804

Received: 22.12.2020 Accepted: 20.02.2021

OPEN ACCESS

Copyright 2022 by the Cyprus Turkish Medical Association / Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences published by Galenos Publishing House. Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License

IgG4 related disease, its diagnosis, prognosis, treatment approaches, and current discussions are examined in this review.

#### Epidemiology

IgG4-related disease (IgG4-RD) is mostly seen in middle-aged males and older groups. However, IgG4-related sialadenitis and dacryoadenitis are slightly more predominant in women.<sup>7</sup> Retroperitoneal fibrosis, IgG4related tubule interstitial nephritis (TIN), autoimmune pancreatitis (AIP), and other organ manifestations are slightly more predominant in elderly males. The gender distribution varies, according to patients with head and neck involvement.<sup>8</sup> In men, the disease is more common but the degree and severity of the disease in both women and men seem to be similar.<sup>9</sup>

#### **Pathogenesis**

The pathogenesis of IgG4-RD remains unknown.<sup>10</sup> Genetic predisposition, abnormal immune response (an autoimmune disorder), and allergic disorder are thought to be the underlying factors in the development of this disease.<sup>6,11-13</sup> No autoantigenic gene specific for this disease has been detected, and the pathogenicity of IgG4 antibodies is not fully known.<sup>14</sup> It was shown that the HLA-DRB1\*0405 and HLA DQB1\*0401 haplotypes in the Japanese population, and the HLA-DRB1\*0701, and DQB1\*0202 haplotypes in Koreans were related to a predisposition to type 1 AIP.<sup>15</sup> It was thought that the factor triggering the abnormal immune response might be microorganisms, and Helicobacter pylori were particularly emphasized.<sup>16</sup> However, later studies have shown that antibodies against PBP are associated with type 2 AIP rather than type 1 AIP. Also, it is thought that natural immunity is effective in disease development. It is mainly thought that foreign pathogenassociated with molecular patterns (PAMPs), potential self-factors, and damage-related molecular patterns (DAMPs) could be the possible triggering factors.<sup>17</sup>

It is still not fully understood whether IgG4-RD is an autoimmune disorder or an allergic disorder. IgG4 allergens have also been suggested to be involved in tolerance and response to specific infectious agents. Nevertheless, its physiological role is unknown.<sup>17</sup> High serum and tissue IgG4 levels are not specific in IgG4-related diseases. These may increase in many other diseases such as allergic disorders, Churg-Strauss syndrome, Castleman's disease, and sarcoidosis.<sup>18</sup> Evidence relating to allergic response includes eosinophilia seen in 40% of patients, high Th2 cytokine levels and serum IgE in the tissues affected by the disease, and a raised association with allergic rhinitis and bronchial asthma.<sup>17</sup> Antinuclear antibodies and rheumatoid factors may also be detected in some of those patients mentioned above.19 There are a large number of T regulatory cells (Tregs) in peripheral circulation and the levels of interleukin (IL)-10 and transforming growth factor (TGF) produced by Tregs in the affected tissues are increased.<sup>20,21</sup> These cytokines help the output of IgG4.22

Previously, the IgG4 molecule was thought to be a direct cause of tissue injury. However, it is now known that IgG4 is not a primary element in this pathophysiology. It seems that T follicular helper cells drive the passage of the class into IgG, perhaps through the secretion of IL-4.<sup>23</sup>

B cells, plasmablasts in particular, play an essential role in IgG4-RD. IGG4<sup>+</sup> plasmablast may present the antigen to T cells.<sup>24</sup>

According to recent evidence, T-cells play a primary role in IgG4-RD pathogenesis. In IgG4-RD-affected tissues,  $CD4^+$  T-cells accumulate throughout the lesions.<sup>25</sup>

#### **Clinical Manifestations**

One or more organs may be affected in IgG4-RD. Patients usually show the development of a mass in the affected organ (e.g., an orbital pseudotumor, nodular lesions in the lung, a renal mass resembling renal cell carcinoma) or diffuse enlargement of an organ (e.g., the pancreas).<sup>1,8,26</sup>

Painless swelling is observed in the organs. There may be multiple organ involvement in more than 60 percent of IgG4-RD cases.<sup>27,28</sup> Standard features in the affected tissues are histopathological, storiform fibrosis, obliterative phlebitis, and high serum IgG4 concentrations. Lymphadenopathy is quite common, and allergy and asthma symptoms occur in about 40% of patients.<sup>17,29</sup> Symptoms of systemic disease such as fever and weakness are usually not seen. IgG4-RD is often incidentally diagnosed during radiological imaging or histopathology.<sup>17</sup>

The most common clinical manifestations are as follows:

Type 1 (IgG4-related) autoimmune pancreatitis (AIP)

IgG4-related sclerosing cholangitis

IgG4-related dacryoadenitis and sialadenitis (Mikulicz disease)

Sclerosing sialadenitis (Küttner's tumour, IgG4-related submandibular gland disease)

IgG4-related orbital inflammation or orbital inflammatory pseudotumor

IgG4-related thyroid disease

IgG4-related respiratory disease

IgG4-related aortitis or periaortitis (chronic sclerosing aortitis and periaortitis)

Ormond's disease (IgG4-related retroperitoneal fibrosis),

IgG4-related kidney disease

Hypophysitis

Pachymeningitis

IgG4-RD is relatively rare, but recently, the awareness of this disease has increased, rheumatologists consult it more frequently, and earlier diagnosis is made.<sup>1,2,11,17,30</sup> Nevertheless, IgG4-RD it is usually detected incidentally by a radiologist or pathologist. Sometimes IgG4-RD remains localized to a single organ for months or even years, e.g., the salivary or lacrimal glands. It may also sometimes show signs of multiple organ involvement at the time of diagnosis.<sup>31</sup> According to different studies, the organ frequencies of the disease are different.<sup>32</sup>

**Lymphadenopathy:** In IgG4-related diseases, asymptomatic lymph node enlargement is the most common finding in 80 percent of patients with AIP.<sup>32</sup> The diagnosis of IgG4-RD by lymph node biopsy alone is quite difficult because lymph node biopsy rarely shows the degree of storiform fibrosis observed in other organs.<sup>31</sup>

**Salivary and lacrimal gland involvement:** Painless swelling in the upper eyelid, changes in facial appearance, and swelling of the submandibular gland, and parotid gland areas provide clues to the diagnosis.<sup>17</sup>

For example; Mikulicz disease is lacrimal, parotid and submandibular gland enlargement, and was previously called sclerosing sialadenitis (Küttner tumour).<sup>33</sup> Sikka symptoms are so mild that differential diagnosis with Sjögren syndrome is required. Dry mouth, dry eyes, and arthralgia are less common findings, compared to those patients with Sjögren syndrome. Allergic rhinitis, asthma, AIP, and interstitial nephritis are common. RF, ANA, Anti-SSA, and anti-SSB positivity is lower.<sup>17,34</sup>

**Orbital disease:** 25%–50% of orbital pseudotumors appear to be caused by IgG4-RD which was previously known as benign lymphoid hyperplasia. With the use of IgG4-RD diagnostic criteria, it was found that 5%–25% of cases called non-granulomatous idiopathic orbital inflammation are IgG4-RD.<sup>35</sup>

**Autoimmune pancreatitis (AIP):** AIP constitutes 2% of chronic pancreatitis cases. Its main clinical features are upper abdominal disturbance and jaundice. Due to endocrine and exocrine dysfunction of the pancreas, patients may sometimes complain of impaired glucose tolerance and also develop diarrhoea. Type 1 (IgG4-related) AIP should be differentiated from pancreatic cancer. Radiological methods such as ultrasonography (USG), computed tomography (CT), and endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP) can be used for differential diagnosis.<sup>17</sup>

**Thyroid gland (Riedel thyroiditis):** The two forms of involvement of IgG4-RD in the thyroid gland are IgG4-related thyroid disease and Hashimoto's disease.<sup>36,37</sup> There is usually massive growth in the thyroid gland due to lymphocytic infiltration; therefore, surgery is often required for treatment.<sup>17</sup>

**IgG4-related sclerosing cholangitis:** For a long time, such patients were defined as having "primary sclerosing cholangitis", which was responsive to glucocorticoids. Nowadays, according to histopathological findings obtained from biopsies of such patients (for example renal biopsies), they are considered to have IgG4-RD.<sup>31</sup>

**Lungs (IgG4-related interstitial pneumonitis, IgG4-related lung disease):** Many respiratory diseases have been reported that include bronchial and alveolar conditions. Most patients are asymptomatic but some patients can have cough, dyspnoea, chest pain haemoptysis and pleurisy. Furthermore, interstitial pneumonia and pseudotumor can be seen.<sup>38,39</sup>

Bronchi and bronchial wall thickening may also be detected via a CT scan. The affected tissues demonstrate characteristic lymphoplasmacytic infiltrates enriched in IgG4-positive plasma cells; some patients show abundant storiform fibrosis. Patients with bronchial lesions have asthma-like symptoms. Sometimes, interstitial and organized pneumonia is detected on CT.<sup>17</sup> Pulmonary involvement of IgG4-RD may be confused with sarcoidosis.<sup>40</sup> The use of the specific criteria for IgG4-RD is recommended for differential diagnosis.<sup>17</sup>

**Retroperitoneal fibrosis and related disorders:** Retroperitoneal fibrosis is a rare disorder characterized by the presence of inflammatory and fibrous retroperitoneal tissue, often involving the ureter or abdominal organs.<sup>41</sup> This condition is prevalent in IgG4-RD. Most of the cases with retroperitoneal fibrosis were considered "idiopathic" in the past.<sup>42</sup> Some drugs and malignancies are involved in the etiology

of retroperitoneal fibrosis. However, an etiologic factor cannot be detected in most patients. Generally, the affected areas are around the thoracic and lumbar vertebrae, abdominal aorta, major branches of the aorta, and the ureter. CRP levels are usually found to be elevated.<sup>17</sup>

The association of retroperitoneal fibrosis and chronic periaortitis was previously known as Ormond's disease, which is currently classed as an IgG4-related disease.<sup>43</sup> Other IgG4-related diseases include sclerosing mesenteritis, sclerosing mediastinitis, and multifocal fibrosclerosis.<sup>44-46</sup>

**Renal disease:** Renal involvement in IgG4-RD is mainly seen in two significant presentations: One is a mass lesion similar to renal cell carcinoma, and the other is tubulointerstitial nephritis. The mass lesions may be bilateral and multiple, and tubulointerstitial nephritis characteristic features are observed in biopsy in IgG4-related kidney disease. Laboratory findings are subnephrotic proteinuria and moderate hypocomplementemia with levels of serum C3 and C4 components in this situation. In some patients, azotemia may occur later, and end-stage renal failure has also been observed and reported on.<sup>31</sup>

#### Other system involvements:

CNS involvement, IgG4-related hypophysitis, and pachymeningitis

Skin disease

Prostate gland

Pericardium (constrictive pericarditis)

Bone-destructive lesions in the middle ear<sup>31</sup>

The IgG4-related disease of the ovary<sup>46</sup>

Sclerosing mastitis and inflammatory pseudotumor of the breast<sup>47,48</sup>

Hepatic inflammatory pseudotumor, and similar to autoimmune hepatitis

#### Diagnosis

In Japan, diagnostic criteria have been used routinely since 2011. These criteria include:

Diffuse/focal swelling or mass in a single or multiple organs (clinic, physical examination, imaging)

IgG4 levels (≥135 mg/dL)

In histopathological examination; Lymphocyte and plasmocyte infiltration and fibrosis, Ig-G4 (+) plasma cell infiltration (IgG4 (+) / IgG (+) plasma cell ratio> 40% and> 10 IgG4 (+) plasma cells at each high magnification field)

#### Definitive Diagnosis: 1+2+3

Probable Diagnosis: 1+3

#### Possible Diagnosis: 1+2

(Other diseases should be excluded, criteria for specific diseases should be used) (Figure 1).

All criteria must be met for a definitive diagnosis. The 'Probable IgG4-RD' diagnosis is made when the physical and histopathological

criteria are met but the serological criteria are not met. In cases where serological and physical criteria are met but histopathological criteria are not met, a "possible IgG4-RD" diagnosis is made. Moreover, another important consideration is the exclusion of malignancy in the diagnosis of IgG4-RD.<sup>17</sup>

#### **Diagnostic Studies**

**Serum Ig64 concentration:** Serum Ig64 levels of most Ig64-RD diagnosed patients are high. However, serum Ig64 concentration is found to be normal in approximately 30% of patients despite the classic pathological findings of Ig64-RD. Monitoring Ig64 concentrations during treatment is not appropriate for the disease activity. As Ig64 concentrations are high at the baseline, in most patients, corticosteroid may decrease Ig64 concentration during treatment and it may even reach normal levels. Each patient should be evaluated individually for their follow-up and treatment.<sup>31</sup>

**Other laboratory findings:** Only a small number of patients may show mild high C-reactive protein (CRP) and erythrocyte sedimentation rates (ESR). In most cases, acute phase reactants are normal. Mild to moderate peripheral eosinophilia is frequent in IgG4-RD patients, being at a rate of approximately 20%. Also, mild hypocomplementemia can be detected in IgG4-RD, which is mainly the third and fourth components of the complement. IgG4-RD with tubulointerstitial nephritis may also have subnephrotic proteinuria.<sup>31</sup>

**Imaging studies:** A computed tomography (CT) scan of the chest, abdomen, and pelvis is generally preferred for the diagnosis of IgG4-RD, due to the numerous subclinical diseases and the lack of specific laboratory findings. CT scans are useful in the major conditions of pulmonary, pancreatic, and renal disease of IgG4-RD.<sup>31</sup>

Additional imaging studies may be required in some patients, particularly if orbital involvement is suspected. Typical imaging features on magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), CT or PET scans involve organs wrapped by inflammatory and fibrous tissue, and diffuse or focal organ infiltration.<sup>46</sup>

The algorithm for IgG4-RD diagnosis is shown in Figure 1.

#### **Differential Diagnosis**

Many diseases are included in the differential diagnosis of IgG4-RD. The diagnosis depends on the patient's clinic and the place of the affected organ or tissue. Firstly, it should be distinguished from other rheumatologic, oncologic, or infectious diseases.<sup>17,30</sup> In Table 1, the differential diagnosis of IgG4-RD is shown (Table 1).<sup>30</sup>

#### Treatment

The optimal treatment for IgG4-RD is unknown. The general approach is to manage the follow-up and treatment of the disease based on the



**Figure 1.** Diagnostic approach algorithm. HPF: high-power field dysfunction status of the involved organ and the case studies in the literature.

Treatment is usually started with 0.6 mg/kg/day prednisolone. This dose is continued for 2–4 weeks, followed by a 10% reduction in the dose every two weeks.<sup>17,29</sup> While it is not known whether maintenance therapy is required after remission, it is recommended to continue the prednisolone treatment at a dose of 5–10 mg/day due to high recurrence rates.<sup>17</sup> Some patient with IgG4-RD, whose disease cannot be controlled with steroid monotherapy, require glucocorticoids and other immunosuppressive agents (e.g. methotrexate, azathioprine, mycophenolate mofetil). B cell depletion with rituximab appears to be successful due to the long-term toxic effects of steroid therapy or in cases of resistance to conventional therapies or in patients with relapse. There are no randomized studies regarding the effects of rituximab. However, since rituximab provides a rapid decrease in blood plasmablast concentrations, it appears to be a useful approach for those patients with recurrent or refractory disease.<sup>24,29</sup>

#### Prognosis

Until recently, the natural course of IgG4-RD was not precisely defined. Organ dysfunction often improves with treatment. Primary unresponsiveness to glucocorticoid therapy is extremely rare in IgG4-RD patients. Therefore, the prognosis is particularly good with treatment, but relapse rates are quite high.<sup>13,17</sup> Problems causing morbidity and even mortality can be observed in many untreated patients that have retroperitoneal fibrosis, aortic aneurysms, portal hypertension and cirrhosis, diabetes mellitus, and kidney diseases.<sup>46</sup> For this reason, systemic and long-term follow-up is particularly needed in patients with IgG4-RD.

**Complications:** IgG4-RD can cause severe organ failure and tissue damage if early diagnosis and appropriate evaluation are not performed. However, most patients show a subacute course. Some patients may become fulminant from the onset of the disease for several weeks. Destructive bone lesions similar to Wegener's granulomatosis may occur in the sinuses, middle ear spaces, and head in some patients with IgG4-RD. Untreated cholangitis may progress to fulminant hepatic failure within months. Aortitis and periaortitis due to IgG4-RD can cause aorta

Table 1. The differential diagnosis of IgG4-related disease
Systemic autoimmune conditions and vasculitis
Sjögren syndrome
Granulomatosis with polyangiitis (Wegener granulomatosis)
Eosinophilic granulomatosis with polyangiitis (Churg–Strauss syndrome)
Giant cell arteritis
Takayasu arteritis
Granulomatous disorders
Sarcoidosis
Fungal infections (histoplasmosis, blastomycosis, coccidioidomycosis)
Malignancies
Lymphoma, particularly MALT lymphoma
Multicentric Castleman disease
Adenocarcinoma of the pancreas
Renal cell carcinoma
Bronchoalveolar carcinoma of the lung
MALT: mucosa associated lymphoid tissue.

aneurysms and dissections. When IgG4-RD tubulointerstitial nephritis occurs, renal functions are impaired, and even end-stage renal failure may develop.<sup>29,30</sup> Consequently, early diagnosis, appropriate evaluation, and optimal treatment modalities should be implemented. Patients should be monitored closely, and awareness about their relapse management should be kept in mind.

**Risk of malignancy:** There are some studies showing that the risk of malignancy increases within a few years after patients are diagnosed with IgG4-RD, but other studies have found it to be unrelated.<sup>47</sup> In a study conducted on 158 patients in Japan between 1992 and 2012, it was found that the risk of malignancy was slightly increased in 109 patients with type 1 autoimmune pancreatitis. The most common malignancies were as follows: the lung, colon, prostate, stomach, and pancreas (the total number of malignancies was 34).<sup>48</sup>

Several cancer cases have also been reported in case reports including salivary duct carcinoma, pancreatic cancer, small cell and adenocarcinoma of the lung and gastrointestinal clear cell sarcoma.<sup>11</sup>

#### CONCLUSION

In the future, studies are needed to better explain the risk of malignancy in patients with IgG4-RD.

#### MAIN POINTS

- IgG4-RD is a chronic inflammatory disorder that shows various organ involvement.
- Serum IgG4 levels may be high in the disease and show specific histopathological features.
- There is an increase in T helper-2 and Treg-associated cytokines in IgG4-RD.
- It is essential to assess systemic organ deficiencies at diagnosis and during the follow-up of the disease and to screen for underlying malignant diseases.
- Glucocorticoids are highly effective in treatment; nevertheless, it is quite common to discontinue treatment due to relapses after reduction or side effects.<sup>17</sup>

#### ETHICS

**Peer-review:** Externally peer-reviewed.

#### **Authorship Contributions**

Concept: M.T., R.T., Design: M.T., R.T., Data Collection and/or Processing: M.T., R.T., Literature Search: M.T., R.T., Writing: M.T., R.T.

#### DISCLOSURES

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study had received no financial support.

#### REFERENCES

 Stone JH, Zen Y, Deshpande V. IgG4-related disease. N Engl J Med. 2012; 366(6): 539-51.

- Kamisawa T, Zen Y, Pillai S, Stone JH. IgG4-related disease. Lancet. 2015; 385(9976): 1460-71.
- Mahajan VS, Mattoo H, Deshpande V, Pillai SS, Stone JH. IgG4-related disease. Annu Rev Pathol. 2014; 9: 315-47.
- Stone JH, Khosroshahi A, Deshpande V, Chan JKC, Heatcote JG, Aalberse R, et al. Recommendations for the nomenclature of IgG4-related disease and its individual organ system manifestations. Arthritis Rheum. 2012; 64(10): 3061-7.
- Umehara H, Okazaki K, Masaki Y, Kawano M, Yamamoto M, Saeki T, et al. A novel clinical entity, IgG4-related disease (IgG4RD): general concept and details. Mod Rheumatol. 2012;22(1):1-14.
- Erden A, Kılıç L. Romatoloji Vaka Derlemeleri-V Romatoloji Vaka Eğitim Grubu (ROVAG). Servet Akar (Ed). Türkiye Romatoloji Derneği Yayınları; Mart 2015.p.265.
- Uchida K, Masamune A, Shimosegawa T, Okazaki K. Prevalence of IgG4-Related Disease in Japan Based on Nationwide Survey in 2009. Int J Rheumatol. 2012; 2012: 358371.
- Khosroshahi A, Stone JH. A clinicaloverview of IgG4-related systemic disease. Curr Opin Rheumatol. 2011; 23: 57.
- Wallace ZS, Deshpande V, Mattoo H, Mahajan VS, Kulikova M, Pillai S, et al. IgG4-related disease: clinical and laboratory features in one hundred twenty-five patients. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2015; 67(9): 2466-75.
- Della-Torre E, Lanzillotta M, Doglioni C. Immunology of IgG4-related disease. Clin Exp Immunol. 2015; 181(2): 191-206.
- 11. Cheuk W, Chan JK. IgG4-related sclerosing disease: a critical appraisal of an evolving clinicopathologic entity. Adv Anat Pathol. 2010; 17(5): 303-32.
- Ota M, Katsuyama Y, Hamano H, Umemura T, Kimura A, Yoshizawa K, et al. Two critical genes (HLA-DRB1 and ABCF1)in the HLA region are associated with the susceptibility to autoimmune pancreatitis. Immunogenetics. 2007; 59(1): 45-52.
- 13. Okazaki K, Uchida K, Ohana M, Nakase H, Uose S, Inai M, et al. Autoimmunerelated pancreatitis is associated with autoantibodies and a Th1/Th2-type cellular immune response. Gastroenterology. 2000; 118(3): 573-81.
- 14. Fragoulis GE, Moutsopoulos HM. IgG4 syndrome: old disease, new perspective. J Rheumatol. 2010; 37(7): 1369-70.
- Kanno A, Nishimori I, Masamune A, Kikuta K, Hirota M, Kuriyama S, et al. Nationwide epidemiological survey of autoimmune pancreatitis in Japan. Pancreas. 2012; 41(6): 835-9.
- Zen Y, Nakanuma Y. Pathogenesis of IgG4-related disease. Curr Opin Rheumatol. 2011; 23(1): 114-8.
- Öksüz MF, Pehlivan Y. IgG4 ilişkili Hastalık. RomatolojiVakaDerlemeleri- IV (ROVAG). Ömer Nuri Pamuk (Ed). TürkiyeRomatolojiDerneğiYayınları Mart 2014; p.139-43.
- AalberseRC, Stapel SO, Schuurman J, Rispens T. Immunoglobulin G4: an oddantibody. Clin Exp Allergy. 2009; 39: 469.
- Masaki Y, Dong L, Kurose N, Kitagawa K, Morikawa Y, Yamamoto M, et al. Proposal for a new clinical entity, IgG4-positive multiorgan lymphoproliferative syndrome: analysis of 64 cases of IgG4-related disorders. Ann Rheum Dis. 2009; 68(8): 1310-5.
- Miyoshi H, Uchida K, Taniguchi T, Yazumi S, Matsushita M, Takaoka M, et al. Circulating naïve and CD4+CD25high regulatory T cells in patients with autoimmune pancreatitis. Pancreas. 2008; 36(2): 133-40.
- Björnsson E. Immunoglobulin G4-associated cholangitis. Curr Opin Gastroenterol. 2008; 24(3): 389-94.
- Maehara T, Mattoo H, Ohta M, Mahajan VS, Moriyama M, Yamauchi M, et al. Lesional CD4+ IFN-γ+ cytotoxic T lymphocytesin IgG4-reated dacryoadenitis and sialodenitis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2016; 76(2): 377-85.

- Mattoo H, Mahajan VS, Della-Torre E, Sekigami Y, Carruthers M, Wallace ZS, et al. De novo oligoclonal expansions of circulating plasmablasts in active and relapsing IgG4-related disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2014; 134(3): 679-87.
- Mattoo H, Mahajan VS, Maehara T, Deshpande V, Della-Torre E, Wallace ZS, et al. Clonal expansion of CD4 cytotoxic T Imphocytes in patients with IgGrelated disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2016; 138(3): 825-38.
- 25. Takahashi H, Yamamoto M, Suzuki C, Naishiro Y, Shinomura Y, Imai K. The birthday of a new syndrome: IgG4-related diseases constitute a clinical entity. Autoimmun Rev 2010; 9(9): 591-4.
- Okazaki K, Uchida K, Koyabu M, Miyoshi H, Takaoka M. Recent advances in the concept and diagnosis of autoimmune pancreatitis and IgG4-related disease. J Gastroenterol. 2011; 46(3): 277-88.
- 27. Sah RP, Chari ST, Pannala R, Sugumar A, Clain JE, Levy MJ, et al. Differences in clinical profile and relapse rate of type 1 versus type 2 autoimmune pancreatitis. Gastroenterology. 2010; 139(1): 140-8; quiz e12-3.
- 28. Cheuk W, Chan JK. IgG4-related sclerosing disease: a critical appraisal of an evolving clinicopathologic entity. Adv Anat Pathol. 2010; 17(5): 303-32.
- Brito-Zerón P, Ramos-Casals M, Bosch X, Stone JH. The clinical spectrum of IgG4-related disease. Autoimmun Rev. 2014; 13(12): 1203-10
- Stone JH. IgG4-Related Disease Current Diagnosis & Treatment Rheumatology 3rd Edition. Imboden JB, Hellman D, Stone JH (Eds). 2013;p.546-8.
- Hamano H, Arakura N, Muraki T, Ozaki Y, Kiyosawa K, Kawa S. Prevalence and distribution of extrapancreatic lesions complicating autoimmune pancreatitis. J Gastroenterol. 2006; 41(12): 1197-205.
- 32. Geyer JT, Deshpande V. IgG4-associated sialadenitis. Curr Opin Rheumatol. 2011; 23(1): 95-101.
- 33. Morgan WS. The probable systemic nature of Mikulicz's disease and its relation to Sjögren's syndrome. N Engl J Med. 1954; 251(1): 5-10.
- 34. Andrew NH, Sladden N, Kearney DJ, Selva D. An analysis of IgG4-related disease (IgG4-RD) among idiopathic orbital inflammations and benign lymphoid hyperplasias using two consensus-based diagnostic criteria for IgG4-RD. Br J Ophthalmol. 2015; 99(3): 376-81.
- 35. Li Y, Nishihara E, Kakudo K. Hashimoto's thyroiditis: old concepts and new insights. Curr Opin Rheumatol. 2011; 23(1): 102-7.
- Li Y, Nishihara E, Hirokawa M, Taniguchi E, Miyauchi A, Kakudo K. Distinct clinical, serological, and sonographic characteristics of hashimoto's thyroiditis based with and without IgG4-positive plasma cells. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2010; 95(3): 1309-17.
- 37. Taniguchi T, Ko M, Seko S, Nishida O, Kobayashi H, Saiga T, et al. Interstitial pneumonia associated with autoimmune pancreatitis. Gut. 2004; 53(5): 770-1.
- Zen Y, Kitagawa S, Minato H, Kurumaya H, Katayanagi K, Masuda S, et al. IgG4-positive plasma cells in inflammatory pseudotumor (plasma cell granuloma) of the lung. Hum Pathol. 2005; 36(7): 710-7.
- Inoue D, Zen Y, Abo H, Gabata T, Demachi H, Kobayashi T, et al. Immunoglobulin G4-related lung disease: CT findings with pathologiccorrelations. Radiology. 2009; 251(1):260-70.
- Tsushima K, Yokoyama T, Kawa S, Hamano H, Tanabe T, Koizumi T, et al. Elevated IgG4 levels in patients demonstrating sarcoidosis-like radiologic findings. Medicine (Baltimore). 2011; 90(3):194-200.
- Chen TS, Montgomery EA. Are tumefactive lesions classified as sclerosing mesenteritis a subset of IgG4-related sclerosing disorders? J Clin Pathol. 2008; 61: 1093.
- 42. Taniguchi T, Kobayashi H, Fukui S, Ogura K, Saiga T, Okamoto M. A case of multifocal fibrosclerosis involving posterior mediastinal fibrosis,

retroperitoneal fibrosis, and a left seminal vesicle with elevated serum IgG4. HumPathol. 2006; 37(9):1237-9; author reply 1239.

- 43. Umemura T, Zen Y, Hamano H, Ichijo T, Kawa S, Nakanuma Y, et al. IgG4 associated autoimmune hepatitis: a differential diagnosis for classical autoimmune hepatitis. Gut. 2007; 56:1471-2.
- Zen Y, Fujii T, Sato Y, Masuda S, Nakanuma Y. Pathological classification of hepatic inflammatory pseudotumor with respect to IgG4-related disease. Mod Pathol. 2007; 20(8): 884-94.
- 45. Khosroshahi A, Wallace ZS, Crowe JL, Akamizu T, Azumi A, Carruthers MN, et al. International Consensus Guidance Statement on the Management and Treatment of IgG4-Related Disease. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2015; 67(7): 1688-99.
- Horger M, Lamprecht HG, Bares R, Spira D, Schmalzing M, Claussen CD, et al. Systemic IgG4-related sclerosing disease: spectrum of imaging findings and differential diagnosis. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2012; 199(3):W276-82.
- Hirano K, Tada M, Sasahira N, Isayama H, Mizuno S, Takagi K, al. Incidence of malignancies in patients with IgG4-related diseases. Intern Med. 2014; 53(3): 171-6.
- Asano J, Watanabe T, Oguchi T, Kanai K, Maruyama M, Ito T, et al. Association Between Immunoglobulin G4-related Disease and Malignancy within 12 Years after Diagnosis: An Analysis after Longterm Follow up. J Rheumatol. 2015; 42(11):2135-42.



# Adult Basic Life Support Practices During the COVID-19 Pandemic Period

#### 🕞 Ufuk Kaya<sup>1</sup>, 🕲 Nida Aydın<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Faculty of Health Sciences, Nursing Department, Eastern Mediterranean University, Famagusta, Cyprus <sup>2</sup>Near East University Faculty of Nursing, Nicosia, Cyprus

#### ABSTRACT

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), a global epidemic, has been spreading rapidly all over the world since December 2019. Contamination can be caused by the penetration of respiratory droplets into the mouth, nose or eyes of people or by contact of the hands with the mouth, nose or eyes after touching surfaces where respiratory droplets adhere. Shortness of breath, high fever, dry cough, and loss of the sense of taste and smell are common symptoms in patients. Basic life support applied in cardiac arrest increases the survival chance of these patient. However, during the COVID-19 pandemic period, it is known that patients, rescuers and healthcare workers are at risk during basic life support applications due to the contagiousness of the virus. Due to all of these, basic life support guidelines have been updated and some applications that emphasize the safety of rescuers have been made. In this study, changes for basic life support to be applied in patients with a diagnosis of COVID-19 or with high suspicion of COVID-19 who developed cardiac arrest were discussed.

Keywords: COVID-19, cardiac arrest, basic life support

#### INTRODUCTION

In December 2019, an increase in pneumonia cases of unknown cause began to be seen in Wuhan, in China's Hubei Province. On January 7, 2020, it was revealed that this situation was a new type of coronavirus and it developed as a result of human-to-human transmission.<sup>1</sup> The new virus was named Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome (SARS) Coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) due to its similarity to SARS Coronavirus (SARS-CoV), which is the agent of Acute Respiratory Syndrome (The Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome, SARS). This newly formed disease, where the virus is the causative pathogen, was declared a global pandemic by the World Health Organization (WHO) on March 11, 2020.<sup>2,3</sup> Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), which spread rapidly around the world, infected more than 44.5 million people in total and caused more than 1.1 million deaths, according to the data as of October 30, 2020. These numbers still continue to increase.<sup>4</sup>

The virus can be transmitted when respiratory droplets emitted from sick people enter the mouth, nose or eyes of others or after touching surfaces where respiratory droplets are present and subsequently touching the mouth, nose or eyes. Contact with secretions that can pass from the sick person has an important place in the contamination of the virus.<sup>5,6</sup> Since viruses can be detected in the respiratory secretions of asymptomatic patients, these people can also be contagious. Although the duration of contagion is not known, it is thought that it starts 1–2 days before the symptomatic period and ends with the disappearance of symptoms. In general, the incubation period varies between 2–14 days, while the median incubation period is 4.8 days.<sup>5,7</sup>

The COVID-19 infection is seen with many different symptoms. The most common symptoms are; shortness of breath, fever and dry cough. Apart from this, headache and sore throat, extreme weakness, loss of appetite, loss of taste and smell and diarrhea are seen. In severe cases, pneumonia, severe acute respiratory infection, kidney failure, and even death may occur.<sup>5</sup> Hypoxemic respiratory failure due to acute respiratory infection, ventricular arrhythmias, myocardial damage and shock are common in critically ill COVID-19 patients, making these

To cite this article: Kaya U, Aydın N. Adult Basic Life Support Practices During the COVID-19 Pandemic Period. Cyprus J Med Sci 2022;7(2):163-166

ORCID iDs of the authors: U.K. 0000-0002-0911-4886; N.A. 0000-0002-3590-9092.



Address for Correspondence: Ufuk Kaya E-mail: ufukbkaya91@gmail.com, ufuk.kaya@emu.edu.tr ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-0911-4886 Received: 06.11.2020 Accepted: 17.11.2021

Copyright 2022 by the Cyprus Turkish Medical Association / Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences published by Galenos Publishing House. Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License patients susceptible to developing cardiac arrest.<sup>8</sup> During the COVID-19 pandemic, it was determined that cardiac arrest cases increased 58% in the Lombardy region of Italy, and 77% of these cardiac arrest cases were confirmed or suspected of being positive COVID-19 cases.<sup>9</sup> In Paris and the surrounding suburbs, it was stated that the incidence of cardiac arrest increased by two times in parallel with the increase in the number of admissions to hospitals due to COVID-19.<sup>10</sup>

Cardiac arrest is the cessation of cardiac functions, or the inability to take a pulse from the arteries. It is a clinical picture that progresses suddenly and unexpectedly with loss of respiration and consciousness. In cardiac arrest situations, basic life support (BLS) applications should be started quickly and effectively. Knowing the appropriate BLS steps and applying them increases the survival chance of the patient in cardiac arrest situations. Success of the BLS implementations require having sufficient knowledge.<sup>11-13</sup> BLS; This is a life-saving application consisting of the quick identification of unresponsive, non-breathing people outside the hospital, activation of the emergency system, chest compressions and artificial respiration cycles, and automatic external defibrillator application, which is included in basic first aid issues. BLS guidelines applied in order to bring the patient back to life in cases of cardiac arrest are updated every five years.<sup>11,12,14</sup> However, during the COVID-19 pandemic period, due to the contagiousness of the virus, the BLS guidelines were updated and some applications were made that emphasized the safety of rescuers/first aiders. In addition to saving the life of the person who had a cardiac arrest, the updates considered the health and safety of the rescuer. Every cardiac arrest case should be considered as a suspected COVID-19 case and the patient should be approached accordingly. Otherwise, infection rates will inevitably increase.3,15,16

# Basic Life Support Practices in Suspected or Verified COVID-19 Adult Patients

# Basic Life Support Practices by Non-Specialist People (First Aiders) (Figure 1)

- If the patient is unresponsive and does not breathe normally, a diagnosis of cardiac arrest should be carried out.
- Consciousness should be assessed by loud shouting to the patient and shaking the patient. During the respiratory assessment, it should be checked whether the patient is breathing normally. At this stage, the airway should not be opened and the rescuer should not bring his/her face close to the patient's mouth or nose to avoid a risk of infection.
- If the patient is unresponsive and breathing abnormally, the emergency health system should be activated.
- During the single-rescuer application, if possible, a phone call with emergency health professionals should be made without using the hands by means of a speakerphone.
- Rescuers should begin BLS practices after activating the emergency health system. While applying cardiac massage/chest compression to the patient, the patient's mouth and nose should be covered with a face mask, cloth or towel-like material. In this way, it is possible to prevent the spread of the virus through the respiratory tract during cardiac massage.
- Non-specialist rescuers should follow all directions from healthcare professionals until they arrive at the scene.

- After BLS applications, the rescuer should wash their hands with soap and water as soon as possible or disinfect their hands with an alcohol-based gel or solution.
- Rescuers should contact a healthcare provider because of suspected or confirmed cases of COVID-19 following BLS applications.<sup>3,8,15,17</sup>

#### Adult Basic Life Support Practices Performed by Pre-Hospital Health Professionals (Emergency Medical Staff/Emergency Call Center Personnel)

- Pre-hospital health professionals should give instructions to uneducated rescuers about chest compressions.
- If possible, the person(s) in the vicinity should be directed to bring the automatic external defibrillator (AED) to the scene.
- Due to a risk of infection, healthcare professionals are required to wear personal protective equipment. If there is an indication, only defibrillation should be applied to the patient (if the patient is suspected of being COVID-19 positive).



**Figure 1.** Basic life support practices by non-specialist people (first aiders).

AED: automatic external defibrillator, COVID-19: coronavirus disease 2019

 During the response to diagnosed or suspected COVID-19 cases, rescuers should be guided about access to personal protective equipment and training as healthcare providers, as well as healthcare professionals working in the pre-hospital area and referral units, are entitled to be protected against the risk of COVID-19 transmission.<sup>3,8,15,17</sup>

# Adult Basic Life Support Practices Made by Health Care Professionals (Figure 2)

- Health professionals who will provide care in this regard; These should consist of health professionals who have easy access to personal protective equipment suitable for respiratory tract contamination measures and have been trained in this regard.
- Vital signs should be checked and the diagnosis of cardiac arrest should be made.
- The pads of AED and defibrillator devices that will be applied to give electroshock to patients can be used easily. However, with the help of personal protective equipment (liquid-resistant surgical mask, eye protection, gowns and gloves), precautions should be taken against contamination by droplets.
- Healthcare professionals should wear personal protective equipment during basic life support practices (cardiopulmonary resuscitation, maintaining airway clearance and breathing).
- In order to prevent aerosol risk, cardiac massage should be interrupted during ventilation and only heart massage should be applied with 30:2 balloon-valve-mask (BVM) and oxygen. However, if the rescuer team is inexperienced in this regard and is not comfortable with BVM ventilation, the use of BVM is not recommended. They should give oxygen to the patient with an oxygen mask and only perform a heart massage.
- Healthcare professionals should use a bag-mask due to the risk of aerosol formation.
- An oxygen mask should be placed on the patient's face and oxygen should be given like this.
- The mask should be held with both hands to prevent air leakage. However, in cases where there is only one rescuer, after 30 heart massage strokes, air should be provided with a bag.
- In order to minimize the risk of the virus spreading, a high efficiency particulate air filter or heat and moisture exchanger filter should be used between the self-inflating bag and mask.
- A defibrillator or automatic external defibrillator should be applied to the patient in accordance with the instructions.<sup>3,8,15,17</sup>

#### CONCLUSION

Basic preventive measures against COVID-19, for which there is no specific treatment, are life-saving.

The risk of contamination makes it difficult to perform many routine applications used during clinical practice.

Given COVID-19's prevalence, all cardiac arrest individuals should be treated as possible COVID-19 cases.



\*Bag-mask ventilation: Use the 2-person technique (while a person closes the mouth tightly with a mask, the other person performing the compression also provides ventilation); put a viral filter between the balloon and the mask.

\*BLS teams who do not have bag-mask skills or are not comfortable in this regard should put a face mask to the patient's face, give oxygen and continue with compressions only.

**Figure 2.** Adult basic life support practices made by health care professionals.

AED: automatic external defibrillator, CPR: cardiopulmonary resuscitation, BLS: basic life support

#### **MAIN POINTS**

- While the COVID-19 pandemic is still ongoing, the most at-risk groups affected by the virus are first aiders and healthcare professionals.
- The new directives and guidelines published in order to prevent the transmission of the virus should be followed and implemented.
- Each patient may be a virus carrier or an asymptomatic case. This detail should not be forgotten and the patient should be approached in this way during first aid intervention.

The importance of personal protective equipment has increased even more in this period. It is very important to wear the correct equipment (gloves, masks, eye protectors, etc.) in cases where mandatory intervention is required.

#### ETHICS

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

#### **Authorship Contributions**

Concept: U.K., N.A., Design: U.K., N.A., Supervision: U.K., N.A., Data Collection and/or Processing: U.K., N.A., Literature Search: U.K., N.A., Writing: U.K., N.A., Critical Review: U.K., N.A.

#### DISCLOSURES

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study had received no financial support.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Dedeler M, Özdilek Yİ, Şimşek Fİ, Abdullahoğlu SD, Eren T, Çolapkulu N, et al. Covid-19 and Africa. Anatol Clin. 2020; 25(Suppl1): 300-11.
- Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Zhao J, Hu Y, Fan G, et al. Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. Lancet. 2020; 395(10223): 497-506.
- Nolan JP, Monsieurs KG, Bossaert L, Böttiger BW, Greif R, Lott C, et al. European Resuscitation Council COVID-19 guidelines executive summary. Resuscitation. 2020; 153: 45-55.
- WHO Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) Dashboard. Available from: https:// covid19.who.int/ (Accessed on October 30, 2020).
- T.C. Ministry of Health. Covid-19 (SARS-CoV-2 Infection). 29 June 2020, Ankara. Available from: https://covid19.saglik.gov.tr/Eklenti/38597/0/ covid19rehberigenelbilgilerepidemiyolojivetanipdf.pdf (Accessed on October 10, 2020).
- Guan WJ, Ni ZY, Hu Y, Liang W-H, Ou C-Q, He J-X, et al. Clinical characteristics of coronavirus disease 2019 in China. N Engl J Med. 2020; 382(18): 1708-20.
- 7. van Doremalen N, Bushmaker T, Morris DH, Holbrook MG, Gamble A, Williamson BN, et al. Aerosol and Surface Stability of SARS-CoV-2 as

Compared with SARS-CoV-1. N Engl J Med. 2020; 382(16): 1564-7.

- 8. Tezcan Keleş G, Kumcu O. Covid-19 erişkin hastada temel ve ileri yaşam desteği algoritmaları. CBU SBED. 2020; 7(2): 235-42.
- Baldi E, Sechi GM, Mare C, Canevari F, Brancaglione A, Primi R, et al. Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest during the Covid-19 Outbreak in Italy. N Engl J Med. 2020; 383(5): 496-8.
- Marijon E, Karam N, Jost D, Perrot D, Frattini B, Derkenne C, et al. Out-ofhospital cardiac arrest during the COVID-19 pandemic in Paris, France: a population-based, observational study. Lancet Public Health. 2020; 5(8): e437-43.
- Schiefer JL, Schuller H, Fuchs PC, Bagheri M, Grigytsch D, Klein M, et al. Basic life support knowledge in Germany and the influences of demographic factors. PLoS One. 2020; 15(8): e0237751.
- Kaya U, Aslay S. A university hospital healthcare personnels' knowledge levels about adult basic life support: a descriptive study. Cyprus J Med Sci. 2022; 7(1): 34-9.
- 13. Sançar B, Canbulat Ş. Evaluation of cardiac compression practice skills of nursing students with first-aid training. GUJHS. 2019; 8(3): 256-67.
- 14. Perkins GD, Handley AJ, Koster RW, Castrén M, Smyth MA, Olasveengen T, et al. European Resuscitation Council Guidelines for Resuscitation 2015: Section 2. Adult basic life support and automated external defibrillation. Resuscitation. 2015; 95: 81-99.
- 15. Olasveengen T, Castrén M, Handley A, Kuzovlev A, Monsieurs KG, Perkins G, et al. Basic life support in adults. Notf Rett Med. 2020; 23(4): 246-7.
- Resüsitasyon Derneği. Basic Life Support and Automated External Defibrillator Adapted for COVID-19 (AED). Available from: http://www. resusitasyon.org/tr/etkinlikler-haberler/304-covid-19-icin-uyarlanmistemel-yasam-destegi-ve-otomatik-eksternal-defibrilator-oed.html (Accessed on October 26, 2020).
- Soar J, Lott C, Böttiger BW, Carli P, Couper K, Deakin CD, et al. Advanced life support in adultsEuropean Resuscitation Council COVID-19 Guidelines: European Resuscitation Council COVID-19 Guidelines. Notf Rett Med. 2020: 23(4): 248-50.

# **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**

DOI: 10.4274/cjms.2021.2021-4 Cyprus | Med Sci 2022;7(2):167-174



# **Evaluation of Drug-Drug Interactions and Side Effects in COVID-19** Patients in an Intensive Care Unit

Neda Taner<sup>1</sup>, Betül Şirin<sup>1</sup>, Deniz Kızılaslan<sup>2</sup>, Cem Erdoğan<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Clinical Pharmacy, School of Pharmacy, İstanbul Medipol University, İstanbul, Turkey <sup>2</sup>Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, School of Medicine, İstanbul Medipol University, İstanbul, Turkey

#### ABSTRACT

BACKGROUND/AIM: Considering comorbidity rates in patients diagnosed with coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), polypharmacy will be inevitable when the treatment for COVID-19 is added to the treatment of existing chronic disease conditions. In our study, we evaluated the effects of comorbidities, drug-drug interactions and complications on the clinical course of the disease in COVID-19 patients.

MATERIALS AND METHODS: This study was conducted retrospectively with thirty five COVID-19 patients of various age and gender groups who had been admitted to the intensive care unit in a university hospital in March and April, 2020. The demographic, laboratory and clinical data were collected.

RESULTS: In our study, the average number of days intubated in patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome and sepsis was found to be statistically significantly higher than those without complications, serious-use alternative interaction was detected in 85.7% of the patients, monitor closely interaction in 60%, and minor interaction in 34.3%. In 88.6% of the patients, at least one of these interactions was observed, while all three interactions occurred at the same time in 20% of them.

CONCLUSION: According to the results of this study, managing the risks, interventions such as drug dosage adjustment, and drug changes and monitoring of any parameters that may indicate drug side effects for the patient may be necessary.

Keywords: COVID-19, intensive care unit, drug-drug interactions, comorbidities, complications

#### INTRODUCTION

On April 10, 2020, the World Health Organization (WHO) identified the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) disease as a pandemic, and an estimated 2.3% of patients needed tracheal intubation. Death rates of up to 60% have been reported in critically intubated patients. According to the results of large studies conducted in the United States, 12 to 24 percent of hospitalized patients required mechanical ventilation due to respiratory-related complications.1

There is no accepted standard treatment to be applied for the pharmacological treatment of patients with COVID-19 to date. The fact that the treatment strategies are not clearly defined causes confusion about the management of this disease in intensive care units, and when the presence of comorbidities and polypharmacy in patients are added, the situation becomes more complex.<sup>2</sup>

Acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), sepsis, septic shock, arrhythmia, myocarditis, cardiogenic shock and acute kidney injury are conditions that requires patients to be taken into intensive care, and all of them are among the complications of COVID-19.3

It is important to pay attention to the pharmacological effects and number of drugs administered to manage a patient's condition. Although those who work in intensive care units are specialist healthcare professionals, some errors may still occur in some cases. Some of the

To cite this article: Taner N, Sirin B, Kızılaslan D, Erdoğan C. Evaluation of Drug-Drug Interactions and Side Effects in COVID-19 Patients in an Intensive Care Unit. Cyprus | Med Sci 2022;7(2):167-174

ORCID iDs of the authors: N.T. 0000-0002-6141-8676; B.S. 0000-0002-7636-1393; D.K. 0000-0001-6587-8103; C.E. 0000-0002-5715-8138.



Address for Correspondence: Neda Taner E-mail: ntaner@medipol.edu.tr ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-6141-8676

**Received:** 13.01.2021 Accepted: 25.11.2021

Copyright 2022 by the Cyprus Turkish Medical Association / Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences published by Galenos Publishing House. Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License

main reasons underlying these errors are polypharmacy, inadequate compliance with the principles of rational drug use and drug-drug interactions. Furthermore, the most important factor causing drug-drug interactions is polypharmacy. When the literature is reviewed, it is observed that as the number of drugs used by the patient increases, the rate of drug-drug interaction increases. When the number of drugs used by the patient is more than 5, the drug interaction rate increases by 21%, when this number increases to 10 or above, the interaction rate reaches 100%.<sup>4</sup>

It is a common fact that the use of hydroxychloroquine concomitantly with other drugs that prolong the QT period should be avoided. However, our knowledge about the potential drug-drug interactions that can be caused by drugs used in the treatment of COVID-19, especially antiviral drugs, is limited.<sup>5</sup>

Our study was conducted retrospectively with COVID-19 patients who were admitted to the intensive care unit of a university hospital in March and April, 2020. In our study, we evaluated the effects of comorbidities, drug-drug interactions and complications on the clinical course of the disease in COVID-19 patients.

#### **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

The study was approved by the research Ethics Committee of the İstanbul Medipol University (10840098-604.01.01-E.17838). Our study was conducted retrospectively with 35 COVID-19 patients of various age and gender groups who were admitted to an intensive care unit in a university hospital in March and April, 2020. Patients with stage 4 and 5 renal failure or liver failure were not included in this study. The laboratory results of the patients and the drug lists (orders) used in the hospital were collected in order to evaluate the interactions of favipiravir, hydroxychloroquine, azithromycin and tocilizumab used for the treatment of COVID-19 with those drugs used routinely in the intensive care unit as well as any side effects arising from their use. While evaluating interactions and examining side effects, Medscape, Liverpool COVID-19 Interactions, drugs.com, and up-to-date applications were used. The severity of drug interactions was evaluated in three separate categories, namely; serious-use alternative interaction, monitor closely interaction and minor interaction; and the rate at which each type of interaction occurred in patients was also calculated. As a result of these evaluations, the parameters that should be monitored to avoid interactions were determined. Among the variables which were found in all patients, electrocardiograms (ECGs) and laboratory values were examined respectively to check for QT prolongation and to monitor electrolyte levels. The relationship of drug-drug interactions and complications occurring in those patients with existing comorbidities were examined. The effect of complications on the number of days that patients were intubated was evaluated.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

SPSS statistics for Windows version 15 (SPSS Inc. Chicago, IL, USA) was used for the statistical analysis. Descriptive statistics are given as number and percentage for categorical variables; mean, standard deviation, minimum, maximum, median, interquartile range are given for numerical variables. The proportions were compared with the chi-square test in independent groups. Independent group comparisons of numerical variables were made using the Mann–Whitney U test for the normal distribution condition. A statistical significance level of alpha was accepted as p<0.05.

#### RESULTS

A total of 35 patients with a mean age of  $63.7\pm13.7$  years, a minimum of 30, a maximum of 94 years of age, 23 males (65.7%) 12 females (34.3%) were included in this study. The mean body mass index of the patients was  $31.1\pm4.8$  kg/m<sup>2</sup>. 91.4% of the patients had additional comorbid diseases. The most common comorbidities were determined to be hypertension (HT) at a rate of 57.1%, Diabetes mellitus (DM) at a rate of 34.3%, Asthma at a rate of 20%, Congestive heart failure (CHF) at a rate of 17.1%, and Coronary artery disease (CAD) at a rate of 14.3%. One patient had cardiac arrest and one patient had hepatotoxicity. Complications developing in patients and their rates were found to be 85.7% ARDS, 22.9% sepsis and 8.6% septic shock. 68.6% of the patients were intubated. The mean time that the patients were intubated was 7.1 $\pm$ 5.6 days, and the median was 5 days (Table 1).

The average number of days intubated in patients with ARDS and sepsis was found to be statistically significantly higher than those without complications (p=0.004, p=0.039) (Table 2).

Serious-use alternative interaction was detected in 85.7% of the patients, monitor closely interaction in 60%, and minor interaction in 34.3%. In 88.6% of the patients, at least one of the interactions was observed, while all three interactions occurred at the same time in 20% of them. The number of serious-use alternatives observed in the patients was found to be a maximum of 9 and a median of 3 [interquartile range (IQR): 1–4], the number of monitor closely Interactions was a maximum of 8 and a median of 1 (IQR: 0–2), and minor interaction was a maximum of 3 and a median of 0 (IQR: 0–1) (Figure 1).

The serious-use alternative interaction rates in patients are summarized in Table 3 in order of frequency. The first column represents the drug combination showing interactions, the second column represents the percentage ratio of the number of patients administered, and the last column indicates the interaction type and parameters to be monitored. Accordingly, the most common parameter to be monitored in the patients is QT prolongation with a rate of 57.14%, which can occur with the simultaneous use of hydroxychloroquine and azithromycin. The combination of drugs that should be avoided and alternative drugs that can be preferred are azithromycin and enoxaparin (37.14%).

The monitor closely interaction rates detected in patients are summarized in Table 4. The most frequent three monitor closely interactions in patients were detected between propofol and midazolam with 11.43%, azithromycin and piperacillin with 8.57%, pantoprazole and clopidogrel with 8.57%.





The minor interaction rates determined in patients are summarized in Table 5 in order of frequency. The most frequent minor interaction rate was found between paracetamol and enoxaparin with a rate of 4.76%.

There was no statistically significant change in glomerular filtration rate (EGFR), aspartate aminotransferase (AST)-alanine transaminase (ALT), and SPO, values depending on the treatment applied (Table 6).

No statistically significant difference was found in the rates of serioususe alternative Interaction occurrence in patients with comorbidity (Table 7).

patients	bles reflecting the clinical	characteristics of the	
		n	
Age, mean $\pm$ SD (min-max)		63.7±13.7 (30–94)	
C (9/)	Male	23 (65.7%)	
Gender, n (%)	Female	12 (34.3%)	
BMI, mean ± SD (min-max)		31.1±4.8 (21.2–43)	
Comorbidity, n (%)		32 (91.4%)	
Hypertension		20 (57.1%)	
Diabetes		12 (34.3%)	
Asthma		7 (20.0%)	
CHF		6 (17.1%)	
CAD		5 (14.3%)	
HL		3 (8.6%)	
Kidney failure		3 (8.6%)	
Са		3 (8.6%)	
Hypothyroidism		2 (5.7%)	
BPH		2 (5.7%)	
Hypothyroidism		1 (2.9%)	
AF		1 (2.9%)	
Parkinson/Alzheimer		1 (2.9%)	
Meningitis/Encephalitis		1 (2.9%)	
Arrhythmia		1 (2.9%)	
Panic attack		1 (2.9%)	
Neurogenic bladder		1 (2.9%)	
Goiter		1 (2.9%)	
Cardiac arrest, n (%)		1 (2.9%)	
Hepatotoxicity, n (%)		1 (2.9%)	
Severe hypoxia, n (%)		0 (0.0%)	
	ARDS	30 (85.7%)	
Complication n (9/)	Sepsis	8 (22.9%)	
complication, ff (%)	Septic shock	3 (8.6%)	
Intubation, n (%)	·	24 (68.6%)	
Number of days intubated,	mean ± SD (min–max)	7.1±5.6 (1–26)	

BMI: body mass index, CHF: chronic heart failure, CAD: chronic artery disease, HL: hyperlipidemia, Ca: cancer, BPH: benign prostate hyperplasia, AF: atrial fibrillation, ARDS: acute respiratory distress syndrome, SD: standard deviation, min: minimum, max: maximum, n: number.

No statistically significant difference was found between the rates of complications in those patients with or without serious-use alternative, monitor closely and minor interactions (Table 8).

#### DISCUSSION

In a retrospective study conducted by Mitra et al.<sup>6</sup>, on 117 intensive care patients diagnosed with COVID-19, 73.5% of the patients had comorbidity. In our study, it was observed that 91.4% of the patients had additional comorbid diseases.

In our study, similar to the results of Nandy et al.<sup>7</sup> and Rodriguez-Morales et al.<sup>8</sup>, the most common comorbidity was determined to be hypertension, but its incidence rate was found to be relatively much higher (57.1%). In our results, hypertension is followed by type II DM (34.3%), asthma (20%), congestive heart failure (17%) and coronary artery disease (14.3%).

Similar to the results of some other studies, the data obtained from our study show that the most common complication seen in our patients is ARDS with a rate of 85.7%. The complications following ARDS were found to be sepsis (22.9%) and septic shock (8.6%).<sup>2,9,10</sup>

Unlike the retrospective cohort study by Manolis et al.<sup>11</sup>, cardiac arrest occurred in only 1 patient and no other cardiac damage was detected.

Unlike some studies, there was no significant increase in AST and ALT levels in the patients who were included in our study, and hepatotoxicity developed in only one patient.<sup>12-14</sup>

According to a study by Leung et al.<sup>12</sup>, kidney involvement is also common in patients with COVID-19. The incidence of acute kidney injury was found to be around 0.5% to 29%. Acute kidney injury was found in 20% to 40% of COVID-19 patients in need of intensive care in Europe and the USA. In the study of Chen et al.<sup>14</sup>, five out of 51 patients had acute kidney injury. Unlike these results, none of our patients developed acute kidney injury.

Compared with the results of the case series examined by Grasselli et al.<sup>10</sup> and the study conducted by Bhatraju et al.<sup>15</sup>, the number of patients who needed intubation in our study was low (68.6%).

In the study of Petrilli et al.<sup>1</sup>, 23.6% of 5,279 COVID-19 patients needed mechanical ventilation and 60.4% of these patients died.

The results we obtained seem to be consistent with the results of that study (58.3%), but they were significantly higher than the results of

Table 2. The number of days intubated in patients with or without complications				
Median (IQR)		Number of days intubated	p-value*	
No	ne	0 (0–0)	0.004	
Pre	sent	5 (1.75–8)		
Noi	ne	2 (06)	0.039	
Pre	sent	6.5 (4.25–8.75)		
Sontic shock	None 3.5 (0–6.75)	0.112		
Pre	sent	8 (5–9)	0.112	

\*Mann–Whitney U test, ARDS: acute respiratory distress syndrome, IQR: interquartile range.

Mitra et al.<sup>6</sup> (15.4%) and Hur et al.<sup>16</sup> (15.2%).

In the study by Petrilli et al.<sup>1</sup>, the most common comorbidities associated with decreased oxygen saturation were determined to be heart failure and chronic kidney disease. Consistent with that study, the fact that at least one comorbidity was seen in 87% of the patients who needed intubation in our study shows that oxygenation is affected by comorbidities in patients with COVID-19.

The fact that the average number of days intubated in patients with

ARDS and sepsis in our study was statistically higher than those without complications confirms the results of the study by Lakoh et al.<sup>17</sup>.

In our study, the mean duration of intubation of the patients was found to be  $7.1\pm5.6$  days, and this result seems similar to the results of the study by Hur et al.<sup>16</sup>.

The meta-analysis conducted by Awortwe and Cascorbi<sup>5</sup> advocated that attention should be paid to symptoms that may indicate drug side effects, particularly cardiac arrhythmias, through drug-drug interactions

Table 3. Serious-use alternative interaction rates in patients and the variables to be followed					
Serious-use alternative interaction	Number	%	To be followed		
Hydroxychloroquine + azithromycin	20	57.14	Qt prolongation		
Azithromycin + enoxaparin	13	37.14	Avoid or use alternate drug		
Favipiravir + paracetamol	9	25.71	Paracetamol doses should be monitoring		
Hydroxychloroquine + metoprolol	6	17.14	Qt prolongation		
Hydroxychloroquine + insulin	5	14.29	Decrease doses insulin maybe required		
Hydroxychloroquine + rocuronium	5	14.29	Monitor and adjust rocuronium as needed		
Azithromycin + amlodipine	4	11.43	Qt prolongation		
Hydroxychloroquine + amlodipine	4	11.43	Qt prolongation		
Hydroxychloroquine + furosemide	4	11.43	Qt prolongation/electrolyte monitoring		
Azithromycin + metoprolol	3	8.57	Qt prolongation		
Hydroxychloroquine + propofol	3	8.57	Qt prolongation		
Hydroxychloroquine + tocilizumab	3	8.57	Avoid or use alternate drug		
Azithromycin + furosemide	2	5.71	Qt prolongation/electrolyte monitoring		
Azithromycin + hydrochlorothiazide	2	5.71	Qt prolongation/electrolyte monitoring		
Azithromycin + propofol	2	5.71	Qt prolongation		
Hydroxychloroquine + hydrochlorothiazide	2	5.71	Qt prolongation/electrolyte monitoring		
Hydroxychloroquine + clopidogrel	2	5.71	Use cautiously		
Hydroxychloroquine + metoclopramide	2	5.71	Qt prolongation		
Piperacillin + enoxaparin	2	5.71	Avoid or use alternate drug		
Propofol + norepinephrine	2	5.71	Avoid or use alternate drug		
Azithromycin + amiodarone	1	2.86	Qt prolongation		
Azithromycin + dexmedetomidine	1	2.86	Qt prolongation		
Azithromycin + digoxin	1	2.86	Qt prolongation		
Azithromycin + heparin	1	2.86	Avoid or use alternate drug		
Azithromycin + ondansetron	1	2.86	Qt prolongation		
Digoxin + metoprolol	1	2.86	Avoid or use alternate drug		
Heparin + cilostazol	1	2.86	Avoid or use alternate drug		
Hydroxychloroquine + amiodarone	1	2.86	Qt prolongation		
Hydroxychloroquine + dexamethasone	1	2.86	Use with caution		
Hydroxychloroquine + dexmedetomidine	1	2.86	Qt prolongation		
Hydroxychloroquine + digoxin	1	2.86	Qt prolongation		
Hydroxychloroquine + ondansetron	1	2.86	Qt prolongation		
Ketamine + norepinephrine	1	2.86	Use cautiously		
Metoprolol + furosemide	1	2.86	Use cautiously		
Ceftriaxone + enoxaparin	1	2.86	Avoid or use alternate drug		
No interaction	5	14.29	-		

	-		
	Monitor	itor closely interaction	
	n	%	
Propofol + midazolam	4	11.43	
Azithromycin + piperacillin	3	8.57	
Pantoprazole + clopidogrel	3	8.57	
Enoxaparin + aspirin	2	5.71	
Metoprolol + furosemide	2	5.71	
Metoprolol + potassium citrate	2	5.71	
Midazolam + norepinephrine	2	5.71	
Norepinephrine + midazolam	2	5.71	
Amiodarone + metoprolol	1	2.86	
Aspirin + potassium citrate	1	2.86	
Azithromycin + rocuronium	1	2.86	
Azithromycin + tolvaptan	1	2.86	
Dexamethasone + enoxaparin	1	2.86	
Dexamethasone + finasteride	1	2.86	
Dexmedetomidine + morphine	1	2.86	
Doxazosin + metoprolol	1	2.86	
Enocaparin + clopidogrel	1	2.86	
Enoxaparin + ibuprofen	1	2.86	
Enoxaparin + clopidogrel	1	2.86	
Enoxaparin + ramipril	1	2.86	
Enoxaparin + ketoprofen	1	2.86	
Epinephrine + azithromycin	1	2.86	
Epinephrine + furosemide	1	2.86	
Furosemide + aspirin	1	2.86	
Ketamine + midazolam	1	2.86	
Clopidogrel + aspirin	1	2.86	
Meropenem + digoxin	1	2.86	
Methylprednisolone + enovanarin	1	2.86	
Methylprednisolone + midazolam	1	2.86	
Methylprednisolone + rocuronium	1	2.86	
Metoprolol + asnirin	1	2.86	
Metoprolol + digoxin	1	2.86	
Metoprolol + noreninenhrine	1	2.86	
Metoprolol + propotol	1	2.86	
Metonrolol + tolvantan	1	2.86	
Midazolam + eninenhrine	1	2.86	
Midazolam + noreninenhrine	1	2.86	
Midazolam + tramadol	1	2.86	
Noreninenhrine + furosemide	1	2.86	
Pentoharhital + midazolam	1	2.86	
Pentoharhital + nronofol	1	2.00	
Pentoharhital + tramadal	1	2.00	
Potassium citrate + eninenhrine	1	2.00	
Potassium citrate + furocomida	1	2.00	
	1	2.00	
	1	2.80	
Propotol + tramadol	1	2.86	
Kamipril + doxazosin	1	2.86	
Kamipril + potassium citrate	1	2.86	
ieimisartan + insulin	1	2.86	
lolvaptan + digoxin	1	2.86	

Table 5. Minor Interaction rates detected in patients				
	Minor interaction			
	n	%		
Paracetamol + enoxaparin	5	4.76		
Amlodipine + rocuronium	1	0.95		
Amlodipine + rocuronium	1	0.95		
Ascorbic acid + aspirin	1	0.95		
Ascorbic acid + aspirin	1	0.95		
Dextroz + magnesium sulphate	1	0.95		
Enoxaparin + paracetamol	1	0.95		
Ibuprofen + acyclovir	1	0.95		
Levetiracetam + paracetamol	1	0.95		
Norepinephrine + furosemide	1	0.95		
Pentobarbital + pantoprazole	1	0.95		
Ceftazidime + aspirin	1	0.95		
n: number.				

Table 6. Change in EGFR, AST-ALT-SPO<sub>2</sub> values depending on the treatment applied

applied	1		
		Mean ± SD (min-max)	Median (IQR)
	First day	78.2±34.2 (30–160)	84 (48–107)
	Median day	80.7±45.8 (21–201)	82 (44–109)
EGFR	The last day	77.1±38.3 (12–136)	79 (42–108)
	p-value*	0.774	-
	First day	50.5±34.0 (10.9–193)	40.7 (28.9–63.3)
	Median day	97.9±172.8 (11.2–900.7)	46.4 (27.6–76.4)
AST	The last day	63.5±49.4 (11.4–204.3)	48.3 (25.8–85.3)
	p-value#	0.074	-
	First day	35.1±23.8 (4.2–112.7)	32 (17.3–42)
	Median day	86.1±190.0 (3.7–1041)	34.1 (21.3–52.1)
ALT	The last day	64.8±81.4 (3.4–337)	38.1 (22.2–69)
	p-value#	0.165	-
	First day	87.8±6.1 (73–100)	88 (84–92)
	Median day. lowest	88.1±12.5 (19–96)	90 (87–93)
SPO <sub>2</sub>	Last day. lowest	87.3±13.6 (20-99)	91 (85–94)
	p-value#	0.592	-
	First day	95.8±3.6 (85–100)	96 (93–99)
	Median day. highest	95.3±12.4 (25–100)	98 (96–99)
SPO <sub>2</sub>	Last day. highest	94.7±12.2 (27–100)	98 (95–99)
	p-value#	0.091	-

\*Repeated measures ANOVA, #Friedman test.

EGFR: glomerular filtration rate, AST: aspartate aminotransferase, ALT: alanine aminotransferase, SPO<sub>2</sub>: oxygen saturation, min: minimum, max: maximum, SD: standard deviation, IQR: interquartile range.

Table 7. Serious-use	alternative dr	rug interactio	ons in comorbidi	ties
		Serious-use interaction		
	n %		%	p-value
Comorbidity	None	3	100.0%	1 000
Comorbiuity	Present	27	84.4%	1.000
Acthma	None	24	85.7%	1 000
Astrima	Present	6	85.7%	1.000
Ulynostonsion	None	13	86.7%	1 000
Hypertension	Present	17	85.0%	1.000
	None	29	85.3%	1 000
турет DM	Present	1	100.0%	1.000
	None	20	83.3%	1 000
Туре п ом	Present	10	90.9%	1.000
6-	None	27	84.4%	1 000
Ca	Present	3	100.0%	1.000
Name and a bladder	None	29	85.3%	1.000
Neurogenic bladder	Present	1	100.0%	1.000
e tu	None	29	85.3%	1.000
Goiter	Present	1	100.0%	1.000
Hypothyroidism	None	29	87.9%	
	Present	1	50.0%	0.269
CAD	None	26	86.7%	0.564
CAD	Present	4	80.0%	0.561
CUT	None	24	82.8%	0.564
CHF	Present	6	100.0%	0.561
Parkinson/	None	29	85.3%	1.000
Alzheimer	Present	1	100.0%	1.000
	None	28	84.8%	1.000
ВЪН	Present	2	100.0%	1.000
	None	27	84.4%	1.000
HL	Present	3	100.0%	1.000
	None	30	88.2%	0.142
Hypothyroidism	Present	0	0.0%	0.143
	None	29	85.3%	1.000
AF	Present	1	100.0%	1.000
Meningitis/	None	29	85.3%	1.000
Encephalitis	Present	1	100.0%	1.000
	None	27	84.4%	1.000
Kidney failure	Present	3	100.0%	1.000
	None	30	88.2%	
Arrhythmia	Present	0	0.0%	0.143
	None	30	88.2%	
Panic attack	Present	0	0.0%	0.143
	1			

DM: diabetes mellitus, Ca: cancer, CAD: chronic artery disease, CHF: chronic heart failure, BPH: benign prostate hyperplasia, HL: hyperlipidemia, AF: atrial fibrillation. in this population. In our study, no statistically significant difference was found in the drug interaction rates resulting from the patients having comorbidity. No statistically significant change was found in the parameters reflecting organ functions (EGFR, AST-ALT, SPO<sub>2</sub>, ECG) from the first day to the last day of hospitalization, depending on the treatment we applied in the intensive care unit of our hospital.<sup>5</sup>

In New York city, arrhythmia was reported in 18.5% of 130 patients who needed invasive mechanical ventilation, and 95.8% of these patients developed atrial arrhythmia. In an Italian cohort of 99 patients hospitalized with COVID-19, atrial fibrillation occurred in 19% of all cases and 36% of those patients with underlying cardiovascular disease. The most common cause of drug-related life-threatening ventricular arrhythmias was reported to be antiarrhythmic drug-drug interactions, and 74% of these cases were associated with QT prolongation.<sup>18</sup> In our study, no statistically significant difference was found between drug interaction rates and the occurrence of complications in those patients with complications.

In the study of Hosseinpoor et al.<sup>19</sup>, which included 200 COVID-19 patients hospitalized in an intensive care unit OT prolongation and rel

Table 8. Complications serious-use alternat	on occurre ive interac	nce rates in tion	patients	with and v	vithout
	Serious-				
	None		Present		
	n	%	n	%	p-value
ARDS	5	100.0	25	83.3	1.000
Sepsis	3	60.0	5	16.7	0.067
Septic shock	1	20.0	2	6.7	0.380
Cardiac arrest	0	0.0	1	4.8	1.000
Hepatotoxicity	0	0.0	1	4.8	1.000
Intubation	4	80.0	20	66.7	1.000
	Monitor	closely inter	action		
	None		Present		
	n	%	n	%	p-value
ARDS	13	92.9	17	81.0	0.627
Sepsis	3	21.4	5	23.8	1.000
Septic shock	2	14.3	1	4.8	0.551
Cardiac arrest	1	4.3	0	0.0	1.000
Hepatotoxicity	16	69.6	8	66.7	1.000
ntubation	8	57.1	16	76.2	0.283
	Minor in	Minor interaction			
	None		Present		
	n	%	n	%	p-value
ARDS	19	82.6	11	91.7	0.640
Sepsis	4	17.4	4	33.3	0.402
Septic shock	1	4.3	2	16.7	0.266
Cardiac arrest	0	0.0	1	3.3	1.000
Hepatotoxicity	0	0.0	1	3.3	1.000
ntubation	16	69.6	8	66.7	1.000
ARDS: acute respiratory	distress syn	drome, n: num	ıber.		
occurred in 10.7% of patients. In a cohort of 138 COVID-19 patients in Wuhan, China, 44% of patients in the intensive care unit and 17% of all patients developed cardiac arrhythmias. Sudden cardiac arrests both in and out of the hospital have also been reported in patients with COVID-19. In a cohort study of 90 patients with COVID-19, those who received a combination of hydroxychloroquine and azithromycin had more QT interval prolongation than those who received hydroxychloroquine alone. Frequent electrocardiographic evaluation should be strongly considered in those patients with COVID-19 treated with hydroxychloroquine and/or azithromycin.<sup>20</sup> In our study, as a result of the simultaneous use of hydroxychloroquine and azithromycin, QT Prolongation was found to be the most common (32.7%) intervention to be followed. ECGs of all our patients were monitored and it was observed that QT prolongation did not occur in any of them.

In the study conducted by Surmelioglu and Demirkan<sup>21</sup> making suggestions about the drugs used on COVID-19 patients in intensive care units in Turkey, it was argued that polypharmacy and comorbidities increase the risk of occurrence of drug interactions. Additionally, organ dysfunctions associated with COVID-19 may affect the severity of drug interactions. Some of their suggestions include: dose adjustment, alternative drug use or drug monitoring in cases where lopinavir and ritonavir are used together; follow-up of the patient by electrocardiography and discontinuation when the clinical situation requires in cases when lopinavir, ritonavir, hydroxychloroquine and azithromycin are used in combination or with other drugs that prolong the QT interval; and dose adjustment due to the risk of increased concentrations of these drugs in the simultaneous use of hydroxychloroquine and amiodarone, dabigatran, edoxaban and immunosuppressants. Therapeutic level follow-up of drugs is among the fundamental suggestions based on the concerns that azithromycin may increase the concentrations of some drugs when used with certain narrow therapeutic index drugs such as digoxin, theophylline and warfarin despite its low drug interaction potential. The drug interaction potential of favipiravir has been found, albeit low, with the simultaneous use of theophylline and paracetamol.<sup>21</sup>

In the study by Brandariz-Nuñez et al.<sup>22</sup>, which included 361 COVID-19 patients, a total of 369 potential interactions were recorded with 52 different drugs. 20.92% of these interactions are drug combinations that should be avoided. Among the results found were that 20.92% of interactions are combinations of drugs that should be avoided, 63.32% should consider treatment changes, and the remaining 15.76% require follow-up. In our study, the combination of drugs that should be avoided and alternative drugs that can be preferred was determined to be the most common for the combination of azithromycin and enoxaparin (37.14%).

Similarly to the study of Jyotsna and Hemalatha<sup>23</sup>, in our study, serioususe alternative interaction was found in 85.7% of our patients, monitor closely interaction in 60% and minor interaction in 34.3%. Serious-use alternative interactions which recorded the highest rates of occurrence were hydroxychloroquine and azithromycin with 48.57%; enoxaparin and azithromycin with 37.14%; Paracetamol and favipiravir with 25.71%; metoprolol and hydroxychloroquine with 17.14%; Insulin and hydroxychloroquine with 14.29%; Rocuronium and hydroxychloroquine with 14.29%; Amlodipine and azithromycin with 11.43%, amlodipine and hydroxychloroquine with 11.43%; and furosemide and hydroxychloroquine with 11.43%.<sup>23</sup>

#### Limitations of the Study

Our study has several limitations. It is a single-center study with a relatively low number of patients. The patients were not randomized

for treatment but were categorized according to severity when allocated to different therapeutic regimens.

#### CONCLUSION

Polypharmacy, which is inevitable when the treatment for COVID-19 is added to the treatment of chronic disease conditions in patients diagnosed with COVID-19, is the most important factor that causes drugdrug interactions. Our knowledge on potential drug-drug interactions that may be caused by other drugs used in the management of COVID-19, especially antiviral drugs, is limited. It is assumed that drugdrug interactions and the problems they cause are associated with poor clinical outcomes. In order to manage these risks, interventions such as drug dosage adjustment, drug change and the monitoring of parameters that may indicate drug side effects in the patient may be necessary. Therefore, awareness of drug-drug interactions is vital.

#### **MAIN POINTS**

- ARDS and sepsis, which are the most common complications in COVID-19 patients, are associated with longer intubation times.
- Serious-use alternative interaction was detected in the majority of COVID-19 patients in their treatment applied in the ICU.
- Drug-drug interactions caused by polypharmacy and complications in patients are associated with poor clinical response.
- Awareness of drug-drug interactions is vital in COVID-19 patients.

#### ETHICS

**Ethics Committee Approval:** The study was approved by the research Ethics Committee of the İstanbul Medipol University (10840098-604.01.01-E.17838).

Informed Consent: Retrospective study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

#### **Authorship Contributions**

Concept: N.T., B.Ş., D.K., C.E., Design: N.T., B.Ş., D.K., C.E., Supervision: D.K., C.E., Data Collection and/or Processing: N.T., B.Ş., D.K., C.E., Analysis and/or Interpretation: N.T., B.Ş., D.K., C.E., Literature Search: N.T., B.Ş., D.K., C.E., Writing: N.T., B.Ş., D.K., C.E., Critical Review: N.T., B.Ş., D.K., C.E.

#### DISCLOSURES

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study had received no financial support.

#### REFERENCES

- Petrilli CM, Jones SA, Yang J, Rajagopalan H, O'Donnell L, Chernyak Y, et al. Factors associated with hospital admission and critical illness among 5279 people with coronavirus disease 2019 in New York City: prospective cohort study. BMJ. 2020; 369: m1966.
- Pascarella G, Strumia A, Piliego C, Bruno F, Del Buono R, Costa F, et al. COVID-19 diagnosis and management: a comprehensive review. J Intern Med. 2020; 288(2): 192-206.

- Halacli B, Kaya A, Topeli A. Critically-ill COVID-19 patient. Turk J Med Sci. 2020; 50(SI-1): 585-91.
- Rostad H. [A considerable injury of the ankle with negative roentgen findings]. Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen. 1960; 80: 1051-2.
- Awortwe C, Cascorbi I. Meta-analysis on outcome-worsening comorbidities of COVID-19 and related potential drug-drug interactions. Pharmacol Res. 2020; 161: 105250.
- Mitra AR, Fergusson NA, Lloyd-Smith E, Wormsbecker A, Foster D, Karpov A, et al. Baseline characteristics and outcomes of patients with COVID-19 admitted to intensive care units in Vancouver, Canada: a case series. CMAJ. 2020; 192(26): E694-701.
- Nandy K, Salunke A, Pathak SK, Pandey A, Doctor C, Puj K, et al. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19): A systematic review and meta-analysis to evaluate the impact of various comorbidities on serious events. Diabetes Metab Syndr. 2020; 14(5): 1017-25.
- Rodriguez-Morales AJ, Cardona-Ospina JA, Gutiérrez-Ocampo E, Villamizar-Peña R, Holguin-Rivera Y, Escalera-Antezana JP, et al. Clinical, laboratory and imaging features of COVID-19: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Travel Med Infect Dis. 2020; 34: 101623.
- Song J, Hu W, Yu Y, Shen X, Wang Y, Yan J, et al. A Comparison of Clinical Characteristics and Outcomes in Elderly and Younger Patients with COVID-19. Med Sci Monit. 2020; 26: e925047.
- Grasselli G, Zangrillo A, Zanella A, Antonelli M, Cabrini L, Castelli A, et al. Baseline characteristics and outcomes of 1591 patients infected with SARS-CoV-2 admitted to ICUs of the Lombardy region, Italy. JAMA. 2020; 323(16): 1574-81.
- 11. Manolis AS, Apostolopoulos EJ, Papatheou D, Melita H. Since January 2020 Elsevier has created a COVID-19 resource centre with free information in English and Mandarin on the novel coronavirus COVID- 19. Trends Cardiovasc Med 2020; 30(8): 451-60.
- 12. Leung TYM, Chan AYL, Chan EW, Chan VKY, Chui CSL, et al. Short- and potential long-term adverse health outcomes of COVID-19: a rapid review. Emerg Microbes Infect. 2020; 9(1): 2190-9.
- Zhong P, Xu J, Yang D, Shen Y, Wang L, Feng Y, et al. COVID-19-associated gastrointestinal and liver injury: clinical features and potential mechanisms. Signal Transduct Target Ther. 2020; 5(1): 256.

- 14. Chen Y, Zhang K, Zhu G, Liu L, Yan X, Cai Z, et al. Clinical characteristics and treatment of critically ill patients with COVID-19 in Hebei. Ann Palliat Med. 2020; 9(4): 2118-30.
- Bhatraju PK, Ghassemieh BJ, Nichols M, Kim R, Jerome KR, Nalla AK, et al. Covid-19 in critically ill patients in the Seattle Region - Case Series. N Engl J Med. 2020; 382(21): 2012-22.
- Hur K, Price CPE, Gray EL, Gulati RK, Maksimoski M, Racette SD, et al. Factors associated with intubation and prolonged intubation in hospitalized patients with COVID-19. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2020; 163(1): 170-8.
- Lakoh S, Jiba DF, Baldeh M, Vandy AO, Benya H, Lado M, et al. Sepsis and septic shock in COVID-19: a scoping review of the research data. Research Square. 2020. Available from: https://assets.researchsquare.com/files/rs-30474/v1/4762ddeb-c47d-46ad-baa6-6886051283f0.pdf?c=1631841382 (Accessed on January, 2021).
- Rattanawong P, Shen W, El Masry H, Sorajja D, Srivathsan K, Valverde A, et al. Guidance on short-term management of atrial fibrillation in coronavirus disease 2019. J Am Heart Assoc. 2020; 9(14): e017529.
- Hosseinpoor Z, Farzanegan B, Seyyedi SR, Rajabi M, Baniasadi S. Drug interactions and creatinine levels are associated with QTc prolongation in intensive care units: a prospective, observational study. Drug Metab Pers Ther. 2019; 34(4): /j/dmdi.2019.34.issue-4/dmpt-2019-0022/dmpt-2019-0022.xml.
- Nishiga M, Wang DW, Han Y, Lewis DB, Wu JC. COVID-19 and cardiovascular disease: from basic mechanisms to clinical perspectives. Nat Rev Cardiol. 2020; 17(9): 543-58.
- 21. Surmelioglu N, Demirkan K. COVID-19 drug interactions. J Crit Intensive Care. 2020 ;11(Suppl1): 43-5.
- Brandariz-Nuñez D, Correas-Sanahuja M, Guarc E, Picón R, et al. Interacciones medicamentosas potenciales en pacientes COVID 19 en tratamiento con lopinavir/ritonavir. Med Clin (Barc). 2020; 55(7): 281-7.
- 23. Jyotsna M, Hemalatha Y. Drug-drug, drug-disease and disease-disease interactions in COVID-19 with cardiovascular diseases (CVDs). Ind J Car Dis Wom. 2020; 5(3): 216-22.

# **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**



# **Correlation of Rapid Antibody and RT-PCR Tests With Clinical and Radiological Findings in COVID-19 Patients** Admitted to an Employee Health Outpatient Clinic

🕲 Şükran Köse<sup>1</sup>, 🕲 Pınar Şamlıoğlu<sup>2</sup>, 🕲 Gözde Derviş Hakim<sup>3</sup>, 🕲 Mutluhan Yiğitaslan<sup>4</sup>, 🕲 Rıfat Somay<sup>1</sup>, 🕲 Bengü Tatar<sup>1</sup>, Mehmet Bozkurt<sup>5</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İzmir Tepecik Training and Research Hospital, İzmir, Turkey

<sup>2</sup>Microbiology Laboratory, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İzmir Tepecik Training and Research Hospital, İzmir, Turkey <sup>3</sup>Department of Gastroenterology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İzmir Tepecik Training and Research Hospital, İzmir, Turkey <sup>4</sup>Deparment of Pediatrics, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İzmir Tepecik Training and Research Hospital, İzmir, Turkey <sup>5</sup>Department of Radiology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İzmir Tepecik Training and Research Hospital, İzmir, Turkey

# ABSTRACT

BACKGROUND/AIM: To evaluate the results of simultaneous rapid antibody tests and Real-time polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) tests in patients diagnosed with coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19) retrospectively, and to evaluate the compatibility rates of these results with clinical and radiological findings.

MATERIALS AND METHODS: Between March 31, 2020 and July 31, 2020, simultaneous COVID-19 RT-PCR and COVID-19 rapid antibody assay were applied to the health care personnel who were admitted to a healthcare personnel COVID-19 outpatient clinic with COVID-19 complaints.

**RESULTS:** A total of 1010 healthcare personnel who were admitted to the healthcare personnel COVID-19 outpatient clinic were included in this study. One hundred and sixty-seven of them (16.54%) were doctors, and 363 (35.94%) were nurses or midwives. The most common symptoms were sore throat (27.92%), cough (25.94%) and weakness (14.75%). Throat nasal swab RT-PCR revealed that a total of 989 (98%) personnel had PCR negative, and 21 (2%) had PCR positive results. Sixteen (1.58%) personnel did not have a registered assay result. Rapid antibody test revealed that 1006 (99.6%) personnel had negative, and 4 (0.4%) personnel had positive results. When the assay results were evaluated with simultaneous computed tomography findings, 990 (98%) did not have any signs suggesting COVID-19.

CONCLUSION: In serological rapid assays used to diagnose COVID-19, specific antibodies in the "window period" are at undetectable levels in the patient's blood. Therefore, false negative results may be obtained. For this reason, serological tests cannot be used as the basic diagnostic tool for COVID-19 infections.

Keywords: Coronavirus, pandemic, antibody tests, RT-PCR

To cite this article: Köse Ş, Şamlıoğlu P, Derviş Hakim G, Yiğitaslan M, Somay R, Tatar B, Bozkurt M. Correlation of Rapid Antibody and RT-PCR Tests With Clinical and Radiological Findings in COVID-19 Patients Admitted to an Employee Health Outpatient Clinic. Cyprus J Med Sci 2022;7(2):175-179

ORCID iDs of the authors: S.K. 0000-0002-4228-1213; P.S. 0000-0002-8491-7777; G.D.H. 0000-0001-9676-9532; M.Y. 0000-0002-6385-5722; R.S. 0000-0003-1777-905X; B.T. 0000-0003-3787-1734; M.B. 0000-0002-5075-8325.



Address for Correspondence: Şükran Köse E-mail: sukrankose@vahoo.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-4228-1213

Received: 24.03.2021 Accepted: 19.12.2021



Copyright 2022 by the Cyprus Turkish Medical Association / Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences published by Galenos Publishing House. Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License

# INTRODUCTION

In December 2019 in Wuhan, China, a new coronavirus (2019-nCoV) was detected in individuals with acute respiratory disease.<sup>1</sup> Coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19), (Sars-CoV-2) was declared to be a pandemic by the World Health Organization (WHO) on March 11, 2020.<sup>2</sup> Several studies showed that COVID-19 exhibited tropism against extra pulmonary tissue cells as well as respiratory system epithelial cells in humans and it had the ability to grow on these areas.<sup>3</sup> The symptoms of the infection include pulmonary and extrapulmonary signs such as fever, cough, dyspnea, diarrhea, headache, and conjunctivitis.<sup>4</sup> Realtime-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) has become the standard method for nucleic acid identification to diagnose COVID-19. However, RT-PCR tests also have several limitations. These limitations include; the need for trained personnel and certified laboratories with special, expensive equipment for the assays. However, several studies showed that false negative results may be obtained by these assays. Therefore, simple, highly sensitive assays are required for rapid response, and immediate, accurate diagnosis, immunoglobulin M (IgM) is the defense response of the body during the first virus challenge, and IgG is the memory response associated with prolonged immunity. It is suggested that rapid antibody assays detecting IgM and IgG will be important for the diagnosis and treatment of COVID-19. Rapid antibody assays have been developed to detect the presence of IgM and immunoglobulin G (IgG) within 15 minutes from serum or whole blood taken from finger capillaries.<sup>5</sup>

The aim of this study is to evaluate the results of simultaneous rapid antibody tests and RT-PCR tests in patients diagnosed with COVID-19 retrospectively, and to evaluate the compatibility rates of these results with clinical and radiological findings.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

The Healthcare personnel COVID-19 Outpatient Clinic of University of Health Sciences Turkey, İzmir Tepecik Training and Research Hospital, Department of Infectious Diseases opened for COVID-19 complaints of the hospital personnel in order to facilitate convenient testing for them. Between the dates of March 31, 2020 and July 31, 2020, simultaneous COVID-19 R- PCR and COVID-19 rapid antibody assay for COVID-19 were applied to the health care personnel who were admitted to the healthcare personnel COVID-19 outpatient clinic with COVID-19 complaints.

This study was approved by Ethics Committee of University of Health Sciences Turkey, İzmir Tepecik Training and Research Hospital with 2020/10-28 approval number.

#### **RT-PCR**

From the oro-nasopharyngeal swab samples of the patients, viral nucleic acid isolation kit (Bio-Speedy, Turkey) was applied for viral nucleic acid extraction. Swab samples were obtained in Viral Transport Medium (VTM), and put into a 100  $\mu$ L R1 tamponade clean micro-centrifuge tube. A 100  $\mu$ L respiratory sample was added to this tube. The tube was vortexed at 15 sec high speed, then incubated at room temperature for 5 minutes. The tube was centrifuged at maximum speed for 3 minutes (above 10,000 g) and 25  $\mu$ L supernatant was put into a clean micro-centrifuge tube. Then, 25  $\mu$ L'R2 tamponade was added and mixed. This 50  $\mu$ L mixture was used for PCR immediately.

Covidien RT-q-19 PCR Detection Kit (Biospeedy, Turkey) was used.

### According to the manufacturers specifications:

- 1) 10 µL 2X Prime Script Mix
- 2) 5 µL oligomix
- 3) 5 µL of Nucleic acid were added.
- A total volume of 20 µL was obtained.

For RT-PCR, Rotor gene device (Qiagen, Germany) was programmed according to the company's recommendations.

**Rapid antibody test:** COVID-19 IgM/IgG rapid antibody diagnosis assay (Hotgen, China) was used in accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations.

The test tape, diluent and sample to be tested were brought to room temperature, after (15–30 min) aluminum foil was opened, and the sample number was written on the plastic face of the tape. 10  $\mu$ L serum was dropped in the sample section of the tape. Three drops of sample diluent were dropped above it. It was incubated at room temperature for 15 minutes.

If a red or magenta colored line was visible in both parts (T and C line), the test was considered to be positive. If a red or magenta line was visible only in the C line, and there was no color change in the T line, the test was considered to be negative. If there was no color change in the C line, the test was considered invalid and the test was repeated.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

All statistical analyses were performed through The Statistical Package for Social Sciences 23.0 (SPSS, Chicago, IL, USA) software. The data collected within the scope of the study were summarized as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation. Pearson chi-square test was used in the analysis of categorical data. A value of p<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

# RESULTS

A total of 1010 healthcare personnel who were admitted to the healthcare personnel COVID-19 outpatient clinic of University of Health Sciences Turkey, İzmir Tepecik Training and Research Hospital Infectious Diseases were included in this study. Their mean age was 42, the gender distribution was male, 167 of them (16.54%) were doctors, 363 (35.94%) were nurses or midwives. The distribution of the healthcare personnel is shown in Table 1.

When the healthcare staff were questioned about whether they wore masks; it was found that 550 (54.45%) used masks during patient visits, and 460 (45.55%) did not. The analysis of the clinical signs of the patients included in the study showed that the most common symptoms were sore throat (27.92%), cough (25.94%) and weakness (14.75%). The clinical findings of the healthcare personnel are shown in Table 2.

Throat nasal swab RT-PCR revealed that total of 989 (98%) personnel had PCR negative, and 21 (2%) had PCR positive results. Sixteen (1.58%) personnel did not have a registered assay result.

Rapid antibody test revealed that 1006 (99.6%) personnel had negative, and 4 (0.4%) personnel had positive results.

When the assay results were evaluated with simultaneous computed tomography (CT) findings, 990 (98%) did not have any signs suggesting COVID-19. Fourteen (1.4%) had COVID-19 compatible CT findings. One (0.09%) staff member had ground glass opacity findings suggesting a different viral infection. CT findings of 36 (3.56%) people were not compatible with COVID-19. CT findings could not be obtained in six personnel (Table 3).

A total of 21 (2%) personnel had PCR positive tests. Nine hundred and ninety of 1010 personnel had CT incompatible with COVID-19 findings. Among those patients without CT findings, 859 (87%) had PCR negative, 20 had (2%) PCR positive, three had (0.3%) rapid test positive, and one patient (0.1%) had both PCR and rapid test positive results.

Among the patients with CT findings, none of the health personnel had positive PCR results. One person with CT positive and PCR negative had a positive rapid test. Table 4 presents the correlation between the clinical symptoms and assay results.

Table 1. Distribution of healthcare personnel				
Position Number %				
Doctor	167	16.53		
Nurse/midwife	363	35.94		
Cleaning staff	204	20.20		
Computing/data entry	30	2.97		
Other	246	24.36		

Table 2. Clinical signs of the healthcare personnel				
Symptom type	Present (%)	Absent (%)		
Weakness	14.75	85.24		
Lack of appetite	1.48	98.52		
Fever	7.22	92.73		
Muscle and joint pain	12.97	87.03		
Sore throat	27.92	72.08		
Nasal congestion	8.42	91.58		
Cough	25.94	74.06		
Dry cough	7.82	92.18		
Productive cough	2.18	97.82		
Headache	11.88	88.12		
Changes in consciousness	0.20	99.80		
Nausea	1.78	98.22		
Vomiting	0.60	99.40		
Diarrhea	3.56	95.84		
Loss of taste	1.48	92.92		
Loss of smell	0.69	98.71		
Dyspnea	9.21	90.19		
Significant values are shown in bold.				

### Table 3. Comparison of CT findings with RT-PCR results

### DISCUSSION

Since the beginning of the pandemic, medical companies and research institutes have been trying to develop assays to detect this viral infection and immunity against COVID-19. RT-PCR is considered as the gold standard for the diagnosis of the COVID-19 infection. However, this assay requires certified laboratories, expensive equipment, materials and trained personnel. Rapid tests detecting specific antibodies in blood samples may be used 3-6 days after the onset of symptoms to detect increased IgM antibodies and 8-10 days after to detect increased IgG antibodies.<sup>6</sup> These assays are cheap, easy to use and rapid, do not require equipment, and the results may be obtained in 15 minutes. They are easily used for screening health workers, allowing them to return to their work quickly. A disadvantage of quick tests is the probability of cross reactions with other coronaviruses (SARS-CoV, MERS-CoV).7

In PCR positive but rapid test negative sample results, the first thing to remember is that the absence of antibodies or their levels may be so low in the beginning of the infection. Secondly, the antibody response level of individuals' immunities may be different. Antibody response may not be observed if the immune system is suppressed. Thirdly, IgM response decreases during the second week, and may be negative when the test is applied.<sup>5</sup>

In Italy, 525 health care personnel were screened with rapid antibody assay, and six of them (1.1%) had positive IgM bands. Three of these cases had COVID-19 contact history. None of them had COVID-19 symptoms in these six cases, and their COVID-19 RT-PCR results were negative.<sup>8</sup> In a different study on 3300 patients, rapid assay was positive in six cases (0.2%).9 In our study, 1006 (99.6%) health care personnel had negative rapid antibody assay, and four had positive results (0.4%). One of four (0.1%) had both positive PCR and rapid assay.

The results of molecular assays detecting viral RNA may be affected by accurate sampling, sample quality, transfer and storing conditions, and these may cause false negative results. If PCR does not detect the virus, we should keep in mind that the infection may be in very early or late period, and the viral load may be very low.<sup>10-12</sup>

Since SARS-CoV-2 is transmitted through airborne droplets, direct contact with COVID-19 patients put health care personnel at high infection risk especially if protective equipment is missing. In Italy, infection rates reported in health care workers were around 25%.13-15

The infection incidence of health care workers at a medical faculty was very high, 63% at the end of the first week and 22% at the end of the second week of the pandemic, among all COVID-19 cases diagnosed in the hospital. The first cases of this hospital were detected at those clinics where COVID-19 case were not expected, and one of these cases was a health care staff member. Therefore, it was suggested that health care personnel were not protected. With the precautions taken in the following weeks, this ratio decreased to 8.7% by the end of the 11th week.16

CT findings not compatible with COVID-19	CT negative- RT-PCR negative	CT negative-RT-PCR positive	CT negative- RT-PCR positive-rapid test positive	CT positive- RT-PCR positive rapid test positive
990 (98%)	859 (87%)	20 (2%)	1 (0.01%)	1 (0.01%)
CT: computed tomography, COVID-19: c	oronavirus disease 2019 RT-PC	R: real-time polymerase chain	reaction	

Table 4. The correlation between clinical symptoms and assay results						
	CT positive	RT-PCR positive	Rapid test positive	CT & rapid test & RT-PCR positive		
Sore throat (280)	2 (0.7%)	16 (5.7%)	-	-		
Cough (260)	4 (1.5%)	21 (8%)	1 (0.4%)	-		
Weakness (146)	5 (3.4%)	15 (10.3%)	-	-		
CT: computed tomography, RT-PCR: real-time polymerase chain reaction.						

Since February 24, 2020, it was reported that 3387 (4.4%) of 77,262 cases in China were health care personnel, and this was considered to be a high rate, and its causes were investigated.<sup>17,18</sup> In our study, PCR positivity was 2% in health care personnel, which was very low compared to other studies. We suggest that the importance given to the use of personal protective equipment and the hygiene measures had been effective.

COVID-19 infection primarily involves the respiratory tract, so imaging methods such as direct radiography and CT may give supportive information for diagnosis. The value of direct radiograph is low as a diagnostic tool and is insufficient to detect pulmonary signs. However, CT may detect parenchyma findings even in asymptomatic subjects.<sup>19</sup>

In the early periods of COVID-19, CT may not detect any findings. A negative result in the thorax CT may indicate the condition without any parenchymal findings associated with the infection.<sup>20</sup>

Thorax CT is more sensitive in the diagnosis of COVID-19 pneumonia in comparison to RT-PCR assay, however, CT findings such as ground glass densities in parenchyma, and consolidation areas are not specific to COVID-19. Therefore, the diagnosis should be supported by clinical signs and laboratory results, and it is important to be confirmed by RT-PCR assay.<sup>21</sup>

In serological rapid assays used to diagnose COVID-19, specific antibodies in the "window period" are at undetectable levels in the patient's blood. Therefore, false negative results may be obtained. Therefore, serological tests cannot be used as the basic diagnostic tool for COVID-19 infections.

It is suggested that COVID-19, which may cause severe acute respiratory infection, infects people via droplets. If the infected person coughs, sneezes or talks, the virus is transmitted by respiratory fluids directly to the mucosa, and it may infect the other person. Additionally, if a person touches his eyes, nose or mouth after touching an infected surface, infection may occur. Hand-washing is a basic of viral infection control. Protective clothing such as masks, aprons and gloves should be worn to prevent infection.

#### Limitations of the Study

We had some limitations for our study. Firstly, the required training was given to the personnel who would take the samples during the sampling phase for the COVID-19 RT-PCR test. However, the same person did not perform all PCR and rapid antibody tests. This situation may have affected the quality of testing. Secondly, a limited number of antibody tests were sent to our hospital. Therefore, antibody tests could not be performed on every patient who underwent PCR test. We think that if the number of antibody tests were higher, it would be more suitable in defining large populations. These are considered as the limitations of our study.

# CONCLUSION

The most important points in the fight against COVID-19 are the early detection of infected people, follow-up of contacts and isolation of diagnosed patients. Although rt pcr is the most used method for early diagnosis, new methods have been tried to be developed because it requires a well-equipped molecular microbiology laboratory and equipment. Simultaneous rapid antibody tests, which are among these other methods, are thought to replace rt pcr tests for early diagnosis. However, in the light of the results we obtained from our study; It has been observed that in the "window period", specific antibodies may be at undetectable levels in the patient's blood, which may cause false negative results. Therefore, it has been concluded that serological tests cannot be used as a basic diagnostic tool for COVID-19 infections.

# **MAIN POINTS**

- The most important points in the fight against COVID-19 are the early detection of infected people, follow-up of contacts and isolation of diagnosed patients.
- When simultaneous rapid antibody tests and Real-time polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) tests are compared; rapid antibody test appears to be superior in terms of ease of use and accessibility.
- However, rapid antibody tests may cause false negative results in patients who fall within the window period.
- RT-PCR tests are still the gold standard in the diagnosis of COVID-19 infections.

# ETHICS

**Ethics Committee Approval:** This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of University of Health Sciences Turkey, İzmir Tepecik Training and Research Hospital with 2020/10-28 approval number.

Retrospective Study: Informed Consent: Retrospective study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

#### **Authorship Contributions**

Concept: Ş.K., G.D.H., Design: Ş.K., G.D.H., Data Collection and/or Processing: M.Y., M.B. Analysis and/or Interpretation: M.Y., M.B., Literature Review: Ş.K., P.Ş., G.D.H., M.Y., R.S., B.T., M.B., Writing: P.Ş., G.D.H.

#### DISCLOSURES

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study had received no financial support.

#### REFERENCES

- Chu DKW, Pan Y, Cheng SMS, Hui KPY, Krishnan P, Liu Y, et al. Molecular diagnosis of a novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) causing an outbreak of pneumonia. Clin Chem. 2020; 66(4): 549-55.
- European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. Novelcoronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic: increasedtransmission in the EU/EEA and the UK – sixth update: European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control; 2020. Available from: https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publicationsdata/rapid-risk-assessment-novel-coronavirus-disease-2019-covid-19pandemic-increased (Accessed on March 2021).
- Hui KPY, Cheung MC, Perera RAPM, Ng KC, Bui CHT, Ho JCW, et al. Tropism, replication competence, and innate immune responses of the coronavirus SARS-CoV-2 in human respiratory tract and conjunctiva: an analysis in exvivo and in-vitro cultures. Lancet Respir Med. 2020; 8(7): 687-95.
- Bustin SA, Nolan T. RT-qPCR Testing of SARS-CoV-2: A Primer. Int J Mol Sci. 2020; 21(8): 3004.
- 5. Li Z, Yi Y, Luo X, Xiong N, Liu Y, Li S, et al. Development and clinical application of a rapid IgM-IgG combined antibody test for SARS-CoV-2 infection diagnosis. J Med Virol. 2020; 92(9): 1518-24.
- Castro R, Luz PM, Wakimoto MD, Veloso VG, Grinsztejn B, Perazzo H. COVID-19: a meta-analysis of diagnostic test accuracy of commercial assays registered in Brazil. Braz J Infect Dis. 2020; 24(2): 180-7.
- Xiao SY, Wu Y, Liu H. Evolving status of the 2019 novel coronavirus infection: Proposal of conventional serologic assays for disease diagnosis and infection monitoring. J Med Virol. 2020; 92(5): 464-67.
- Paradiso AV, Summa SD, Silvestris N, Tommasi S, Tufaro A, Palma GD, et al. Rapid Serological Tests Have A Role in Asymptomatic Health Workers Covid-19 Screening. [Preprint article]. 2020;4: 1-13. DOI: https://doi. org/10.1101/2020.04.15.20057786
- The Guardian. Scientists say mass tests in Italian town have halted Covid-19 there. Available from: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2020/mar/18/ scientists-say-mass-tests-in-italian-town-have-halted-covid-19
- 10. Sun Y, Koh V, Marimuthu K, Ng OT, Young B, Vasoo S, et al. Epidemiological and Clinical Predictors of COVID-19. Clin Infect Dis. 2020; 71(15): 786-92.

- Lippi G, Simundic AM; European Federation for Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine (EFLM) Working Group for Preanalytical Phase (WG-PRE). The EFLM strategy for harmonization of the preanalytical phase. Clin Chem Lab Med. 2018; 56(10): 1660-6.
- Bustin SA, Nolan T. Template Handling, preparation and quantification. In A-Z of Quantitative PCR; Bustin SA. (Ed.) International University Line: La Jolla, CA, USA: 2004. p. 143-213.
- Godderis L, Boone A, Bakusic J. COVID-19: a new work-related disease threatening healthcare workers. Occup Med (Lond). 2020; 70(5): 315-6.
- Schwartz J, King CC, Yen MY. Protecting healthcare workers during the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Outbreak: lessons from Taiwan's Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Response. Clin Infect Dis. 2020; 71(15): 858-60.
- 15. Remuzzi A, Remuzzi G. COVID-19 and Italy: what next? Lancet. 2020; 395(10231): 1225-8.
- Durusoy R, Ata A, Geçim C, Filis N, Fidan E, Şimşek S, et al. Ege Üniversitesi Tıp Fakültesi Hastanesi'nde COVID-19 vakalarının sürveyansı, filyasyonu ve temaslılarının belirlenmesi Turk J Public Health. 2020; 18(COVID-19 Special): 25-39.
- Wang J, Zhou M, Liu F. Reasons for healthcare workers becoming infected with novel coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) in China. J Hosp Infect. 2020; 105(1): 100-1.
- 18. Zhan M, Qin Y, Xue X, Zhu S. Death from Covid-19 of 23 health care workers in China. N Engl J Med. 2020; 382(23): 2267-8.
- Pan Y, Guan H, Zhou S, Wang Y, Li Q, Zhu T, et al. Initial CT findings and temporal changes in patients with the novel coronavirus pneumonia (2019nCoV): a study of 63 patients in Wuhan, China. Eur Radiol. 2020; 30(6): 3306-9.
- Alparslan M, Özkaçmaz S, Dadalı Y, Dündar İ. COVID-19 tanılı hastalarımızın bilgisayarlı tomografi sonuçları: tipik ve atipik bulgular. Ahi Evran Med J. 2020; 4(3): 109-16.
- 21. Barışık CC. SARS-COV 2 enfeksiyonu olan hastanın radyolojik görüntülemesi. Med Res Rep. 2020; 3(1): 32-35.

# ORIGINAL ARTICLE



# Investigation of 2019-2020 Seasonal Influenza Activity at a University Hospital in Northern Cyprus

● Sahem Mowafaq A. Abujamous<sup>1</sup>, ● Ayse Arikan<sup>1,2</sup>, ● Emrah Guler<sup>1,2</sup>, ● Kaya Suer<sup>3</sup>, ● Tamer Sanlidag<sup>2,4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Medical Microbiology and Clinical Microbiology, Near East University, Faculty of Medicine, Near East University Nicosia, Northern Cyprus

<sup>2</sup>Near East University, DESAM Institute, Near East University Nicosia, Northern Cyprus

<sup>3</sup>Department of Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, Near East University Hospital, Nicosia, Northern Cyprus Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus

<sup>4</sup>Department of Medical Microbiology, Manisa Celal Bayar University Faculty of Medicine, Manisa, Turkey

# ABSTRACT

**BACKGROUND/AIM:** Influenza (flu) is a contagious respiratory disease caused by influenza viruses, which is more common in the late autumn, winter and early spring of the year. We aimed to estimate the rate of seasonal influenza A and B at Near East University Hospital in Northern Cyprus and to correlate the rate of the infection with the gender and age of the patients, and by month in which the infection occurred.

MATERIALS AND METHODS: Nasopharyngeal swabs collected from 844 individuals with flu like symptoms who were admitted to our hospital between December 2019 and March 2020 were involved. ABON™ Influenza A&B chromatographic immunoassay was used for the qualitative detection of Influenza A and B antigens. The rate of the infections was assessed among different ages, gender and by month.

**RESULTS:** Among 844 individuals, 234 (27.7%) were positive for either Influenza A virus or Influenza B virus. Among these infected cases, 97 (11.5%) and 137 (16.2%) were positive for influenza A and B, respectively. Influenza B was more dominant especially in children between 5–14 years of age. The major group of cases infected with Influenza A were aged 0–4 years. The difference between either Influenza A (p=0.679) or B (p=0.255) positivity and gender was not statistically significant. However, the rate of Influenza B differed by the month in which it occurred (p=0.034), peaking in February.

**CONCLUSION:** Our findings show that the rate of Influenza B was more dominant compared to the rate of Influenza A and age is an important factor in the rate of seasonal influenza. Therefore, early identification and investigation of influenza cases is critical to control human-human transmission.

Keywords: Influenza virus, immunochromotographic test, prevalence, Northern Cyprus

# INTRODUCTION

Influenza (commonly referred as flu) is a contagious respiratory disease which is caused by Influenza viruses.<sup>1</sup> Influenza viruses, as members of the family *Orthomyxoviridae*, are enveloped, negative

sense-single stranded segmented RNA viruses approximately 100 nm in diameter.<sup>2</sup> According to the antigenic differences in nucleoprotein (NP) and matrix (M) proteins present on the surface, which are associated with infecting a host cell, three different types (A, B and C) of Influenza viruses have been defined.<sup>3</sup> Influenza A [commonly

**To cite this article:** Abujamous SMA, Arıkan A, Güler E, Suer K, Şanlıdağ T. Investigation of 2019-2020 Seasonal Influenza Activity at a University Hospital in Northern Cyprus. Cyprus J Med Sci 2022;7(2):180-185

**ORCID iDs of the authors:** S.M.A.A. 0000-0003-0017-1005; A.A. 0000-0003-1942-1203; E.G. 0000-0002-1635-0051; K.S. 0000-0002-2565-3425; T.S. 0000-0001-5084-7902.



Address for Correspondence: Ayşe Arıkan
E-mail: aysearikancy@yahoo.com; ayse.arikansarioglu@neu.edu.tr
ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0003-1942-1203

Received: 17.11.2020 Accepted: 05.03.2021

Copyright 2022 by the Cyprus Turkish Medical Association / Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences published by Galenos Publishing House. Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License referred as avian influenza (AI)] viruses can be further divided into subtypes based on the glycoproteins present on the surface of the viral envelope; hemagglutinin (HA) glycoproteins which allow the virus to bind to sialic acid receptors on a surface of epithelial cells in the upper respiratory tract and neuraminidase (NA) glycoproteins which let the new viruses leave the cell by simply budding out from it by cleaving sialic acid in the membrane.<sup>4</sup> To date, 18 distinct HA and 11 NA varying from H1 to H18 and N1 to N11 subtypes respectively, have been identified.<sup>5,6</sup> Influenza A and B viruses have a similar structure with eight gene segments that encode 17 proteins, however, Influenza B viruses do not have subtypes and are not associated with pandemics.<sup>5,6</sup> Influenza C viruses cause mild infections whereas, the Influenza D virus, which affects only cattle, does not cause infections in human. Thus, these two viruses do not pose a risk for public health.<sup>7.9</sup>

Influenza viruses can progress from mild to severe illnesses. Their transmission occurs from person to person with direct contact of respiratory droplets produced during coughing and/or sneezing at distances of less than 1 meter.<sup>10</sup> A total of 3 to 5 million cases and approximately 290,000 to 650,000 deaths associated with influenza are reported annually.<sup>11</sup> While the flu is generally common at the highest rates among young people, high mortality rates have been reported among the elderly, pregnant women, children below 59 months and individuals with severe and chronic illness such as chronic cardiac, pneumonia, sepsis and immunosuppressive conditions including acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS), those receiving chemotherapy, or with malignancy.<sup>12-14</sup> Laboratory diagnosis of Influenza by swabs or samples of secretions taken from the patient's nose or throat involve rapid antigen testing, immunofluorescence assays, rapid molecular assays such as reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) and virus culture.<sup>15</sup> Most of these assays provide an excellent analytical performance with high sensitivity and specificity. However, they require a longer time, and equipment and reagents which can only be used by experienced laboratory staff. As early identification and investigation of Influenza cases is critical to control human-human transmission, rapid antigen testing assays are commonly used for screening.

According to a modeling analysis of population-based surveillance data for the 2010–2013 Influenza seasons, approximately 114,018–633,001 hospitalizations, 18,476–96,667 intensive care unit (ICU) admissions, and 4,866–27,810 deaths per year were reported.<sup>16</sup> Moreover, it is estimated that 9.2–35.6 million illnesses, 4.3–16.7 million outpatient medical visits, and 139,000–708,000 hospitalizations can be attributed to all-season Influenza during the 2010–2016 seasons.<sup>16</sup> Therefore, the early identification and investigation of Influenza cases is critical to control human-human transmission and manage influenza outbreaks.

Due to the lack of scientific data on the rate of seasonal Influenza infections in Northern Cyprus, this study aimed to investigate the annual seasonal Influenza A and B virus activities in circulation during the 2019 winter and 2020 spring seasons at a university hospital in Northern Cyprus. Furthermore, the Influenza infections were evaluated with respect to multiple factors including gender, age, and the month in which they occurred to correlate these factors with the rate of the infection.

### **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### **Ethical Approval**

The study was approved by Near East University Institutional Review Board (decision no: NEU/2020/79-1069, date: 28.05.2020). Since our study was retrospective, an informed consent form was not used.

#### **Study Group and Analysis**

Nasopharyngeal/oropharyngeal swab specimens collected from a total of 844 individuals with flu-like symptoms who were admitted to the Near East University Hospital clinics including the pediatric, cardiology, chest disease, emergency service, intensive care, and infectious disease clinics between December 2019 and March 2020 were investigated in the current study. Different parameters including age, gender, clinics and laboratory findings were documented and assessed all together for each case. The rate of Influenza activity was assessed among different age groups in the ranges of 0-4, 5-14, 15-44 and over 45 years. The ABON<sup>™</sup> Influenza A&B Rapid Test Strip (Swab) chromatographic immunoassay (ABON Biopharm Co., Ltd, Hangzhou, China) was used for the qualitative detection of Influenza A and B antigens according to manufacturer's recommendations. Each chromatographic immunoassay is intended to aid in the diagnosis of Influenza A and B viruses. The manufacturer claims both the analytical sensitivity and specificity for Influenza A to be >99%. The analytical sensitivity and specificity for Influenza B is given as >99% and 98.6%, respectively.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Categorical variables were summarized as frequencies and percentages, and continuous variables were described using their mean. The frequencies of categorical variables were compared using the Pearson chi-square and Fisher's exact tests. Tests with a p<0.05 were considered statistically significant.

#### RESULTS

A total of 844 swab samples collected from individuals who were admitted to the clinics of Near East University Hospital including the pediatric (356, 42.2%), emergency service (344, 40.8%), infectious disease (104, 12.3%), internal disease (19, 2.3%), chest disease and allergy (8, 0.9%), ear-nose-throat (8, 0.9%), cardiology (3, 0.4%) and dialysis (2, 0.2%) clinics were screened for Influenza A and B viruses in this study. The demographic characteristics of the study patients are shown in Table 1. A total of 1,688 analyses involving either Influenza A or B infection were obtained from the 844 patients. Among these individuals, 443 (52.5%) were females and 401 (47.5%) were male. Overall, from the individuals screened for Influenza viruses, 234 (27.7%) were determined as positive either for the influenza A or B virus. With regards to the overall Influenza positivity, the highest rate was obtained from those individuals coming from Nicosia (28.9%). Among the cases who tested positive for Influenza A and B, the highest rate was obtained from Nicosia and Morphou with 12% and 17.3%, respectively. No significant correlation was obtained between Influenza A and B positivity and the cities with p=0.763 and p=0.838, respectively. The seasonal pattern of Influenza activity in the cities of Northern Cyprus is given in Table 2.

Of the infected cases, 97 (11.5%) were positive for Influenza A virus and 137 (16.2%) were positive for Influenza B virus. Among the Influenza A positive cases, 48 (49.5%) were male and 49 (50.5%) were female. Moreover, 59 (43.1%) males and 78 (56.9%) females were reported as

Cyprus .	J Med	Sci	2022;7	(2	2):180-18	5
----------	-------	-----	--------	----	-----------	---

Table 1. Clinical characteristics of the study patients					
Characteristics	Patient group				
Patient, n	844				
Gender, M/F, n (%)	401(47.5)/443 (52.5)				
Age, years (mean)	0–92 (15.74)				
Clinics, n (%)					
Pediatrics	356 (42.2)				
Emergency service	344 (40.8)				
Infectious disease	104 (12.3)				
Internal diseases	19 (2.3)				
Chest disease and allergy	8 (0.9)				
Ear nose and throat	8 (0.9)				
Cardiology	3 (0.4)				
Dialysis	2 (0.2)				
M: male; F: female, n: number.					

being Influenza B virus positive (Table 1). The difference between either Influenza A or Influenza B positivity and gender was not statistically significant (p=0.679, p=0.255 respectively) (Table 3).

During December 2019, a total of 70 Influenza A and B tests were performed of which 6 (17.1%) and 3 (8.6%) tested positive for Influenza A and B viruses, respectively. The number of performed Influenza tests peaked in January with a total of 980 tests, of which, 65 (13.3%) were positive for Influenza A virus and 83 (16.9%) were positive for Influenza B virus. In February 2020, a total of 490 tests were carried out in which 9% and 19.2% were positive for Influenza A and B viruses, respectively. In March 2020, 148 tests were performed, of which, 5.4% were positive for both the Influenza A and the Influenza B viruses. After February 2020, the number of tests carried out decreased by 70% in March. There was no statistically significant relationship between the rate of Influenza A virus and the month (p=0.088). However, the relationship between the rate of Influenza B virus and the month was statistically significant (p=0.034) and Influenza B was found to be the most common in February, 2020. The distribution rate of Influenza A and B virus positivity versus the month is given in Figure 1.

In this study, it was shown that age is an important factor in being infected with different types of seasonal Influenza viruses. During the Influenza season in Northern Cyprus (December 2019–March 2020), the major group of cases infected with Influenza A virus were aged 0-4 years. In addition, a steady decrease in Influenza A virus positivity (p=0.047) with increasing age in the same period showed a statistically significant relationship between the Influenza A infection rate and age. Moreover, the rate of Influenza B infection was the highest in the ages 5–14 years (p=0.000), which also confirms a statistically significant relationship between Influenza B infection and age. In Table 4, the rate of Influenza A and Influenza B virus positivity among different age groups in the ranges of 0–4, 5–14, 15–44 and over 45 years is given.

### DISCUSSION

The rate of Influenza virus infection varies by 5%–20% each year.<sup>17</sup> This current study presents the estimation rate of seasonal influenza type A and/or B of a population who were admitted to a university hospital in Northern Cyprus in the 2019–2020 Influenza seasons. During this period, overall, for individuals screened for Influenza viruses,

approximately 28% were determined to be positive for either Influenza A or B viruses. The positivity rate for Influenza B infections was higher (16.2%) compared to Influenza A infections (11.5%). Similar to a study in France, the number of Influenza B cases (29.7%) was higher than the number of Influenza A cases and the Influenza B outbreak peaked after the Influenza A outbreak.<sup>18</sup> In contrast, another study by Tamerius et al.<sup>19</sup> from the United States of America showed that the number of Influenza B infections (136,793 cases) was higher than that of Influenza B infections (86,498 cases).

Risk factors including the month of the year, age and gender play significant roles in the distribution of the Influenza illness and its treatment, which may have important public health implications.<sup>20-22</sup> We correlated the rate of Influenza-positivity by month between December 2019 and March 2020. Our findings show that Influenza A or B infection positivity was detected at the highest rate in December 2019. However, the highest number of tests was performed in January with a total of 980. Unusually, most of the positive cases were infected with Influenza B virus in our study. Influenza type A viruses are generally more common than Influenza type B virus due to the antigenic shift of proteins present on the virus surface or a combination with those viruses circulating in animals.<sup>23</sup> In similar studies, Influenza type A was reported at higher rates. Yang et al.24 reported the positivity rate for Influenza type A (77.1%) to be higher than that of type B (22.9%) in China and other neighboring Asian countries such as Korea and Japan. Moreover, the incidence rate of Influenza type A and B were reported as 16.7 and 4.7 per 100,000 people-years, respectively in Iraq by Aufi et al.<sup>25</sup> After the 2009 pandemic in the World Health Organization European Region, Mook et al.<sup>26</sup>, focused on alternating patterns of seasonal Influenza activity from 2010 to 2018 and their team showed that Influenza virus type A was the predominant circulating Influenza during five seasons (2010-2011, 2011-2012, 2013-2014, 2014-2015, and 2016–2017). Similarly, Panayiotou et al.27 reported only Influenza A virus circulating in Cyprus in four consecutive seasons (2009–2013).

Furthermore, in February 2020, only half of the tests compared to January were performed due to a decrease in the number of patients and the positivity rate was determined to be higher for Influenza B (19.2%). During March 2020, 148 test kits were used, of which, 5.4% were positive for both Influenza A and Influenza B. After February 2020, the number of tests started to drop, reaching a 70% decrease in March, but there was no statistically significant relationship between Influenza A prevalence and the month (p=0.088). In contrast, the relationship





\*p<0.05 significant, Inf: influenza, n: number

Table 2. Seasonal pattern of Influenza activity in cities of Northern Cyprus						
	Kyrenia (n, %)	Nicosia (n, %)	Morphou (n, %)	Famagusta (n, %)	p-value	
Influenza A positive	17, 11.8%	69, 12%	4, 7.7%	7, 9.6%	0.763	
Influenza B positive	21, 14.6%	97, 16.9%	9, 17.3%	10, 13.7%	0.838	
Total positive	38, 26.4%	166, 28.9%	13, 25.0%	17, 23.3%	0.702	
*p<0.05 significant, n: number.		·	•			

#### Table 3. Influenza A and Influenza B positivity among genders

	Influenza A			Influenza B		
	Negative	egative Positive p-value No (%) n (%) n	Negative	Positive	n value	
	n (%)		p-value	n (%)	n (%)	p-value
Male	353 (88%)	48 (12%)		342 (85.3%)	59 (14.7%)	
Female	394 (88.9%)	49 (11.1%)	0.679	365 (82.4%)	78 (17.6%)	0.255
Total	747 (88.5%)	97 (11.5%)		707 (83.8%)	137 (16.2%)	
n: number.			-			

Table 4. The rate of Influenza A and Influenza B positivity among different age groups						
Influenza types	0–4 years, n (%)	5–14 years, n (%)	15–44 years, n (%)	>45 years, n (%)	p-value	
Influenza A						
Negative	307 (86%)	187 (87.4%)	172 (91.5%)	81 (95.3%)	0.047*	
Positive	50 (14%)	27 (12.6%)	16 (8.5%)	4 (4.7%)	0.047**	
Influenza B		·	·	·		
Negative	313 (87.7%)	162 (75.7%)	153 (81.4%)	79 (92.9%)	0.000*	
Positive	44 (12.3%)	52 (24.3%)	35 (18.6%)	6 (7.1%)	0.000^	
*p<0.05 significant, n: number.	·	·	·	·	·	

between the prevalence of Influenza B and the month was statistically significant (p=0.034). During the period between December 2019 to March 2020, the Influenza B positivity was more common (59%) than Influenza A (41%). In a study conducted by Basile et al.<sup>28</sup> in 2017–2018, it was shown that Influenza type B positivity was higher (63%) in comparison to that of Influenza type A (32.3%). In addition, according to the results of another study conducted by Karolyi et al.<sup>29</sup>, 75.8% of Influenza positive cases were reported as Influenza type B positive in hospitalized patients via routine polymerase chain reaction (PCR). A study conducted by Yang et al.<sup>24</sup> showed that Influenza type B was predominant in Mongolia and Russia during the 2019 and 2020 seasons (80.7% and 77.2%, respectively).

The distribution of Influenza virus types also varies by age and by sex and this has important public health implications.<sup>30</sup> Children especially under the age of two years are at higher risk of serious illness compared to older children.<sup>31</sup> Therefore, we investigated the rate of the infections among different ages and genders in the current study. Our findings suggest that gender was not associated with the rate of Influenza infections for our study period. However, seasonal Influenza positivity was associated with age and this may be an important factor in becoming infected with the virus. The overall age distribution of Influenza type A cases was the highest among young children aged 0–4 (14.0%, p=0.047) and the lowest was detected among the elderly (4.7%). Koliou et al.<sup>31</sup> reported the first cases of Influenza in children

aged 15 years and under in Cyprus in 2009. According to our findings, Influenza type B was most frequently determined in the 5–14 years age group (p=0.000). In a similar study by Mosnier et al.<sup>18</sup>, Influenza type B was very common, especially in school-age children. For the Influenza species, it showed that the number of cases decreases with age and indicates a statistically significant inverse relationship.

#### Limitations of the Study

Our study has some limitations. The sample size and the technique we used lead to the limitations of our study. We could only test samples of individuals who attended Near East University Hospital and were tested using rapid antigen detection test kits. Although these tests provide rapid test results, they have limited analytical sensitivity to detect Influenza viruses in respiratory specimens and they do not provide information on the subtypes of specific virus strains. Therefore, a larger sample set is needed to estimate the accurate rate of seasonal Influenza viruses of the whole population in Northern Cyprus by means of molecular tests.

#### CONCLUSION

This study presents data on the rate of seasonal Influenza type A and B infections during the winter months between January and February and the beginning of spring. Despite the presence of Influenza, A cases, Influenza B cases remained predominant, especially in children between 0–14 years of age throughout the years 2019 and 2020. Our study shows

that the distribution of seasonal Influenza types was not associated with gender, however, age and the month of the year may have a significant role in infection rates and types. Therefore, people at risk age groups are recommended to have seasonal Influenza vaccinations as protection against pandemic Influenza strains.

#### **MAIN POINTS**

- In Northern Cyprus, there is not much data available on the prevalence of Influenza infections and this study presents scientific data on the rate of seasonal Influenza type A and B infections during the winter season.
- According to our results, the rate of Influenza B was more dominant compared to the rate of Influenza A in the period 2019-2020.
- Our findings also suggest that the seasonal Influenza positivity was associated with age, which is an important factor in becoming infected with the virus. Influenza A and Influenza B were found to be more dominant in individuals aged 0-4 years and in those between 5-14 years of age, respectively.
- Our results show that gender was not a significant factor in the rate and type of the infections. However, the rate of Influenza B infection differed by the month in which it occurred and the Influenza B activity was shown to peak in February, 2020.

#### **ETHICS**

**Ethics Committee Approval:** The study was approved by Near East University Institutional Review Board (decision no: NEU/2020/79-1069, date: 28.05.2020).

Informed Consent: Retrospective study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

#### **Authorship Contributions**

#### DISCLOSURES

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study had received no financial support.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Krammer F, Smith GJD, Fouchier RAM, Peiris M, Kedzierska K, Doherty PC, et al. Influenza. Nature Reviews Disease Primers. 2018; 4:3.
- Dadonaite B, Gilbertson B, Knight ML, Trifkovic S, Rockman S, Laederach A, et al. The structure of the influenza A virus genome. Nat Microbiol. 2019; 4(11): 1781-9.
- Neethirajan S, Tuteja SK, Huang ST, Kelton D. Recent advancement in biosensors technology for animal and livestock health management. Biosensors and Bioelectronics. 2017; 98: 398-407.
- Chen Y, Wohlbold TJ, Zheng NY, Huang M, Huang Y, Neu KE, et al. Influenza infection in humans induces broadly cross-reactive and protective neuraminidase-reactive antibodies. Cell. 2018; 173(2): 417-29.
- Moulick A, Rickhtera L, Milosavljevic V, Cernei N, Haddad Y, Zitka O, Kopel Z, Adam V. Advanced nanotechnologies in avian influenza: current status and future trends- A review. Analytica Chimica. 2017; 983:42-53.

- 6. Paules C, Subbarcao K. Influenza. Lancet. 2017; 390(10095): 697-708.
- 7. Petrova VN, Russell CA. The evolution of seasonal influenza viruses. Nature Rev Microbiol. 2018; 16: 47-60.
- Lee N, Choi KW, Chan PKS, Hui DSC, Lui GCY, Wong BCK, et al. Outcomes of adults hospitalised with severe influenza. Thorax. 2010; 65(6): 510-5.
- 9. Chen YQ, Wohlbold TJ, Zeng NY, Huang M, Huang Y, Neu KE, et al. Influenza Infection in Humans Induces Broadly Cross-Reactive and Protective Neuraminidase-Reactive Antibodies. Cell. 2018; 173(2): 417-429.e10.
- CDC. Influenza (Flu). Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/flu/about/disease/ spread.htm (Accessed on August 27, 2018).
- World Health Organization. Influenza (Seasonal). Available from: https:// www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/influenza-(seasonal) (Accessed on November 6, 2018).
- Sambala EZ, Ngcobo N, Machingaidze S, Wiyeh AB, Manasha PW, Jaca A, et al. A global review of seasonal influenza vaccine introduction: analysis of the WHO/UNICEF Joint Reporting Form. Expert Rev Vaccines. 2019; 18(8): 859-65.
- 13. Jorgensen P, Mereckiene J, Cotter S, Johansen K, Tsolova S, Brown C. How close are countries of the WHO European Region to achieving the goal of vaccinating 75% of key risk groups against influenza? Results from national surveys on seasonal influenza vaccination programmes, 2008/2009 to 2014/2015. Vaccine. 2018; 36(4): 442-52.
- Steiner SH, Grant K, Coory M, Kelly HA. Detecting the start of an influenza outbreak using exponentially weighted moving average charts. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak. 2010; 10(1): 37.
- Centers for disease control and prevention. Influenza virus testing methods. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/flu/professionals/diagnosis/tabletesting-methods.htm (Accessed on June 30, 2020).
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Influenza (flu), background and epidemiology. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/flu/professionals/acip/ background-epidemiology.htm (Accessed on June 30, 2020).
- 17. Tokars JI, Olsen SJ, Reed C. Seasonal incidence of symptomatic influenza in the United States. Clin Infect Dis. 2018; 66(10): 1511-8.
- Mosnier A, Daviaud I, Casalegno JS, Ruetsch M, Burugorri C, Nauleau E, et al. Influenza B burden during seasonal influenza epidemics in France. Med Mal Infect. 2017; 47(1): 11-7.
- 19. Tamerius J, Uejio C, Koss J. Seasonal characteristics of influenza vary regionally across US. PLoS One. 2019; 14(3): e0212511.
- 20. Guyen AM, Noymer A. Influenza Mortality in the United States, 2009 Pandemic: Burden, Timing and Age Distribution. PLoS One. 2013; 8(5): e64198.
- 21. Morgan R, Klein SL. The intersection of sex and gender in the treatment of influenza. Curr Opin Virol. 2019; 35: 35-41.
- 22. Wong KC, Luscombe GM, Hawke C. Influenza infections in Australia 2009-2015: Is there a combined effect of age and sex on susceptibility to virus subtypes?. BMC Infect Dis. 2019; 19: 42.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Influenza (Flu), how the flu virus can change: 'drift' and 'shift'. Available from: https://sci-hub.tw/https:// www.cdc.gov/flu/about/viruses/change.htm (Accessed on June 29, 2020).
- Yang J, Huang W, Cheng Y, Chen T, Tan M, Guo Q, et al. Different starting dominant strain of seasonal influenza in China and other neighboring Asian countries in 2019–2020 winter season. China CDC Wkly. 2020; 2(4): 57-60.
- Aufi IM, Fadhil HY, Ali AW, Alhamdani FG, Owaid FM. Epidemiology of seasonal influenza outbreak among Iraqi population: 2018. Iraqi J Agric Sci. 2020; 51(1): 454-61.
- 26. Mook P, Meerhoff T, Olsen SJ, Snacken R, Adlhoch C, Pereyaslov D, et al. Alternating patterns of seasonal influenza activity in the WHO European

Region following the 2009 pandemic, 2010-2018. Influenza Other Respi Viruses. 2020; 14(2): 150-61.

- Panayiotou C, Richter J, Bashiardes S, Kohtides D, Tryfonos C, Christodoulou C. Molecular epidemiology of influenza A virus infection in Cyprus in four consecutive seasons (2009 pandemic-2013). Epidemiol Infect. 2014; 142: 975-83.
- 28. Basile L, Torner N, Martínez A, Mosquera MM, Marcos AM, Jane M. Seasonal influenza surveillance: Observational study on the 2017–2018 season with predominant B influenza virus circulation. Vacunas. 2019; 20(2): 53-9.
- 29. Karolyi M, Pawelka E, Daller S, Kaczmarek C, Laferl H, Niculescu I, et al. Is there a clinical difference between influenza A and B virus infections

in hospitalized patients?: Results after routine polymerase chain reaction point-of-care testing in the emergency room from 2017/2018. Wien Klin Wochenschr. 2019; 131: 362-8.

- 30. Caini S, Spreeuwenberg P, Kusznierz GF, Rudi JM, Owen R, Pennington K, et al. Distribution of influenza virus types by age using case-based global surveillance data from twenty-nine countries, 1999-2014. BMC Infect Dis. 2018; 18: 269.
- Koliou M, Soteriades ES, Toumasi MM, Demsothenous A, Hadjidemetriou A. Epidemiological and clinical caharcteristics of Influenza (H1N1) v in infection in children: The first 45 cases in Cyprus, June-August 2009. Eurosurveillance. 2009; 14(33):19312.

# ORIGINAL ARTICLE

DOI: 10.4274/cjms.2021.2021-93 Cyprus J Med Sci 2022;7(2):186-190



# A New Insight Into the Treatment-Naive HIV Infected Patients: Whole Blood Viscosity

● Hakan Evren<sup>1</sup>, ● Emine Ünal Evren<sup>1</sup>, ● Elif Çekirdekçi<sup>2</sup>, ● Kaya Süer<sup>3</sup>, ● Figen Sarıgül Yıldırım<sup>4</sup>, ● Ali Asan<sup>5</sup>, ● Barış Buğan<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases, University of Kyrenia, Kyrenia, Cyprus

<sup>2</sup>Department of Cardiology, University of Kyrenia, Kyrenia, Cyprus

<sup>3</sup>Department of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases, Near East University, Nicosia, Cyprus

<sup>4</sup>Department of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases, Antalya Training and Research Hospital, Antalya, Turkey

<sup>5</sup>Department of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases, Bursa Yüksek İhtisas Training and Research Hospital, Bursa, Turkey

# Abstract

**BACKGROUND/AIMS:** The thickness and stickiness of an individual's blood are measured by blood viscosity depending on frictional interactions between all major blood constituents such as red blood cells and plasma proteins. Blood viscosity, when it is elevated, is essential in the pathophysiology of vascular diseases. The present study employed an approach to determine if there is a correlation between blood viscosity and vascular comorbidities in human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-positive subjects.

**MATERIALS AND METHODS:** Two hundred and seventeen people were selected to participate in this study. The HIV group included 110 treatment naïve patients, and the control group had 107 people of similar age and sex. Whole blood viscosity (WBV) was measured by a formula from the protein concentration of plasma and haematocrit at a high shear rate (208 s<sup>-1</sup>) and a low shear rate (0.5 s<sup>-1</sup>).

**RESULTS:** In contrast to the control group, WBV for LSR (53.5 25 vs. 39.1 25; p=0.001) and high shear rate (HSR) (16.8 1.2 vs. 15.9 1.4; p=0.001) was substantially higher in HIV infected patients. There was a substantial inverse correlation between the CD4 count and WBV in correlation analysis for LSR (r=-0.467; p<0.001) and HSR (r=-0.461; p<0.001) in patients with HIV. A significant correlation was detected for the WBV and high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hsCRP) for LSR (r=0.506; p<0.001) and HSR (r=0.488; p<0.001) in the HIV group.

**CONCLUSION:** Our result shows a remarkable correlation between WBV and inflammation in treatment-naive HIV-positive individuals. The higher blood viscosity levels observed in those subjects with lower CD4 counts may also point to a link between viscosity and the severity of the immune deficiency.

Keywords: HIV, C-reactive protein, blood viscosity, CD4 cell count

# Introduction

Human immunodeficiency virus/acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (HIV/AIDS) poses a significant public health challenge, with a currently estimated 40 million individuals living with the virus globally.<sup>1</sup> HIV-infected patients' lifespans have dramatically increased since antiretroviral therapy, and as a result, HIV treatment has evolved to include long-term comorbidities.<sup>2</sup> Patients with HIV infection have been shown to have a variety of cardiovascular, renal, metabolic, and endocrine disorders.<sup>3</sup>

**To cite this article:** Evren H, Ünal Evren E, Çekirdekçi E, Süer K, Sarıgül Yıldırım F, Asan A, Buğan B. A New Insight Into the Treatment-Naive HIV Infected Patients: Whole Blood Viscosity. Cyprus J Med Sci 2022;7(2):186-190

**ORCID iDs of the authors:** H.E. 0000-0001-8247-8144; E.Ü.E. 0000-0001-9455-0473; E.Ç. 0000-0002-3675-423X; K.S. 0000-0002-2565-3425; F.S.Y. 0000-0001-8646-2203; A.A. 0000-0002-8856-7356; B.B. 0000-0002-7210-9537.



Address for Correspondence: Hakan Evren E-mail: hakan.evren@med.kyrenia.edu.tr ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0001-8247-8144 Received: 21.04.2021 Accepted: 13.07.2021

©Copyright 2022 by the Cyprus Turkish Medical Association / Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences published by Galenos Publishing House. Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License The viscosity of blood is its intrinsic resistance to flow, depending on frictional interactions between all major blood constituents such as red blood cells and plasma proteins.<sup>4</sup>

Under normal physiological conditions, regulatory mechanisms keep the blood viscosity at a relatively stable level. However, inflammationrelated disorders in these regulatory mechanisms increase blood viscosity, usually correlated with endothelial cell dysfunction. As a factor affecting tissue perfusion, blood viscosity has a potential role in cardiac disease, cerebral ischemia, renal disease, and metabolic disorders.<sup>4-6</sup> Understanding this hemorheological change may provide insight into the pathogenesis of HIV-related vascular diseases and their clinical sequela. The current research aims to understand the correlation between the severity of the infection and blood viscosity in newly identified, treatment-naive HIV-positive individuals.

# **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

In this multicenter study, we retrospectively reviewed HIV-infected subjects between January 1, 2013 and December 31, 2019. Age, sex, clinical findings, laboratory, electrocardiographic, and echocardiographic imaging were studied from the patients' medical records.

The study's power analyses and sample size were computed using G\*Power Version 3.1.9.2. (Aichach, Germany) The sample size was calculated using a 1:1 allocation ratio to estimate the number of people that could be enrolled in a reasonable period. According to the calculations, the minimal sample size for all groups was 210 subjects to detect differences in results with a statistical power (1-value) of 95% and a type 1 ( $\alpha$ ) error of 0.05. The HIV-infected group needed to be 105 people, and the control group needed to be 105. In the current study, a total of 217 participants were recruited. The HIV group included 110 newly diagnosed individuals (68 males, 41.3±9.1 years), while the control group consisted of 107 people (71 males, 40.8±12.0 years).

This study did not include patients with documented cardiac and cerebrovascular disease, renal failure, chronic lung disease, pregnancy, or metabolic disorders. Those patients taking antiretroviral drugs that potentially impact the blood's basic viscosity measures were also excluded from this trial. The CD4 cell counts were obtained from the patients' medical records. The participants in the control group gave their informed consent. The Ethics Committee of the University of Kyrenia approved the report (reference no: 2019/01-2015, date: 07.05.2019).

Blood samples were taken via antecubital veins and collected in serum separation gel tubes (yellow) for biochemical tests and Becton Dickinson Vacutainer for haematological tests. Glucose, hsCRP, creatinine, and lipids were delivered by conventional methods.<sup>7</sup> A blood counter (Cell-Dyn Ruby; Abbott Laboratories<sup>™</sup> 08H6701) was used for whole blood counts.

Htc (%) and plasma protein concentration (TP; g/L) at a high shear rate (HSR; 208 s<sup>-1</sup>) and a low shear rate (LSR; 0.5 s<sup>-1</sup>)<sup>8</sup> were used for WBV calculation using a validated method of de Simone et al.<sup>8</sup> and Nwose and Richards<sup>\*9</sup> recommendations:

HSR: WBV (208 s<sup>-1</sup>) =  $(0.12 \times \text{HCT}) + 0.17 \times (\text{TP} - 2.07)$  (1)

LSR: WBV 
$$(0.5 \text{ s}^{-1}) = (1.89 \times \text{HCT}) + 3.76 \times (\text{TP} - 78.42)$$
 (2)

#### **Statistical Analysis**

For statistical analysis (SPSS Inc. Chicago, IL, USA), SPSS version 22 was employed. Visuals (histograms, probability plots) were used to examine all numerical variables. Analytic techniques (Kolmogorov-Smirnov/Shapiro-Wilk's test) were used to verify if they were normally distributed. Continuous variables were described as the mean  $\pm$ standard deviation, or medians (with interquartile ranges). Categorical variables were defined as the number of patients and percentages. The participants in the trial were divided into two groups: control and HIV. Statistical comparisons of categorical data were made using the Pearson's  $\chi^2$  test and Fisher's exact test. The student's t-test was used for normally distributed parameters, and the Mann–Whitney U test was used for non-normally distributed values. The correlation coefficients and significance of the correlations between non-normally distributed hsCRP, CD4 counts, and WBV scores were determined using the Spearman correlation test. ROC curve analysis was used to examine the potential of WBV and its ability to predict WBV for both LSR and HSR in the context of HIV. When a significant cut-off value was found, the specificity, sensitivity, and positive and negative predictive values were presented. A p-value below 0.05 was considered to indicate a statistically significant difference.

# RESULTS

The participants in this study were divided into groups based on age, gender, smoking status, and body mass index (BMI). The baseline clinical and laboratory values of the research groups are given in Table 1. The HIV group consisted of 110 individuals (68 males,  $41.3\pm9.1$  years), and the control group consisted of 107 subjects (71 males,  $40.8\pm12.0$  years).

Hematological parameters including hemoglobin, red blood cell distribution (RDW), mean platelet volume (MPV), and biochemical tests such as urea, serum creatinine, glucose, serum albumin, globulin, lipid profile, potassium, and sodium levels were not statistically significant among the groups. However, hsCRP, hematocrit, and total protein levels in the HIV group were considerably higher than those in the control group (p=0.00). White blood cell and platelet counts were considerably lower in the HIV group than in the control group (all p=0.02) (Table 1).

When compared to the control group, HIV patients had significantly higher WBV for LSR ( $53.5\pm25$  vs.  $39.1\pm25$ ; p<0.001) and HSR ( $16.8\pm1.2$  vs.  $15.9\pm1.4$ ; p<0.001) (Table 2). There was a significantly inverse correlation between CD4 count and WBV for LSR (r=-0.467; p<0.001) and HSR (r=-0.461; p<0.001) in the HIV group (Figures 1 and 2) in correlation analysis. Additionally, there was significant correlation between the hsCRP and WBV for LSR (r=0.506; p<0.001) and HSR (r=0.488; p<0.001) in the HIV group (Figures 3 and 4).

A WBV for LSR cut-off value of  $\geq$ 44 with a sensitivity of 74% and specificity of 72% [area under the curve (AUC)=0.809, p<0.001] and a HSR cut-off value of  $\geq$ 16 with a sensitivity of 80% and specificity of 74% (AUC=0.837,  $\pi$ <0.001) for the prediction of HIV (Figure 5) were determined in the receiver operating characteristic curve analysis.

#### DISCUSSION

There is no direct study investigating the effect of WBV for both LSR and HSR in the treatment of naïve HIV-positive patients. Our research showed that HIV-infected participants have considerably higher blood viscosity levels than their age, and sex-matched controls. WBV is responsible for the blood's intrinsic resistance to flow in vessels and it has a remarkable association with vascular diseases.<sup>10-12</sup> Our findings confirm that HIV-infected subjects have increased blood viscosity. A few case reports about hyper-viscosity in HIV-infected patients leading to severe vascular diseases have been described recently. Additionally, these reports claim that the risk of vascular diseases is mostly linked to the use of antiretroviral agents.<sup>13-15</sup>

The current consensus is that WBV is directly proportional to endothelial shear stress.<sup>16</sup> Due to frictional shear force, the blood flowing through the artery wall unit creates endothelial shear stress. In normal conditions, the shear stress is substantially higher than the yield stress, allowing for optimal microvascular circulation perfusion. In particular,

Table 1. The baseline characteristics and laboratory findings of the study
groups (n=217)

Variables	Control group (n=107)	HIV (n=110)	p-value
Clinical parameters			
Age, years	41.3±9.1	40.8±12.0	0.73
Male, n (%)	68 (63%)	71 (65%)	0.87
Current smoker, n (%)	62 (58%)	74 (67%)	0.15
BMI, (kg/m²), n (%)	24.8±3.3	25.2±2.5	0.31
Laboratory parameters			
Hemoglobin, g/dL	13.6±2.1	13.9±1.9	0.27
Haematocrit, %	40.1±0.4	41.7±0.6	< 0.001
WBC, $\times 10^{3}/\mu L$	8.5± 2.1	7.6±3.5	0.02
MPV, ×10³/µL	9.1±1.1	8.9±0.6	0.09
RDW, ×10³/µL	14.5±3.1	14.2±2.8	0.45
Platelets, ×10 <sup>3</sup> /µL	245±76	223±69	0.02
Glucose, mg/dL	93±15	92±21	0.68
Urea, mg/dL	19 (13–25)	13 (10–16)	0.33
Serum creatinine, mg/dL	0.8 (0.7–1)	0.9 (0.8–1)	0.69
Total protein, g/L	67.2±8.1	73±6.2	< 0.001
Total cholesterol, mg/dL	179±41	183±49	0.51
LDL cholesterol, mg/dL	110±35	114±38	0.42
HDL cholesterol, mg/dL	45±16	42±13	0.13
Triglycerides, mg/dL	148±75	148±101	0.92
Sodium, mEq/L	140±2.8	141±3.6	0.41
Potassium, mEq/L	4.4±0.4	4.3±0.5	0.16
hsCRP, mg/dL	0.2 (0.1–0.2)	4 (1-6)	< 0.001
CD4 count	-	360 (233–647)	-

HIV: human immunodeficiency virus, BMI: Body Mass Index, hsCRP: high-sensitivity C-reactive protein, HDL: high-density lipoprotein, LDL: low-density lipoprotein, RDW: red cell distribution width, WBC: white blood cell count, MPV: mean platelet volume, n: number.

Table 2. Comparison of the study groups' WBV parameters							
Variables Control group HIV group p-value							
WBV at HSR, 208 s <sup>-1</sup>	15.9±1.4	16.8±1.2	< 0.001				
WBV at LSR, 0.5 s <sup>-1</sup> 39.1±25     53.5±25     <0.001							
UIV: human immunodoficionov virus WRV: whole blood viscosity USP: high shear rate							

HIV: human immunodeficiency virus, WBV: whole blood viscosity, HSR: high shear rate, LSR: low shear rate.

pathophysiologic low shear stresses were found to relate to increased inflammatory parameters.<sup>17,18</sup> This study suggests that hyper-viscosity may be a sign of inflammation, which is linked to the pathophysiology of HIV-related vascular diseases.

It is known that blood properties are altered in situations such as inflammation, and this variance prevents adequate blood flow leading to the occurrence of cardiovascular diseases, cerebral ischemia, renal failure, and other diseases.<sup>19,20</sup> This alteration may be associated with relatively higher C-reactive protein (CRP) and immunoglobulins in HIV-infected patients who have been exposed to viral antigens regularly.<sup>13,15</sup> Several studies have shown that inflammatory parameters such as CRP increases in HIV patients.<sup>21-23</sup> Our research is also in accordance with previous studies. Given the significance of inflammation, it is reasonable to conclude that WBV and hs-CRP have strong positive associations for HSR and LSR in our research.



**Figure 1.** CD4 count and HSR correlation in the HIV group. HSR: high shear rate, HIV: human immunodeficiency virus













CD4 cell count as a significant predictor of the disease severity has a vital role in the decision making and comprehension of the progression in HIV-infected patients.<sup>24</sup> In our study, a significant negative association was observed between CD4 and WBV.

As blood viscosity is linked to microvascular diseases, more studies are needed to determine this situation more accurately.

#### Limitations of the Study

Our study must be interpreted in light of certain limitations. The low sample size of our study is suboptimal for further statistical analysis. Furthermore, WBV was not validated using a viscometer to calculate viscosity reliably.

#### CONCLUSION

The cause of increased blood viscosity in HIV-infected individuals is probably multifactorial. Our result indicates the endothelium's



**Figure 5.** Receiver operating characteristic curve (ROC) analysis of WBV at the HSR and LSR for HIV prediction and 95% confidence intervals curve.

HSR: high shear rate, LSR: low shear rate, WBV: whole blood viscosity, HIV: human immunodeficiency virus

inflammatory injury, pointing to endothelial dysfunction of treatmentnaive HIV-positive participants. The higher blood viscosity levels observed in those patients with lower CD4 counts may also point to a link between viscosity and the severity of the immune deficiency. Despite convincing evidence that blood viscosity regulation is beneficial for disease control, we believe that the bio-effectiveness of this feature is neglected in clinics. We recommend future studies to investigate all determinants of hemorheological alterations in HIV-infected subjects, which may provide insight into the pathogenesis of HIV-related comorbidities.

#### **MAIN POINTS**

- Treatment naïve HIV-positive individuals had elevated blood viscosity levels when compared to the control group.
- The higher levels of blood viscosity observed in those patients with lower CD4 counts may also point to a link between viscosity and the severity of immune deficiency.
- In HIV-positive individuals, increased blood viscosity can lead to vascular comorbidities.
- Blood viscosity regulation is helpful in disease control, and future studies may focus on all determinants of hemorheological alterations in HIV-infected patients.

#### **ETHICS**

**Ethics Committee Approval:** The Ethics Committee of the University of Kyrenia approved the study (reference no: 2019/01-015, date: 07.05.2019).

**Informed Consent:** The participants in the control group gave their informed consents.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

#### **Authorship Contributions**

Concept: H.E., B.B., Design: E.Ü.E., K.S., B.B., Supervision: E.Ç., K.S., Data Collection and/or Processing: F.S.Y., A.A., Analysis and/or Interpretation: E.Ç., Literature Search: H.E., E.Ç., F.S.Y., A.A., Writing: H.E., E.Ü.E., F.S.Y., A.A., Critical Review: K.S., B.B.

#### DISCLOSURES

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The author declared that this study had received no financial support.

### REFERENCES

- 1. Guidelines for Managing Advanced HIV Disease and Rapid Initiation of Antiretroviral Therapy. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017.
- Porter K, Babiker A, Bhaskaran K, et al. Determinants of survival following HIV-1 seroconversion after the introduction of HAART. Lancet. 2003; 362(9392): 1267-74.
- Bennett JE, Dolin R, Blaser MJ. Mandell, Douglas, and Bennett's Principles and Practice of Infectious Diseases: 2-Volume Set: Elsevier Health Sciences; 2014.
- Pop GA, Duncker DJ, Gardien M, Vranckx P, Versluis S, Hasan D, et al. The clinical significance of whole blood viscosity in (cardio)vascular medicine. Neth Heart J. 2002; 10(12): 512-6.
- 5. England JM. Rheology of blood in diagnostic and preventive medicine. an introduction to clinical haemorheology. J Clin Pathol. 1977; 30(3): 297.
- 6. Skretteberg PT, Bodegård J, Kjeldsen SE, Erikssen G, Thaulow E, Sandvik L, et al. Interaction between inflammation and blood viscosity predicts cardiovascular mortality. Scand Cardiovasc J. 2010; 44(2): 107-12.
- Welty TK, Lee ET, Yeh J, Cowan LD, Go O, Fabsitz RR, et al. Cardiovascular disease risk factors among American Indians. The Strong Heart Study. Am J Epidemiol. 1995; 142(3): 269-87.
- de Simone G, Devereux RB, Chinali M, Best LG, Lee ET, Welty TK; Strong Heart Study Investigators. Association of blood pressure with blood viscosity in american indians: the Strong Heart Study. Hypertension. 2005; 45(4): 625-30.
- 9. Nwose EU, Richards RS. Whole blood viscosity extrapolation formula: note on appropriateness of units. N Am J Med Sci. 2011; 3(8): 384-6.

- Lee BK, Durairaj A, Mehra A, Wenby RB, Meiselman HJ, Alexy T. Hemorheological abnormalities in stable angina and acute coronary syndromes. Clin Hemorheol Microcirc. 2008; 39(1-4): 43-51.
- 11. Yi JE, Youn HJ. Hemorheological abnormalities and their associations with coronary blood flow in patients with cardiac syndrome X: a comparison between males and females. Perfusion. 2017; 32(1): 57-67.
- Lowe GD, Lee AJ, Rumley A, Price JF, Fowkes FG. Blood viscosity and risk of cardiovascular events: the Edinburgh Artery Study. Br J Haematol. 1997; 96(1): 168-73.
- Garderet L, Fabiani B, Lacombe K, Girard PM, Fléjou JF, Gorin NC. Hyperviscosity syndrome in an HIV-1-positive patient. Am J Med. 2004; 117(11): 891-3.
- Hague RA, Eden OB, Yap PL, Mok JY, Rae P. Hyperviscosity in HIV infected children--a potential hazard during intravenous immunoglobulin therapy. Blut. 1990; 61(2-3): 66-7.
- Omoregie R, Adeghe JE, Ogefere HO, Omokaro EU, Ekeh CC. Haemorheologic and fibrinolytic activity in Nigerian HIV infected patients. Afr Health Sci. 2008; 8(4): 217-9.
- Taco-Vasquez ED, Barrera F, Serrano-Duenas M, Jimenez E, Rocuts A, Riveros Perez E. Association between blood viscosity and cardiovascular risk factors in patients with arterial hypertension in a high altitude setting. Cureus. 2019 Jan 21; 11(1): e3925.
- 17. Cho YI, Cho DJ. Hemorheology and microvascular disorders. Korean Circ J. 2011; 41(6): 287-95.
- 18. Li YS, Haga JH, Chien S. Molecular basis of the effects of shear stress on vascular endothelial cells. J Biomech. 2005; 38(10): 1949-71.
- 19. Baron AD, Clark MG. Role of blood flow in the regulation of muscle glucose uptake. Annu Rev Nutr. 1997; 17: 487-99.
- 20. Baskurt OK, Meiselman HJ. Blood rheology and hemodynamics. Semin Thromb Hemost. 2003; 29(5): 435-50.
- Monsuez JJ, Escaut L, Teicher E, Charniot JC, Vittecoq D. Cytokines in HIVassociated cardiomyopathy. Int J Cardiol. 2007; 120(2): 150-7.
- Heckmann A, Waltzinger C, Jolicoeur P, Dreano M, Kosco-Vilbois MH, Sagot Y. IKK2 inhibitor alleviates kidney and wasting diseases in a murine model of human AIDS. Am J Pathol. 2004; 164(4): 1253-62.
- 23. Noursadeghi M, Miller RF. Clinical value of C-reactive protein measurements in HIV-positive patients. Int J STD AIDS. 2005; 16(6): 438-41.
- 24. Ford N, Meintjes G, Pozniak A, Bygrave H, Hill A, Peter T, et al. The future role of CD4 cell count for monitoring antiretroviral therapy. Lancet Infect Dis. 2015; 15(2): 241-7.

# ORIGINAL ARTICLE

DOI: 10.5152/cjms.2021.2216 Cyprus J Med Sci 2022;7(2):191-195



# Colour Perception Studies on Students of Nnamdi Azikiwe University Nnewi Campus, Nigeria

🕲 Ed Nwobodo, 🕲 Nneoma Darawuzie, 🕲 David Chibuike Ikwuka

Department of Human Physiology, Nnamdi Azikiwe University Faculty of Basic Medical Science, Nnewi Campus, Nnewi, Nigeria

# ABSTRACT

**BACKGROUND/AIMS:** Colour blindness can be frustrating and may limit participation in some occupations. The career choices of colour blind people may be limited for safety reasons. In medical education, colour perception is important in histology, histochemistry, biochemical tests and other colour based assessments. The aim of this study was to evaluate the status of visual colour perception among medical students in Nnamdi Azikiwe University, Nnewi Campus, Nnewi, Nigeria.

**MATERIALS AND METHODS:** A descriptive cross-sectional study design was carried out between September and October 2019. It was approved by the Faculty of Basic Medical Sciences Ethical Board. Ocular examination including visual acuity assessment using Snellen's chart and a colour vision test with Ishihara 24 plate album was performed on 291 medical students randomly selected for the study. The data collected was analysed.

**RESULTS:** From the study, it was discovered that the overall prevalence of congenital colour vision deficiency was 1.7% with a male to female ratio of approximately 2:1 respectively.

**CONCLUSION:** This signifies that early diagnosis is valuable in career and vocational planning in order to reduce any difficulties in living and learning situations associated with colour blindness.

Keywords: Colour blindness, medical, students, vision, Ishihara, Snellen's chart

# INTRODUCTION

Visual problems are an important factor that can pose a serious challenge to educational activities in the school, hence good vision is required to achieve optimum results in the learning process. Colour is a visual enhancement element that is important in enriching the learning process.<sup>1</sup>

Colour perception is the ability to distinguish between various wavelengths of light waves and to perceive these differences as differences in hue. The normal human eye can discriminate among hundreds of such bands of wavelengths as they are received by the colour-sensing cells (cones) of the retina. These cones have light sensitive pigments that enable humans to recognize colour. Three types of cones occur in the macula and each contains a distinctive type of pigment which is sensitive to either red, green or blue light (long, medium or short wavelengths) based on their respective wavelengths. A given colour stimulates all three types of receptors with varying effectiveness, and the pattern of these responses determines the colour perceived. Genes contain the coding instructions for the cone pigments, and when the coding instructions are wrong, the wrong pigments will be produced, and the cones will be sensitive to different wavelengths of light resulting in a colour perception deficiency. The colours that we see are completely dependent on the sensitivity ranges of these pigments.

Colour vision deficiency (colour blindness) is the inability to see differences between certain colours that can be generally

To cite this article: Nwobodo E, Darawuzie N, Ikwuka DC. Colour Perception Studies on Students of Nnamdi Azikiwe University Nnewi Campus, Nigeria. Cyprus J Med Sci 2022;7(2):191-195

ORCID iDs of the authors: E.N. 0000-0002-4609-4343; N.D. 0000-0002-9672-1405; D.C.I. 0000-0002-1465-7033.



Address for Correspondence: David Chibuike Ikwuka E-mail: davidikwuka@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-1465-7033

Received: 03.06.2020 Accepted: 27.11.2020

Copyright 2022 by the Cyprus Turkish Medical Association / Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences published by Galenos Publishing House. Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License distinguished by normal people.<sup>2</sup> These individuals still recognize colour though it is imperfect.<sup>2</sup> Colour blindness is a sex-linked genetic characteristics affecting more males than females. It occurs due to varied forms of mutation. The gene for colour blindness is recessive and carried on the X-chromosome. Red-green colour vision defects are the most common form of colour vision deficiency, where either the photo-pigment of the red or green cone is absent (Deutranopia or Protanaopia) or where the photo-pigment response of the green cone is shifted towards the red cones (Deuteranomaly) or vice versa (Protanomaly) and it is genetically determined by the X-linked recessive gene.<sup>3</sup> Affected individuals have trouble distinguishing between some shades of red, yellow, and green.

Blue-yellow colour vision defects (also called tritan defects), which are rarer, cause problems with differentiating between shades of blue and green and lead to difficulties in distinguishing dark blue from black. The genes responsible for the red-green colour vision defects are localized on the long arm of the X chromosome at Xq28,<sup>4</sup> whereas the blue pigment gene is located on chromosome 7, an autosome, at 7q32.5 Green pigment genes vary in number among colour-normal individuals and, together with a single red pigment gene, are thought to reside in a head-to-tail tandem array within the X chromosome.<sup>3</sup> Although colour blindness is a hereditary trait, it has also been reported that some acquired characteristics such as metabolic disorders such as diabetes, sickle cell anaemia, damage to the eyes, nerve and brain; drugs (e.g., digoxin, ethambutols, plaquenil, chloroquine etc); and other chemicals could also predispose one to colour blindness.<sup>6</sup> These two forms of colour vision deficiency disrupt colour perception but do not affect the sharpness of vision (visual acuity).<sup>7</sup> Also, a complete absence of colour vision (total colour blindness), which is rare, may be present.

Colour blindness can be frustrating and may limit participation in some occupations. It can affect access to education, exam grades and career choices.<sup>8</sup> The career choices of colour blind people may be limited in a few areas of industry, transport services and the armed forces. It is accepted that colour blindness could potentially cause problems and it is recognized that there are certain job types in which the colour blindness may pose occupational handicaps in certain areas of medical practice and the health sciences as colour perception is important in histology, histochemistry, biochemical tests and other colour based assessments.

According to Colour Blind Awareness,<sup>9</sup> there is general agreement that, worldwide, 8% (1 in 12) of men and 0.5% (1 in 200) of women have colour blindness. These figures rise in areas such as Scandinavia where there is a greater number of Caucasians per head of population. Countries such as India and Brazil have a relatively high incidence of colour blindness because of the large numbers of people with mixed race genes in their genetic history. By contrast, in sub-Saharan Africa, there are few colour blind people. Studies among some African populations have reported frequencies of 2.2% and 0.0% in males and females respectively in Libya, and 3.3% and 0.2% in males and females of Zulus descent.<sup>10,11</sup> Also, previous studies conducted among school children in the Southern and Northern parts of our country have reported a general prevalence of 2.6% and 1.5%, respectively.<sup>12,13</sup> This study, however, aims to determine the prevalence of congenital colour blindness among Nnamdi Azikiwe University Medical School students.

# **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### **Research Design**

A descriptive cross-sectional survey was carried out to determine the prevalence of congenital colour blindness among medical students of Nnamdi Azikiwe University, Nnewi Campus between September and October, 2019.

#### **Study Area**

Nnamdi Azikiwe University, Nnewi Campus is situated in Okofia; one of the villages that make up Nnewi North Local Government Area, with an estimated population of about 15,000. Its latitude is 5° 58' 26" North and its longitude 6° 53' 32" East.

#### Sample

Two hundred and ninety-one students were randomly selected from the population of the study area.

#### **Inclusion Criteria**

Students' willingness to take part in the research, and being a medical student of the Faculty of Basic Medical Sciences were the inclusion criteria.

#### **Exclusion Criteria**

Students with previous ocular surgery, and the presence of a colour defect in one eye only were excluded from the study because this defect was acquired.

#### **Instrument for Data Collection**

Standard Snellen's chart, Ishihara 24 plates (Dr Shinobu Ishihara - 2017 Edition by Kanehara & Co., LTD), Eye Occluder and Test Form were used.

#### **Ethical Consideration**

Ethical approval to carry out this study was obtained from the Ethics Board of the Faculty. Only minimal identifying data was taken in order to preserve the anonymity of the students' responses and results. Prior to the investigation, a written informed consent form was obtained from the students after the procedure was explained to them. Only those who met the inclusion criteria participated in this study.

#### Procedure

A self-developed test form was used as part of the instrument for the collection of the students' their data on their ocular history, visual acuity and colour perception.

The procedures (for visual acuity and colour vision testing) were explained to the students prior to the examination. An eye occluder was used to occlude the eye not being tested while the other eye was being assessed.

Assessment of visual acuity was performed at a place with good daylight illumination using the standard Snellen's chart at a distance of 6 m. This was done monocularly for both eyes. All students who used spectacles had their visual acuity assessed while wearing their own spectacles. Thereafter, a colour vision test with 20 Ishihara plates was done uniocularly in natural daylight with the plates held at a distance of 45 cm. In the 24-plate 2017 edition, plate 1 is a demonstration plate; plates 2 to 17 and 22 to 24 are for screening, while plates 18 to 21 are for illiterates.

The students were asked to read the numerals seen on each plate within 3 secs before moving on to the next plate. Failure of the Ishihara in only one eye is suggestive of an acquired cause of colour vision deficiency, and such students were excluded from this study. Students who failed eight or more plates were considered to be colour blind.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

The collected data was entered into Microsoft Excel 2007 (One Microsoft Way Redmond, Washington, USA) and analysed with SPSS version 20 (Chicago, Illinois, USA). A descriptive analysis was performed to calculate the prevalence and percentage of occurrence. The analysed data are presented in Tables 1-4 and Figures 1 and 2.

#### RESULTS

A total of 291 students participated in the study consisting of 128 males and 163 females.

Table 1. Prevalence of known vision defect					
Vision defect	Gender Total				
	Male, n (%)	Female, n (%)	n (%)		
Yes	19 (14.7)	39 (23.9)	58 (19.9)		
No	109 (85.2)	124 (76.1)	233 (80.1)		
Total	128 (100)	163 (100)	291 (100)		
n: number of the students.					

14.7% of the males (n=19) and 23.9% of the females (n=39) have a known vision defect. The total number of students that have a known vision defect being 58 (19.9%), while 233 (80.1%) of students do not have any known vision defect.

The majority of the students (male: n=123, female: n=152) are aware of the term 'colour blindness'.



Figure 1. Distribution of students that are aware of the term 'colour blindness'.

Table 2. Distribution of students aware and those not sure of having colour blindness					
	Gender Total				
	Male, n (%)	Female, n (%)	n (%)		
Yes	2 (1.6)	0 (0)	2 (0.7)		
No	101 (78.9)	123 (75.5)	224 (77)		
Do not know	25 (19.5)	40 (24.5)	65 (22.3)		
Total	128 (100)	163 (100)	291 (100)		

n: number of the students.



Figure 2. Prevalence of normal/defective colour vision in the population.

Majority of the students (n=224, 77%) indicated that they do not have colour blindness. Whereas 65 (22.3%) do not know if they are colour blind or not, none of the female respondents accepted being colour blind. However, two of the males knew that they have colour blindness.

One hundred and forty-four (49.5%) of the students have a normal visual acuity of 6/6 in the right eye, 137 (47.1%) in the left eye, while 121 (41.6%) have visual acuity of 6/6 when using both eyes. No male/female had visual acuity of 6/36 when both eyes were examined together. Therefore, the majority of the students including the colour blind ones have normal visual acuity.

Two hundred and eighty-six students representing 98.3% were found to have normal colour vision while only five students (1.7%) were found to have colour vision deficiency. As indicated in Table 3, colour blindness in our subjects occurs independently of visual acuity and other vision defects (myopia, hypermetropia and so on).

From the population, 2.34% and 1.23% of the male study population and female study population respectively have colour blindness, while 97.66% and 98.77% of male population and female study population respectively do not have colour blindness.

### DISCUSSION

Colour blindness is a naturally challenging vision defect which can significantly affect quality of life and career choices of individuals. This study provides a description of colour vision deficiency in the study area for the first time among medical students of Nnamdi Azikiwe

Table 3. Result of visual acuity						
	Right eye		Left eye		Both eyes	
Visual acuity	Male, female n (%)	Total	Male, female n (%)	Total	Male, female n (%)	Total
6/36	1 (0.8), 0 (0)	1 (0.3)	1 (0.8), 0 (0)	1 (0.3)	0	0
6/24	1 (0.8), 5 (3.1)	6 (2.1)	0 (0), 3 (1.8)	3 (1)	1 (0.8), 1 (0.6)	2 (0.7)
6/18	3 (2.3), 2 (1.2)	5 (1.7)	3 (2.3), 2 (1.2)	5 (1.7)	0 (0), 1 (0.6)	1 (0.3)
6/12	4 (3.1), 7 (4.3)	11 (3.8)	1 (0.8), 4 (2.5)	5 (1.7)	3 (2.3), 2 (1.2)	5 (1.7)
6/9	1 (0.8), 6 (3.7)	7 (2.4)	2 (1.6), 5 (3.1)	7 (2.4)	3 (2.3), 1 (0.6)	4 (1.4)
6/7.5	9 (7.0), 20 (12.3)	29 (10)	18 (14.1), 20 (12.3)	38 (13.1)	1 (0.8), 13 (8.0)	14 (4.8)
6/6	66 (51.6), 78 (47.9)	144 (49.5)	60 (46.9), 77 (47.2)	137 (47.1)	51 (39.8), 70 (42.9)	121 (41.6)
6/4	43 (33.6), 45 (27.6)	88 (30.2)	43 (33.6), 52 (31.9)	95 (32.6)	69 (53.9),75 (46.0)	144 (49.5)
Total	128 (100), 163 (100)	291(100)	128 (100), 163 (100)	291 (100)	128 (100), 163 (100)	291 (100)
n: number of the students.						

University, which provides basic information on the prevalence of congenital colour blindness in the Faculty of Basic Medical Sciences of this institution. During the course of the research, both inherited and acquired colour blindness was discovered; though the number of students with normal colour vision predominates. However, this study is centred on congenital colour blindness which is caused by mutations in the gene responsible for colour vision on the X chromosome. As a result, inherited colour blindness is more prevalent in males compared to females. However, a female with two X chromosomes bearing the mutated genes will also be colour blind.

The prevalence of congenital colour vision defects as detected in this study is 1.7% (5 of 291 students) which was lower compared to figures in previous studies such as Ativie et al.<sup>14</sup> with 1.87% in Ugep, Cross River State and Oduntan et al.<sup>15</sup> with 2.5% in Lagos, Nigeria. Additionally, prevalences of 2.6% and 1.5% were reported in Southern and Northern parts of Nigeria respectively by Tabansi et al.<sup>12</sup> and Abah et al.<sup>13</sup> A comparison of the prevalences of colour blindness in other studies to the rate of 1.7% as seen in the present study showed that there is no significant difference among the Nigerian populace despite differences in habitats. Furthermore, referring to similar studies conducted in other African countries, Woldeamanuel and Geta<sup>16</sup> reported a congenital colour blindness prevalence of 4.2% in Southern Ethiopia. Also, Rahman et al.<sup>10</sup> and Pickford and Pickford<sup>11</sup> reported a prevalence of 2.2% and 3.57% in Libya and Zulu descent people respectively. This indicates that the prevalence of congenital colour blindness among African countries is comparative.

The prevalence of colour blindness in European Caucasians is about 8.4% in both men and women and between 4% and 6.5% in men of

Table 4. Result of colour vision assessment					
Colour Chart Score (numbers failed)	Colour blindness status	Male, n (%)	Female, n (%)	Total, n (%)	
<8	Not colour blind	125 (97.7)	161 (98.8)	286 (98.3)	
8 and above	Colour blind	3 (2.3)	2 (1.2)	5 (1.7)	
Total	128 (100)	163 (100)	291 (100)		
n: number of the students.					

Chinese and Japanese ethnicity.<sup>17</sup> Furthermore, in Australia, there is a prevalence of 8% and 0.4% in males and females respectively.<sup>18</sup> Scandinavia also has a high prevalence of approximately 10%–11% in men. On the other hand, in sub-Saharan African nations, the prevalence of colour blindness is significantly lower compared to European Caucasians. Therefore, there is ample indication that the prevalence of colour blindness among black Africans is low compared to that of Caucasians (especially Scandinavians). The higher rate of colour blindness in Europeans and Asians is attributed to a large number of people with mixed race genes in their genetic history unlike that of Africans.

From our results, it is seen that only five students (1.7%) out of a population of 291 are colour blind. This verifies the general claim that colour blindness is a rare defect in Africa. The male respondents had a prevalence of 2.34% while females had a prevalence of 1.23%. This showed that the difference in occurrence of colour blindness between males and females is insignificant, which is in contrast to other studies conducted by Woldeamanuel and Geta<sup>16</sup>, Ugalahi et al.<sup>19</sup> and Rahman et al.<sup>10</sup>, where the prevalence of colour blindness is more in males than in females.

It was also discovered that of the five colour blind students, only two males were aware of having colour blindness. The third male who claimed not to have the defect actually had it. Likewise, the two females who were found to have colour blindness were not aware of their condition. This is in agreement to studies done by Mulusew and Yilikal<sup>20</sup> and Woldeamanuel and Geta<sup>16</sup>, which reported that almost all of the study subjects were not aware of their colour vision status. Moreover, all of these five students who had colour blindness knew about this condition. Fifty-eight of the respondents, consisting of 19 males and 39 females, indicated that they have known vision defects such as myopia and hypermetropia, while the rest claim to have normal visual acuity.

Visual deficits among the medical students have been reported to be high and this negatively impacts students' learning and performance.<sup>21</sup> However, visual acuity assessment revealed that the majority of the respondents had normal or better than normal visual acuity. The visual acuity of the colour blind individuals was normal at a distance of 6 m except for one female colour blind individual who had myopia.

#### CONCLUSION

In some professions, proper colour recognition is essential and early detection of colour blindness is useful to avoid occupational hazards. This study shows that the prevalence of congenital colour blindness is 1.7% among medical students and it also raises awareness in those affected to enable them make any necessary adjustments. The prevalence of congenital colour blindness among medical school students can be said to be similar to other studies in our country. Colour blindness therefore can be considered a rare defect.

### MAIN POINTS

Good vision is required to achieve optimum results in medical education and colour blindness could affect the learning process of a medical student when undertaking some tasks.

The prevalence of congenial colour blindness among medical students is 1.7% with a male to female ratio of approximately 2:1 respectively.

An early diagnosis of vision problems is valuable in career and vocational planning in order to help reduce the difficulties faced by people with vision defects.

#### **ETHICS**

**Ethics Committee Approval:** Nnamdi Azikiwe University Faculty of Basic Medical Science Ethics Committee (approval no: NAU/CHS/NC/FBMS/271, date: 15.10.2019).

**Informed Consent:** Prior to the investigation, a written informed consent form was obtained from the students after the procedure was explained to them.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

#### **Authorship Contributions**

Conception: N.D., E.N., Design: N.D., E.N., D.C.I., Supervision: N.D., D.C.I., Data Collection and/or Processing: N.D., D.C.I., Analysis and/or Interpretation: N.D., D.C.I., Literature Search: N.D., D.C.I., Writing: N.D., E.N., D.C.I., Critical Review: E.N., D.C.I.

#### DISCLOSURES

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The author declared that this study had received no financial support.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Nurlelawati AJ, Rodzyah YM, Normahdiah SS. Students' colour perception and preference: an empirical analysis of its relationship. Procedia Soc Behav Sci. 2013; 90(2013): 575-82.
- Suparyadi D, Yusro M, Yuliatmojo P. Color Blindness Test by Ishihara Method Based onMicrocontroller System.Proceedings of 3rd UNJ International Conference on Technical and Vocational Education and Training 2018; KnE Social Science; 2019; p. 462-70. Doi: 10.18502/kss.v3i12.4114

- 3. Mitiku RG, Tolera BS, Tolesa ZG. Prevalence and allele frequency of Congenital Colour Vision Deficiency (CCVD) among students at Hawassa University, Ethiopia. J Egypt Public Health Assoc. 2020; 95: 10.
- 4. Ueyama H, Muraki-Oda S, Yamade S, Tanabe S, Yamashita T, Shichida T, et al. Unique haplotype in exon 3 of cone opsin mRNA affects splicing of its precursor, leading to congenital color vision defect. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2012; 424(1): 152-7.
- 5. Deeb SS. Molecular genetics of colour vision deficiencies. Clin Exp Optom. 2004; 87(4-5): 224-9.
- 6. Islam S, Roy P, Shehreen S. Prevalence of colour blindness in young Bangladeshis. Dhaka Univ J Biol Sci. 2016; 25(2): 201-5.
- Genetics Home Reference. Colour Vision Deficiency. U.S. National Library of Medicine, 2019. Available from: https://ghr.nlm.nih.gov/condition/colorvision-deficiency (Accessed on August 23, 2019)
- Colour Blind Awareness. Living with colour vision deficiency. Available from: https://www.colourblindawareness.org/colour-blindness/living-with-colourvision-deficiency/ (Accessed on August 23, 2019)
- 9. Color Blind Awareness. Color blindness. Available from: https://www. colourblindawareness.org/colour-blindness/ (Accessed on: 23 August, 2019)
- Rahman SA, Singh PN, Nanda PK. Comparison of the incidence of colour blindness between sections of Libyan and Indian populations. Indian J Physiol Pharmacol. 1998; 42(2): 271-5.
- 11. Pickford RW, Pickford R. Frequency of colour vision defects among Zulus in Natal. J Biosoc Sci. 1981; 13(2): 241-8.
- Tabansi PN, Anochie IC, Nkanginieme KE, Pedro-Egbe CN. Screening for congenital color vision deficiency in primary children in Port Harcourt City; teachers' knowledge and performance. Niger J Med. 2008; 17(4): 428-32.
- 13. Abah ER, Oladigbolu KK, Samaila E, Gani-Ikilama A. Ocular disorders in children in Zaria children's school. Niger J Clin Pract. 2011; 14(4): 473-6.
- Ativie RN, Ubom R, Aigbiremolen AA, Mukoro O, Odigie O, Igweh JC. Prevalence of congenital colour vision deficiency in nigerians living in Ugep, Cross River State. Ophthalmol. Res Int J. 2017; 7(2): 1-6.
- 15. Oduntan OA, Mashige KP, Kio FE. Colour vision deficiency among students in Lagos State, Nigeria. Afr Health Sci. 2019; 19(2): 2230-6.
- Woldeamanuel GG, Geta TG. Prevalence of color vision deficiency among school children in Wolkite, Southern Ethiopia. BMC Res Notes. 2018; 11(1): 838.
- Birch J. Worldwide prevalence of red-green color deficiency. J Opt Soc Am A Opt Image Sci Vis. 2012; 29(3): 313-20.
- Mandal A. Prevalence of colour blindness" News Medical Life Sciences, 2019. Available from: https://www.news-medical.net/health/Color-Blindness-Prevalence.aspx (Accessed on August 23, 2019)
- Ugalahi MO, Fasina O, Ogun OA, Ajayi BG. Prevalence of congenital colour vision deficiency among secondary school students in Ibadan, South-West Nigeria. Niger Postgrad Med J. 2016; 23(2): 93-6.
- Mulusew A, Yilikal A. Prevalence of congenital color vision defects among school children in five schools of Abesfge District, Central Ethiopia. JOECSA. 2013; 17(1): 10-4.
- 21. Nwosu SNN, Nwobodo EO, Ndulue JK. Vision survey of the Nnamdi Azikiwe University Medical Students. Niger J Ophthalmol. 2016; 24(1): 12-5.

# **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**



# The Association of ERG and c-erbB2 Expressions With Gleason Scoring in Adenocarcinomas of the Prostate

Kenan Dağ<sup>1</sup>, Sevil Karabağ<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Tumor Biology and Immunology, Tekirdağ Namık Kemal University, Institute of Health Sciences, Tekirdağ, Turkey <sup>2</sup>Department of Pathology, Tekirdağ Namık Kemal University Faculty of Medicine, Tekirdağ, Turkey

# ABSTRACT

BACKGROUND/AIM: We aimed to determine erythroblast transformation-specific-related gene (ERG) and c-erbB2 expression in patients with adenocarcinoma of the prostate and to investigate the association of these proteins with tumor growth and/or Gleason score, which is the main prognostic marker in these patients.

MATERIALS AND METHODS: Radical prostatectomy materials of 59 patients with acinar adenocarcinoma were included in this study. Immunohistochemical analysis for ERG and c-erbB2 was performed. The association of ERG and c-erbB2 expressions with International Society of Urologic Pathologists (ISUP) grade, tumor volume and patient age was investigated.

RESULTS: ISUP grade was 1 (equivalent to a Gleason score of 6) in 23 tumors while the rest of the cases were Gleason score >6 tumors. ERG expression was detected in 37.5% of the cases. None of the cases had c-erbB2 expression. There was no significant difference in ERG staining between the low-risk (ISUP 1) and high-risk (ISUP >1) groups (p=0.602). Evaluation of all ISUP groups with the Kruskal–Wallis test showed no significant difference across the groups in terms of ERG expression (p=0.374).

CONCLUSION: The present study reflects the ERG expression rate (37.5%) in patients with carcinoma of the prostate in Turkey. Our findings support that ERG overexpression is involved in the pathogenesis but has no association with histological grade in prostate carcinoma.

Keywords: Prostate carcinoma, Gleason score, ERG, c-erbB2

# INTRODUCTION

Prostate carcinoma (PCa) is a common malignant tumor of the male genital system and the second most lethal cancer in men.<sup>1</sup> In cancer research, one of the main goals is to identify the mutations responsible for the transformation of a tumor into an aggressive cancer, which may advance locally and lead to distant metastasis. Identifying the mutations is of particular importance in PCa due to the relatively slow course and low mortality of this malignancy.<sup>2</sup>

Studies have shown the fusion of the androgen-induced TMPRSS2 gene, also located on chromosome 21, to the proto-oncogene, erythroblast transformation-specific (ETS)-related gene (ERG) in 50% of patients with PCa.3 This fusion results in an increased expression of the ERG protein. Increased ERG expression is thought to be important in tumor proliferation and invasion, acting as a transcription factor for the downregulation of a number of genes, and therefore, thought to be oncogenic. ERG overexpression arising from the TMPRSS2-ERG fusion in tissue samples can be reliably detected using immunohistochemistry (IHC).<sup>4,5</sup> Whether ERG overexpression in PCa is a marker of aggressive tumors and, therefore, of poor prognosis remains a matter of debate.<sup>4,6,7</sup> Furthermore, there are studies reporting that ERG expression is more common in western countries compared to Asia, where this rate may be as low as 30%.3,4

To cite this article: Dağ K, Karabağ S. The Association of ERG and c-erbB2 Expressions With Gleason Scoring in Adenocarcinomas of the Prostate. Cyprus | Med Sci 2022;7(2):196-200

#### ORCID iDs of the authors: K.D. 0000-0001-9921-5877; S.K. 0000-0002-8855-3798.



Address for Correspondence: Sevil Karabağ E-mail: eesevil-krbg@hotmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-8855-3798

**Received:** 22.04.2021 Accepted: 15.08.2021

OPEN ACCESS

Copyright 2022 by the Cyprus Turkish Medical Association / Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences published by Galenos Publishing House. Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License

C-erbB2 expression has been widely studied in breast, ovarian, and gastric cancers, and improved prognosis has been documented with the use of trastuzumab [the humanized monoclonal anti-human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) antibody] in the treatment of breast carcinoma.<sup>8,9</sup> Different rates of c-erbB2 expression have been reported in studies investigating PCa in patients with clinically localized PCa,<sup>10</sup> following neoadjuvant androgen ablation,<sup>11,12</sup> and in high-risk carcinoma of the prostate.<sup>9,12</sup>

The Gleason score is an important classification developed to determine the prognosis of prostate adenocarcinoma; however, the International Society of Urological Pathology (ISUP) recommended stratification of Gleason scores into prognostic groups in 2005. In this regard, tumors with a Gleason score of 6 are considered as low-risk tumors with prognostic grade 1, and those tumors with a Gleason Score >6 as highrisk tumors.<sup>13</sup>

In the present study, we aimed to determine ERG and c-erbB2 expression rates in patients with prostate adenocarcinoma, to investigate the correlation between these proteins and tumor development, and to evaluate the relationship between ERG and c-erbB2 expression in ISUP low- and high-risk groups defined according to the main prognostic marker, i.e. their Gleason score.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

A total of 59 patients who underwent radical prostatectomy with a diagnosis of acinar adenocarcinoma of the prostate were included in this study. Patients' age, Gleason score (ISUP grade), tumor volume, histopathological results and information on lymph node metastasis were recorded. After retrieving 59 radical prostatectomy materials from the archive, suitable tumor tissues were selected, and IHC analysis for ERG and c-erbB2 was performed with these paraffin blocks. Sections of 4-micron thickness were obtained from 59 formalin-fixed, paraffinembedded tissues for the IHC assay and positive-charged microscope slides were used to avoid tissue shedding. The sections were placed in an incubator at 60 °C for an hour and deparaffinized with xylene for 15 minutes. The samples were hydrated through a descending-grade series of alcohol and washed in distilled water. The samples were then placed into a BenchMark XT device. ERG (cell marque, RTU, clone EP111, USA) and c-erbB2 (cell marque, RTU, clone EP3, USA) antibodies were applied, and staining was subsequently performed. The preparations stained in the automated staining device were covered using fluidbased covering material. The results were evaluated with an Olympus Bx46 light microscope. Breast carcinoma samples were used as an internal control for c-erbB2 in this study. C-erbB2 was evaluated in line with the scaling method used for c-erbB2 synthesis in breast cancer as per the American Society of Clinical Oncology and College of American Pathologists (ASCO/CAP) 2013 HER2 testing guidelines. According to the scoring criteria we employed in our study, 3+ referred to complete, strong membranous staining in more than 10% of tumor cells; 2+ referred to incomplete, moderate membranous staining in more than 10% of tumor cells; 1+ referred to incomplete, weak membranous staining in more than 10% of tumor cells; and 0 referred to no staining or incomplete, weak membranous staining in less than 10% of the tumor cells.<sup>14,15</sup> The nuclear reactivity of the ERG antibody in endothelial cells was used as an internal control. A 4-step system was utilized to evaluate staining results, where 0 referred to negative, with 1+, 2++ and 3+++ considered as weak, moderate and strong staining, respectively. Staining evaluated as 2++ or 3+++ (moderate

and strong) were considered ERG positive. Negative (0) and weak (1+) staining results were considered negative.<sup>16</sup>

An informed consent form was not required for this study as this study is made from archive materials. The study was approved by Tekirdag Namık Kemal University the Non-Interventional Clinical Trials Ethics Committee (protocol no: 2019.222.11.19, date: 19.01.2019).

#### **Statistical Analysis**

The patient demographics and data were analyzed using the SPSS 24 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA) software. The chi-square test was used to compare variables between the patients in groups, and the Kruskal–Wallis test was used for comparisons across the 4 groups. P<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

#### RESULTS

The mean age of the 59 patients who had undergone radical prostatectomy was 68.6 years [minimum (min): 54 – maximum (max): 80]. Twenty-three of these cases had tumors with Gleason score 6 (3+3) and prognostic (ISUP) grade 1 (low-risk), while the others had tumors with Gleason score >6 (high-risk). Of the 59 patients, 41 had undergone lymph node dissection and lymph node resection had not been performed in the remaining cases as no metastasis was detected in prostate-specific membrane antigen (PSMA) positron emission tomography/computed tomography (PET–CT). Lymph node metastasis was detected in five of these patients.

ERG expression was observed in 22 (37.5%) of the cases, with three evaluated as 2++ and 19 as 3+++. The distribution of the patients according to the ISUP grading system based on the Gleason score was as follows: 25 patients were ISUP grade 1, 14 patients were ISUP grade 2, 15 patients were ISUP grade 3, and five patients were ISUP grade 4–5. Since the number of patients with ISUP grade 4 and 5 disease was small, these two groups were pooled into a single group for evaluation purposes. ERG expression of the cases by ISUP grades is presented in Table 1.

Based on ISUP grading, tumors with ISUP grade 1 (25 patients) were classified as low-grade and those with ISUP grade 2, 3, 4, or 5 (34 patients) as high-grade. Comparison of ERG staining between the patients in the low- and high-risk groups revealed no statistically significant difference (p=0.602). Evaluation of all ISUP groups with the Kruskal–Wallis test showed no significant difference across the groups in terms of ERG expression (p=0.374).

While IHC c-erbB2 staining was positive in the control tissues, no staining was detected in the tumor cells in any of the cases. Figure 1 shows one of the PCa cases and samples of ERG and c-erbB2 staining.

The patients stratified according to their age by decade and their corresponding ERG expressions are shown in Table 2. There was no statistically significant difference between the patients' age and their ERG expression (p=0.165).

The mean tumor volume of the cases was  $22.25\pm19\%$  (min: 1–max: 80). The mean tumor volume was  $18.6\pm2.4\%$  in the 37 ERG negative patients, and  $28.3\pm5\%$  in the 22 ERG positive patients. We found no significant difference in tumor volume between ERG positive and negative patients (p=0.06). Mean tumor volume according to the age distribution of the patients is presented in Table 3. No statistically

significant difference was noted between the patients' age and their tumor volume (p=0.1).

While three of the five patients with lymph node metastasis had ERG expression, there was no ERG expression in the other two patients.

### DISCUSSION

In the present study, we detected ERG positivity in 37.5% of those patients diagnosed with PCa. This ratio is consistent with the average PCa rates reported in the USA and Asian countries. Furthermore, to the best of our knowledge, this is the first published study to investigate ERG expression in patients with PCa in Turkey. However, we found no statistically significant difference in ERG staining between low-and high-grade PCa cases. Our findings support the notion that ERG overexpression is involved in the pathogenesis, although ERG expression has no correlation with the histological grade in PCa. None of the cases included in the present study had c-erbB2 expression.

ERG, the ETS-related gene, is a transcription factor from the erythroblastosis virus E26 oncogene family located on chromosome 21.<sup>17</sup> Members of the ETS family are known to play key roles in embryonic development, cell proliferation, differentiation, angiogenesis, inflammation, and apoptosis. ERG is expressed in endothelial tissues, hematopoietic cells, renal cells and cells of the urogenital system. The protein encoded by this gene is required for

Table 1. ERG expression of the cases by ISUP grades				
	ER			
	Negative	Positive	Total	
ISUP 1	14	11	25	
ISUP 2	10	4	14	
ISUP 3	7	8	15	
ISUP 4–5	2	3	5	
Total	33	26	59	

ERG: erythroblast transformation-specific (ETS)-related gene, ISUP: International Society of Urological Pathology.

Table 2. Age distribution of patients and ERG staining by age					
	Negative	Positive	Total	Rate of positivity, %	
50-59	4	0	4	0	
60–69	16	14	30	48	
70–79	15	8	23	35	
80–89	2	0	2	0	
Total	37	22	59	37.5	

ERG: erythroblast transformation-specific (ETS)-related gene.

Table 3. Mean tumor volume according to the age distribution of patients			
	Tumor volume		
50–59	20.7		
60–69	28.1		
70–79	15.9		
80–89	10		
Mean	22.25		



**Figure 1.** A) Prostate carcinoma Gleason score 6(3+3), H&E, B) ERG staining C) ERG no staining D) c-erbB2 no staining.

H&E: Hematoxylin and eosin stain, ERG: erythroblast transformation-specific (ETS)-related gene.

the induction of hematopoiesis, maturation of megakaryocytic cells, vascular cell remodeling, and subendothelial adhesion of platelets.<sup>18</sup> We aimed to determine the ERG expression rate in PCa patients in Turkey and to determine the role of ERG in the pathogenesis and the difference between histological grades.

After Tomlins et al.<sup>3</sup> described the TMPRSS2-ERG fusion in PCa in 2005, several studies investigated the frequency of ERG expression and its effect on prognosis across different populations and ethnic groups. The prevalence of ERG expression varies between 50%-70% in the Western PCa population<sup>19,20</sup> while this rate has been reported to be about 30% in Asian populations.<sup>16</sup> Tan et al.<sup>2</sup> investigated ERG expression by means of IHC in 80 PCa cases in Malaysia and detected ERG expression in 46% of their cohort. They found no correlation between ERG expression and tumor grade or stage. However, they reported higher rates of ERG expression in younger patients (<60 years) (p=0.01). With an expression rate of 69%, they also found significantly higher ERG expression in Indian patients compared to those from Malaysia. Aldaoud et al.<sup>16</sup> reported an ERG expression rate of 33.2% in patients with PCa in the Arab population, adding that ERG expression was associated with PSA level. However, it had no correlation with histological grade or patient age. In our study, we did not find a statistically significant difference between age and ERG expression (p=0.165). In the largest PCa series investigated to date, with 633 cases from a single center in China, Nie et al.<sup>21</sup> reported an ERG expression rate of 16.3%, demonstrating high levels of ERG expression in cases with ISUP grade 1 disease but found no significant relationship with patient age. Chaux et al.<sup>22</sup> compared ERG expression with IHC and ERG fusion in their study in the USA, showing TMPRSS2-ERG fusion with fluorescent in situ hybridization (FISH) in 45.7% of the PCa cases and ERG expression with IHC in 45.0%. Similar to other reports in the literature, their study showed that IHC analysis of ERG may be a good surrogate marker for TMPRSS2-ERG rearrangement.

The data published in the literature reflect varying rates of ERG expression across different populations. Our study was conducted in the Turkish population and our positivity rate is comparable to that reported in Malaysia, Arab countries and the USA. Higher rates have been reported in European and Indian populations. Consistent with the other findings in the literature, we did not find a significant relationship between ERG expression and Gleason score or age.

The c-erbB2 (HER2/neu) oncogene is a transmembrane tyrosine kinase receptor gene localized on chromosome 17. Using the mitogenactivated protein kinase and phosphatidylinositol 3' kinase (MAPK and PI3K) molecular signaling pathways, which are known to be involved in PCa, c-erbB2 plays an important role in the growth, differentiation and motility of cancer cells.<sup>23</sup> We applied c-erbB2 to PCa cases with the hypothesis that c-erbB2, which is involved in tumor differentiation and motility, would be expressed differently in different ISUP grades. Thus, we aimed to establish therapeutic targets as in breast cancer.

Bansal et al.<sup>9</sup> investigated c-erbB2 expression by means of IHC in 41 patients with PCa of different types and histological grades, reporting a c-erbB2 expression score of 3 in 14.6% of their cases and 2 in 4.9% (requiring confirmation with FISH), with negative results (i.e. no c-erbB2 expression) reported in 80.5% of their cohort. Other studies in the literature have reported varying rates of c-erbB2 expression with IHC in PCa, such as 62%,<sup>24</sup> 29%,<sup>25</sup> 10%<sup>26</sup> and 37%<sup>27</sup>. Mutlu et al.<sup>15</sup>

investigated c-erbB2, AR and CD117 expression in 80 cases with prostate adenocarcinoma and 20 cases with benign prostate tissue in Turkey, reporting c-erbB2 expression in 15 cases (18.75%) with PCa. This rate was found to be 35% in the metastatic group.

In our study, we did not detect c-erbB2 expression in any of 59 cases with prostate carcinoma. All cases were analyzed with an internal control and no c-erbB2 expression was found in the normal prostate tissues and tumor cells included in our sample. We believe this may be related to the clone we used in our study. Similar to cases with breast carcinoma, therapeutic targeted treatments may be developed for PCa patients with c-erbB2 expression.

#### Limitations of the Study

A limitation of our study is the small number of cases and the data of only one center. More meaningful results that will reflect Turkey's average can be obtained with multicenter studies. Another limitation is that c-erbB2 expression should be confirmed by more ideal methods such as ISH.

#### CONCLUSION

The present study reflects the ERG expression rate (37.5%) in patients with carcinoma of the prostate in Turkey. This ratio is consistent with the average PCa rates reported in the USA and Asian countries. However, we found no statistically significant difference in ERG staining between low- and high-grade PCa cases. Although our study included only a limited number of cases, which may be a sample that is too small to reflect the average situation in Turkey, our findings on ERG expression in PCa appear comparable to the data reported in Asian and European populations. Our findings support the notion that ERG overexpression is involved in the pathogenesis, although ERG expression has no correlation with the histological grade in PCa.

#### MAIN POINTS

- ERG expression was detected in 37.5% of the prostate carcinoma cases.
- None of the cases had c-erbB2 expression.
- There was no significant difference in ERG staining between the lowrisk (ISUP 1) and high-risk (ISUP >1) groups (p=0.602).

#### ETHICS

**Ethics Committee Approval:** The study was approved by Tekirdag Namık Kemal University the Non-Interventional Clinical Trials Ethics Committee (protocol no: 2019.222.11.19, date: 19.01.2019).

**Informed Consent:** An informed consent form was not required for this study as this study is made from archive materials.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

#### **Authorship Contributions**

Concept: K.D., S.K., Design: K.D., S.K., Materials: K.D., S.K., Literature Search: K.D., S.K., Writing: K.D., S.K., Critical Review: K.D., S.K.

#### DISCLOSURES

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The author declared that this study had received no financial support.

#### REFERENCES

- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2016. CA Cancer J Clin. 2016; 66(1): 7-30.
- Tan JSJ, Ong KC, Ong DBL, Razack A, Lim J, Yunus R, et al. Heterogenous expression of ERG oncoprotein in Malaysian men with adenocarcinoma of the prostate. Malays J Pathol. 2018; 40(2): 103-10.
- Tomlins SA, Rhodes DR, Perner S, Dhanasekaran SM, Mehra R, Sun XW, et al. Recurrent fusion of TMPRSS2 and ETS transcription factor genes in prostate cancer. Science. 2005; 310(5748): 644-8.
- Hagen RM, Adamo P, Karamat S, Oxley J, Aning JJ, Gillatt D, et al. Quantitative analysis of ERG expression and its splice isoforms in formalin-fixed, paraffinembedded prostate cancer samples: association with seminal vesicle invasion and biochemical recurrence. Am J Clin Pathol. 2014; 142(4): 533-40.
- Miettinen M, Wang ZF, Paetau A, Tan SH, Dobi A, Srivastava S, et al. ERG transcription factor as an immunohistochemical marker for vascular endothelial tumors and prostatic carcinoma. Am J Surg Pathol. 2011; 35(3): 432-41.
- Spencer ES, Johnston RB, Gordon RR, Lucas JM, Himmetoglu Ussakli C, Hurtado-Coll A, et al. Prognostic value of ERG oncoprotein in prostate cancer recurrence and cause-specific mortality. Prostate. 2013; 73(9): 905-12.
- Leinonen KA, Saramäki OR, Furusato B, Kimura T, Takahashi H, Egawa S, et al. Loss of PTEN is associated with aggressive behavior in ERG-positive prostate cancer. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2013; 22(12): 2333-44.
- Kumar V. Robbins basic pathology. 9th ed. Philadelphia: Elsevier Saunders; 2013.
- Bansal S, Pant H, Agrawal T, Kumar P, Mehdiratta P. Study to Evaluate HER2neu Expressionin Different Histopathological Grades of Prostatic Carcinoma in a Tertiary CareCenter, Bareilly. J Clin Diagn Res. 2020; 14(12): EC09-13.
- Montironi R, Mazzucchelli R, Barbisan F, Stramazzotti D, Santinelli A, Scarpelli M, et al. HER2 expression and gene amplification in pT2a Gleason score 6 prostate cancer incidentally detected in cystoprostatectomies: comparison with clinically detected androgen-dependent and androgen-independent cancer. Hum Pathol. 2006; 37(9): 1137-44.
- 11. Shi Y, Brands FH, Chatterjee S, Feng AC, Groshen S, Schewe J, et al. Her-2/ neu expression in prostate cancer: high level of expression associated with exposure to hormone therapy and androgen independent disease. J Urol. 2001; 166(4): 1514-9.
- Reese DM, Small EJ, Magrane G, Waldman FM, Chew K, Sudilovsky D. HER2 protein expression and gene amplification in androgen-independent prostate cancer. Am J Clin Pathol. 2001; 116(2): 234-9.
- Epstein JI, Allsbrook WC Jr, Amin MB, Egevad LL; ISUP Grading Committee. The 2005 International Society of Urological Pathology (ISUP) Consensus

Conference on Gleason Grading of Prostatic Carcinoma. Am J Surg Pathol. 2005; 29(9): 1228-42.

- Wolff AC, Hammond ME, Hicks DG, Dowsett M, McShane LM, Allison KH, et al. Recommendations for human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 testing in breast cancer: American Society of Clinical Oncology/College of American Pathologists clinical practice guideline update. J Clin Oncol. 2013; 31(31): 3997-4013.
- Mutlu HS, Aydın O, Barış S, Canbaz S, Karagöz F. The Expression Frequency of Androgen Receptor, c-erbB2 and CD117 in Acinar Adenocarcinoma of Prostate and Normal Prostate Tissue and It's Clinical Importance. Bull Urooncol. 2015; 14: 245-50.
- Aldaoud N, Abdo N, Al Bashir S, Alqudah M, Marji N, Alzou'bi H, et al. Prostate cancer in Jordanian-Arab population: ERG status and relationship with clinicopathologic characteristics. Virchows Arch. 2017; 471(6): 753-9.
- Rao VN, Papas TS, Reddy ES. Erg, a human ets-related gene on chromosome 21: alternative splicing, polyadenylation, and translation. Science. 1987; 237(4815): 635-9.
- 18. Oikawa T, Yamada T. Molecular biology of the ETS family of transcription factors. Gene. 2003; 303: 11-34.
- Magi-Galluzzi C, Tsusuki T, Elson P, Simmerman K, LaFargue C, Esgueva R, et al. TMPRSS2-ERG gene fusion prevalence and class are significantly different in prostate cancer of Caucasian, African-American and Japanese patients. Prostate. 2011; 71(5): 489-97.
- Clark J, Merson S, Jhavar S, Flohr P, Edwards S, Foster CS, et al. Diversity of TMPRSS2-ERG fusion transcripts in the human prostate. Oncogene. 2007; 26(18): 2667-73.
- 21. Nie L, Pan X, Zhang M, Yin X, Gong J, Chen X, et al. The expression profile and heterogeneity analysis of ERG in 633 consecutive prostate cancers from a single center. Prostate. 2019; 79(8): 819-25.
- Chaux A, Albadine R, Toubaji A, Hicks J, Meeker A, Platz EA, et al. Immunohistochemistry for ERG expression as a surrogate for TMPRSS2-ERG fusion detection in prostatic adenocarcinomas. Am J Surg Pathol. 2011; 35(7): 1014-20.
- Ramsay AK, Leung HY. Signalling pathways in prostate carcinogenesis: potentials for molecular-targeted therapy. Clin Sci (Lond). 2009; 117(6): 209-28.
- 24. Gu K, Mes-Masson AM, Gauthier J, Saad F. Overexpression of her-2/neu in human prostate cancer and benign hyperplasia. Cancer Lett. 1996; 99(2): 185-9.
- Ross JS, Sheehan CE, Hayner-Buchan AM, Ambros RA, Kallakury BV, Kaufman R, et al. Prognostic significance of HER-2/neu gene amplification status by fluorescence in situ hybridization of prostate carcinoma. Cancer. 1997; 79(11): 2162-70.
- Zahir ST, Tafti HF, Rahmani K. Overexpression of HER-2/neu in patients with prostatic adenocarcinoma. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2014; 15(15): 6425-8.
- 27. Musalam A, Andarawi M, Osman M, Al-Shriam M, Elrefaie A, Mahfouz AA, et al. Alterations of COX-2, HER-2/neu and E-Cadherin protein expression in the prostatic adenocarcinoma: preliminary findings. Am J Transl Res. 2019; 11(3): 1653-67.



# **Evaluation of Cytotoxic, Membrane Damaging and Apoptotic** Effects of Origanum majorana Essential Oil on Lung Cancer and Epidermoid Carcinoma Cells

# Ayşe Gökhan

Department of Genetic and Bioengineering, Alanya Alaaddin Keykubat University Faculty of Engineering, Antalya, Turkey

# ABSTRACT

BACKGROUND/AIMS: In this study, the potential of an essential oil to cause membrane damaging and induce apoptosis was investigated in order to determine the cytotoxic effect of the essential oil obtained from Origanum majorana (O. majorana), popularly known as "sweet marjoram", on lung cancer (A-549) and epidermoid carcinoma (A-431) cells.

MATERIALS AND METHODS: In order to determine the cytotoxic dose and IC<sub>50</sub> value of an essential oil, the essential oil was applied to cells in the concentration range of 5-500 µg/mL for 24, 48 and 72 hours. After those applications, CellTiter-Blue® Cell Viability Assay and 3-(4,5-Dimethyl-2-thiazolyl)-2,5-diphenyl-2H-tetrazoliumbromide (MTT) assay were performed on the cell lines. The lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) Activity test was used to determine the membrane damaging effect of the essential oil on A-549 and A-431 cells. Cytotoxicity experiments were followed up by caspase-3/7 activity assays to get a mechanistic insight into the associated molecular pathways.

RESULTS: It was observed that treatments of essential oil from O. majorana on A-549 and A-431 cells inhibited cell proliferation, that is, it had a cytotoxic effect and caused an increase in LDH activity, which is one of the membranes damaging markers, and caspase-3/7 activity, which is one of the enzymes involved in the apoptotic pathway, in both cells in comparison to controls at the end of the 24-hour incubation.

CONCLUSION: The results of this study indicate that the increase in LDH activity and caspase-3/7 activity caused by O. majorana essential oil treatment reveal the membrane damaging and apoptotic effects, respectively. O. majorana essential oil can be evaluated as a potential therapeutic agent for lung cancer and epidermoid carcinoma due to these effects. However, more research is needed to confirm this.

Keywords: Origanum majorana, essential oil, apoptotic effect, membrane damage

# INTRODUCTION

Currently, chemotherapy treatment with existing drugs is insufficient and treatment cannot be provided in many types of cancer. Therefore, studies to develop new anti-cancer drugs appear as a promising field. Cancer researchers, who aim to enable treatment in cancer, focus on developing new agents/drugs with strong anti-cancer effects. In recent years, the use of plants as drugs in cancer treatment has become widespread due to their promising effects against a wide variety of tumor cell lines.

As a result of the great variety in Turkey's ecology, it has many medicinal and aromatic plants and, in parallel, approximately 30% of the species in its flora are aromatic plants. Aromatic plants are the main source of essential oils.1 Approximately three thousand essential oils are known and three hundred of them are commercially important today.

To cite this article: Gökhan A. Evaluation of Cytotoxic, Membrane Damaging and Apoptotic Effects of Origanum majorana Essential Oil on Lung Cancer and Epidermoid Carcinoma Cells. Cyprus | Med Sci 2022;7(2):201-206

ORCID iDs of the authors: A.G. 0000-0003-0843-173X.



Address for Correspondence: Ayşe Gökhan E-mail: ayse.gokhan@alanya.edu.tr ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0003-0843-173X

Received: 30.05.2021 Accepted: 17.11.2021

Copyright 2022 by the Cyprus Turkish Medical Association / Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences published by Galenos Publishing House. Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License

These are also widely used in the fields of food, cosmetics, health and perfumery.<sup>2</sup>

Many drugs with known antineoplastic properties are originated from plants. For example, many anticancer drugs used today such as vinblastine, irinotecan, topotecan, and vincristine are obtained from plants. In this context, it is important both scientifically and economically to obtain and evaluate medicinal plants and their essential oils in their pure form.

Researching new treatment strategies that use natural components obtained from plants against cancer, which is one of the most important diseases of our age, has become one of the most important issues today. Due to their structure, essential oils can easily interact with the cell walls and membranes and thus they damage the cell membrane. Additionally, essential oils can cause ionic mitochondrial membrane depolarization in eukaryotic cells. They decrease the membrane potential by affecting the Ca<sup>2+</sup> cycle and other ionic channels.<sup>2,3</sup>

The most scientifically researched aromatic plant is thyme. The genera, including the thyme species that are traded and widely used in Turkey, are *Origanum*, *Thymbra*, *Coridothymus*, *Satureja* and *Thymus*.

Studies have shown that the *Origanum* species have antibacterial, antifungal, antiviral, antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, antiplatelet, anticarcinogenic, cytotoxic, antidiabetic, acetylcholinesterase and butyrylcholinesterase inhibitor, and insecticidal effects. In addition, it has traditionally been used for gastrointestinal disorders. This genus is also known to be rich in essential oils.<sup>4</sup>

*Origanum majorana* L. (Lamiaceae) (*O. majorana*), also known as "sweet marjoram", has been used effectively as a spice since ancient times.<sup>5</sup> It is in the "generally recognized as safe (GRAS)" category due to its use in the treatment of different diseases.<sup>6</sup> In another study, the instrumental analysis of *O. majorana* L. essential oil was performed using the GC-MS method, and thus the components and ratios of the essential oil were determined. Carvacrol (52.50%) and linalool (45.4%) were determined to be the two compounds with the highest ratio.<sup>7</sup>

Apoptosis is one of the most frequently used mechanisms in the development of anticancer drugs. The mechanisms regulating apoptosis in the cell are highly complex.<sup>8</sup> One of the most important events linked to the apoptosis mechanism is caspase activation.<sup>9</sup>

The cytotoxic and apoptotic effects of *O. majorana* essential oil, which we think may be a new agent candidate that can be used in cancer treatment, in A-549 (wild-type p53) and A-431 (mutant p53) cells were investigated. Thus, we aimed to investigate whether or not this essential oil has any effect on p53 status according to the response of the cells.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Plant Material Used**

The essential oil to be used in the studies was obtained from *O. majorana* collected from Turkey (Alanya-730 m). The collected plant samples were dried under suitable conditions. The classification of the collected plant samples was made by experts working in this field.

#### **Obtaining the Essential Oil**

The essential oil was obtained after the dried *O. majorana* to be used in the study was kept under suitable conditions. The root parts of the plant

were separated and the essential oil was obtained from the remaining stem parts (aerial parts) (100 g). 100 g of the plant was weighed and placed in flask for 3 hours and pure water was added to the plant. The essential oil was obtained by a steam distillation method in Clevenger apparatus. The essential oils obtained were kept at +4 °C until they were to be used in the study.

#### **Cell Culture**

The cells used in this study (A-549-wild-type **p53**, A-431-mutant p53) were obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC). The content of the cell culture medium we used in our experiments was 10% fetal bovine serum constituted RPMI supplemented with 1% penicillin-streptomycin.

#### **Cell Viability Assays**

After the essential oil was dissolved with dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO), it was diluted with the medium and added to the wells containing the cells in the concentration range of 5–500 µg/mL and incubated for 24, 48 and 72 hours. After incubation, the viability of the cells was measured with Cell Titer-Blue<sup>®</sup> cell viability assay and 3-(4,5-Dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT) assay.

Resazurin, the active ingredient of Cell Titer-Blue<sup>8</sup> cell viability assay, is a non-toxic, blue-colored, non-fluorescent compound that can pass through the cell membrane. Once inside the cell, it is reduced to resofurin, which fluoresces strongly red. It has an important sensitivity due to its fluorescent feature.<sup>10</sup>

MTT assay is a method in which the amount of cell proliferation is determined based on the colorimetric measurement of formazan dyes or enzymatic activity due to MTT reduction. The method is based on the principle of colorimetric determination of color change in cells incubated with the MTT agent. The MTT method was applied after the cells were treated with the essential oil for 24, 48 and 72 hours. After incubation, absorbance values were measured at 490 nm.<sup>11</sup> The 50% inhibitory concentration ( $IC_{s0}$ ) value was calculated by determining the % cell viability curve with the help of the Microsoft Excel program. The tests were repeated three times.

#### Measurement of Lactate Dehydrogenase (LDH) Release

With the LDH activity assay, one of the methods used in the evaluation of cell death, the activity of the cytoplasmic enzyme released from dead or damaged cells is measured when the integrity of the cell membrane is disrupted. LDH, a stable cytoplasmic enzyme found in all cells, can easily be released into the cell culture supernatant when the cell plasma membrane is damaged.

Changes in LDH enzyme activity were determined by applying the essential oil  $(IC_{50})$  to the cells for 24 hours. LDH enzyme activity was determined by the method specified in the "Lactate Dehydrogenase Activity Assay Kit" (MAK066) produced by Sigma-Aldrich. Measurements were made in triplicate.

#### Caspase-3/7 Activity

One of the caspases that plays a key role in apoptotic signaling is caspase 3/7. Caspase 3/7 is the main caspase that gains activity in the early stages of apoptotic cell death and causes death to occur. Caspase 3/7 enzyme activity was determined by the method specified in the "ApoTox-Glo<sup>™</sup> Triplex Assay" kit produced by Promega after the

treatment of *O. majorana* essential oil ( $IC_{50}$ ) for 24 hours. Cell lysis occurs with the addition of the reagent, which is one of the kit components, to the medium. Cleavage of the substrate by caspase is followed by the generation of a "sparkling" luminescence signal produced by luciferase. The luminescence that occurs is proportional to the amount of caspase activity present. The experiments were performed in triplicate.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

The values of the control and test samples were given with mean and standard error (SE). Statistical analysis of the obtained data was made with Minitab 18 program (State College, PE, USA) (DC Montgomery, 2001). Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used for comparison between the means of three or more independent (unrelated) groups according to some variable. Tukey's multiple comparison test was applied to indicate the significance level of the differences. Statistical differences were considered significant at p<0.05.<sup>12</sup>

#### RESULTS

#### Determination of the Cytotoxic Effect of *O. Majorana* Essential Oil on A-549 and A-431 Cells

The cytotoxic effects of essential oils obtained from O. majorana on the A-549 and A-431 cell lines were measured using the MTT and Cell Titer-Blue® cell viability assays. After the cells were incubated with the essential oil, the  $IC_{50}$  (the concentration that kills 50% of the cells) and IC<sub>70</sub> (the concentration that kills 70% of the cells) values of the essential oil were calculated for each cell (Table 1). According to the cytotoxicity results we obtained, we determined that the Cell Titer-Blue<sup>R</sup> cell viability assay was more sensitive than the MTT assay. For this reason, we made evaluations according to the concentrations we calculated using the data obtained from the CellTiter-Blue cell viability assay in the other parameters we studied. According to both assays, it was observed that the cytotoxic effect increased in parallel with increasing concentrations and incubation times in both A-431 cells and A549 cells (Figures 1 and 2). According to the MTT assay, after 24, 48 and 72 hours essential oil incubations, IC50 values were calculated to be 266, 222 and 182 µg/mL in A-549 cells, and 218, 187 and 140 µg/mL in A-431 cells, respectively (Table 1). In addition, according to the CellTiter-Blue® Cell Viability assay, after 24, 48 and 72 hours of essential oil incubation, the IC50 values of cells were calculated to be 243, 203 and 167 µg/mL in A-549 cells and 182, 145 and 111 µg/mL in A-431 cells, respectively (Table 1). These results showed that the incubation time affected the essential oil's cytotoxic effects on both A-549 and A-431 cells. The essential oil was found to be more effective on A-431 cells (mutant p53) than A-549 cells (wild-type p53). It was found that DMSO (0.5%, v/v), which we used to dissolve the essential oil, did not affect the cell viability in either A-431 or A-549 cells when treated for the same time periods.

#### Lactate Dehydrogenase (LDH) Activity Measurement

Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) is the enzyme that converts lactic acid to pyruvic acid in the presence of NAD<sup>+</sup>. Lactic acid occurs with the disruption of cell integrity. That is, with the death of cultured cells, the integrity of the cell membrane is disrupted and the contents of the cytoplasm come out. Since the lactate dehydrogenase enzyme is usually found in every cell, it helps in determining membrane damage depending on the enzyme activity.<sup>13</sup> To evaluate the effect of *O. majorana* essential oil on the cell membrane, LDH activity, which is also a marker of early apoptosis and released from cells into the medium, was measured.  $^{\mbox{\tiny 14}}$ 

After the application of the essential oil at  $IC_{50}$  concentration to A-549 and A-431 cells for 24 hours, LDH activities in the cells were determined



**Figure 1.** The cytotoxic effects of *O. majoran*a essential oil on A-549 cells after 24, 48 and 72 hours measured by (**A**) The CellTiter-Blue-Cell Viability Assay; (**B**) MTT Assay. Results are presented as viability ratio compared with the control group (treated with only the medium-untreated cells). Values are expressed as the mean of three separate experiments  $\pm$  SE. Error bars represent standard error of the mean from three replications.

SE: standard error

Table 1. Summary of the cytotoxic effects of *O. majorana* Essential oils on A-549 and A-431 cells

Cells treatments	Es. oil (µg/mL) (CellTiter.) X ± SE	Es. oil (µg/mL) (MTT) X ± SE
A-549, 24 h, IC <sub>50</sub>	243±2.99""	266±2.32 <sup>♠</sup>
A-549, 24 h, IC <sub>70</sub>	348±3.66*	377±2.13 <sup>ε</sup>
A-549, 48 h, IC <sub>50</sub>	203±4.00 <sup>£</sup>	222±3.45€
A-549, 48 h, IC <sub>70</sub>	298±3.71*	322±2.88 <sup>‡</sup>
A-549, 72 h, IC <sub>50</sub>	167±2.21§	182±2.34 <sup>€</sup>
A-549, 72 h, IC <sub>70</sub>	259±2.34 <sup>+</sup>	274±2.66 <sup>m</sup>
A-431, 24 h, IC <sub>50</sub>	182±3.03 <sup>€</sup>	218±2.78 <sup>£</sup>
A-431, 24 h, IC <sub>70</sub>	300±2.88*	317±2.31 <sup>‡</sup>
A-431, 48 h, IC <sub>50</sub>	145±2.66 <sup>\$</sup>	187±3.03 <sup>€</sup>
A-431, 48 h, IC <sub>70</sub>	253±3.72 <sup>♠</sup>	283±2.99 <sup>≠</sup>
A-431, 72 h, IC <sub>50</sub>	111±2.41*	140±2.88 <sup>\$</sup>
A-431, 72 h, IC <sub>70</sub>	212±3.05 <sup>£</sup>	223±2.76 <sup>£</sup>

Values followed by different asterisks within a column are significantly different ( $p \le 0.05$ ).

SE: standard error, Es. oil: essential oil, CellTiter: CellTiter-Blue cell viability assay. X is an average of five repetitions.

(Figure 3). It was observed that LDH enzyme activity increased 4.8 times in A-549 cells and 5.4 times in A-431 cells to which  $IC_{50}$  essential oil concentrations were applied, compared to the control group cells (only treated in the medium).

LDH activity in A-431 cells increased to a greater extent in comparison to LDH activity in A-549 cells, and LHD activity in both A-431 and A-549 cells was higher compared to the control group. LDH enzyme activity in A-431 cells was statistically different when compared to the LDH enzyme activity in A-549 cells (p<0.05).

# Measuring the Effects of Essential Oil on Caspase-3/7 Enzyme Activity in A-549 and A-431 Cells

The apoptosis inducing potential of the essential oil was observed after 24 hours of *O. majorana* essential oil treatment on A-549 cells and A-431 cells. Caspase-3/7 activity in A-431 cells increased 2-fold at the end of 24 hours incubation, while caspase-3/7 activity in A-549 cells increased 4-fold (Figure 4). It was observed that the apoptotic effect of the essential oil, in terms of increasing the caspase-3/7 activity, in A-549 cells was two times higher than the apoptotic effect of the essential oil in A-431 cells. After the essential oil treatment, the highest increase in caspase-3/7 activity was observed in A-549 cells compared to the control.

The LDH and caspase 3/7 activity observed after the essential oil treatments was statistically different from the control groups (treated



**Figure 2.** The cytotoxic effects of *O. majorana* essential oil on A-431 cells after 24, 48 and 72 hours measured by (**A**) The CellTiter-Blue-Cell Viability Assay; (**B**) MTT Assay. Results are presented as viability ratio compared with the control group (treated with only the medium-untreated cells). Values are expressed as the mean of three separate experiments  $\pm$  SE. Error bars represent standard error of the mean from three replications.

SE: standard error

with only the medium-untreated cells) in all cell lines (p<0.05). The LDH and caspase 3/7 activity of essential oil treatments in A-549 was statistically different from the LDH and caspase 3/7 activity of essential oil treatments in A-431 (p<0.05).

#### DISCUSSION

Lung and epidermoid cancers are among the most common types of cancer seen all over the world. Chemotherapy is an important strategy used in the treatment of lung and epidermoid cancers. However, the



**Figure 3.** Lactate dehydrogenase activities in A-549 and A-431 cells after being treated with *O. majorana* essential oil. Values are expressed as the mean of three separate experiments  $\pm$  SE. Error bars represent standard error of the mean from three replications, and bars with the same asterisks indicate no significant difference (ANOVA with Tukey's test, p≤0.05). Different asterisks represent significant differences among treatments (ANOVA, p≤0.05) in A-549 and A-431 cells. One unit of LDH activity is defined as the amount of enzyme that catalyzes the conversion of lactate into pyruvate to generate 1.0 µmole of NADH per minute at 37 °C.

SE: standard error, LDH: lactate dehydrogenase



**Figure 4.** Effect of *O. majorana* essential oil on caspase-3/7 activity in A-549 and A-431 cells. Values are expressed as the mean of three separate experiments  $\pm$  SE. Error bars represent standard error of the mean from three replications, and bars with the same asterisks indicate no significant difference (ANOVA with Tukey's test, p≤0.05). Different asterisks represent significant differences among treatments (ANOVA, p≤0.05) in A-549 and A-431 cells.

SE: standard error, RLU: relative light unit

desired success has not been obtained from chemotherapy to date. Therefore, it is desired today to use therapeutically effective compounds that can be obtained from natural sources with little or no adverse effects on healthy cells in the treatment of cancer. In this respect, it is very important to evaluate the therapeutic effects of natural resources in cancer research.

*O. majorana,* which belongs to the Lamiacea family, has attracted the attention of many scientists due to its high essential oil potential. *O. majorana* is one of the most important aromatic plants that contain major antioxidants such as flavonoids and triterpenoids.<sup>15</sup> Phenolic acids and flavonoids have been reported to play a role in the prevention of human pathologies.<sup>16</sup> The Food and Drug Administration regard *O. majorana* to be generally safe.

Dose and time dependent inhibition by O. majorana essential oil and linalool were observed with  $IC_{_{50}}$  values of 100, 80 and 63  $\mu\text{g}/$ mL for essential oil and 81.5, 72.7 and 64.7 µg/mL at 24, 48 and 72 hours, respectively on Hep G2 cells as assessed by CellTiterBlue® Cell Viability Assay.<sup>7</sup> In that study, the results showed that incubation time affected the cytotoxic effects of the essential oil and linalool on Hep G2 cells. In another study, O. majorana essential oil and linalool were found cytotoxic in terms of concentration and time-dependence in both parental and epirubicin-resistant (drug resistant) H1299 cells. The cytotoxic effects of O. majorana essential oil for 24, 48 and 72 hours were found to be higher than linalool in both parental and drug-resistant cells. Also, it was observed that O. majorana essential oil and linalool were less cytotoxic on drug resistant cells than parental cells. In other studies, eugenol, eucalyptol, terpinen-4-ol camphor, carvacrol and thymol, which are found as components in many essential oils, showed more cytotoxicity in parental H1299 cells than epirubicin-HCl resistant H1299 cells.17,18 The essential oils from wild and cultivated forms of Salvia pisidica showed cytotoxicity on H1299 cells.19

LDH, one of the important enzymes of the glycolytic pathway, is found in the cytoplasm of all cells. LDH is rapidly released into the cell culture medium when the plasma membrane is damaged. An increase in the number of dead or plasma membrane-damaged cells results in increased LDH activity in the culture supernatant.13 In our study, we tried to reveal the membrane damaging effects of O. majorana essential oil by determining the changes in LDH activity after treatment of IC<sub>50</sub>O. majorana essential oil on cells for 24 hours. It was found that the LDH enzyme activity increased with respect to control cells in cells subjected to O. majorana essential oil treatment. Our LDH activity result supports cell viability results. In our previous study, O. majorana essential oil and its oxygenated monoterpene component linalool resulted in increased malondialdehyde levels on both parental and drug resistant H1299 cells.<sup>20</sup> Also, eugenol, eucalyptol, terpinen-4-ol, camphor, carvacrol and thymol, which are found as components in many essential oils, showed membrane damaging effects in parental and epirubicin-HCl resistant H1299 cells.<sup>17,18</sup> The essential oil of Origanum onites (Lamiaceae) and its two phenolic components, thymol and carvacrol increased MDA levels with respect to controls on Hep G2 cells.<sup>21</sup> Some plant essential oils showed membrane damaging effects in a dose dependent manner on cancer cells.22

In our study, caspase-3/7 activity, one of the apoptotic death markers, was measured in A-431 cells and A-549 cells after essential oil treatment.

Our results suggest that *O. majorana* essential oil induced apoptosis in all cells. It has been reported that a water extract of *O. acutidens* caused cytotoxic and apoptotic effects in breast cancer cells such as MCF-7, MDA-MB-468 and MDA-MB-231. This apoptotic effect was demonstrated by showing that caspase-7 protein expression and the number of TUNEL-positive cells increased at the end of the application.<sup>23</sup> In our study, it was demonstrated that *O. majorana* essential oil caused higher caspase-3 activity in both cells compared to the control cells, and it was revealed that the essential oil induced intense apoptotic effect in the cells. As a result, *O. majorana* essential oil treatment induced apoptosis in both cells.

When the cytotoxic effects of *O. majorana* essential oil in A-549 and A-431 cells were compared in our study, it was observed that this essential oil was more effective in A-431 cells. The reason why the essential oil has different cytotoxic effects on these cells may be due to the different properties of the cells. A-549 has functional p53 and EGFR copy number of 3.4, and A-431 cell line has mutant p53 and expresses EGFR in high amounts. The results obtained from our LDH activity experiment support our cytotoxicity results. In addition, it has been demonstrated that this essential oil exerts its cytotoxic effect by stimulating the apoptotic mechanisms in both cells. The new experiences/gains we have obtained as a result of our study may lead to the evaluation of plant-derived compounds in epidermoid and lung cancer studies.

#### Limitations of the Study

There are some limitations to our study. Firstly, despite essential oils very important natural bioactive properties, they have certain disadvantages such as hydrophobic behavior in aqueous environments, losses due to their volatile properties, and rapid consumption of their bioactive properties due to uncontrolled activity. In addition, undesirable changes may occur in their chemical compositions over time, due to the fact that they are quickly affected by factors, depending on their storage conditions, such as oxygen, humidity, temperature, and light. For all these reasons, we should have used different methods to ensure the stability of essential oils and to protect and/or increase their bioactive properties. Secondly, we could not ascertain the mechanism of action which the essential oil stimulated in the cells. We only showed that *O. majorana* essential oil has a cytotoxic effect by causing membrane damaging and apoptotic effects; however, with further studies, this may be discovered. Thirdly, the effects of the main components of the essential oil on the cytotoxic effects of the essential oil were not ascertained within the scope of our study. The main components may be determining the cytotoxic effect of the essential oil. Building on the promising results we obtained from our study, further steps can be taken to investigate the effects and mechanisms of action of this essential oil in vivo. Thus, results that can lead to clinical studies can be obtained.

# CONCLUSION

The results of our study show that *O. majorana* essential oil can be suggested as a natural herbal source in the production of new anticancer drugs, with the findings that it causes cytotoxic effects, membrane damage and apoptotic effects in A-549 and A-431 cells. Thus, new strategies that can be used in the treatment of lung and epidermoid carcinoma will be determined. The use of essential oils for the development of drugs for cancer treatment will also contribute to the protection of human health. We believe that a better understanding of the intracellular mechanisms of essential oils obtained from other plants, similar to the essential oil obtained from *O. majorana*, will bring new strategies for the production of drugs used in cancer treatments.

#### **MAIN POINTS**

- *O. majorana* essential oil showed cytotoxic activity depending on concentrations and time on A-549 and A-431 cells according to both CellTiter-Blue<sup>\*</sup> Cell Viability and MTT tests.
- *O. majorana* induces cytotoxicity on A-549 and A-431 cells in a membrane-damaging and apoptotic effects mediated manner.
- *O. majorana*'s anti-tumoral property suggests that it could be a potential source of lung and epidermoid carcinoma treatments.

#### **ETHICS**

**Ethics Committee Approval:** The study does not require ethics committee approval since it does not involve any human or animal subject.

**Informed Consent:** The study does not require informed since it does not involve any human or animal subject.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

#### DISCLOSURES

Financial Disclosure: The author declared that this study had received no financial support.

#### REFERENCES

- Yaşar S. Determination of soilproperties, fixedandessentialoilcontents of someperennialmedicinalplantsthatgrownaturally in Çukurova University campus. Master Thesis, Çukurova University, 2005.
- Bakkali F, Averbeck S, Averbeck D, Idaomar M. Biological effects of essential oils--a review. Food Chem Toxicol. 2008; 46(2): 446-75.
- Moteki H, Hibasami H, Yamada Y, Katsuzaki H, Imai K, Komiya T. Specific induction of apoptosis by 1,8-cineole in two human leukemia cell lines, but not a in human stomach cancer cell line. Oncol Rep. 2002; 9(4): 757-60.
- 4. Baytop T. Therapy with medicinal plants in Turkey (PastandPresent). Istanbul University Press. Istanbul: 1999. p. 166-7.
- Duletic-Lausevic S, Aradski AA, Kolarevic S, Vukovic-Gacic B, Oalde M, Zivkovic J, et al. Antineurodegenerative, antioxidant and antibacterial activities and phenolic components of Origanum majorana L. (Lamiaceae) extracts. J Appl Bot Food Qual. 2018; 91: 126-34. DOI: 10.5073/JABFQ.2018.091.018
- US Food and Drug Administration. CFR-code of Federal Regulations Title 21, Current Good Manufacturing Practice for Finished Pharmaceuticals. 2017;Part 211. Available from: https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/cdrh/ cfdocs/cfcfr/CFRSearch.cfm?CFRPart=211 (Accessed on May 2021).
- 7. Erdogan A, Ozkan A. Investigation of Antioxidative, cytotoxic, membranedamaging and membrane-protective effects of the essential oil of *Origanum*

*majorana* and its oxygenated monoterpene component linalool in humanderived hep g2 cell line. Iran J Pharm Res. 2017; 16(Suppl): 24-34.

- Sanmartín C, Plano D, Palop JA. Selenium compounds and apoptotic modulation: a new perspective in cancer therapy. Mini Rev Med Chem. 2008; 8(10): 1020-31.
- Lee D, Scott AL, Jerry AL. Potent and selective nonpeptide inhibitors of caspases 3 and 7 inhibit apoptozis and maintain cell functionally. J Biol Chem. 2000; 275: 16007-14.
- Gloeckner H, Jonuleit T, Lemke HD. Monitoring of cell viability and cell growth in a hollow-fiber bioreactor by use of the dye Alamar Blue. J Immunol Methods. 2001; 252(1-2): 131-8.
- 11. Mosmann T. Rapid colorimetric assay for cellular growth and survival: application to proliferation and cytotoxicity assays. J Immunol Methods. 1983; 65(1-2): 55-63.
- 12. Kirkman TW. Statisticstouse [Online]. 1996 Available from: http://www.physics.csbsju.edu/stats/1996 (Accesssed on August 17, 2008).
- Ramalingam M, Kim SJ. Insulin on hydrogen peroxide-induced oxidative stress involves ROS/Ca2+ and Akt/Bcl-2 signaling pathways. Free Radic Res. 2014; 48(3): 347-56.
- Nelson DL, Cox MM. Lehninger Biyokimyanın İlkeleri (Çev. Edit. Kılıç N.). Ankara: Palme yayıncılık; 2005.p.130-52.
- Cipak L, Grausova L, Miadokova E, Novotny L, Rauko P. Dual activity of triterpenoids: apoptotic versus antidifferentiation effects. Arch Toxicol. 2006; 80(7): 429-35.
- Tapiero H, Tew KD, Ba GN, Mathé G. Polyphenols: do they play a role in the prevention of human pathologies? Biomed Pharmacother. 2002; 56: 200-7.
- Ozkan A, Erdogan A. Membraneand DNA damaging/protective effects of eugenol, eucalyptol, terpinen-4-ol and camphor at various concentrations on parental and drug-resistant H1299 cells. Turk J Biol. 2012; 37(4): 405-13.
- Ozkan A, Erdogan A. A comparative study of the antioxidant/prooxidant effects of carvacrol and thymol at various concentrations on membrane and DNA of parental and drug resistant H1299 cells. Nat Prod Commun. 2012; 7(12): 1557-60.
- Ozkan A, Erdogan A, Sokmen M, Tugrulay S, Unal O. Antitumoral andantioxidant effect of essential oil sand in vitro antioxidant properties of essential oils and aqueou sextracts from *Salviapisidica*. Biologia 2010;65:990-6.
- Erdogan A, Ozkan A. A Comparative study of cytotoxic, membrane and DNA damaging effects of *Origanum majorana*'s essential oil and its oxygenated monoterpenecomponentlinalool on parentalandepirubicin-resistant H1299 cells. Biologia. 2013; 68(4): 754-61.
- 21. Ozkan A, Erdogan A. A comparative evaluation of antioxidant and anticancer activity of essential oil from *Origanumonites* (Lamiaceae) and its two major phenolic components. Turk J Biol. 2011; 35: 735-42.
- Erdogan A, Ozkan A. Effects of *Thymus* revolutus Célak essential oil and its two majör components on Hep G2 cells membrane. Biologia. 2012; 68(1): 105-11.
- Tuncer E, Unver-Saraydın S, Tepe B, Karadayi S, Ozer H, Karadayi K, et al. Antitumor effects of *Origanum acutidens* extracts on human breast cancer. J Buon. 2013; 18(1): 77-85.

# **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**

DOI: 10.4274/cjms.2020.3155 Cyprus J Med Sci 2022;7(2):207-212



# The Relationship of Food Addiction With Emotional Control and Socio-Cultural Factors in University Employees

🕲 Elif Reis<sup>1</sup>, 🕲 Gülistan Çakır<sup>1</sup>, 🕲 Havvanur Demirkaya<sup>1</sup>, 🕲 Neslihan Kuzu<sup>1</sup>, 🕲 Türkan Atay<sup>1</sup>, 🕲 Aliye Özenoğlu<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, Üsküdar University Faculty of Health Sciences, İstanbul, Turkey <sup>2</sup>Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, İstinye University Faculty of Health Sciences, İstanbul, Turkey

# ABSTRACT

**BACKGROUND/AIMS:** The aim of this study was to examine the relationship between food addiction in university employees with emotion control, sociodemographic and sociocultural factors and social media use.

**MATERIALS AND METHODS:** The study was conducted on 213 administrative and academic staff working at a foundation university. The data was collected by a demographic fact sheet, the Social Media Addiction Scale-Adult Form (SMAS-AF), the Courtauld Emotion Control Scale (CECS) and the Yale Food Addiction Scale (YFAS).

**RESULTS:** The average age of the participants was  $36\pm10$  years and 65.7% of them were women. Of all the participants, 4.7% (n=10) were found to be addicted to food and 80% (n=8) of these were women. A significant inverse relationship was found between SMAS-AF and CECS total scores. As social media addiction increases, emotion control decreases. Among those with food addiction, the proportion of those with a low-income levels was greater compared to any other income group. There was no significant relationship between food addiction and gender, age, social media addiction, or emotion control. A significant negative correlation was found between age and the total score of social media addiction.

**CONCLUSION:** In our study, the prevalence of food addicts among university employees was low. The fact that the rate of the food addicts was higher in women and those who were single and those who had low-income levels reveals that gender, marital status and income levels are important socio-cultural factors. While no relationship was found between food addiction and emotion control or social media addiction, higher scores of SMAS-AF were noted in single and low-income users.

Keywords: Food addiction, emotion control, socio-cultural factors, social media addiction

# INTRODUCTION

Food addiction is described as an increased risk of encountering obesity and associated health problems as a result of excessive consumption of certain foods. Although it is not quite right to describe food as an addictive object in the same way as abused substances, consuming processed foods and foods containing high fat and carbohydrates in order to meet reward needs rather than physiological needs make the expression "food addiction" meaningful.<sup>1</sup> In recent years, with the increasing obesity epidemic around the world, there is an opinion that the binge eating disorder and overeating behaviors seen in obese individuals can be recognized as "food addiction".<sup>2</sup>

It is clear that an individual's emotional condition, which is a major determinant in addictive actions, also has an impact on uptake behavior and disorders. Studies have revealed that a person's emotional state affects their nutrient uptake, leading to less nutrient uptake in normal-weight people, and more nutrient uptake in overweight

**To cite this article:** Reis E, Çakır G, Demirkaya H, Kuzu N, Atay T, Özenoğlu A. The Relationship of Food Addiction With Emotional Control and Socio-Cultural Factors in University Employees. Cyprus J Med Sci 2022;7(2):207-212

**ORCID iDs of the authors:** E.R. 0000-0003-3869-1663; G.Ç. 0000-0001-9440-8354; H.D. 0000-0002-8063-5414; N.K. 0000-0001-8623-3881; T.A. 0000-0001-6678-8468; A.Ö. 0000-0003-3101-7342.



Address for Correspondence: Aliye Özenoğlu E-mail: aozenoglu@yahoo.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0003-3101-7342

**Received:** 26.06.2020 **Accepted:** 22.11.2020

Copyright 2022 by the Cyprus Turkish Medical Association / Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences published by Galenos Publishing House. Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License people.<sup>3,4</sup> Fluctuations in mood and negative behaviors affect the tendency towards delicious foods.<sup>5</sup> Furthermore, it has been observed that distortions in the hedonic system are counterproductive to the suppression of hunger and that in situations, such as stress or regret, the body is triggered to turn to food even if it does not need it.<sup>6,7</sup> Many sociologists think that sociocultural factors influence body perception and eating behaviors, and especially the family, environment and social media play a very important role in the formation of binge uptake and food addiction.<sup>8-10</sup> Sociocultural factors that concern the individual and society are mainly race, gender, education, material status, technological ability and the environment. A study on the population in Arab countries found that belief, gender, education, income level, mass media usage and food preferences, which are the main sociocultural factors, play an important role in the amount of food consumed in that region.<sup>11,12</sup>

Although there are studies in the literature on the relationship of food addiction between obesity and mood, research on emotion control and socio-cultural factors are insufficient. Therefore, this study aimed to analyze the effects of social media use, socio-cultural factors and emotion control on food addiction in university employees.

#### **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

The universe of this study included 879 executives and academic staff from a foundation university in Istanbul, Turkey. The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Üsküdar University (no: 6135134/2019-619, date: 27.12.2019) and conducted according to the principles of the Helsinki Declaration. The sample size was calculated to be 98 participants with 0.05 error and 95% confidence interval. A total of 213 volunteers participated in this study. Individuals aged 18 years and below, employees with any disability or substance abuse history were excluded. The questionnaires to be applied within the scope of the research were handed out to the volunteers. They were given a week to fill in the questionnaires and they were collected 1 week later. The demographic information form, the Yale Food Addiction Scale (YFAS), the Social Media Addiction Scale-Adult Form (SMAS-AF), and the Courtauld Emotion Control Scale (CECS) were used to collect the data.

#### **Demographic Information Form**

Age, gender, education level, profession, income level, marital status, and smoking/alcohol use were asked in the demographic information form. In addition, accommodation, drug use, disease status, social media use, its frequency and its duration were investigated.

#### Yale Food Addiction Scale

This scale was developed in 2009 by Gearhardt et al.<sup>13</sup> according to DSMIV-TR drug addiction diagnosis criteria. It was designed to diagnose behavioral food addiction. This scale includes seven diagnostic criteria. At least one of the diagnostic criteria ranging from 0 to 7 must be met to say that the food addiction criteria was observed, and at least three of seven diagnostic criteria must be met for a diagnosis of food addiction. The validity and reliability of this scale in Turkey was proven in 2012 by Bayraktar et al.<sup>14</sup> in a study using 300 university students.

#### Social Media Addiction Scale-Adult Form

This form has a five-point Likert type structure. The scale has two subdimensions which are virtual tolerance and virtual communication. One hundred is the highest score that can be obtained from the scale, and the lowest score is 20. A higher score indicates a "social media addict". The validity and reliability of this scale in Turkey was carried out in 2017 by Şahin and Yağcı.<sup>15</sup>

#### **Courtauld Emotion Control Scale**

This scale was developed by Watson and Greer in 1983.<sup>16</sup> This scale was prepared to determine to what extent an individual control his/ her reactions. It has not been prepared to determine to what extent an individual reflects or suppresses his/her feelings, such as anger, anxiety and unhappiness. It has three subscales. All subscale scores range from 7 to 28, and the total score ranges from 21 to 84. Emotion control increases as the score increases. The validity and reliability of this scale for the Turkish population was proven in a study of university students by Okyayuz.<sup>17</sup>

#### **Statistical Analysis**

The SPSS 24 (Chicago, IL, USA) statistical program was used to calculate the data. The Independent Sample t-test, the ANOVA test, and the chisquare test were used to analyze the relationship between scale scores and sociocultural variables. Correlation analysis was used to investigate the relationship between food addiction, emotion control, and social media addiction scores.

#### RESULTS

In this study, there were 213 participants and 140 (65.7%) of them were women and 71 (33.3%) were men. The average age of the participants was  $36\pm10$  years. There were two volunteers who did not want to report their gender. The findings were calculated in accordance with this situation. 120 (56%) of the participants did not smoke; 106 (50%) did not use alcohol; 179 (84%) did not have any chronic disease; 131 (62%) did not use Facebook, while 119 (56%) used Google+ and 119 (56%) used Twitter, 154 (72%) used Instagram, 158 (74%) used Youtube; 152 (71%) followed social media from desktop and mobile devices (laptop, tablet, smartphone); and 137 (64%) had been using social media for over 7 years and 113 (53%) spent 1–3 hours per day on social media.

In this study, the frequency of food addiction was found to be 4.7% (n=10). Of those with a food addiction, 80% (n=8) were female, 50% smoked, 80% had low-income levels, 70% (n=7) were single, and 60% (n=6) had been educated to primary school level or less. 108 (98.2%) of those without food addiction had a middle-income level (p=0.03) and 103 (99%) were married (p=0.02). There were no statistically significant differences between food addiction and gender (p=0.50), smoking (p=0.79), alcohol use (p=0.59), housing (p=0.07), social media usage time (p=0.17) and social usage media frequency (p=0.07) (Table 1). There was no statistically significant difference between the YFAS subscale scores and the gender variable.

SMAS-YF had a virtual tolerance sub-dimension average of  $22.37\pm6.71$ ; a virtual communication sub-dimension average of  $18.15\pm5.84$ ; and a total score average of  $40.32\pm11.33$ . When the demographic data and SMAS-AF were compared, there was no significant difference between the total score obtained from the scale and smoking (p=0.48), housing (p=0.214) and social media usage time (p=0.061). The mean total score of the scale was significantly higher in those who used alcohol (p=0.045), those with low incomes (p=0.003), those who were single (p=0.000). There was no statistically significant difference between the average SMAS-AF score and sub-scale score averages and YFAS results (Table 2). A negative correlation was found between the SMAS-AF total
Table 1. Comparison of sociodemographic and sociocultural data and YFAS scores   Ecod addiction								
	Food addiction							
		No		Yes		n value		
		n	%	n	%	p-value		
Condex	Male	69	97.2	2	2.8	0.50		
Gender	Female	132	94.3	8	5.7	0.50		
	Yes	40	93	3	7			
	Sometimes	39	95.1	2	4.9			
Smoking	Quit	9	100	0	0	0.79		
	No	115	95.8	5	4.2			
	Yes	21	93.4	5	6.6			
	Sometimes	73	93.6	3	6.4			
Alcohol use	Quit	8	100	0	0	0.59		
	No	101	97.3	2	2.7			
	Low (2000–4999)	80	90.9	8	9.1			
Income	Middle (5000–9999)	108	98.2	2	1.8	0.03		
income	High (10,000+)	14	100	0	0	0.05		
	Married	103	99	1	1			
Marital status	Single	87	92.6	7	7.4	0.02		
	Divorced	13	86.7	2	13.3	0.02		
	Alone	35	94.6	2	5.4			
Housing	With Family	161	96.4	6	3.6			
	With close relative	3	75	1	25	0.07		
	With friends	4	80	1	20			
	1–3 years	19	100	0	0			
Social media usage time	4–6 years	51	91.1	5	8.9	0.17		
	More than 7 years	132	96.4	5	3.6	0.17		
	Less than 1 hour	62	95.4	3	4.6			
Social media daily usage frequency	1–3 hour	110	97.3	3	2.7	0.07		
Social incuta dally usage incluency	4–6 hour	24	85.7	4	14.3	0.07		
	More than 7 hour	6	100	0	0			
YEAS: Yale Food Addiction Scale in: number								

score (p=0.000), Virtual Tolerance (p=0.000) and Virtual Communication (p=0.001) subscale mean scores in relation to age.

According to CECS, the mean of "anger" was  $15.17\pm3.81$ , the mean of "anxiety" was  $15.16\pm2.75$ , the mean of "unhappiness" was  $14.98\pm3.52$  and the mean of the total points was  $45.33\pm8.95$ . There was no statistically significant difference between the average CECS score and the sub-scale score averages and the YFAS results (Table 3). There was no statistically significant difference between gender and the subtypes of CECS "anger" (p=0.129), "anxiety" (p=0.598) and "unhappiness" (p=0.727) in this study. The CECS total scores (p=0.766), 'Anger' (p=0.889), "anxiety" (p=0.844) and "unhappiness" (p=0.356) scores were found to have no statistically significant association between the sub-scale score averages and age. A statistically inverse relationship (r=0.195; p<0.004) was found between the average SMAS-AF total score and the average CECS total score.

#### DISCUSSION

The frequency of food addiction was found to be 4.7% in our study. According to the CECS, the average total score of the participants

was determined to be 45.33±8.95. This shows that the participants had moderate emotion control. The average total score of SMAS-AF was found to be 40.32±11.33. This shows that the participants were not inclined to social media addiction. In various studies to date on food addiction in adults, it has been reported that sociodemographic and sociocultural factors, gender, smoking, alcohol use, income level, marital status, accommodation, social media usage time of the mother, and education status of the mother and father are relevant.<sup>18-21</sup> One study found that women who have low income had a poor relationship with food addiction.<sup>20</sup> In another study, it was determined that lowincome women saw eating desire and food addiction as similar and common behaviors, and for them, food addiction was out of control. Women who had low income described food addiction as less common and more serious.<sup>22</sup> In a study by Ramachandran et al.<sup>19</sup>, it was reported that there is a relationship between obesity and upper economic levels. In that study, it was found that the group with food addiction had a moderate economic status. A study of 1,048 randomly selected Chinese university students (540 men and 508 women) found that anxiety caused by high-intensity living conditions predicted overeating.<sup>23</sup> In a study aimed to identify the prevalence of internet addiction and related

Table 2. Comparison of	f SMAS-AF scores ir	n the pr	esence of food	addiction
	Food addiction	n	Avg $\pm$ SD	p-value
SMAS total	Yes	10	40.73±12.54	0.009
	No	203	40.30±11.30	0.908
SMAS virtual tolerance	Yes	10	22.33±6.41	0.095
	No	203	22.38±6.74	0.985
SMAS virtual	Yes	10	19.80±8.21	0.527
communication	No	203	18.07±5.72	0.527

Avg: average, SMAS-AF: Social Media Addiction Scale-Adult Form, SD: standard deviation, n: number.

factors among young adults (19–35 years old) in Bangladesh, internet addiction was found to be significantly related to lifestyle, time spent on the internet per day, family life, physical activity and smoking habits.<sup>24</sup> In our study, it was seen that, in general, people with food addiction had low income and were single.

Even though food addiction is thought to be more related to food, sudden emotional changes are known to cause excessive eating behaviors and addiction. In the research conducted by Innamorati et al.<sup>25</sup>, it was stated that food addiction occurs when strong emotions arise and there is a problem in understanding these emotions. It was determined in a study conducted in 2017 that negative mood affects eating behavior and may be related to food addiction.<sup>26</sup> In another study, it was found that loneliness and emotional dysregulation were significantly positively related to food addiction.<sup>27</sup> In one study on emotion regulation strategies and food addiction, it was observed that the condition such as emotional openness, negative emotion, impulsivity, and self-distrust were more common in those volunteers with food addiction than in the volunteers who did not have any addiction.<sup>28</sup> In our study, no significant correlation was found between the total dependency of the Courtauld Emotion Control Scale and the anger-happiness-anxiety sub-dimension total scores. However, in the presence of food addiction, the CECS total score was found to be slightly lower.

When the literature was examined, it was seen that food addiction is interrelated with emotional eating.<sup>29-31</sup> Irregular feeding attitudes are rapidly increasing, especially among adolescents and young women in their twenties. Social media can lead to irregular eating behaviors that are affected by diverse factors such as popularizing unrealistic beauty ideals. In one study, the results suggested that food addiction was connected with a higher body mass index in women and older and white people and/or people with lower incomes.<sup>21</sup> In another study, Duran et al.32 investigated the effect of stress and social media use on eating behaviors in university students. A statistically significant difference was identified between the degree of stress and eating behavior disorders, and it was found that the increase in stress severity caused abnormal eating behavior. It has been determined that increasing the duration of social media use causes eating behavior disorders.<sup>32</sup> In another study in which video-based effects were examined, it was indicated that the "mukbang" style of video on social media affects emotional control and may cause food addiction.33 In a study investigating the effect of social media attention on eating attitudes and body dissatisfaction in Filipino adolescents, the results confirm the effects of social media on adolescents' eating attitudes and body dissatisfaction.34 A study of eleven adolescents found that phone addiction was associated with greater emotional regulation difficulties, irregular nutrition, restricted eating, food addiction, and higher body fat.35 On the other hand, in

Table 3. Compariso	n of CECS scores in	the prese	nce of food addi	ction
	Food addiction	n	Average	p-value
CECS total	No	203	129	0.22
CECS IOIAI	Yes	10	105	0.25
CECC anger	No	203	135	0.12
CECS - anger	Yes	10	105	0.15
CECC anviatu	No	203	129	0.22
CECS – anxiety	Yes	10	105	0.25
crcc unhanninger	No	203	113	
CECS - unnappiness	Yes	10	106	0.75
CECS: Courtauld Emotio	nal Control Scale, n: n	umber.		

our study, no statistically significant difference was found between the

average SMAS-AF score and the mean subscale scores and the results of

## Limitations of the Study

the YFAS.

In our study, individuals aged 18 years and below, employees with any disability, disease or substance abuse history were excluded. Only adults working in one university were examined. One of the important limitations is that the height and body weight of the participants were not investigated in our study. Therefore, the relationship between BMI and the scales used in the study could not be examined. As the relationship between obesity and food addiction is well-known, if such a study is conducted in obese patients, the frequency of food addiction will be found to be relatively higher. Thus, the effect of emotion control in food addiction can be better determined. In addition, it is recommended to conduct multi-center studies on people who have different professions and live in different cities.

## CONCLUSION

In our study, the prevalence of those with food addiction among university employees was found to be low. The fact that the majority of those with food addiction were mostly single women with a low income levels reveals that gender, marital status and income level are important sociocultural factors. While food addiction was not associated with emotion control and social media addiction, higher total scores of SMAS-AF among single and low-income users, those who use alcohol and those who use social media for more than 7 hours a day point to the contribution of sociocultural factors in social media addiction. Eating behavior and nutritional preferences are not only physiological needs, but also emotional and social needs.

It is recommended to carry out similar studies in different populations in the future as it is thought that the low rate of food addiction in the sample examined within the scope of our study may be a factor in the lack of a relationship between emotion control and social media addiction. Specifically, it is thought that the effect of emotion control can be better evaluated in a sample of overweight individuals who have more common emotional eating behaviors.

## **MAIN POINTS**

• In our study in which the effect of various factors on food addiction among university employees was investigated, it was found that especially having a low-income level, being single and being female were important factors.

- There were significant negative correlations between a person's age and their social media addiction and emotion control.
- It can be concluded that social media addiction, as with other addictions, may negatively affect emotional control, mental health and quality of life over time.

### **ETHICS**

**Ethics Committee Approval:** Ethics committee approval was received for this study from the Non-Interventional Research Ethics Board (date: 27/12/2019, approval number: 6135134/2019-619) of Üsküdar University.

**Informed Consent:** Informed consent was obtained from all participants.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

#### **Authorship Contributions**

Concept: A.Ö., Design: E.R., A.Ö., Supervision: A.Ö., Data Collection and/or Processing: E.R., G.Ç., H.D., N.K., T.A., A.Ö., Analysis and/or Interpretation: E.R., G.Ç., H.D., N.K., T.A., Literature Search: E.R., G.Ç., H.D., N.K., T.A., Writing: E.R., G.Ç., H.D., N.K., T.A., A.Ö., Critical Reviews: E.R., G.Ç., H.D., N.K., T.A., AÖ.

#### DISCLOSURES

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The author declared that this study had received no financial support.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Oktay C. Relationship of body mass index with food addiction, impulsivity, depression and anxiety. B. Ü. Institute of Health Sciences, Master Thesis. Ankara. 2015.
- Romero X, Agüera Z, Granero R, Sánchez I, Riesco N, Jiménez-Murcia S, et al. Is food addiction a predictor of treatment outcome among patients with eating disorder? Eur Eat Disord Rev. 2019; 27(6): 700-11.
- Candan, HD, Küçük, L. Food addiction and affecting factors in high school students. J Psychiatric Nurs. 2019; 10(1): 12-9.
- Hofmann W, van Koningsbruggen GM, Stroebe W, Ramanathan S, Aarts H. As pleasure unfolds. Hedonic responses to tempting food. Psychol Sci. 2010; 21(12): 1863-70.
- Vanderlinden J, Dalle Grave R, Fernandez F, Vandereycken W, Pieters G, Noorduin C. Which factors do provoke binge eating? An exploratory study in eating disorder patients. Eat Weight Disord. 2004; 9(4): 300-5.
- Kalon E, Hong JY, Tobin C, Schulte T. Psychological and Neurobiological Correlates of Food Addiction. Int Rev Neurobiol. 2016; 129: 85-110.
- Alvarez-Salas E, González A, Amaya MI, de Gortari P. Accumbal TRH is downstream of the effects of isolation stress on hedonic food intake in rats. Nutr Neurosci. 2021; 24(7): 554-63.
- Aparicio-Martinez P, Perea-Moreno AJ, Martinez-Jimenez MP, Redel-Macías MD, Pagliari C, Vaquero-Abellan M. Social Media, Thin-Ideal, Body Dissatisfaction and Disordered Eating Attitudes: An Exploratory Analysis. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2019; 16(21): 4177.
- Raggatt M, Wright CJC, Carrotte E, Jenkinson R, Mulgrew K, Prichard I, et al. "I aspire to look and feel healthy like the posts convey": engagement with fitness inspiration on social media and perceptions of its influence on health and wellbeing. BMC Public Health. 2018; 18(1): 1002.

- Tada Y, Yoshizaki T, Tomata Y, Yokoyama Y, Sunami A, Hida A, et al. The Impact of Menstrual Cycle Phases on Cardiac Autonomic Nervous System Activity: An Observational Study Considering Lifestyle (Diet, Physical Activity, and Sleep) among Female College Students. J Nutr Sci Vitaminol (Tokyo). 2017; 63(4): 249-55.
- Haghighian Roudsari A, Vedadhir A, Amiri P, Kalantari N, Omidvar N, Eini-Zinab H, et al. Psycho-Socio-Cultural Determinants of Food Choice: A Qualitative Study on Adults in Social and Cultural Context of Iran. Iran J Psychiatry. 2017; 12(4): 241-50.
- 12. Peralta RL, Schnellinger RP, Wade JM, Barr PB, Carter JR. The association between Food and Alcohol Disturbance (FAD), race, and ethnic identity belonging. Eat Weight Disord. 2019; 24(4): 705-14.
- Gearhardt AN, Corbin WR, Brownell KD. Preliminary validation of the Yale Food Addiction Scale. Appetite. 2009; 52(2): 430-6.
- 14. Bayraktar F, Erkman F, Kurtuluş E. Adaptation study of yale food addiction scale. Bulletin of Clinical Psychopharmacology. 2012; 22(Suppl. 1): S38.
- Şahin C, Yağcı M. Social media addiction scale-adult form: validity and reliability study. KEFAD. 2017; 18(1): 523-38.
- Watson M, Greer S. Development of a questionnaire measure of emotional control. J Psychosom Res. 1983; 27(4): 299-305.
- Okyayuz ÜH. Investigation of the families of cancer and behçet patients in terms of mood and family functions. Turkish Journal of Psychology. 2004; 19(53): 87-99.
- Gearhardt AN, Boswell RG, White MA. The association of "food addiction" with disordered eating and body mass index. Eat Behav. 2014; 15(3): 427-33.
- Ramachandran A, Snehalatha C, Vinitha R, Thayyil M, Kumar CKS, Sheeba L, et al. Prevalence of overweight in urban Indian adolescent school children. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2002; 57(3): 185-90.
- Berenson AB, Laz TH, Pohlmeier AM, Rahman M, Cunningham KA. Prevalence of food addiction among low-income reproductive-aged women. J Womens Health (Larchmt). 2015; 24(9): 740-4.
- 21. Schulte EM, Gearhardt AN. Associations of food addiction in a sample recruited to be nationally representative of the United States. Eur Eat Disord Rev. 2018; 26(2): 112-9.
- Malika NM, Hayman LW Jr, Miller AL, Lee HJ, Lumeng JC. Low-income women's conceptualizations of food craving and food addiction. Eat Behav. 2015; 18: 25-9.
- 23. Tao Z, Wu G, Wang Z. The relationship between high residential density in student dormitories and anxiety, binge eating and Internet addiction: a study of Chinese college students. Springerplus. 2016; 5(1): 1579.
- 24. Hassan T, Alam MM, Wahab A, Hawlader MD. Prevalence and associated factors of internet addiction among young adults in Bangladesh. J Egypt Public Health Assoc. 2020; 95(1): 3.
- Innamorati M, Imperatori C, Harnic D, Erbuto D, Patitucci E, Janiri L, et al. Emotion Regulation and Mentalization in People at Risk for Food Addiction. Behav Med. 2017; 43(1): 21-30.
- Rose MH, Nadler EP, Mackey ER. Impulse control in negative mood states, emotional eating, and food addiction are associated with lower quality of life in adolescents with severe obesity. J Pediatr Psychol. 2018; 43(4): 443-51.
- 27. Tatsi E, Kamal A, Turvill A, Holler R. Emotion dysregulation and loneliness as predictors of food addiction. J Health Soc Sci. 2019; 4(1): 43-58.
- Bunio LK, Battles JA, Loverich TM. The nuances of emotion regulation difficulties and mindfulness in food addiction. Addict Res Theory. 2021; 29(1): 11-7.
- 29. Nolan LJ, Jenkins SM. Food Addiction Is Associated with Irrational Beliefs via Trait Anxiety and Emotional Eating. Nutrients. 2019; 11(8): 1711.

- 30. Gearhardt AN, White MA, Masheb RM, Grilo CM. An examination of food addiction in a racially diverse sample of obese patients with binge eating disorder in primary care settings. Compr Psychiatry. 2013; 54(5): 500-5.
- Schulte EM, Joyner MA, Potenza MN, Grilo CM, Gearhardt AN. Current considerations regarding food addiction. Curr Psychiatry Rep. 2015; 17(4): 563.
- 32. Duran S, Çetinbaş A, Başaran T, Kara A, Elgün B, Keklik N. The effect of stress and social media use on eating behavior in university students. Eurasian J Fam Med. 2019; 8(4): 149-54.
- Kırcaburan K, Harris A, Calado F, Griffiths MD. The association of addictive mukbang watching with mukbang watching motives, emotion regulation, impulsivity and psychiatric distress. JCD. 2020; 1-7.
- 34. Tadena S, Kang SR, Kim SJ. The influence of social media affinity on eating attitudes and body dissatisfaction in philippine Adolescents. Child Health Nurs Res. 2020; 26(1): 121-9.
- 35. Domoff SE, Sutherland EQ, Yokum S, Gearhardt AN. Adolescents' addictive phone use: associations with eating behaviors and adiposity. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2020; 17(8): 2861.

# ORIGINAL ARTICLE

DOI: 10.4274/cjms.2020.3037 Cyprus J Med Sci 2022;7(2):213-221



## The Effects of Achievement-Focused Motivation on Lifelong Learning Tendencies of Nursing Students

## Sibel Şentürk<sup>1</sup>, Bircan Kara<sup>2</sup>, Alev Yıldırım Keskin<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Nursing, Bucak Health School, Burdur Mehmet Akif Ersoy University, Burdur, Turkey <sup>2</sup>Hatay Mustafa Kemal University, Health Practices and Research Hospital, Hatay, Turkey <sup>3</sup>Department of Nursing, Akşehir Kadir Yallagöz Health School, Selçuk University, Konya, Turkey

## ABSTRACT

**BACKGROUND/AIMS:** Nurses need to have lifelong learning to be able to follow up the most current information and practices in the area of healthcare, acquire the information, skills and qualifications required for the safe conduct of nursing practices, to continue to offer good-quality healthcare services and to improve health services. The aim of this study was to determine the effects of achievement-focused motivation on the lifelong learning tendencies of nursing students.

**MATERIALS AND METHODS:** This descriptive and cross-sectional study was performed with the participation of 264 nursing students. The data were collected using a Personal Information Form, the Achievement-Focused Motivation Scale and the Lifelong Learning Tendency Scale. Descriptive statistics, Independent-Samples t-test, One-Way ANOVA and Pearson's Correlation Analysis were utilized for the evaluation of the data collected.

**RESULTS:** The mean of scores obtained by the participants from the Achievement-Focused Motivation Scale and the Lifelong Learning Tendency Scale were respectively 143.24 $\pm$ 24.99 and 70.28 $\pm$ 11.94. Upon assessment of the correlation between the means of the scores obtained by the participants from the Achievement-Focused Motivation Scale and the Lifelong Learning Tendency Scale, it was found that there was a statistically significant relationship between the participants' scores in the Achievement-Focused Motivation Scale and their scores in the Lifelong Learning Tendency Scale (p<0.01).

**CONCLUSION:** It was ascertained that the nursing students' lifelong learning tendencies developed as their achievement-focused motivation levels went up.

Keywords: Achievement-focused motivation, lifelong learning tendency, nursing student, education

## INTRODUCTION

Motivation is defined as "the motive which urges individuals to take action for showing decisiveness in their behaviors and for fulfilling a goal", and it is a force which ensures the continuity of actions. One of the domains in which the concept of motivation is most commonly used is an educational institution. It is asserted that having high levels of motivation in the learning process starting in childhood at educational institutions and continuing throughout life affect individuals' learning efforts positively.<sup>1,2</sup> In the education and instruction process, motivation is a phenomenon which stimulates and mobilizes students and enables them to gain benefits from their activities by transforming their knowledge base, technical skills and conceptual skills.<sup>3</sup> Individuals who are able to have immediate access to information, add new information to their knowledge base and share information with other people are characterized as powerful, highly

To cite this article: Sentürk S, Kara B, Yıldırım Keskin A. The Effects of Achievement-Focused Motivation on Lifelong Learning Tendencies of Nursing Students. Cyprus J Med Sci 2022;7(2):213-221

ORCID iDs of the authors: S.S. 0000-0002-5634-174X; B.K. 0000-0001-8220-8929; A.Y.K. 0000-0003-0981-5364.

Address for Correspondence: Sibel Şentürk E-mail: sibelsenturk@mehmetakif.edu.tr ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-5634-174X

Received: 12.09.2020 Accepted: 23.10.2020

Copyright 2022 by the Cyprus Turkish Medical Association / Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences published by Galenos Publishing House. Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License motivated and academically successful.<sup>2,3</sup> It is asserted that raising the level of education is also effective in boosting motivation. This is why individuals need to renew, develop, constantly upgrade and transform themselves. Fast developments in the domain of science and technology also accelerate this renewal process of information, and developments in the knowledge base and the renewal of existing information results in information obtained through educational institutions becoming obsolete.<sup>4,5</sup> In this sense, the need for those individuals who are capable of following up developments in the field of science and technology, who have access to rapidly changing information, who restructure information and who promote their self-development has increased.<sup>5,6</sup> The need for individuals to develop and renew themselves has brought the concept of lifelong learning to the forefront.<sup>1</sup>

The concept of lifelong learning is used as synonymously for adult education and constant learning and it covers all formal or informal education activities which increase personal, social or professional knowledge, skills and values likely to be gained in any phase of life.<sup>7</sup> It is discerned that the importance of lifelong learning progressively increases in professions where the human being is the essential component. Lifelong learning is also of importance to nursing professionals who are rapidly affected by scientific and technological developments and spend a long time with patients as part of the delivery of healthcare services.<sup>1.8</sup> Nurses need to have lifelong learning to be able to keep up to date with the most current information and practices in the field of healthcare in order to acquire the information, skills and qualifications required for the safe conduct of nursing practices, to continue to offer high-quality healthcare services and to improve health services.

The American Association of Colleges of Nursing, and also, the American Nurses Association and several accredited institutions refer to the lifelong learning responsibilities of nurses.<sup>7</sup> The profession of nursing should strengthen its professional infrastructure and produce and share knowledge with regards to its area of service. It is necessary to focus on this concept so that it will be internalized, especially during the university years and also to support motivational parameters which are likely to encourage student nurses to internalize this concept. Students of nursing colleges are prospective nurses who will play protective and constructive roles in the healthcare of individuals and/or society. In order to contribute to the development of the profession of nursing, institutions offering nursing education are supposed to acquire lifelong learning attributes during their college education.<sup>9</sup>

Radi found a statistically significant relationship between Saudi nursing students' academic achievements and their levels of motivation to attend university.<sup>1</sup> Those nursing students with high motivation levels also had higher academic achievement levels. It was particularly emphasized that those individuals who had outstanding academic achievements and focused on having accomplishments had more effective learning activities and processes and continued in this manner throughout their lives.<sup>1</sup> Moreover, in the study by Osma et al.<sup>10</sup>, it was asserted that the most significant factor affecting students' academic achievements during their university years was their level of motivation during their higher education, and ensuring pedagogical reinforcement was essential for the maintenance and enhancement of motivation in order to attain perfection. Furthermore, in the study performed by Odanga<sup>11</sup> in Kenya with the participation of 224 students, it was stated that those students who had self-discipline, had forward-looking future goals, were skilled in time-management and had instruction

and learning settings which supported autonomy had higher selfmotivation levels, as well as higher academic achievement levels. In addition, in their study, it was highlighted that, for students to be able to have high academic achievement levels, to have access to lifelong learning and to motivate themselves, they should be instructed and educated by means of strategies which would raise their motivation levels.<sup>11</sup> After a review of the relevant literature, it was observed that studies on nursing students were intended to identify only the lifelong learning qualities or motivation, but there were only a limited number of studies analyzing the correlations between motivation and lifelong learning tendencies.<sup>1,2,8,12,13</sup> It is clear that promoting the achievementfocused motivation of nursing students together with their lifelong learning gualities will likely assure the protection and development of the healthcare of both individuals and the society. Starting from this point, the aim of this study is to identify the effects of achievementfocused motivation on the lifelong learning tendencies of nursing students.

#### **Research Questions:**

In this study, answers are sought to the following fundamental questions:

**1.** What are the achievement-focused motivation and lifelong learning tendency levels of nursing students?

**2.** Which factors influence the level of achievement-focused motivation and lifelong learning trends in nursing students?

**3.** Does the achievement-focused motivation of nursing students have an impact on their lifelong learning trends?

#### **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### **Study Design**

A descriptive and cross-sectional design was used in this study.

#### Setting and Sample

The population of this study consisted of all nursing students who were first, second, third and fourth-year students at the Nursing Department of the School of Health Sciences, Istanbul Gelişim University in the spring semester of the academic year of 2018–2019 (n=300). Sample selection was not performed, and it was aimed to include the whole population in the study. The voluntary participation rate in this study was 88% (n=264). The inclusion criteria of the study comprised the following:

Being a nursing student in the spring semester of the academic year of 2018–2019,

Having no visual or auditory impairments,

Being open to communication and collaboration,

Having no history of psychiatric illness

Agreeing to participate in this study.

#### **Data Collection Instruments**

The data were collected by a Personal Information Form, the Achievement-Focused Motivation Scale and the Lifelong Learning Trends Scale for Turkish students.

### Personal Information Form

The Personal Information Form was prepared by the researchers based on the literature.<sup>1,4,8,12-14</sup> The form consists of 14 close-ended questions about the students' socio-demographic characteristics such as age, gender, the last school of graduation, mother's education level, mother's profession, father's education level, father's profession, family type, family income status, where they live, whether they chose nursing voluntarily, any membership of student associations and their grade point average (GPA).

#### Achievement-Focused Motivation Scale (AFMS)

The Achievement-Focused Motivation Scale which was developed by Semerci <sup>15</sup> to identify the achievement-focused motivation of students was utilized in this study. The Achievement-Focused Motivation Scale, which is scored on the basis of a 5-point Likert scale, comprises 35 items and has four sub-scales. These sub-scales are (a) external effects (12 items), (b) internal effects (9 items), (c) growth of aim (6 items) and (d) self-consciousness (7 items) (minimum score: 35, maximum score: 175). High scores obtained from the overall scale and its sub-scales indicate high levels of motivation. The Cronbach's Alpha Coefficient calculated for the overall scale was 0.89.<sup>15</sup> In this study, the Cronbach's Alpha Coefficient was found to be 0.91.

#### Lifelong Learning Tendency Scale (LLTS)

This scale, which was developed by Erdoğan and Arsal<sup>16</sup>, has two subscales, namely, "willingness to learn" and "openness to development", and it comprises 17 items. It is a 5-point Likert-type scale (minimum score: 17, maximum score: 85). High scores obtained from this scale demonstrate that lifelong learning tendencies are high. The Cronbach's Alpha Coefficient calculated for the overall scale was 0.86.<sup>16</sup> In this study, the Cronbach's Alpha Coefficient was found to be 0.95.

#### **Data Collection**

The data were collected by the second author between April 15 and May 10, 2019. The Personal Information Form, AFMS and LLTS were applied to all students on different days. The researcher went to each classroom and informed the instructors of the classes about the study before the data collection process. In order to avoid any interruption in the classes where the questionnaire was applied, permission was obtained from the responsible instructor of the class. A questionnaire was applied at the end of a class. Before collecting the data, the purpose of the study was explained to the students, and the voluntary and confidential nature of the study was emphasized. After reading the contents of the consent form, the questionnaire forms were distributed to those who agreed to participate in the study. The participants voluntarily consented and were told they could withdraw from the study at any time without consequences. After the forms were completed, they were collected by the second author. Data collection lasted approximately 20–25 min.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Data analysis was performed using SPSS 21.0 (Statistical Package for the Social Sciences, Chicago, IL, USA). Categorical variables are presented as frequencies and percentages. Continuous variables are expressed as mean and standard deviation (SD). To evaluate the normality of the data distribution, Shapiro–Wilk or Kolmogorov–Smirnov tests were used. Independent-samples t-tests were used for two groups which had continuous variables, and one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used for more than two groups. The relationship between the scales was tested using Pearson's correlation analysis. A two-tailed p-value <0.05 was considered significant for all analyses.

#### **Ethics Committee Approval**

Before data collection, ethics committee approval was obtained from the Ethics Committee of Non-Interventional Clinical Studies of Burdur Mehmet Akif Ersoy University (decision number: GO 2019/36, date: 06.02.2019). Written permission was obtained from the Director's Office of the School of Health Sciences (decision number: 2019-13-2, meeting date: 08.04.2019). The written consents of the students who participated in the study were obtained after reading an informed consent text. This study was conducted in accordance with the Good Clinical Practices of the World Medical Association (WMA) and the Declaration of Helsinki (and/or the World Psychiatric Association HAWAII Declaration).

#### RESULTS

Upon the review of descriptive characteristics in association with the scores obtained by the nursing students from AFMS and LLTS, it was found that the mean score obtained from the "external effects" subscale of AFMS was  $52.34\pm7.84$ , the mean score obtained from the "internal effects" sub-scale of AFMS was  $27.95\pm6.02$ , the mean score obtained from the "growth of aim" sub-scale of AFMS was  $27.95\pm6.02$ , and the mean score obtained from the "self-consciousness" sub-scale of AFMS was  $27.76\pm6.07$ . It was ascertained that the mean score obtained from the overall AFMS was  $143.24\pm24.99$ , and the mean score in the overall LLTS was  $70.28\pm11.94$  (Table 1).

The descriptive characteristics of the nursing students are presented in Table 2. Upon the comparison of the descriptive characteristics with their scores from AFMS and LLTS, it was found that the class year of the nursing students had statistically significant relationships with the "internal effects" and "growth of aim" sub-scales of AFMS (p=0.024, p=0.035). It was discerned that the mean score of the first-year nursing students from the "internal effects" sub-scale (29.32±7.08) was higher than those obtained by the second-, third- and fourthyear nursing students. It was identified that the "external effects" sub-scale of AFMS had statistically significant relationships with the education level and profession of the participants' mothers (p=0.005). It was ascertained that those participants with mothers who were primary school graduates or had lower education levels had higher mean scores in the "external effects" sub-scale (53.02±8.23) than those whose mothers had higher levels of education, and those students whose mothers were housewives had higher mean scores in the "external effects" sub-scale (52.85±7.94) than those with mothers

Table 1. AFMS and sub	-scales with LLTS sc	ores	
AFMS and sub-scales	Min-max/n	Mean ± SD	Cronbach Alpha
External effects	25-60/264	52.34±7.84	0.92
Internal effects	7-35/264	27.95±6.02	0.91
Growth of aim	7-35/264	27.95±6.02	0.88
Self-consciousness	11-35/264	27.76±6.07	0.90
AFMS total	67-175/264	143.24±24.99	0.91
LLTS total	29-85/264	70.28±11.94	0.95

AFMS: Achievement-Focused Motivation Scale; LLTS: Lifelong Learning Tendency Scale, min: minimum, max: maximum, SD: standard deviation, n: number.

Table 2. Comparison of the	Achievement	t-Focused Motiva	ation Scale (AFMS) and Life	long Learning Tendency S	cale (LLTS) with socio-de	mographic characteristics	of the nursing students	
Descriptive characteristics	Number	%	External effects sub-scale	Internal effects sub-scale	Growth of aim sub-scale	Self-consciousness sub-scale	AFMS Total	LLTS Total
Age* 18–21 years 22–25 years 26 years and above	188 69 7	71.2 26.1 2.7	55.00±8.42 54.00±6.34 54.00±4.41	28.44±6.21 26.47±5.35 29.42±5.19	28.44±6.21 26.47±5.35 29.42±5.19	28.06±6.47 26.76±4.99 29.57±3.69	144.53±26.74 138.85±19.75 151.71±17.68	70.82±12.29 69.10±10.96 77.14±7.88
Test statistics p-value			0.470 0.626	2.955 0.054	2.295 0.054	1.477 0.230	1.727 0.180	2.529 0.082
Gender** Female Male	198 66	75.0 25.0	52.85±7.90 50.81±7.49	28.28±6.26 26.96±5.15	28.28±6.26 26.96±5.15	28.03±6.33 26.98±5.21	144.95±26.05 128.10±20.83	70.64±12.54 69.18±9.92
Test statistics p-value			0.067 0.067	3.429 0.124	3.429 0.124	2.282 0.227	4.317 0.054	5.337 0.389
Class year* First year Second year Third year Fourth year	85 48 107 24	32.2 18.2 40.5 9.1	52.91±9.94 52.64±6.38 51.78±6.60 52.25±7.42	29.32±7.08 27.77±4.90 27.45±5.38 25.70±5.93	29.32±7.08 27.77±4.90 27.45±5.38 25.70±5.93	29.70±7.42 26.43±5.09 26.99±4.91 27.04±6.01	149.32±31.93 141.14±19.78 140.00±20.23 138.33±22.74	70.22±15.32 71.79±9.94 69.63±9.96 70.33±10.35
Test statistics p-value			1.695 0.761	1.167 0.024 a>d; a>c	2.910 <b>0.035</b> a>d; a>c	2.377 0.110	4.273 0.118	1.532 0.974
Grade point average (GPA)			2.64±0.46 (1.50-3.80)					
Mothers' education level* Primary school or below Secondary school Tertiary education	183 59 22	69.3 22.3 8.4	53.02±8.23 52.15±5.57 42.27±8.10	28.18±6.24 27.15±5.96 28.27±4.01	28.18±6.24 27.15±5.96 28.27±4.01	28.04±6.35 27.57±5.67 26.00±4.42	145.25±26.72 139.84±20.31 135.63±19.08	70.91±13.18 69.00±9.20 68.47±5.81
Test statistics p-value			5.481 0.005 a>c; b>c	0.681 0.507	0.681 0.507	1.149 0.319	2.174 0.116	0.852 0.428
Mothers' profession* Housewife Worker Civil servant	213 34 17	80.7 12.9 6.4	52.85±7.94 52.05±5.65 46.52±8.29	28.14±6.25 26.67±5.21 28.23±4.27	28.14±6.25 26.67±5.21 28.23±4.27	28.17±6.20 26.58±5.54 25.05±4.56	144.83±26.05 128.55±18.27 132.64±19.59	71.29±12.11 64.76±11.82 68.58±5.60
Test statistics p-value			5.324 0.005 a,b>c	0.885 0.414	0.885 0.414	2.842 0.060	2.588 0.077	4.696 0.010 a,b≻c
Fathers' education level* Primary school or below Secondary school Tertiary education	155 81 28	58.7 30.7 10.6	53.34±8.50 51.12±5.55 50.39±9.00	28.56±6.66 27.08±4.91 27.14±4.85	28.56±6.66 27.08±4.91 27.14±4.85	28.25±6.68 27.24±4.93 26.60±5.45	146.34±28.03 138.98±17.97 138.35±22.58	70.53±14.10 69.87±8.10 70.03±7.67
Test statistics p-value			3.153 0.044 a>b	1.896 0.152	1.896 0.152	1.301 0.274	2.949 0.054	0.087 0.917

Table 2. Continued								
Descriptive characteristics	Number	%	External effects sub-scale	Internal effects sub-scale	Growth of aim sub-scale	Self-consciousness sub-scale	AFMS Total	LLTS Total
Fathers' profession* Civil servant Worker Retired Not working	25 153 67	9.5 53.0 25.4 7.1	48.68±8.78 51.68±8.34 55.91±4.70 49.94±7.18	32.64±6.86 35.35±7.77 37.04±8.05 30.31±8.12	26.28±5.26 27.64±6.09 30.13±5.73 25.05±5.16	26,40±5,40 27,22±6,28 30,19±5,38 25,36±5,31	134.00±22.87 141.91±25.96 153.28±20.28 130.68±23.49	69.08±8.24 69.26±13.66 74.22±8.24 66.10±8.90
Test statistics p-value			7.976 0.000 c>a,b,d	5.443 0.001 c>a,b,d	5.443 0.001 c>a,b,d	5.651 0.001 c>a,b,d	6.926 0.000 c>a,b,d	3.776 0.011 c>a,b,d
Family type* Nuclear family Expanded family Broken family	199 4 61	75.4 1.5 23.1	51.94±8.20 53.00±8.86 53.60±6.42	34.88±7.87 40.50±3.10 35.72±7.55	27.96±6.15 31.00±35.91 27.73±5.70	27.63±6.23 27.75±5.50 28.19±5.64	142.44±25.86 152.25±19.27 145.26±22.36	69.14±12.66 80.00±3.82 73.36±8.63
Test statistics p-value			1.056 0.349	0.549 0.548	0.549 0.548	0.196 0.822	0.559 0.572	4.370 0.014 c>a
Family income level* Income below expenditure Income equal to expenditure Income above expenditure	21 161 82	8.0 61.0 31.0	54.76±4.65 52.51±6.34 51.40±0.60	37.23±7.05 34.82±7.07 35.30±9.13	29.19±4.90 27.74±5.51 28.06±7.15	29.61±5.60 27.60±5.11 27.62±7.71	150.80±19.15 142.68±21.19 142.39±32.15	73.42±8.20 71.63±9.30 66.81±16.03
Test statistics p-value			1.635 0.197	0.550 0.577	0.550 0.577	1.097 0.349	1.050 0.351	5.389 0.005 b>c
Place of residence* At home with family At home with roommate In apartment/dormitory	105 46 113	39.8 17.4 42.8	54.06±0.13 49.45±7.01 51.92±9.68	36.40±7.08 31.95±7.29 35.32±8.25	28.77±5.60 26.50±4.66 27.79±6.76	28.74±4.90 25.67±5.34 27.71±7.09	147.98±19.12 133.58±20.27 142.76±30.01	73.28±10.23 69.91±8.11 68.04±14.03
Test statistics p-value			6.031 <b>0.003</b> a>b; a>c	5.455 0.005 a>b	5.455 0.005 a>b	4.181 0.016 a>b	5.524 0.004 a>b	5.8133 0.003 a>b;a>c
Voluntary selection of the profession** Yes No	217 47	82.2 17.8	53.24±7.34 48.19±8.75	35.89±7.46 31.80±8.33	28.31±6.03 26.31±5.76	28.27±6.09 25.42±5.48	145.73±24.45 131.74±24.45	70.91±12.36 67.34±9.31
Test statistics p-value			2.392 0.000	0.412 <b>0.001</b>	0.001 <b>0.039</b>	1.049 <b>0.003</b>	0.460 <b>0.000</b>	1.664 0.063
Membership to student clubs** Yes No	35 229	13.3 86.7	48.40±12.82 52.95±6.60	33.22±10.46 35.46±7.25	24.74±8.66 28.44±5.36	25.51±9.03 23.11±5.43	131.88±39.66 144.97±21.51	65.48±21.21 71.01±9.66
Test statistics p-value			47.516 <b>0.001</b>	20.119 0.113	33.349 <b>0.001</b>	33.178 <b>0.018</b>	46.648 <b>0.004</b>	56.086 <b>0.010</b>
*Independent-Samples t-test was Significant values are shown in bc	used in compa old.	risons with two gro	oups which had continuous vari	iables, whilst **One-Way Analy	sis of Variance (ANOVA) was	utilized in comparison of more	than two groups.	

employed in other professions. Furthermore, it was found that there was a statistically significant relationship between the profession of the participants' mothers and their mean scores obtained from LLTS (p=0.010). Table 2 shows that those students whose mothers were housewives had higher mean scores in LLTS than those with mothers employed in other professions. In addition, it was found that the mean scores of the participants from the "external effects" sub-scale of AFMS had statistically significant relationships with the education level and profession of the participants' fathers (p=0.044, p=0.000). It was ascertained that the mean score obtained from the "external effects" sub-scale from those students with fathers who were primary school graduates or had lower education levels (53.34±8.50) was higher than those with fathers who had higher levels of education. It was found that the mean score obtained from the "external effects" sub-scale from those participants who had retired fathers (55.91±4.70) was higher. It was identified that the residence place of the participants had statistically significant relationships with their mean scores in the "external effects", "internal effects", "growth of aim" and "selfconsciousness" sub-scales of AFMS, the overall AFMS and the overall LLTS (respectively p=0.003, p=0.005, p=0.005, p=0.016, p=0.004, p=0.003), and the mean scores obtained from those participants living with their families in the "external effects", "internal effects", "growth of aim", "self-consciousness" sub-scales of AFMS, the overall AFMS and the overall LLTS ( $54.06\pm0.13$ ) were higher than for those living in other places of residence. Likewise, it was found that the voluntary selection of the profession of nursing by the participants had statistically significant relationships with their mean scores in the "external effects", "internal effects", "growth of aim" and "self-consciousness" sub-scales of AFMS, the overall AFMS and the overall LLTS (respectively p=0.000, p=0.001, p=0.039, p=0.003, p=0.000, p=0.063). The mean scores obtained by the participants voluntarily selecting the profession of nursing in the "external effects", "internal effects", "growth of aim", "self-conscious" sub-scales of AFMS, the overall AFMS and the overall LLTS were higher than those obtained from those participants who entered the profession of nursing involuntarily. It was ascertained that student club membership had statistically significant relationships with the mean scores obtained from the participants in the "external effects", "growth of aim" and "self-consciousness" sub-scales of AFMS,

the overall AFMS and the overall LLTS (p=0.001, p=0.001, p=0.018, p=0.004, p=0.010, respectively) (Table 2).

Upon evaluation of the correlation between the mean scores obtained by the participants from AFMS and LLTS, it was found that the mean score obtained by the participants in the "external effects" sub-scale of the AFMS had statistically significant positive relationships with their mean scores in the "internal effects" sub-scale (p=0.000, r=0.716), "growth of aim" sub-scale (p=0.000, r=0.721), "self-consciousness" sub-scale (p=0.000, r=0.765) of AFMS, the overall AFMS (p=0.000, r=0.899) and the overall LLTS (p=0.000, r=0.700) at a level of 1%. It was determined that the mean score obtained by the participants in the "internal effects" sub-scale of AFMS had statistically significant positive relationships with their mean scores in the "growth of aim" sub-scale (p=0.000, r=0.786) and "self-consciousness" sub-scale (p=0.000, r=0.753) of AFMS, the overall AFMS (p=0.000, r=0.911) and the overall LLTS (p=0.000, r=0.689) at a level of 1%. Moreover, it was observed that the mean score obtained by the participants in the "growth of aim" sub-scale of AFMS had statistically significant positive relationships with their mean scores obtained from the "self-consciousness" sub-scale (p=0.000, r=0.758) of AFMS, the overall AFMS (p=0.000, r=0.896) and the overall LLTS (p=0.000, r=0.682). It was seen that the mean score of the participants in the "self-consciousness" sub-scale of AFMS had statistically significant positive relationships with their mean scores in the overall AFMS (p=0.000, r=0.900) and the overall LLTS (p=0.000, r=0.721). It was found that there was a statistically significant positive relationship between the mean scores obtained by the participants from the overall AFMS and the overall LLTS (p=0.000, r=0.774). The participants' GPAs had statistically significant positive relationships with their mean scores in the "internal effects" sub-scale (p=0.005, r=0.171), "growth of aim" sub-scale (p=0.000, r=0.252) and "self-consciousness" sub-scale (p=0.007, r=0.167) of AFMS, the overall AFMS (p=0.001, r=0.196) and the overall LLTS (p=0.004, r=0.178) (Table 3).

#### DISCUSSION

Motivation for learning has become a precondition for the fulfillment and sustainability of lifelong learning in the information society of the

Table 3. Correlation betwee	n AFI	MS-Subscales and LL	TS with GPA				
		External offects	Internal offects	Crowth of sim	Solf conscious	AFMS	LLTS
		External effects	internal effects	Growth of all	Sell-conscious	total score	total score
External offects	r	1	0.716	0.721	0.765	0.899	0.700
External effects	р	-	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
Internal offects	r	0.716	1	0.786	0.753	0.911	0.689
internal effects	р	0.000	-	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
Crowth of sim	r	0.721	0.786	1	0.758	0.896	0.682
Growin of ann	р	0.000	0.000	-	0.000	0.000	0.000
Salf conscious	r	0.765	0.753	0.758	1	0.900	0.721
Sell-collscious	р	0.000	0.000	0.000	-	0.000	0.000
AFMS	r	0.899	0.911	0.896	0.900	1	0.774
total score	р	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	-	0.000
LLTS	r	0.700	0.689	0.682	0.721	0.774	1
total score	р	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	-
C DA	r	0.132	0.171	0.252	0.167	0.196	0.178
UFA	р	0.092	0.005	0.000	0.007	0.001	0.004

p<0.01; AFMS: Achievement-Focused Motivation Scale, LLTS: Lifelong Learning Tendency Scale, GPA: grade point average

21<sup>st</sup> century. In the context of this precondition, in order to adapt to changing technology and the information age and gain the necessary knowledge, skills, attitudes and qualifications, it is important to raise individuals who are able to self-learn, research, wonder, question, look from a critical perspective, solve problems, become highly motivated and perceive learning as a process continuing throughout their lives.<sup>4,13</sup> For this reason, this study was conducted to determine the effects of achievement-focused motivation on the lifelong learning tendencies of nursing students in light of the relevant literature.

In this study, the mean score of the participants in LLTS was  $70.28\pm11.94$ . Upon a review of the relevant literature, it was seen that there are studies arguing that participants have lifelong learning tendencies.<sup>6,17-20</sup> As nursing students are highly inclined toward lifelong learning, it is thought that they are interested in lifelong learning and have sufficient motivation, and even if they are faced with difficulties in organizing and performing lifelong learning activities, they can overcome these difficulties as they have positive tendencies toward lifelong learning.

In this study, the mean score of the participants in the overall AFMS and their mean sub-scale scores were seen to be at a high level. This result was in a similar vein to the findings in the relevant literature,<sup>1-3,6,21,22</sup> and high scores obtained from the overall AFMS and its sub-scales indicate that the college department in which students are enrolled has an effect on their achievement-focused motivation levels and lifelong learning tendencies, and students have positive feelings toward their college and instructors.

It was found that the place of residence of the participants had effects on their scores in LLTS and AFMS. It was determined that the mean scores obtained in LLTS and AFMS from those participants living with their families were significantly higher than those obtained from those participants living in a home with roommates, in dormitories or in apartments. In the light of these results, it may be argued that living together with family promotes the students' confidence which emanates from a family setting leads students to assume positive roles, enhances their knowledge, skills, attitudes, achievements, motivation and lifelong learning tendencies and has positive effects on these students.

It was found that the mean scores of the participants in LLTS were in general high on the basis of their class year. However, there was no statistically significant difference in the mean LLTS scores in this respect (p>0.05). It was discerned that, in the relevant literature, on the one hand, there are studies with analogous results,19 while on the other hand, certain studies contradicted this finding of this study.18,20,23,24 Additionally, the class year of the participants had statistically significant relationships with their mean scores in the "internal effects" sub-scale and "growth of aim" sub-scale of AFMS (p<0.05). The mean score obtained by the first-year nursing students in the "internal effects" subscale of AFMS (29.32±7.08) was found to be higher than those obtained by the second-, third- and fourth-year students. As the class years advanced, the mean scores obtained from the "internal effects" subscale decreased. It is thought that the differences in research findings are likely to have arisen from differences in schools, areas of practical application, the students' expectations and whether these expectations were met or not.

It was ascertained that the profession of the participants' fathers had statistically significant associations with their mean scores in LLTS and

AFMS and its sub-scales, whilst the profession and education level of the participants' mothers had statistically significant associations only with their mean scores in LLTS and the "external effects" sub-scale of AFMS. The study performed in 2016 by Denat et al.<sup>13</sup> stated that the education level of parents had no effect on lifelong learning tendencies. The study conducted in 2017 by Karaduman and Tarhan<sup>19</sup> identified that, on the basis of the education level of fathers, there was a statistically significant difference in lifelong learning tendencies, whereas the education level of mothers had no statistically significant effect on lifelong learning tendencies. In light of these results, it may be inferred that gender roles have effects on the scores obtained from AFMS and LLTS. In addition, in view of the fact that the students' fathers had better professions and higher education levels than their mothers did, and most mothers were housewives (80.7%) according to an examination of the sociodemographic data of this study, it is thought that the fathers supported their children in terms of lifelong learning in addition to the patriarchal family structure of the Turkish society.

It was found that those participants who voluntarily selected nursing as a profession had significantly higher AFMS and LLTS scores. Ünal and Akay<sup>25</sup> identified a moderately positive relationship between students' lifelong learning tendencies and their attitudes toward the profession. Çelik and Karaca<sup>22</sup> suggested that nurses who willingly performed their profession had higher motivation scores. In view of these results, it is thought that the voluntary selection of the profession of nursing by the participants has positive effects on their studies, achievements and lifelong learning motivation.

In this study, those participants who were members of student clubs had significantly higher AFMS and LLTS scores. Even if there is no study performed on the effect of student club membership on motivation and lifelong learning tendencies in the relevant literature, it is considered that those participants who are involved in different extracurricular activities such as training courses, seminars, the internet and library had higher lifelong learning and motivation scores.<sup>14,26</sup> In light of these results, it is considered that participation of students in activities such as joining student clubs and following up club events encourages them to assume more responsibilities, raises their motivation and contributes positively to their lifelong learning processes.

In this study, according to the review of the participants' AFMS and LLTS scores on the basis of their GPAs, the participants with higher GPAs had significantly higher mean scores in AFMS and LLTS. This result of the study was in parallel with findings in the relevant literature,<sup>1,27:30</sup> and it is thought that students with higher GPAs have higher levels of achievement-focused motivation and lifelong learning tendencies as they manage their self-orientation better, successfully identify their learning needs, direct their own learning processes, and also the college program in which they were enrolled enabled them to develop lifelong learning tendencies.

#### Limitations of the Study

The results of this study do not represent all nursing students in Turkey and are limited to the students who received education at the school where the study was conducted.

#### CONCLUSION

Nursing is a profession which emphasizes and supposes that lifelong learning is essential. It is asserted that having high motivation levels

and obtaining lifelong learning qualities during the college years will enable nursing students to succeed in playing effective roles in healthy individual/societal transformations, obtaining different perspectives towards health problems and enhancing the quality of solutions.<sup>4,13,14</sup>

With this study, it was found that the nursing students had high levels of achievement-focused motivation and life-long learning tendencies. Moreover, it was identified that the nursing students' levels of achievement-focused motivation had an effect on their lifelong learning tendencies, and as the levels of achievementfocused motivation increased, lifelong learning tendencies were also enhanced. It was determined that certain variables such as the place of residence, father's profession, mother's profession, voluntary selection of the profession, membership to student clubs and GPA affected the achievement-focused motivation and lifelong learning tendency scores.

In light of these results, "orientation seminars" should be organized in order to raise the motivation levels of students, who have started and will continue to have their academic careers away from their families, and to promote their adaptation to the new educational setting. With a view to exchanging learnt knowledge and skills and raising motivation, during trainings on nursing skills, an inter-class coaching system may be implemented by prioritizing the concepts of "being a guiding light" and "helping". In order to ensure that students can internalize the profession of nursing better and enhance their lifelong learning tendencies, "professional career days" which host leading figures of the profession should be organized. Education on how students can access lifelong learning resources (internet, library, seminar, convention, conference, training course, student club membership and so on) should be provided to students in order to promote their motivation and accomplishments in university settings, and systems and settings to which they would have easy access should be created. Elective courses that will motivate and support students' lifelong learning should be added to the curriculum by instructors, and also educational methods that will enable students to take responsibility should be developed by lecturers interactively with students. In order to identify the weaknesses of students with low GPAs and raise their levels of achievement-oriented motivation, meetings should be scheduled with their advisors.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to thank all the participants.

#### **MAIN POINTS**

- Lifelong learning is important for nursing staff who spend a long time with patients, as well as providing health service delivery.
- Success in the professional life is related to academic success during the university years, lifelong learning and motivation.
- It was observed that as the success-oriented motivation of the nursing students increases, they tend towards lifelong learning.
- It is thought that strategies developed by nursing schools to promote lifelong learning and raise motivation will raise the education quality and enhance the quality of healthcare services offered to patients.

#### ETHICS

**Ethics Committee Approval:** Before data collection, Ethics committee approval was gained from the Ethics Committee of Non-Interventional

Clinical Studies of Burdur Mehmet Akif Ersoy University (decision number: GO 2019/36, date: 06.02.2019).

**Informed Consent:** The written consents of the students who participated in the study were obtained after reading an informed consent text.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

#### **Authorship Contributions**

Concept: S.Ş., B.K., A.Y.K., Design: S.Ş., B.K., A.Y.K., Supervision: S.Ş., B.K., A.Y.K., Data Collection and/or Processing: S.Ş., B.K., Analysis and/ or Interpretation: S.Ş., A.Y.K., Literature Search: S.Ş., B.K., A.Y.K., Writing: S.Ş., B.K., A.Y.K., Critical Reviews: S.Ş., B.K., A.Y.K.

#### **DISCLOSURES**

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship and/or publication of this article.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors did not receive any financial support in conducting this study.

#### REFERENCES

- Radi MS. Baccalaureate nursing students motivation for attending university and its relationship with their academic achievement. Int J Educ Res. 2013; 1(7): 1-12.
- Ergin A, Karataş H. Achievement-oriented motivation levels of university students. Hacettepe University J Educ. 2018; 33(4): 868-87.
- Özcan D, Kaya FA. Determining the success-oriented motivations of gifted and non-gifted students. Kastamonu Education Journal. 2017; 25(6): 2357-68.
- Şenyuva E. Lifelong learning in nursing: perceptions and realities. Florence Nightingale J Nurs. 2013; 21(1): 69-75.
- 5. Gencel İE. Öğretmen Adaylarının Yaşam Boyu Öğrenme Yeterliliklerine Yönelik Algıları. Eğitim ve Bilim Dergisi. 2013; 38: 237-46.
- Gürdoğan A. Measurement levels of higher vocational school students motivation in education: the case of school in ortaca. Muğla University J Soc Sci. 2012; 28: 149-65.
- Yalçın US, Özaslan Z, Şahin ŞE, Alptekin MH, Erdoğan B, Er AR. Nurse candidates' lifelong learning tendencies: a qualitative study. Gümüshane University J Health Sci. 2019; 8(1): 55-63.
- Arslan ŞF. Lifelong learning tendency of paramedic students. RESSJOURNAL. 2017; 4(8): 235-43.
- 9. Qalehsari MQ, Khaghanizadeh M, Ebadi A. Lifelong learning strategies in nursing: A systematic review. Electron Physician. 2017; 9(10): 5541-50.
- Osma I, Kemal FE, Radid M. Analysis of determinants and factors motivating students in higher education: case of the students of chemistry at the Ben M'sik faculty of sciences. Procedia Soc. 2015; 197: 286-91.
- 11. Odanga S. Strategies for increasing students' self-motivation. Asian Res J Arts Soc Sci. 2018; 6(4): 1-16.
- Kulakçı H, Ayyıldız TK, Yıldırım N, Veren F, Topan AK. Motivational resources and problems of nursing students: vocational choice, school culture and other associated factors. J Health Nurs Manag. 2015; 2(2): 83-93.
- 13. Denat Y, Dikmen Y, Filiz YN, Başaran H. Lifelong learning tendencies in nursing students. J Hum Rhythm. 2016; 2(1): 39-45.

- 14. Örs M, Kılınç M. An Investigation of the Opinions of Pre-service midwives and nurses regarding lifelong learning. Univers J Educ Res. 2017; 5(12A): 56-62.
- Semerci Ç. Developing a scale of achievement focused motivation. NWSA. 2010; 2123-33.
- 16. Erdoğan DG, Arsal Z. The development of lifelong learning trends scale (LLLTS). Sakarya University J Educ. 2016; 6(1): 114-22.
- Kuzu S, Demir S, Canpolat M. Evaluation of life-long learning tendencies of pre-service teachers in terms of some variables. J Theory Pract Educ. 2015; 11(4): 1089-105.
- Oral B, Yazar T. Examining the perception of prospective teachers about life-long learning in terms of various variables. Electron J Soc Sci. 2015; 14(52): 1-11.
- Karaduman A, Tarhan S. Examining the relationship between university students' lifelong learning tendencies and their self-efficacy perceptions. Int J Hum Sci. 2017; 14(1): 355-375.
- Demiralp D, Kazu H. Comparison of effective lifelong learning levels of preservice teachers in terms of various variables. İnönü University J Fac Educ. 2017; 18(3): 71-85.
- Meriçelli M, Ulusoy Ç. The effect of web supported and mobile supported blended learning environment on students academic achievement and motivation. Turkish Studies. 2016; 11(9): 879-904.
- 22. Çelik A, Karaca A. Evaluating the relationship between teamwork and motivation in nurses and affecting factors. J Educ Res Nurs. 2017; 14(4): 254-63.

- Coşkun DY, Demirel M. Lifelong learning tendencies of university students. Hacettepe University J Educ. 2012; 42(42): 108-20.
- 24. Tunca N, Şahin SA, Aydın Ö. Life-long learning tendencies of pre-service teachers. Mersin University J Fac Educ. 2015; 11(2): 432-46.
- Ünal K, Akay C. Teaching profession and lifelong learning: from the perspective of teacher candidates. Mersin University J Fac Educ. 2017; 13(3): 821-38.
- Durak HY, Tekin S. Investigation of teachers' lifelong learning competencies according to personal and professional variables. Abant İzzet Baysal University J Educ. 2020; 20(1): 221-35.
- Mohammed MM. Corelation between academic motivation to study nursing and health related quality of life among nursing students. J Am Sci. 2016; 12(12): 95-103.
- Chidiebere JN, Clementine II, Noreen EA. Perception of students nurses on variables influencing academic achievement in Nnamdi Azikiwe University, Anambra State Nigeria. Am J Nurs Sci. 2016; 5(6): 258-65.
- Mohammadi I, Thaghinejad H, Suhrabi Z, Tavan H. The correlation of learning and study strategies with academic achievement of nursing students. JBRMS. 2017; 4(3): 8-13.
- Tekkol IA, Demirel M. An Investigation of self-directed learning skills of undergraduate students. Front Psychol. 2018; 9: 2324.

# **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**



## An Assessment of Restless Legs Syndrome and Sleep Quality in Pregnant Women

Sevil Şahin<sup>1</sup>, Döndü Sevimli Güler<sup>2</sup>, Kevser Özdemir<sup>3</sup>, Alaattin Unsal<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Nursing, Ankara Yıldırım Beyazıt University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Ankara, Turkey. <sup>2</sup>Obstetrics Service, Sakarya University Training and Research Hospital, Sakarya, Turkey <sup>3</sup>Department of Nursing, Sakarva University, Faculty of Health Science, Sakarva, Turkey <sup>4</sup>Department Public Health, Eskisehir Osmangazi University, Medical Faculty, Eskisehir, Turkey

## ABSTRACT

BACKGROUND/AIM: This study was conducted to review Restless Legs Syndrome (RLS) and some variables believed to be associated with RLS and to assess the relationship between the RLS and sleep quality in pregnant women.

MATERIAL AND METHODS: The study group consisted of 449 pregnant women. The diagnostic criteria developed by the International RLS Study Group were used to assess the diagnosis and severity of RLS, and the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) was used to assess sleep quality.

**RESULT:** The ages of pregnant women in the study group ranged from 18 to 45 years with a mean age of 28.78±5.31 years. RLS was diagnosed in 114 pregnant women (25.4%). The incidence of RLS was higher in those with a low to average family income, those having a nuclear family, those with a history of a gynecological surgery, those having irregular periods before pregnancy, those with a history of lower back pain during pregnancy and those with a history of macrosomia. No difference in terms of sleep quality was determined in those women with or without RLS. RLS is an important health problem in pregnant women. There is a moderate negative correlation between the severity of RLS and sleep quality.

CONCLUSION: It will be advantageous to refer pregnant women with RLS to specialists for final diagnosis and treatment. More extensive studies are required to demonstrate the relationship between RLS and quality of sleep.

Keywords: Pregnant women, Restless Legs Syndrome, sleep quality

## INTRODUCTION

Restless Legs Syndrome (RLS) was first described by Thomas Willis in 1685 in patients with sleep disruption and restlessness in their legs and referred to as "anxietas tibiarum". Later in 1945, Dr. Karl-Axem Ekbom used the definitions of "irritable legs" and "restless legs" for the disorder which is also known as the Ekbom Syndrome.<sup>1</sup> RLS is a sensorimotor disorder characterized by an irresistible urge to move the

legs and uncomfortable sensations, worsening at rest, which may be accompanied by dysesthesia that prevents falling asleep.<sup>2</sup>

Patients frequently express immediate relief when they move their legs in bed, get up and walk or dangle their legs off the bed. Symptoms are usually bilateral in the legs, and occasionally in the arms, starting during relaxation, prolonged inactivity and at night before sleeping. Symptoms disappear in the daytime.<sup>3</sup> While diagnosis of RLS is based on clinical

This study was presented as an oral presentation at the "1st International, 3rd National Preparation for Education and Training Congress", İzmir, Turkey, October 18-21, 2018.

To cite this article: Sahin S, Sevimli Güler D, Özdemir K, Unsal A. An Assessment of Restless Legs Syndrome and Sleep Quality in Pregnant Women. Cyprus | Med Sci 2022;7(2):222-228

ORCID iDs of the authors: S.S. 0000-0001-7089-6648; D.S.G. 0000-0003-2618-4920; K.Ö. 0000-0002-4900-9095; A.U. 0000-0001-8353-1605.



Address for Correspondence: Sevil Sahin **E-mail:** sevilsahin1@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0001-7089-6648 Received: 03.07.2020 Accepted: 30.11.2020

OPEN ACCESS

Copyright 2022 by the Cyprus Turkish Medical Association / Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences published by Galenos Publishing House. Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License

history and evaluation, laboratory and imaging methods can also be used when needed. Neurological examination is usually required. Five criteria developed by the International Restless Legs Syndrome Study Group (IRLSSG) must be met for a final diagnosis of RLS.

Pregnancy is considered an important risk factor for the onset or worsening of RLS symptoms. It is believed that hormonal (prolactin, progesterone, estrogen levels), psychomotor and behavioral changes during pregnancy as well as changes in sleeping habits and in folic acidiron levels may have an impact on RLS.<sup>4</sup>

Studies have shown that RLS affects sleep, cognitive functions and quality of life adversely and can be disturbing enough to require medical treatment.<sup>5,6</sup> There is a close relationship between RLS and sleep disorders which are known to be associated with undesirable effects in pregnancy such as intrauterine growth restriction or preeclampsia.

This study was conducted to review RLS and some variables believed to be associated with RLS and to assess the relationship between RLS and sleep quality in pregnant women.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

This was a cross-sectional study conducted on pregnant women who applied to Sakarya Training and Research Hospital from July 1, 2017 to November 1, 2017.

A questionnaire consisting of three sections was prepared based on literature in line with the aims of this study. The first section contained socio-demographic and pregnancy-related characteristics of pregnant women, the second section included questions on the presence and severity of RLS and the third section involved questions from a scale which was used to assess sleep quality.

The required approval of the Sakarya University Noninterventional Ethics Committee dated June 22, 2017 and number 71522473/050.01.04/141 and approval from Sakarya Training and Research Hospital management were obtained before collecting data in this study. The rules stated in the Helsinki Declaration were complied with during the stages of data collection.

The minimum sample size was calculated to be 449 in this study (power test = 0.847, RLS prevalence = 0.05 and margin of error = 0.07). Pregnant women presenting at the pregnancy polyclinic of Sakarya Training and Research Hospital during the study were informed about the subject and aims of this study and their verbal consent was obtained. A total of 449 pregnant women who agreed to take part in the study comprised the study group. Previously prepared questionnaires were completed by the investigators via a face-to-face interview method to collect the data.

Diagnosis criteria developed by the International RLS Study Group were used to assess diagnosis and severity of RLS.<sup>5,6</sup> A reliability and validity study of the scale in Turkey was conducted by Sevim et al.<sup>7</sup> If four of the following criteria were present, RLS was diagnosed: an urge to move the legs (a) caused by uncomfortable and unpleasant sensations in the legs; (b) worsening during periods of rest or inactivity such as lying down or sitting, (c) relieved by movement, such as walking or stretching, "at least as long as the activity continues" and (d) only occurring or worse in the evening or night rather than during the day. There were 10 items on a 5-point Likert-type scale which was

used to assess RLS severity. Each item was scored from 0 to 4 in an ascending order of severity. The total score that can be obtained from the severity scale ranges from 0 to 40 where higher scores denote increasing severity of RLS.

The PSQI<sup>8</sup> was used to assess sleep disturbances over the past month. The PSQI is an 18-item self-reported questionnaire. These items produce seven component scores ranging from 0 (no difficulty) to 3 (severe difficulty). The components are sleep duration, sleep disturbance, sleep latency, day-time disturbance, habitual sleep efficiency, sleep quality, and taking sleep medications. The sum of the scores of the components yields a measure of global sleep quality which ranges from 0 to 21. Getting a score of 5 or more in the PSQI is defined as poor sleep quality. The index was translated into Turkish by Agargun et al.<sup>9</sup>

The data was evaluated in the IBM<sup>\*</sup> SPSS<sup>\*</sup> (version 20.0) (Chicago, IL, USA) Statistical Package Program. Chi-square test, Mann–Whitney U test and Spearman's Correlation analysis were used to analyze the data. The statistical significance value was accepted as p<0.05.

## RESULTS

The ages of the pregnant women in the study group ranged from 18 to 45 with a mean age of  $28.78\pm5.31$  years. RLS was diagnosed in 114 pregnant women (25.4%) in this study. The distribution of women with or without RLS in the study group by some socio-demographic characteristics is given in Table 1.

In the study group, 137 women (30.5%) were having their first pregnancy and there were 152 women (33.9%) who had not given birth before. Ninety-seven women (21.6%) had irregular menstruation before pregnancy and 283 women (63.0%) had a history of lower back pain during pregnancy. The distribution of women with or without RLS in the study group by some pregnancy-related characteristics is given in Table 2.

The scores obtained from the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) by the participants in the study group ranged from 0 to 18 with a mean score of  $6.86\pm3.50$ . The distribution of the scores obtained from the PSQI by the women with or without RLS is given in Table 3.

The scores obtained from the RLS Severity Scale ranged from 0 to 37 with a mean score of  $15.17\pm7.97$ . A negative correlation was found between the scores obtained from the RLS Severity Scale and from the PSQI from the pregnant women ( $r_s$ =-0.444; p=0.001). The distribution of the scores obtained from the RLS Severity Scale and from the PSQI from the women in the study group is given in Figure 1.

#### DISCUSSION

Emerging with the urge to move the legs and causing uncomfortable sensations in the extremities, RLS may develop at any age in the general population but more frequently during pregnancy and with advancing age.<sup>10</sup> Pregnancy is considered among the important risk factors for the onset and worsening of RLS symptoms. RLS is believed to be associated with hormonal factors (prolactin, progesterone, estrogen) in pregnancy, psychomotor/behavioral factors, motor changes, changes in sleeping habits, anxiety and metabolic factors (low folate and iron levels).<sup>4,10</sup> The prevalence of RLS was reported to be about 10.0% in pregnant women. Studies conducted in several countries reported the prevalence of RLS ranged from 13.5% to

34%.<sup>11,12</sup> Some studies conducted in Turkey found that the prevalence of RLS ranged from 19.0% to 26.0%.<sup>13,14</sup> In our study, approximately one quarter of the pregnant women had RLS, which is consistent with the literature.

With advancing age, the production of endogenous dopamine reduces; therefore, the prevalence of RLS increases with age. In view of the studies on the general population, Taşdemir et al.<sup>15</sup> found that the prevalence of RLS is 3.5 times higher in women compared to men and it increases with advancing age. On the other hand, some studies reported no relationship between the prevalence of RLS and age.<sup>14,16</sup> Sahin et al.<sup>13</sup> found no relationship between the prevalence of RLS and age. The present study could not determine a difference regarding the prevalence of RLS between age groups.

It is possible that the prevalence of RLS is lower among those women with

a high education level as they are more conscious and well-informed about the early diagnosis and treatment of RLS as with all diseases and disorders. Moreover, one study mentioned that the higher prevalence of RLS in women with a low education level may be associated with the number of child-births. In their study conducted in India, Rangarajan et al.<sup>17</sup> similarly reported a higher prevalence of RLS in those with a low education level. In our study, no relationship was determined between education levels and the prevalence of RLS.

It is believed that unfavorable living conditions such as unemployment, poor income perception, etc. may increase the development of RLS.<sup>18</sup> The epidemiological study of Cho et al.<sup>19</sup> reported that there was a relationship between income perception and RLS and that the prevalence of RLS decreases with higher income levels. The higher prevalence of RLS among individuals with low-income levels may be

Table 1. Distribution of women with or without Restless Legs Syndrome in the study group by sociodemographic characteristics								
Socia domographic characteristics		Restless Legs Syndrome	2	Statistical analysis				
socio-demographic characteristics	No (%) <sup>a</sup>	Yes (%) <sup>a</sup>	Total (%) <sup>b</sup>	X²; p-value				
Age group (year)								
≤24	86 (76.8)	26 (23.2)	112 (24.9)					
25–29	131 (77.5)	38 (22.5)	169 (37.6)	2 450, 0 220				
30–34	70 (68.0)	33 (32.0)	103 (22.9)	5.450, 0.520				
≥35	48 (73.8)	17 (26.2)	65 (14.5)					
Education level								
Primary school or lower	73 (69.5)	32 (30.5)	105 (23.4)					
Secondary school	94 (82.5)	20 (17.5)	114 (25.4)	F 4C4: 0 141				
High school	101 (72.7)	38 (27.3)	139 (31.0)	5.404, 0.141				
University	67 (73.6)	24 (26.4)	91 (20.3)					
Employment status	·							
Unemployed	220 (72.8)	82 (27.2)	302 (67.3)	1 512: 0 210				
Employed	115 (78.2)	32 (21.8)	147 (32.7)	1.515, 0.219				
Family income status								
Low-Middle	191 (70.7)	79 (29.3)	270 (60.1)	F 2F2, 0 021				
High	144 (80.4)	35 (19.6)	179 (39.9)	5.353; 0.021				
Family type	·							
Nuclear	243 (71.7)	96 (28.3)	339 (75.5)	C 2CC 0 012				
Extended	92 (83.6)	18 (16.4)	110 (24.5)	6.266; 0.012				
History of a physician-diagnosed disease requiring constant of	Irug use							
No	291 (74.8)	98 (25.2)	389 (86.6)	0.07.0.000				
Yes	44 (73.3)	16 (26.7)	60 (13.4)	0.07, 0.952				
History of a physician-diagnosed gynecological disease								
No	311 (74.9)	104 (25.1)	415 (92.4)	0 126: 0 722				
Yes	24 (70.6)	10 (29.4)	34 (7.6)	0.120, 0.722				
History of any gynecological surgery								
No	291 (72.9)	108 (27.1)	399 (88.9)	4 550: 0 022				
Yes	44 (88.0)	6 (12.0)	50 (11.1)	4.559, 0.055				
Regular physical exercise								
No	225 (81.2)	52 (18.8)	277 (61.7)	16 714: 0 001				
Yes	119 (64.0)	62 (36.0)	172 (38.3)	10.714, 0.001				
Total	335 (74.6)	114 (25.4)	449 (100.0)					
<sup>a</sup> Percentage for the row, <sup>b</sup> Percentage for the column.								

associated with poor dietary habits, particularly iron deficiency. Eckeli et al.<sup>20</sup> reported no relationship between the prevalence of RLS and family income levels. Our study found that the prevalence of RLS is higher in those whose family income level is low-middle. However, there was no difference regarding the prevalence of RLS between those women with or without a revenue-generating job.

In studies conducted in Nordic countries and Germany, no relationship was established between household and RLS.<sup>18-21</sup> However, it was determined that the prevalence of RLS is higher in pregnant women with a nuclear family in our study. We assume that this is because pregnant women lack enough support for housework, resulting in increased work-loads and stress levels.

It has been reported that patients with RLS usually have concomitant chronic diseases such as hypertension, diabetes mellitus and depression.<sup>18,22,23</sup> Our study revealed no difference regarding the prevalence of RLS between those with or without a history of a physician-diagnosed diseases requiring constant drug use. A similar result was also reported in the study of Unruh et al.<sup>24</sup>

While it is likely that the prevalence of RLS is higher in those women with a gynecological problem or a history of any kind of surgery, the literature presented no such finding. This study revealed no difference regarding the prevalence of RLS between those women with or without a history of a physician-diagnosed gynecological disease. However, it was determined that the prevalence of RLS is higher in women with a history of gynecological surgery. It is clear that more extensive studies are required to establish such a relationship.

Ohayon et al. found that regular exercise reduces the risk of RLS;<sup>25</sup> however, another study reported that exercise before sleep increases the risk of RLS.<sup>23</sup> Another study established a gradual relationship between exercise and RLS according to the intensity of exercise.<sup>18</sup> Our



**Figure 1.** Distribution of scores obtained from the RLS Severity Scale and from the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index for the women in the study group

RLS: Restless Legs Syndrome

study findings established that the prevalence of RLS is higher in those with a history of regular physical exercise. This may be related to the fact that the exercise frequencies, durations and timings of pregnant women are not known.

It is known that RLS symptoms may increase during pregnancy. Moreover, it has been reported that the number of childbirths may be a major factor for a higher prevalence of RLS in women. Berger et al.<sup>18</sup> reported a strong relationship between the prevalence of RLS in pregnant women and the number of childbirths. In our study, no relationship was determined between the number of childbirths and pregnancies and the prevalence of RLS. Shang et al.<sup>26</sup> established no difference regarding fertility in women with or without RLS.

It is known that hormone levels, primarily estradiol, increase during pregnancy. It is believed that increased prolactin levels in the third trimester may reduce dopamine levels, which may have an important role on RLS pathogenesis.<sup>27</sup> Several studies have reported that the prevalence of RLS is higher in the third trimester of pregnancy and that existing symptoms may be more severe.<sup>14,17,27</sup> Our study revealed no difference regarding the prevalence of RLS between women who had reached 28<sup>th</sup> week of gestation and those who had not.

Hormonal changes which are considered the main factor in women with irregular menstruation and a history of dysmenorrhea may be associated with RLS. In our study, there was no difference regarding the prevalence of RLS in women with or without a history of dysmenorrhea before pregnancy. However, it was determined that the prevalence of RLS is higher in those women with irregular menstruation before pregnancy. More extensive studies are required to establish such relationships.

In contrast to the findings of some epidemiological studies, there are studies which have demonstrated that body mass index is associated with a higher RLS risk. This relationship may result from a decrease in the number of dopamine receptors in the brains of obese individuals.<sup>27</sup> Despite these studies, the relationship between BMI in pregnancy and RLS has not been established clearly. Our study determined no difference regarding the prevalence of RLS in obese and non-obese women. There are other researchers who have reported similar results.<sup>11,27</sup>

Some studies concluded that there is no relationship between birth weight and RLS.<sup>27,28</sup> This study found a higher prevalence of RLS in women with a history of macrosomia. More extensive studies are required to establish such a relationship.

In our study, there is a moderate negative correlation between the severity of RLS and sleep quality. It was reported that 5%–10% of people with RLS had insomnia and disrupted sleep. All night long restlessness and an urge to move the legs make it difficult to fall asleep and to stay asleep, a reduced total-sleep time, impaired sleep-quality and these cause daytime drowsiness, chronic sleep deprivation, emotional disturbances and pathological fatigue in severe cases.<sup>14,16,29</sup> Yuksel et al.<sup>16</sup> found that RLS increases sleep-disorders which are associated with undesirable effects in pregnancy such as intrauterine growth restriction or preeclampsia. No difference in terms of sleep quality was determined in those women with or without RLS in the study group.

The limitations of this study include the fact that it is a cross-sectional study and it was not possible to establish a definitive diagnosis with the scales used.

Table 2. Distribution of women with or without Restless Legs Syndrome in the study group by pregnancy-related characteristics								
Duomon en volato d'abave stavistica		Restless Legs Syndrom	e	Statistical analysis				
Pregnancy-related characteristics	No (%) <sup>a</sup>	Yes (%) <sup>a</sup>	Total (%) <sup>b</sup>	X²; p-value				
Number of pregnancies			'	'				
1	96 (70.1)	41 (29.9)	137 (30.5)					
2	81 (77.9)	23 (22.1)	104 (23.2)					
3	85 (78.0)	24 (22.0)	109 (24.3)	2.771; 0.428				
4 and above	73 (73.7)	26 (26.3)	99 (22.0)					
Gestational week		1	1	1				
≤28	87 (79.1)	23 (20.9)	110 (24.5)	1.544.0.244				
≥29	248 (73.2)	91 (26.8)	339 (75.5)	1.544; 0.214				
Number of childbirths				'				
0	106 (69.7)	46 (30.3)	152 (33.9)					
1	79 (73.8)	28 (26.2)	107 (23.8)	E 24C. 0.140				
2	85 (82.5)	18 (17.5)	103 (22.9)	5.346, 0.148				
3 and above	65 (74.7)	22 (25.3)	87 (19.4)					
Menstrual regularity before pregnancy								
Irregular	63 (64.9)	34 (35.1)	97 (21.6)	F 464: 0.010				
Regular	272 (77.3)	80 (22.7)	352 (78.4)	5.464, 0.019				
History of dysmenorrhea before pregnancy								
No	215 (77.6)	62 (22.4)	277 (61.7)	2 452: 0 002				
Yes	120 (69.8)	52 (30.2)	172 (38.3)	5.452, 0.065				
Obesity before pregnancy								
No	275 (73.5)	99 (26.5)	374 (83.3)	1 0.00 0 202				
Yes	60 (80.0)	15 (20.0)	75 (16.7)	1.060; 0.303				
History of lower back pain during pregnancy								
No	137 (82.5)	29 (17.5)	166 (37.0)	9 721.0 002				
Yes	198 (70.0)	85 (30.0)	283 (63.0)	0.721, 0.005				
History of trauma during pregnancy								
No	310 (74.7)	105 (25.3)	415 (92.4)	0.000.1.000				
Yes	25 (73.5)	9 (26.5)	34 (7.6)	0.000, 1.000				
History of macrosomia*								
No	199 (79.3)	52 (20.7)	251 (84.5)	4 357 0 037				
Yes	30 (65.2)	16 (34.8)	46 (15.5)	וכט, עכיד, יכט, יוכריד				
Total	335 (74.6)	114 (25.4)	449 (100.0)					
<sup>a</sup> Percentage for the row, <sup>b</sup> Percentage for the column, *: Pregnant we	omen who had given bi	irth previously.						

Table 3. Distribution of scores obtained	from the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index fo	or women with or without RLS in the study group
RLS	n (%)	Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index Median (minimum-maximum)
No	335 (74.6)	6.0 (0.0-18.0)
Yes	114 (25.4)	7.0 (0.0-14.0)
Total	449 (100.0)	7.0 (0.0-18.0)
z=1.384, p=0.166, RLS: Restless Legs Syndrome,	n: number.	

226

## CONCLUSION

RLS is an important health problem in pregnant women. There is a moderate negative correlation between the severity of RLS and sleep quality. It may be advantageous to refer pregnant women with RLS to specialists for a definite diagnosis and treatment. More extensive studies are required to demonstrate the relationship between RLS and quality of sleep.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank the pregnant women who participated in this study.

#### MAIN POINTS

- Restless Legs Syndrome is an important health problem in pregnant women.
- The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index was used to assess sleep quality.
- There is a moderate negative correlation between the severity of Restless Legs Syndrome and sleep quality.

#### **ETHICS**

**Ethics Committee Approval:** The required approval of the Sakarya University Non-interventional Ethics Committee dated June 22, 2017 and number 71522473/050.01.04/141 and approval from Sakarya Training and Research Hospital management were obtained before collecting data in this study.

**Informed Consent:** Pregnant women were informed about the subject and aims of this study and their consent was obtained. **Peer-review:** Externally peer-reviewed.

#### **Authorship Contributions**

Concept: S.Ş., K.Ö., A.U., Design: S.Ş., K.Ö., A.U., Data Collection and/or Processing: D.S.G., K.Ö., Analysis and/or Interpretation: A.U., S.Ş., K.Ö., Literature Search: S.Ş., K.Ö., A.U., D.S.G., Writing: S.Ş., D.S.G., K.Ö., A.U.

#### DISCLOSURES

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The author declared that this study had received no financial support.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Callieri B, Priori R. [A rare aspect of "restless legs". (Ekbom's asthenia crurum paraesthetica)]. Riv Sper Freniatr Med Leg Alien Ment. 1962; 86: 227-33.
- Benbir G, Kaynak D. Kaynak H. Restless legs syndrome and periodic limb movements disorders of sleep. Turk J Neurol. 2004; 10(2); 117-22.
- Acar S, Gencer, Am. Genetics in restless legs syndrome. Turk J Phys Med Rehab. 2005; 51: 156-60.
- O'Keeffe ST. Iron deficiency with normal ferritin levels in restless legs syndrome. Sleep Med. 2005; 6(3): 281-2.
- Allen RP, Abetz L, Washburn T, Earley CJ. The impact of restless legs syndrome (RLS) on sleep and cognitive function. Eur J Neurol. 2002; 9(Suppl 2): 50.

- Allen RP, Walters AS, Montplaisir J, Hening W, Myers A, Bell TJ, et al. Restless legs syndrome prevalence and impact: REST general population study. Arch Intern Med. 2005; 165(11): 1286-92.
- Sevim S, Dogu O, Camdeviren H, Bugdayci R, Sasmaz T, Aral M, et al. Unexpectedly low prevalence and unusual characteristics of RLS in Mersin, Turkey. Neurology. 2003; 61(11): 1562-9.
- Buysse DJ, Reynolds CF 3rd, Monk TH, Berman SR, Kupfer DJ. The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index: a new instrument for psychiatric practice and research. Psychiatry Res. 1989; 28(2): 193-213.
- Agargun YM, Kara H, Anlar O. The Validity And Reliability Of The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index. Turk J Psychiatr. 1996; 7: 107-11.
- Ondo W, Jankovic J. Restless legs syndrome: clinicoetiologic correlates. Neurology. 1996; 47(6): 1435-41.
- 11. Alves DA, Carvalho LB, Morais JF, Prado GF. Restless legs syndrome during pregnancy in Brazilian women. Sleep Med. 2010; 11(10): 1049-54.
- 12. Uglane MT, Westad S, Backe B. Restless legs syndrome in pregnancy is a frequent disorder with a good prognosis. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2011; 90(9): 1046-8.
- Sahin KF, Köken G, Coşar E, Solak Ö, Saylan F, Fidan F. The incidence of restless leg syndrome in pregnancy. Turk J Obstet Gynecol. 2007; 4(4): 246-9.
- 14. Cakmak B, Metin ZF, Karataş A, Ozsoy Z, Demirtürk F. Restless leg syndrome in pregnancy. Perinatal Journal. 2014; 22(1): 1-5.
- Taşdemir M, Erdoğan H, Börü UT, Dilaver E, Kumaş A. Epidemiology of restless legs syndrome in Turkish adults on the western Black Sea coast of Turkey: A door-to-door study in a rural area. Sleep Med. 2010; 11(1): 82-6.
- Yuksel B, Seven A, Yıldız Y, et al. Restless leg syndrome in pregnancy. J Gynecol Obstet Neonatol. 2015; 12: 144-6.
- 17. Rangarajan S, Rangarajan S, D'Souza GA. Restless legs syndrome in an Indian urban population. Sleep Med. 2007; 9(1): 88-93.
- Berger K, Luedemann J, Trenkwalder C, John U, Kessler C. Sex and the risk of restless legs syndrome in the general population. Arch Intern Med. 2004; 164(2): 196-202.
- Cho YW, Shin WC, Yun CH, Hong SB, Kim JH, Allen RP, et al. Epidemiology of restless legs syndrome in Korean adults. Sleep. 2008; 31(2): 219-23.
- Eckeli AL, Gitaí LL, Dach F, Ceretta H, Sander HH, Passos ADC, et al. Prevalence of restless legs syndrome in the rural town of Cassia dos Coqueiros in Brazil. Sleep Med. 2011; 12(8): 762-7.
- 21. Bjorvatn B, Leissner L, Ulfberg J, Gyring J, Karlsborg M, Regeur L, et al. Prevalence, severity and risk factors of restless legs syndrome in the general adult population in two Scandinavian countries. Sleep Med. 2005; 6(4): 307-12.
- Araujo SM, de Bruin VM, Nepomuceno LA, Maximo ML, de Francesco Daher E, Correia Ferrer DP, et al. Restless legs syndrome in end-stage renal disease: Clinical characteristics and associated comorbidities. Sleep Med. 2010; 11(8): 785-90.
- Phillips B, Young T, Finn L, Asher K, Hening WA, Purvis C. Epidemiology of restless legs symptoms in adults. Arch Intern Med. 2000; 160(14): 2137-41.
- Unruh ML, Levey AS, D'Ambrosio C, Fink NE, Powe NR, Meyer KB; Choices for Healthy Outcomes in Caring for End-Stage Renal Disease (CHOICE) Study. Restless legs symptoms among incident dialysis patients: association with lower quality of life and shorter survival. Am J Kidney Dis. 2004; 43(5): 900-9.
- Ohayon MM, Roth T. Prevalence of restless legs syndrome and periodic limb movement disorder in the general population. J Psychosom Res. 2002; 53(1): 547-54.

- 26. Shang X, Yang J, Guo Y, Ma S, Jia Z, Xue R. Restless legs syndrome among pregnant women in China: prevalence and risk factors. Sleep Breath. 2015; 19(3): 1093-9.
- 27. Dzaja A, Wehrle R, Lancel M, Pollmächer T. Elevated estradiol plasma levels in women with restless legs during pregnancy. Sleep. 2009; 32(2): 169-74.
- 28. Sharma SK, Nehra A, Sinha S, Soneja M, Sunesh K, Sreenivas V, et al. Sleep disorders in pregnancy and their association with pregnancy outcomes: a prospective observational study. Sleep Breath. 2016; 20(1): 87-93.
- 29. Chen PH, Liou KC, Chen CP, Cheng SJ. Risk factors and prevalence rate of restless legs syndrome among pregnant women in Taiwan. Sleep Med. 2012; 13(9): 1153-7.

## ORIGINAL ARTICLE



## A Comparison of Gluten-Containing and Gluten-Free Food Products in Terms of Cost and Nutrient Content in the City of Antalya, Turkey

## Ayşe Meydanlıoğlu<sup>1</sup>, D Ebru Köse<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Community Health Nursing, Akdeniz University Faculty of Nursing, Antalya, Turkey <sup>2</sup>Department of Gynecology, Akdeniz University Hospital, Antalya, Turkey

## ABSTRACT

**BACKGROUND/AIMS:** Gluten is a protein that constitutes the main structure of flour, and thus, its removal from food products causes many gluten-free products in the market to be low in quality and taste while high in cost. Therefore, the purpose of this study was to compare gluten-containing and gluten-free food products.

**MATERIALS AND METHODS:** In this study, which is descriptive-comparative in nature, 64 gluten-free products and their 64 gluten-containing equivalent products in the same categories were randomly selected in large supermarkets in Antalya.

**RESULTS:** 50% of the products in this study were gluten-free, and bread and bakery products constituted the major group with 31.3%. The average price of all gluten-free products in this study was found to be significantly higher compared to gluten-containing products (p<0.01). The protein levels of the gluten-free products in all categories except for cereal were found to be significantly lower in comparison with the gluten-containing products (p<0.01). The average amount of fat in gluten-free flour (p<0.05), the average amount of sugar in the gluten-free pasta group (p<0.01) and the average energy level of the gluten-free cereals were found to be lower (p<0.05) in comparison to their equivalent gluten-containing food products.

**CONCLUSION:** In this study, it was found that gluten-free products are not only limited in availability and more costly but they also have significantly lower protein values. Therefore, it is important to monitor the development of children with celiac disease and to support their diet with alternative food sources.

Keywords: Gluten, gluten-free food, nutrient content, cost

## INTRODUCTION

Although a gluten-free diet is a lifetime treatment regime in order to prevent small intestine damage as a result of gluten exposure in people with celiac disease,<sup>1,2</sup> the number of individuals who follow a gluten-free diet is higher than the number of individuals diagnosed with celiac disease, and the popularity of these products in recent years has increased over time and transformed into a health service.<sup>3</sup>

The preference for healthy gluten-free food products plays an important role, particularly in curing individuals with celiac disease, as nutrition is the only method of treatment.<sup>4</sup> However, it is not easy to sustain a gluten-free diet. It is not enough for patients only to avoid grain products containing gluten. They also should be on the alert constantly,<sup>5</sup> because excessive consumption of food products containing grain and the use of grain and its derivatives for purposes including colouring, preserving, or stabilizing products makes it difficult for celiac patients to adjust to

**To cite this article:** Meydanlıoğlu A, Köse E. A Comparison of Gluten-Containing and Gluten-Free Food Products in Terms of Cost and Nutrient Content in the City of Antalya, Turkey. Cyprus J Med Sci 2022;7(2):229-233

#### ORCID iDs of the authors: A.M. 0000-0002-9799-937X; E.K. 0000-0002-3158-1958.



Address for Correspondence: Ayşe Meydanlıoğlu E-mail: a.meydanlioglu@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-9799-937X

Received: 10.11.2020 Accepted: 04.03.2021

OPEN ACCESS

Copyright 2022 by the Cyprus Turkish Medical Association / Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences published by Galenos Publishing House. Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License a gluten-free diet.<sup>1</sup> Also, as a protein constituting the main structure of flour, gluten contributes to the structure and appearance of many baked products. Thus, the removal of gluten from food products causes many gluten-free products in the market to be lower in quality and taste while higher in price.<sup>2,6</sup> Additionally, patients following a gluten-free diet are known to be exposed to nutrition that has high levels of fat and energy but low levels of nutrients such as iron, zinc, magnesium, calcium, vitamins D and B12, and folate.<sup>7-9</sup>

Although a gluten-free diet is considered to be a healthy diet in general, considering the potential of this diet to cause certain nutritional deficiencies, celiac patients should be aware when selecting gluten-free products that are both nutritious and economical in order to prevent any problems. This condition imposes an increased financial and emotional burdens on patients. In spite of this, no studies have been carried out in Turkey comparing gluten-free and gluten-containing products in terms of cost, energy, and content. Therefore, this study was designed to compare gluten-free products with gluten-containing products in terms of cost, energy and content.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Design of the Study

This study was planned as a descriptive-comparative research with the purpose of comparing packaged gluten-free products with glutencontaining products in terms of cost, energy, and nutrient content.

#### **Categorization of Food Products**

In this study, products with a label or in the statement of "gluten-free" on the packaging were categorized as gluten-free food products, while those without such a label or statement were considered as glutencontaining food products. According to the Communiqué for Food Products Suitable for Gluten Intolerance in the Turkish Food Codex,<sup>10</sup> a food product is labelled as "gluten-free" when the gluten level in food products produced for individuals with gluten intolerance does not surpass 20 mg/kg. According to the Turkish Food Codex Labelling and Consumer Information Communiqué,<sup>11</sup> it is mandatory to include the amount of energy and nutrients (fat, sugar, protein, salt) in 100 grams of food products on the packaging. In this study, the contents of energy, protein, fat, sugar and salt in 100 grams of both gluten-free and gluten-containing products sold in Antalya were compared. Also, a costcomparison for 100 grams was completed for these products. Five food categories representing the majority of packaged food products were used in selecting and comparing gluten-free and gluten-containing products based on traditional grain formulations. These food categories were: 1) flour, 2) bread and bakery products (cake, cookies, biscuits, pizza etc.), 3) pasta (pasta, noodles, vermicelli etc.), 4) snacks (chocolate, wafers, pretzels, chips, etc.), and 5) cereals.

#### Sample of the Study

For the purpose of comparing the nutrient content and costs of glutenfree and gluten-containing products, all of the gluten-free products sold in the five biggest supermarkets in Antalya were included in the "gluten-free" group and the same number of their equivalent "glutencontaining" products in the same categories were included in the sample. Thus, a total of 64 gluten-free food products in 5 categories sold in supermarkets included in the study and their equivalent 64 gluten-containing food products in the same categories were randomly selected. The two sub-catorgory sample sizes (64 and 64) provide the total sample size (128) proposed by Cohen in calculating the medium effect size for the statistical methods in which the difference between the two group averages was calculated.<sup>12</sup> The data were collected between August 2018 and September 2018 by the researchers in the designated supermarkets. Non-packaged bakery products and food products without a food label were not included in the sample. With the consideration of potential influences on the results, food products with the labels "no added sugar" or "low sodium" were not included in the sample. In stores where the same products or different sizes of the same products (with no difference in nutrient content) were sold, the product was counted only once and the average price of these products was taken. For products of different sizes, their prices for 100 grams were calculated and included in the sample. For this, the direct package price of the products with 100 grams packs was taken, and for those products larger than 100 grams, the cost for 100 grams was calculated by proportioning. Micronutrients, vitamins, minerals, and fiber in these food products were not included in this study.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) version 23 (Chicago, IL, USA) software was used in analysing the data. Number and percentage for the distribution of food groups; mean, standard deviation and Mann–Whitney U tests were used to compare the prices and nutritional content of gluten-containing and gluten-free foods. P<0.05 was accepted as statistically significant.

## RESULTS

Table 1 presents the distribution of food groups included in the sample by categories. As can be seen, 50% of the products are gluten-free and 50% are gluten-containing. The major group in these categories is bread and bakery products with 31.3%, and the smallest group is cereals with 9.4% (Table 1). A comparison of the mean prices of gluten-free and gluten-containing products in each category is presented in Table 2. The mean price of all gluten-free food groups was significantly higher than that of the gluten-containing group (p<0.01 for cereals, and p<0.001 for others) and the greatest price difference was seen in the snacks category, with a six-fold difference (Table 2).

Table 3 shows a comparison of nutrient amounts in gluten-containing and gluten-free products in each category. The protein level of gluten-free products in all categories except for cereals was found to be significantly lower compared to the gluten-containing products (p<0.01). Also, the amount of fat and sugar in gluten-free and gluten-

Table 1. Distribution of foods by grou	ups (n=128)						
	n	%					
Gluten content							
Gluten-containing	64	50.0					
Gluten-free	64	50.0					
Food group							
Flour	32	25.0					
Bread and bakery products	40	31.3					
Pasta group	24	18.8					
Snacks	20	15.6					
Breakfast cereals	12	9.4					
n: number.							

containing flour showed a significant difference (p<0.05). The average fat amount in gluten-free flour was lower while the amount of sugar was 22 times higher compared to gluten-containing flour. However, the amount of sugar in the gluten-free pasta group was lower than in the gluten-containing pasta group (p<0.01). In the cereal group, only the energy level showed a significant difference (p<0.05), with the energy of gluten-free cereal being lower. The nutrient amounts in gluten-free and gluten-containing products in other food categories did not show any significant differences (p>0.05).

### DISCUSSION

In this study comparing the content and prices of gluten-free and gluten-containing food products, only 64 gluten-free products were

accessed despite the fact that the biggest stores in Antalya were included in the sample. This situation may contribute to the difficulty of obtaining gluten-free products especially for those individuals with celiac disease or gluten allergy. In addition to the limited availability of gluten-free products, the higher prices of these products may also have a negative impact. This study shows that the prices of gluten-free products in each food category are higher and that the differences can be up to 6 times higher. Other studies have also shown similar results, revealing that gluten-free products are limited in availability and more costly.<sup>13,14</sup> Since gluten contributes to the appearance and texture of many baked products as it is the protein that forms the main structure of flour, removing gluten from foods causes many gluten-free products on the market to be lower in content and more expensive.<sup>2,6</sup>

Table 2. Prices of gluten-containing and gluten-	free food by groups (n=	:128)			
Food category	Gluten-containing foo (for 100 g)*	ds	Gluten-free foods (for 100 g)*		n value**
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	p-value
Flour	1.13	0.66	2.72	1.57	0.000
Bread and bakery products	2.04	1.37	9.47	6.28	0.000
Pasta group	0.85	0.77	2.45	2.33	0.000
Snacks	2.97	1.58	17.99	9.01	0.000
Breakfast cereals	2.83	0.66	9.73	2.98	0.004

\*Prices of 100 grams of food product have been compared. Prices were given in TL, \*\*The difference between the groups was evaluated by the Mann–Whitney U test and p<0.05, SD: standard deviation, n: number.

Table 3. Comparison of nutrients for gluten-containing and gluten-free products by food categories (n=128)											
Food category	Energy (kcal)		Protein (g)		Fat (g)		Sugar (g)		Salt (g)		
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	
Flour	'		'		'				·		
GC	349.86	18.92	11.09	4.85	6.31	7.30	0.20	0.49	0.02	0.04	
GF	355.48	22.40	3.82	3.03	4.05	6.29	4.36	8.56	0.23	0.41	
p-value*	0.336		0.000		0.021		0.018		0.056		
Bread and bakery products											
GC	435.90	91.90	7.17	2.55	18.00	9.17	20.39	12.64	0.77	0.37	
GF	432.65	111.64	3.64	1.95	18.89	10.16	16.63	12.49	0.65	0.51	
p-value*	0.957		0.000		0.685	0.273 0.		0.228			
Pasta group											
GC	353.42	9.81	12.06	1.08	1.93	1.14	3.21	1.17	0.02	0.03	
GF	354.38	8.25	9.51	2.81	1.74	0.88	2.27	1.61	0.03	0.08	
p-value*	0.523		0.000		0.523		0.004 0.322		0.322		
Snacks											
GC	474.53	49.47	8.22	1.63	20.77	8.57	23.21	16.76	1.17	0.95	
GF	489.00	56.33	3.97	2.23	23.57	8.69	19.80	18.93	1.29	1.04	
p-value*	0.427		0.001		0.326		0.545		0.910		
Breakfast cereals	Breakfast cereals										
GC	379.83	6.49	8.83	1.40	4.10	2.09	19.53	6.53	0.78	0.26	
GF	366.82	8.50	11.02	2.68	4.22	2.58	9.43	11.08	0.55	0.71	
p-value*	0.016		0.128		0.810		0.149		0.335		

The amounts of energy, protein, fat, sugar and salt in 100 grams of food product have been compared. \*The difference between the groups was evaluated by the Mann–Whitney U-test and p<0.05, GC: gluten-containing, GF: gluten-free, SD: standard deviation, n: number.

This study showed that gluten-free products in each category except for cereals contain lower protein levels. Other studies conducted in different countries have shown similar results, in which gluten-free products contained low levels of protein.13-16 As gluten constitutes a significant portion of the total protein content in grains, the finding of protein deficiency due to the removal of gluten from flourproducts is an expected result.<sup>10,17</sup> Although the level of protein in grains is around 10%, it provides the basic needs of a continually increasing population, particularly in developing countries, as a protein source.<sup>18</sup> At the same time, bread and bakery products in countries such as Turkey, in which the Mediterranean diet is dominant, constitute the widest part of the food pyramid as a fundamental carbohydrate and energy source.<sup>19</sup> Considering that the majority (56.3%) of the gluten-free products available on the market in our study area consist of flour and bakery products, the lack of protein in these products becomes more important. Using different sources of protein is an important way to bridge this gap. With this in mind, by using gluten-free grains, legumes, grain-like products (buckwheat, amaranth, and quinoa) and animal proteins in formulations, a variety of products with improved nutrients can be produced.6,20

It is known that gluten-free products contain more carbohydrates compared to gluten-containing products.<sup>21,22</sup> In this study, the amount of sugar contained in gluten-free flour was found to be 22 times greater than gluten-containing flour. In gluten-free bakery products, to eliminate the poor appearance and taste due to gluten removal, rice flour, rice bran, and brown rice flour that do not contain gluten protein are used rather than whole wheat flour.<sup>23</sup> However, as the need for daily calories and carbohydrates of individuals with celiac disease or gluten allergy is similar to that of the normal population, it is important to prevent problems that may occur as a result of excessive carbohydrate consumption.<sup>24</sup> Therefore, using natural products such as beans, legumes and starchy vegetables as alternatives to grains and using natural carbohydrate sources such as potatoes in lieu of gluten-free flour is recommended.<sup>25</sup>

One of the key findings in this study is that the average amount of sugar contained in gluten-free products in the five food categories except for flour was lower. At the same time, the average fat and energy amounts in products were found to be significantly lower in only one food category of the gluten-free products. Although previous studies reported that the amount of fat, sugar, salt, and energy in gluten-free products was higher, 14,25-27 this study showed no significant difference between gluten-free and gluten-containing products in the food groups in terms of these parameters. This may be a result of positive developments in the manufacturing sector towards eliminating the disadvantages of gluten-free products in recent years. For example, to eliminate the negative effect of gluten removal on the quality of pasta, the use of formulations such as xanthan gum, guar gum, casein, egg white or fermented peas rather than flour can explain why gluten-free pasta now has low sugar levels.<sup>28,29</sup> However, there are also studies reporting that the levels of sugar, fat, and energy in gluten-free products do not show significant differences compared to gluten-containing products.<sup>15,30</sup> This is especially important for individuals who must consume gluten-free diets, such as celiac patients, to maintain a healthy weight and protect themselves from complications due to excessive consumption of these nutrients.31

## CONCLUSION

Although not having gluten in food products is the main characteristic of a gluten-free diet, it can also lead to unintended results including nutritional deficiency and nutritional imbalance. However, having sufficient nutrient content in a gluten-free diet is important, particularly in children, because children are in constant need of maximum energy and food as they are growing, developing, and active. Thus, the nutrient quality of gluten-free products available on the market has received more attention in recent years. This study shows that the prices of gluten-free products are higher and that the number of available products on the market is limited. At the same time, the protein levels in gluten-free products are lower and the level of sugar in flour is significantly higher. That is why it is important to protect children and all individuals who follow a gluten-free diet from certain complications. Thus, it is important to raise awareness in parents, health care professionals working with children, and educators about the negative aspects of a gluten-free diet, alternative nutrition, and monitoring development.

In this study, gluten-free products in the food aisles of the largest supermarkets in Antalya were included in the sampling, and businesses such as small markets were not included. Therefore, the results of the study cannot be generalized to the whole food retail sector.

#### **MAIN POINTS**

- The number of gluten-free products on the market is limited and their prices are higher.
- The protein value in gluten-free products is very low.
- The amount of sugar (except for flour), fat, energy and salt in glutenfree products was not significantly higher than their counterparts.

#### ETHICS

**Ethics Committee Approval:** Ethics committee approval was received for this study from Akdeniz University Clinical Research Ethics Committee (decision no: 532, date: 25.07.2018).

**Informed Consent:** Informed consent is not necessary due to the nature of this study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

#### **Authorship Contributions**

Concept: A.M., E.K., Design: A.M., E.K., Supervision: A.M., Data Collection and/or Processing: E.K., Analysis and/or Interpretation: A.M., Literature Search: A.M., E.K., Writing: A.M., Critical Reviews: A.M., E.K.

#### DISCLOSURES

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The author declared that this study had received no financial support.

### REFERENCES

1. Gökmen Özel H. GIS Hastalıklarında Glutensiz Diyet. Ankara: Hacettepe Üniversitesi Sağlık Bilimleri Fakültesi Beslenme ve Diyetetik Bölümü; 2017.

- Jnawali P, Kumar V, Tanwar B. Celiac disease: Overview and considerations for development of gluten-free foods. Food Sci Hum Wellness. 2016; 5: 169-76.
- Sapone A, Bai JC, Ciacci C, Dolinsek j, Green PHR, Hadjivassiliou M, et al. Spectrum of gluten-related disorders: consensus on new nomenclature and classification. BMC Med. 2012; 10: 13.
- Rubio-Tapia A, Hill ID, Kelly CP, Calderwood AH, Murray JA; American College of Gastroenterology. ACG clinical guidelines: diagnosis and management of celiac disease. Am J Gastroenterol. 2013; 108(5): 656-76; quiz 677.
- Edward Bauman B, Friedlander J. Gluten Sensitivity: A Rising Concern. Bauman College: Holistic Nutrition and Culinary Arts; 2008. Available from: http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/ download?doi=10.1.1.698.9621&rep=rep1&type=pdf (Accessed on November 5, 2019).
- Gallagher E, Gormley TR, Arendt EK. Recent advances in the formulation of gluten-free cereal-based products. Trends Food Sci Techno. 2004; 15(3-4): 143-52.
- Matos ME, Rosell CM. Understanding gluten-free dough for reaching breads with physical quality and nutritional balance. J Sci Food Agric. 2015; 95(4): 653-61.
- Salazar Quero JC, Espín Jaime B, Rodríguez Martínez A, et al. Valoración nutricional de la dieta sin gluten. ¿Es la dieta sin gluten deficitaria en algún nutriente? [Nutritional assessment of gluten-free diet. Is gluten-free diet deficient in some nutrient?]. An Pediatr (Barc). 2015; 83(1): 33-9.
- Sharoba AM, Abd El-Salam AM, Hoda HH. Production and evaluation of gluten-free biscuits as functional foods for celiac disease patients. J Agroaliment Process Technol. 2014; 20(3): 203-14.
- 10. T.C. Başbakanlık Mevzuatı Geliştirme ve Yayın Genel Müdürlüğü. Türk Gıda Kodeksi Gluten İntoleransı Olan Bireylere Uygun Gıdalar Tebliği 2012. Available from: https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2012/01/20120104-8. htm (Accessed on November 5, 2019).
- T.C. Başbakanlık Mevzuatı Geliştirme ve Yayın Genel Müdürlüğü. Türk Gıda Kodeksi Gıda Etiketleme ve Tüketicileri Bilgilendirme Yönetmeliği 2017. Available from: https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/ eskiler/2017/01/20170126M1-6.htm (Accessed on November 5, 2019).
- 12. Cohen J. Statistical power analysis fort he behavioral sciences (2nd ed.). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum; 1988.
- 13. Allen B, Orfila C. The Availability and Nutritional Adequacy of Gluten-Free Bread and Pasta. Nutrients. 2018; 10(10): 1370.
- Fry L, Madden AM, Fallaize R. An investigation into the nutritional composition and cost of gluten-free versus regular food products in the UK. J Hum Nutr Diet. 2018; 31(1): 108-20.
- Cornicelli M, Saba M, Machello N, Silano M, Neuhold S. Nutritional composition of gluten-free food versus regular food sold in the Italian market. Dig Liver Dis. 2018; 50(12): 1305-8.

- Wu JH, Neal B, Trevena H, Crino M, Stuart-Smith W, Faulkner-Hogg K, et al. Are gluten-free foods healthier than non-gluten-free foods? An evaluation of supermarket products in Australia. Br J Nutr. 2015; 114(3): 448-54.
- 17. Jabri B, Kasarda DD, Green PH. Innate and adaptive immunity: the yin and yang of celiac disease. Immunol Rev. 2005; 206: 219-31.
- Panghal A, Khatkar BS, Singh U. Cereal proteins and their role in food industry. Indian Food Indus. 2006; 25(5): 58-62.
- T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı. Türkiye Beslenme Rehberi 2015 (TÜBER). Ankara: Alban Tanıtım Ltd.Şti. 2016. Available from: https://hsgm.saglik.gov.tr/depo/ birimler/saglikli-beslenme-hareketli-hayat-db/Yayinlar/rehberler/2015beslenme-rehberi.pdf
- Hegazy AI, Ibrahium MI. Production of Egyptian gluten-free bread. World J Dairy Food Sci. 2009; 4(2): 123-8.
- Caponio F, Summo C, Clodoveo ML, Pasqualone A. Evaluation of the nutritional quality of the lipid fraction of gluten-free biscuits. Eur Food Res Technol. 2008; 227(1): 135-9.
- Theethira TG, Dennis M, Leffler DA. Nutritional consequences of celiac disease and the gluten-free diet. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2014; 8(2): 123-9.
- 23. Özer M, Tuncel NB. Pirinç ve Pirinç Yan Ürünlerinin Glutensiz Tahıl Ürünlerinde Kullanımı. J Grad Sch Nat Appl Sci. 2016; 2(2): 29-44.
- 24. Penagini F, Dilillo D, Meneghin F, Mameli C, Fabiano V, Zuccotti GV. Glutenfree diet in children: an approach to a nutritionally adequate and balanced diet. Nutrients. 2013; 5(11): 4553-65.
- 25. Theethira TG, Dennis M. Celiac disease and the gluten-free diet: consequences and recommendations for improvement. Dig Dis. 2015; 33(2): 175-82.
- 26. Samasca G, Sur G, Lupan I, Deleanu D. Gluten-free diet and quality of life in celiac disease. Gastroenterol Hepatol Bed Bench. 2014; 7(3): 139-43.
- 27. Saturni L, Ferretti G, Bacchetti T. The gluten-free diet: safety and nutritional quality. Nutrients. 2010; 2(1): 16-34.
- 28. Sozer N. Rheological properties of rice pasta dough supplemented with proteins and gums. Food Hydrocolloids. 2009; 23(3): 849-55.
- Torres A, Frias J, Granito M, Vidal-Valverde C. Fermented pigeon pea (Cajanus cajan) ingredients in pasta products. J Agric Food Chem. 2006; 54(18): 6685-91.
- 30. Elliott C. The nutritional quality of gluten-free products for children. Pediatrics. 2018; 142(2): e20180525.
- Niland B, Cash BD. Health benefits and adverse effects of a gluten-free diet in non-celiac disease patients. Gastroenterol Hepatol (N Y). 2018; 14(2): 82-91.

## **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**

DOI: 10.4274/cjms.2020.2970 Cyprus | Med Sci 2022;7(2):234-240



## The Relationship of Between the COVID-19 Pandemic and Professional Belonging Levels of Student Midwives

Filiz Yarıcı<sup>1</sup>, Burcu Avcıbay Vurgeç<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Midwifery, Near East University Faculty of Health Sciences, Nicosia, Cyprus <sup>2</sup>Department of Midwifery, Cukurova University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Adana, Turkey

## ABSTRACT

BACKGROUND/AIMS: The relationship between the professional belonging levels of midwifery students and the effects of coronavirus disease 2019 on the social order and health system was evaluated.

MATERIALS AND METHODS: This planned cross-sectional and descriptive work was carried out as web-based study. The study was completed with 210 senior midwifery students at the undergraduate level who had volunteered to participate in this study.

**RESULTS:** Age, home, and family type are significant predictors of professional sense of belonging (p<0.05). The fact that being called to duty in cases of shortages of healthcare staff and a punishment system for a refusal to give care in terms of health policies are significant predictors of the level of professional belonging. Not finding it appropriate to invite students for duty in cases of a shortage of healthcare workers is associated with a higher level of professional belonging (p<0.05). The excess of relationship factors between the factors relating to education and the sense of belonging to other groups is striking. Feelings of inadequacy of being able to graduate, adequate professionalism, concerns about starting the profession, and satisfaction with this profession are significant predictors for the sense of professional belonging.

**CONCLUSION:** The levels of professional belonging of the student midwives are quite high. Health care policies in the pandemic process can affect this sense of belonging. Especially the changes, setbacks and adaptation processes experienced in education are important in terms of professional belonging. More findings are needed on how we can reinforce this awareness and emotion in the digital environment.

Keywords: Professional belonging, midwife, pandemic, COVID-19, education

## INTRODUCTION

The cause of the pneumonia cases, which first appeared in Wuhan, China towards the end of 2019, was identified as the new type coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) on January 7, 2020. COVID-19 was declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization (WHO) on March 11, 2020, due to a dramatic increase in the rate of cross-country spread, morbidity, and mortality (3.4%) across countries. Turkey's first case was announced on the same date. As a result of restrictions at the national level, the higher education board suspended education for 3 weeks as of March 16, 2020, and

education on digital platforms was resumed in all universities with distance education as of March 23, 2020.

As in many countries of the world, the pandemic in our country caused an interruption that led to rapid and dramatic changes in the nature of midwifery education. In the short term, it has led to different approaches being adopted in order to reduce the impact on theoretical and clinical training of the current midwifery students and to seek the best approaches for both midwifery students and lecturers during the COVID-19 pandemic. In Turkey,<sup>1</sup> vocational courses in midwifery education are carried out simultaneously with theoretical and clinical

To cite this article: Yarıcı F, Avcıbay Vurgeç B. The Relationship of Between the COVID-19 Pandemic and Professional Belonging Levels of Student Midwives. Cyprus | Med Sci 2022;7(2):234-240

#### ORCID iDs of the authors: F.Y. 0000-0003-2922-8685; B.A.V. 0000-0003-2467-5101



Address for Correspondence: Filiz Yarıcı E-mail: filiz atis01@hotmail.com: filiz.variciatis@neu.edu.tr ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0003-2922-8685

Received: 07.09.2020 Accepted: 23.10.2020

OPEN ACCESS

Copyright 2022 by the Cyprus Turkish Medical Association / Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences published by Galenos Publishing House. Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License

practice. In this process, in which patient interaction was completely stopped, training suddenly started to be given in a digital environment. The training was carried out on digital platforms, either live or recorded. Midwifery education in Turkey has various graduation criteria. For instance, 4th Grade midwifery student must have performed at least 40 normal vaginal births accompanied by a responsible instructor and a clinical midwife. Due to the closure of universities and the national restrictions imposed during the pandemic period and due to the fact that it is an "applied education", especially the development of practical skills of the midwifery students who are candidates to graduate was interrupted. These practical skills are now often being developed on digital platforms through training videos and case discussions. In this process, the basic graduation criteria are based on the requirements set by the European Union directives and the time to be completed. Midwifery students who completed these criteria have entered the workforce.

The impact of social distancing, staying at home, or working with women who are likely to be infected, with some shortcomings, on graduate students is thought-provoking. Some researchers state that one in five students felt more anxious or depressed than they were in the period before COVID-19.<sup>2</sup> Digitization, currently a clear necessity, can result in a loss of experience, which has the potential to significantly damage education.<sup>3</sup> In this context, Luyben et al.<sup>4</sup> points out that while policymakers grapple with decisions that will affect all of us, we have only a limited overview of what students are going through and what directions the virus is taking us in. In spite of the pandemic, there is an important issue in this context that midwifery trainees continue their efforts to obtain the required competencies and skills at the same level as before the interruption.

Medical education has a different education structure than nursing and midwifery professions which has an education system coordinated with the clinic. This pandemic process has underlined the importance of nurses and midwives, who are an indispensable part of the team. It is imperative to acknowledge that our most valuable resource in fighting this pandemic is nurses. Also, midwives, who are an important part of preventive public health services, have continued their duty to maintain maternal and child health with optimum care despite all difficulties. During this challenging process, many pregnant women (especially women with previous loss) stated that they were really afraid of becoming COVID-19 positive, with feelings of insecurity, and anxiousness. This means that women need more support and reassurance by all healthcare professionals, during pregnancy, childbirth, and puerperium.<sup>5</sup> For many midwives, the care given during labor and birth evokes images of a professional strengthening the first bonds of a new family, rubbing her back, dealing face to face with the woman, and holding her hand.6 However, it was not possible to provide care with this approach during the pandemic process. In this context, determining how the process affects the prospective graduate vocational school of health service students will allow us to make various predictions about these new groups who will join the workforce. Studies have been carried out during the COVID-19 period and past pandemics with students in the field of health (studies were conducted during the periods of SARS, Influenza, H1N1, MERS).7-15 In those studies, issues such as stress, coping strategies, educational problems, and voluntary work were often investigated. There is only a limited number of studies evaluating professional belonging in the research findings, and no

specific evaluated study was found.<sup>15</sup> Professional belonging defines a person's professional commitment as a psychological connection based on an affective response between the person and his or her profession.<sup>16</sup> A midwife's ownership of her profession, her willingness to take on her responsibilities towards her profession, her willingness to develop herself in the professional field, her belief in the values of her profession and her determination to continue her profession show the midwifery affiliation. A midwife with high professional belonging feels safer and happier in her professional journey. A midwife who does not have a professional belonging can turn to jobs that are not their own duty, they can avoid the workload and act intolerantly towards the patients they serve. Considering Maslow's hierarchy of needs, it can be seen that professional belonging has a very close relationship with the concepts of job satisfaction, and organizational and institutional commitment. In cases where there is job satisfaction or organizational and institutional commitment, professional belonging can also be considered high. In this context, factors affecting professional belonging can be summarized as follows; professional status, wage, teammates working together, working conditions, job security, public perception, the personality of the employee, conflict in the role, education, economic security, career opportunities, financial and moral rewards, participation in decisions, the work itself, the attitude of managers, and powers and responsibilities.<sup>17</sup> Increasing workloads, and uncertainties and concerns in the field of work during the pandemic process are thought to cause a loss of motivation among our colleagues and affect professional belonging.

In this study, the relationship between the professional belonging levels of midwifery students and the effects of COVID-19 on the social order and health system was evaluated. It is important to evaluate the factors that affect the feelings of professional competence of this group who participate in the workforce in extraordinary circumstances and their ability to cope with the forces that will be encountered in the health system in order to guide their education. In this process, to which we have not yet reached a solution, it is important to develop an awareness of professional belonging while adapting to the changes in education. It is a very unfamiliar issue to create this feeling in the students without them interacting with the patient or entering the care environment in the clinic. However, with a forward-looking point of view, it is possible to say that this has become a fundamental requirement for this occupation.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

### **Study Design and Sampling**

This planned cross-sectional, correlational and descriptive study was conducted as a web-based research between June 15–20, 2020. In line with the aim of this study, a purposive sample was selected and only 4<sup>th</sup>-grade students of the midwifery department studying at the undergraduate level were invited to take part in this study. The invitation to participate in this study was shared on the website of the student committee of the Anatolian Midwives Association, a national professional association. The target population of the study was 317 senior midwifery students who had enrolled in the student committee. It was aimed to reach the whole target population. The minimum sample size was calculated at a significance level of p < 0.05 at a 95% confidence interval. The sample size was calculated using the sampling formula with a known population. Research data on the level of professional

belonging of midwives reported in the study conducted by Baskaya et al.<sup>17</sup> were used, and the sample size was identified as 151. The study was completed with 210 students who volunteered to participate.

#### **Research Questions**

What is the level of professional belonging of the student midwives?

Can health care policies in the pandemic process affect this sense professional of belonging?

#### Data Collection

The data collection phase was conducted in an online environment. All quantitative data were collected using a web-based online survey form within a specified time period. Individuals who headed to the link address given in the introduction of the information about the study first encountered an illuminated consent section. Individuals who approved the information participated in the study by completing the research form. The completion time of the online form was 5 minutes on average.

#### Data Collection Tools

The online survey form consisted of two parts. The first part includes introductory features, and the second includes the "Midwifery Belonging Scale (MBS)" developed to determine the levels of professional belonging.

#### Introductory Information Form

The introductory information form was originally prepared by the researchers in line with the related literature.<sup>13,17</sup> In the first part of the introductory information form, introductory features such as age, class, marital status, socioeconomic characteristics, and information about attitudes towards the preference of the midwifery profession were present.

In the second part, there were factors that may be related to occupational belonging, which examines the pandemic process and the effects of the pandemic on healthcare professionals and education. The questions related to education were prepared in line with the academic researchers' own observations and experiences. Questions related to healthcare services were prepared in line with studies conducted in past pandemics and the news encountered in the media during this pandemic process.<sup>8-12</sup> The first draft of the form consisted of 32 questions. The questions were evaluated by an expert group and evaluated in terms of their similar meaning, understandability and expressions. The expert group consists of two faculty members from the midwifery department and an academic psychologist as an external observer. In line with the expert group reviews and suggestions, the form was finalized with 25 questions.

#### **Midwifery Belonging Scale**

To determine the level of professional belonging of midwives, a scale developed by Baskaya et al.<sup>17</sup> was used. MBS, consisting of 22 articles with four sub-dimensions in total, namely: Emotional belonging, performance of professional roles and responsibilities, professional development and utilization of opportunities, and limits of duty and authority in the profession. The scale items consist of 22 items, all of which are positive, scaled between 1–5 (ranging from "Absolutely disagree" to "Absolutely agree"). The scores that can be obtained from

this scale range between 22–110. The higher scores obtained from this scale are interpreted as meaning having high professional belonging. In the 2020 study of Baskaya et al.<sup>17</sup>, the Cronbach alpha ( $\alpha$ ) value of this scale was stated to be 0.905. The Cronbach alpha ( $\alpha$ ) value of this study was 0.902 and the item Cronbach alpha ( $\alpha$ ) values were between 0.892–0.910. This value is required to be at least 0.70.<sup>18</sup> As a result of the Cronbach alpha values obtained, the scale was seen to be statistically reliable.

#### Statistical Analysis

The data were analyzed using descriptive and parametric statistical analysis methods via the Statistical Program for Social Science 20.0 (SPSS) (IBM, Chicago, IL, USA). The descriptive characteristics of the participants, their attitudes, beliefs, and the related factors towards sexuality during pregnancy, their comfort levels during counseling, and related factors were analyzed as frequency and percentage. In the comparison of dependent and independent variables, Student's t-test was performed to determine the difference between two sets of data, and the One-Way ANOVA test was performed for the difference between three or sets of data. Multiple Linear Regression analysis was used to determine the relationship of dependent and independent variables with each other. Regression analysis results showed with regression coefficient ( $\beta$ ), coefficient of determination ( $R/R^2$ ), and goodness of fit of the model (F and p) values. The statistical significance level was taken as p<0.05.

#### **Ethical Considerations**

Ethics committee permission was taken from the Near East University Hospital Scientific Research Evaluation Ethics Committee before the research started (approval number: 2020/78-1054). The voluntary nature, the option to terminate at any time and anonymous quality of the study were stated to the participants in the illuminated consent section.

#### RESULTS

The average age of the students was  $22.48\pm1.76$  years. The majority of the students, almost all of whom (95.2%) are single, are members of a nuclear family, and approximately two-thirds stated that their income level is moderate. The rate of those who willingly choose to receive midwifery education is 66.2%, and the rate of satisfaction with their preference over the years is 87.6% (Table 1).

The findings regarding the situations of the students encountering a COVID-19 positive case, their concerns about healthcare workers in this process, their feelings of educational competence, and their feelings and thoughts about working conditions during the pandemic period are shown in Table 2. It seems that the students tend to think positively about volunteer work or being called to duty in cases of shortages of healthcare staff. 37.6% of them stated that the COVID-19 positive patient can be denied care, while 17.1% of them think that they should be punished in cases of refusal to care for a COVID-19 patient. The vast majority of the group stated that they could quit school if they were in the first year of their education, but for now, there were only three students who stated that they could quit the profession (Table 1).

The MBS total scores of students was  $98.42\pm10.24$  (minimum-maximum: 43-110). The mean scores of the subscales were as follows;  $31.83\pm3.76$  for emotional belonging,  $31.82\pm3.74$  for performance of

professional roles and responsibilities,  $16.95\pm2.48$  for professional development and utilization of opportunities and  $13.31\pm2.24$  for limits of duty and authority in the profession (Table 2).

The factors associated with professional belonging levels and the Multiple Linear Regression Analysis Model were examined in three groups: namely, introductory features, health policy, and educational. Age, home, and family type are descriptive characteristics; they are meaningful predictors of the sense of professional belonging (p < 0.05). The factors relating to volunteering, denial of care, and colleagues were included in the model under the heading of health policies. Of these factors, the fact that there is a system of punishment for being called to duty and refusing to work only in the event of incompetence are meaningful predictors of the level of professional belonging. Not finding it appropriate to invite students for duty in cases of shortages of healthcare workers is associated with a high level of professional belonging (p<0.05). Similarly, the belonging of those who find it inappropriate to be punished for rejection of care work increases. The high level of relationship factors between these factors relating to education and the sense of belonging to other groups is striking. The feeling of inadequacy to be able to graduate, adequate professionalism, concerns about starting the profession, and satisfaction with this profession are significant predictors to the sense of professional belonging (Table 3).

## DISCUSSION

In this study, factors affecting students' perspectives on their profession and their level of professional belonging due to the COVID-19 pandemic were researched. It was observed that the urgent change process emerging, especially in the form of education, was a factor affecting the level of professional belonging of the students. However, it was determined that positive attitudes towards health policies were positive predictors that affected the sense of professional belonging.

The average age of the students participating in this study was found to be  $22.48\pm1.76$  years, 66.2% of the students stated that they wanted to receive a midwifery education (Table 1). In the study conducted by Görgen and Bingöl<sup>19</sup> on nursing and midwifery students, 61.3% of

Table 1. Introductory information of participants (n=210)						
Variables		n (%)				
4.50	≥22	133 (63.3)				
Age	23 and above	77 (36.7)				
Maxital status	Single	200 (95.2)				
	Married	10 (4.8)				
Type of family	Nuclear	187 (89.0)				
Type of family	Extended	23 (11.0)				
	Good	34 (16.2)				
Perception of income level	Middle	161 (76.7)				
	Poor	15 (7.1)				
	Yes	139 (66.2)				
willingly	No	21 (10.0)				
	Partially	50 (23.8)				
	Yes	184 (87.6)				
Satisfaction with your choice	No	6 (2.9)				
	Partially	20 (9.5)				
n: number of participants.						

the students stated that they chose this department willingly. Again, in a similar study conducted by Söğüt et al.<sup>13</sup>, it was stated that the average age of the students was 21 years. These studies are in line with our findings. Research has shown that diseases such as coronavirus, which cause great devastation in societies, increase the rate of anxiety in people.<sup>20,21</sup> According to research conducted by the Mental Health Association in our country, 50% of the population stated that they were afraid of getting coronavirus; 59% of them stated that their worries about their health increased: 61% of them stated that their worries about their future increased: and 48% of them stated that their feeling of uneasiness increased.<sup>22</sup> These situations such as the students' stress levels, difficulties with accessing education, and COVID-19 positive cases around them were associated with an increase in the students' anxiety and difficulty in coping mechanisms.<sup>13,15,23</sup> It was observed that the students participating in the study have a tendency to think positively about volunteering or being invited to work in cases of shortages of health care staff. 37.6% of them stated that they can refuse care to a COVID-19 positive patient, while 17.1% of them think that they should be punished in such cases of refusal. The majority of the group stated

Table 2 Distribution of participants' various situations, attitudes and

feelings regarding the pandemic (n=210)							
Variables		n (%)					
	Yes	53 (25.2)					
COVID-19 positive person around him/her	No	157 (74.8)					
The person who died due to COVID-19	Yes	23 (11.0)					
around him/her	No	187 (89.0)					
	I will work	178 (84.8)					
Thoughts on volunteer work	I will not work	6 (2.9)					
	I am undecided	26 (12.4)					
Is it a professional responsibility to work	Yes	143 (68.1)					
voluntarily?	No	67 (31.9)					
Calling students for duty in case of shortage	Available	168 (80.0)					
of staff	Unavailable	42 (20.0)					
	I am worried	55 (26 2)					
What they feel for their working colleagues?	about them	155 (73.8)					
	They are heroes	155 (75.0)					
Can a health worker refuse care to a	Yes	79 (37.6)					
COVID-19 positive patient?	No	131 (62.4)					
Should he/she be punished if he/she refuses	Yes	36 (17.1)					
care to a COVID-19 patient?	No	174 (82.9)					
Does he/she continue his/her training in the	Yes	20 (9.5)					
first year of his/her education?	No	190 (90.5)					
	Yes	151 (71.9)					
Feeling competent to graduate	No	24 (11.4)					
	Partially	35 (16.7)					
	Yes	60 (28.6)					
Feeling professional	No	86 (41.0)					
	Partially	64 (30.5)					
	Yes	105 (50.0)					
Anxiety about starting a profession	No	79 (37.6)					
	Partially	26 (12.4)					
Quitting the profession due to the pandamic	Yes	3 (1.4)					
Quitting the profession due to the pandemic	No	207 (98.6)					
COVID-19: coronavirus disease 2019, n: number o	f participants.						

that if they were in their first year of education, they could drop out of school (Table 2). Although stress levels and associated emotional changes were not examined in this study, we think that these variables may be related to professional belonging levels.

Monforte-Royo and Fuster<sup>24</sup> stated that in the year celebrating Florence Nightingale's 200th birthday and designated as "the International Year of Nurses and Midwives" by the WHO, all students who graduated as midwifery nurses during the COVID-19 epidemic could be called 'coronial'.24 This coronial group was deprived of the intensive clinical experience and responsibility for further practice, especially in the final 3 months of their training. The transition from student to qualified professional life is a complex phenomenon. Various studies mention that the first year of work is difficult for new graduates. It has been stated that they experience stress as a result of their expectations and the team's expectations from them, with the struggle to make the right decisions, and to adapt to a high workload.<sup>25,26</sup> These students have never seen such high rates of patient death, and have never had to work in a health system and its chaotic conditions where treatment protocols are constantly updated. In addition, they have not had experiences such as a fear of being infected, feeling unprepared to work in the midst of a pandemic, pressure to provide care, and isolation from their families to avoid exposing them to the risk of infection. All these are factors that can affect the level of professional belonging and the feelings, thoughts, and attitudes associated with starting their profession. Among the students participating in this study, the fact that there is only a punishment system for recruitment and refusal of care is one of the significant predictors of the level of occupational affiliation, and in cases of a shortage of healthcare workers, it was found that

this was associated with a high level of occupational belonging (p<0.05). Similarly, the belonging of those who find it inappropriate to be punished for refusal to care for COVID-19 patients increases. The relationship between the factors relating to education and the sense of belonging to other groups is striking. The inability to graduate, the feeling of adequate professionalism, concerns about starting the profession and satisfaction with this profession are significant predictors of the sense of professional belonging (Table 3). Dos Santos<sup>27</sup> stated in his qualitative study that financial factors are effective in the sense of belonging and career plans of student nurses who will graduate during the pandemic process. Contrary to this data, our study findings showed that the perception of the economic level was not a meaningful predictor of a sense of professional belonging. As noted in many studies in the literature, unwillingness to enter a profession is associated with a low sense of belonging.<sup>28-31</sup> Hence, the findings of this study are in line with this.

According to these findings, midwifery students were mostly willing to work voluntarily and believed that this was a professional responsibility. However, these are not significant predictors of professional belonging. On the other hand, the sense of belonging of those who stated that it would be appropriate to be invited in case of staff shortages was approximately 3 times higher. Herman et al.<sup>7</sup>, in their study during the influenza epidemic, mentioned an increase in the risk of contracting the disease, although it was encouraging that healthcare students believed that they had an obligation to volunteer during a pandemic. In a study with midwives on Ebola, a previous regional epidemic, it stated that in addition to the fear of being infected with the virus, the public had to deal with the fear of this infectious disease. They stated

Table 3. Multiple linear regression analysis model of predictive factors of professional belonging level of participants (n=210)									
Factoria	В	SE B	β	t	р	95% CI for B		Model summary	
Factors						Lower	Upper	R/R <sup>2</sup>	Ф/р
Demographic									
Age	-3.787	1.427	-0.178	-2.653	0.009	-6.601	-0.973		
Family type	-6.624	2.203	-0.202	-3.007	0.003	-10.967	-2.281	R=0.288	F=3.690
Economic level	1.160	1.451	-0.054	-0.800	0.425	-4.022	1.701	R <sup>2</sup> =0.083	p=0.003
Covid positive person	1.916	1.791	-0.081	-1.070	0.286	-5.447	1.614		
The person who died due to COVID-19	1.260	2.483	0.038	0.507	0.612	-3.636	6.156		
Health policy Voluntary work Volunteering responsibility Being called for duty in cases of staff shortages Feeling of colleague Positive case care denial Penalty for denial of care	-1.760 -2.141 3.836 -1.984 -3.150 4.915	1.065 1.752 1.596 1.509 1.933 2.372	-0.115 -0.084 0.165 -0.094 -0.116 0.141	-1.652 -1.222 2.404 -1.314 -1.630 2.072	0.100 0.223 <b>0.017</b> 0.190 0.105 <b>0.040</b>	-3.860 -5.596 0.690 -4.960 -6.961 0.238	0.340 1.314 6.982 0.992 0.661 9.592	R=0.312 R <sup>2</sup> =0.097	F=3.653 p=0.002
Education Will he/she continue his/her education in his/her first year? Feeling competent to graduate Feeling professional Anxiety about starting the profession Choosing the midwifery department willingly Satisfaction with your choice	-0.583 -2.563 3.449 13.049 -1.457 -4.823	0.832 0.829 0.900 5.345 0.751 1.074	-0.043 -0.193 0.234 0.151 -0.121 -0.284	-0.700 -3.092 3.830 2.441 -1.940 -4.489	0.485 0.002 0.000 0.015 0.054 0.000	-2.224 -4.198 1.673 2.510 -2.937 -6.942	1.058 -0.929 5.224 23.588 0.024 -2.705	R=0.501 R <sup>2</sup> =0.251	F=11.322 p<0.001
Significant values are shown in bold.									

CI: confidence interval, SE: standard error, COVID-19: coronavirus disease 2019, n: number

that the fear of being a risk to their families, which they coped with in different ways, was another important source of stress.<sup>32</sup> The fact that all participants stated that they would not hesitate to provide care in the event of encountering a COVID-19 positive pregnant woman and the fact that there were few concerns about starting their profession suggests that they ignore some risks in this process, which they are still alien to. This is an extremely positive reflection of their high sense of professional belonging.

It was an interesting and impressive result of this study that those who did not feel competent to graduate had higher levels of professional belonging. In applied professions, the patient-healthcare professional relationship is an emotional one. Although the system continues theoretically, the lack of practice in the clinic reinforces a sense of inadequacy for students with a high sense of belonging. In such extraordinary times, there is little specific information about treatment and care, especially in the initial phase. Current protocols cannot provide clear guidance on many of the practical and ethical dilemmas they will face. Infection control procedures are often restrictive, strict and leave limited opportunities to improve the level of care of pregnant women during pandemic times, especially for midwives, who inherently involve cooperation and touch with pregnant woman as part of their duties. These limitations might help develop professional creative skills, as noted by Erland and Dahl.<sup>32</sup> This pandemic is a process in which changes and rapid adaptation to this change is occurring in many areas. We think that these difficult conditions will lead individuals with a high awareness of professional belonging to think more analytically and practically.

## CONCLUSION

The level of professional belonging of student midwives is quite high.

More studies are needed on how we can consolidate this consciousness and emotion in the digital environment. In addition to this, we recommend conducting online meetings, symposiums or social activities to improve students' sense of occupational belonging, as well as conducting studies that evaluate this group, who joined the workforce under extraordinary conditions, in terms of concepts such as burnout, post-traumatic stress, professional satisfaction and professional adaptation.

## **MAIN POINTS**

- Socio-demographic factors such as age and family type are predictors of a sense of belonging.
- Health care policies in the pandemic process can affect the sense of belonging.
- Especially the processes of change, failures and adaptation in education are important in terms of professional belonging.

The reason for having a high sense of belonging of senior students can be because we do many stages of education in a face-to-face environment.

#### **ETHICS**

**Ethics Committee Approval:** Ethics committee approval was obtained from the Near East University Hospital Scientific Research Evaluation Ethics Committee (approval number: 2020/78-1054).

**Informed Consent:** Written informed consent was obtained from the who participated in this study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

#### Authorship Contributions

Concept: F.Y, B.A.V., Design: F.Y., B.A.V., Supervision: F.Y., B.A.V., Data Collection and/or Processing: F.Y., B.A.V., Analysis and/or Interpretation: F.Y., B.A.V., Literature Search: F.Y. B.A.V., Writing: F.Y. B.A.V., Critical Reviews: F.Y. B.A.V.

## DISCLOSURES

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The author declared that this study had received no financial support.

## REFERENCES

- 1. Furuta M. 2020 International year of midwifery-in the midst of a pandemic. Midwifery. 2020; 87: 102739.
- 2. University Ghent, 2020. Studying is the time of your life! Also during Corona?. Available from: https://www.ugent.be/nl/actueel/studerentijdenscorona. htm
- 3. Rose S. Medical student education in the time of COVID-19. JAMA. 2020; 323(21): 2131-2.
- 4. Luyben A, Fleming V, Vermeulen J. Midwifery education in COVID-19- time: Challenges and opportunities. Midwifery. 2020; 89: 102776.
- 5. O'Connell M, Crowther S, Ravaldi C, Homer C. Midwives in a pandemic: A call for solidarity and compassion. Women Birth. 2020; 33(3): 205-6.
- Murphy PA. Midwifery in the time of COVID-19. J Midwifery Womens Health. 2020; 65(3): 299-300.
- Herman B, Rosychuk RJ, Bailey T, Lake R, Yonge O, Marrie TJ. Medical students and pandemic influenza. Emerg Infect Dis. 2007; 13(11): 1781-3.
- Park SW, Jang HW, Choe YH, Lee KS, Ahn YC, Chung MJ, et al. Avoiding student infection during a Middle East respiratory syndrome (MERS) outbreak: a single medical school experience. Korean J Med Educ. 2016; 28(2): 209-17.
- 9. Rega P, Bork C, Chen Y, Woodson D, Hogue P, Batten S. Using an H1N1 vaccination drive-through to introduce healthcare students and their faculty to disaster medicine. Am J Disaster Med. 2010; 5(2): 129-36.
- Hayter M, Jackson D. Pre-registration undergraduate nurses and the COVID-19 pandemic: Students or workers? J Clin Nurs. 2020; 29(17-18): 3115-6.
- Huang L, Lei W, Xu F, Liu H, Yu L. Emotional responses and coping strategies in nurses and nursing students during Covid-19 outbreak: A comparative study. PLoS One. 2020; 15(8): e0237303.
- Savitsky B, Findling Y, Ereli A, Hendel T. Anxiety and coping strategies among nursing students during the covid-19 pandemic. Nurse Educ Pract. 2020; 46: 102809.
- 13. Sögüt S, Dolu İ, Cangöl E. The relationship between COVID-19 knowledge levels and anxiety states of midwifery students during the outbreak: A cross-sectional web-based survey. Perspect Psychiatr Care. 2021; 57(1): 246-52.
- 14. Mechili EA, Saliaj A, Kamberi F, Girvalaki C, Peto E, Patelarou AE, et al. Is the mental health of young students and their family members affected during the quarantine period? Evidence from the COVID-19 pandemic in Albania. J Psychiatr Ment Health Nurs. 2021; 28(3): 317-25.

- Rojas-Silva J, Damacen-Oblitas V, Castro-Gomez D, Rojas-Vega J, Barja-Ore J, Vila-Arevalo R, et al. Hospital practice in COVID-19 times: Perceptions of the midwifery interns in Peru. [Preprint] medRxiv. 2020. DOI:10.1101/2020.06.05.20094482
- Lee K, Carswell JJ, Allen NJ. A meta-analytic review of occupational commitment: relations with person- and work-related variables. J Appl Psychol. 2000; 85(5): 799-811.
- Baskaya Y, Sayıner FD, Filiz Z. How much do I belong to my profession? A scale development study: Midwifery Belonging Scale. Health Care Women Int. 2020; 41(8): 883-98.
- 18. Gürbüz S, Şahin F. Research methods in social sciences. Ankara: Seçkin Publishing. 2015.
- Görgen Ö, Bingöl G. Investigation of the level of Satisfaction of Amasya University Health School Students. Balıkesir Health Sciences Journal. 2016; 5(3): 116-22.
- Zulkifli NA, Sivapatham S, Guan NC. Brief psychotic disorder in relation to coronavirus, COVID-19 outbreaks: a case report. Malaysian J Psychiatry. 2020; 29(1). Available from: https://www.mjpsychiatry.org/index.php/mjp/ article/view/534/411 (Accessed on September 2020)
- Ho CS, Chee CY, Ho RC. Mental health strategies to combat the psychological impact of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) Beyond Paranoia and Panic. Ann Acad Med Singap. 2020; 49(3): 155-60.
- 22. Mental Health Association. (2020). Available from: https://ruhsagligidernegi. org/etiket/korona-virusu/ (Accessed March 25, 2020).
- Rojas-Vega J, Castro-Gomez D, Damacen-Oblitas V, Rojas-Silva J, Moquillaza V. El retorno a la universidad durante la pandemia: Perspectivas en una escuela pública de obstetricia. Horizonte Médico (Lima), 21(2), e1513.
- Monforte-Royo C, Fuster P. Coronials: Nurses who graduated during the COVID-19 pandemic. Will they be better nurses? Nurse Educ Today. 2020; 94: 104536.

- 25. Dyess SM, Sherman RO. The first year of practice: new graduate nurses' transition and learning needs. J Contin Educ Nurs. 2009; 40(9): 403-10.
- Pimmer C, Abiodun R, Daniels F, Chipps J. "I felt a sense of belonging somewhere". Supporting graduates' job transitions with WhatsApp groups. Nurse Educ Today. 2019; 81: 57-63.
- Dos Santos LM. How Does COVID-19 Pandemic influence the sense of belonging and decision-making process of nursing students: the study of nursing students' experiences. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2020; 17(15): 5603.
- Toker E, Turan Z, Seçkin Z. Professional organization status, job satisfaction and determination of burnout levels of midwives working in a hospital. Health & Community. 2020; 20(1): 89-97.
- Tarcan M, Hikmet N, Schooley B, Top M, Tarcan GY. An analysis of the relationship between burnout, socio-demographic and workplace factors and job satisfaction among emergency department health professionals. Appl Nurs Res. 2017; 34: 40-7.
- 30. Tavakoli N, Shaker SH, Soltani S, Abbasi M, Amini M, Tahmasebi A, et al. Job burnout, stress, and satisfaction among emergency nursing staff after health system transformation plan in Iran. Emerg (Tehran). 2018; 6(1): e41.
- Salas-Vallina A, Alegre J, Guerrero RF. Happiness at work in knowledgeintensive contexts: Opening the research agenda. Eur Res Manag Bus Econ. 2018; 24(3): 149-59.
- 32. Erland E, Dahl B. Midwives' experiences of caring for pregnant women admitted to ebola centres in Sierra Leone. Midwifery. 2017; 55: 23-8.



## Assessment of ELR, NLR, MPV, and CRP Levels in Patients With Acne Vulgaris

Munise Daye<sup>1</sup>, Selami Aykut Temiz<sup>1</sup>, Elif Nur Yıldırım Öztürk<sup>2</sup>, Begüm Işık<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Dermatology, Necmettin Erbakan University Meram Medical Faculty, Konya, Turkey <sup>2</sup>Department of Public Health, Necmettin Erbakan University Meram Medical Faculty, Konya, Turkey

## ABSTRACT

**BACKGROUND/AIMS:** Acne vulgaris is a chronic inflammatory disease of the pilosebaceous unit. The relationship between some of the hematological parameters active in inflammation such as the neutrophil/lymphocyte ratio (NLR), the mean platelet volume (MPV), and C-reactive protein (CRP) has been demonstrated. In recent years, eosinophil cells have been shown to be associated with inflammation, and the eosinophil/lymphocyte ratio (ELR) has been shown to be an indicator of inflammation in some diseases. In this study, we aimed to evaluate the relationship between the ELR, NLR, MPV, and CRP levels, which are indicators of systemic inflammation, with acne severity parameters in patients with acne vulgaris.

**MATERIALS AND METHODS:** A prospective study was planned with patients in our clinic who were diagnosed with acne vulgaris, who required routine blood parameters, and whose global acne score was calculated. The relationship between these parameters, which are an indicator of systemic inflammation and acne severity, was investigated.

**RESULTS:** In our findings, MPV was found to be the strongest hematological marker for acne severity and inflammation. There was a significant difference between acne severity and ELR, and this difference was higher in the severe acne group.

**CONCLUSION:** As far as we are aware, there has been no study on ELR levels in acne to date; this is the first study to evaluate this rate. Based on our findings, it is thought that ELR increases with the severity of acne and can be accepted as an indicator. In this context, we believe that there is a need for controlled studies involving the role of eosinophils in blood, tissue, and inflammation in the pathogenesis of acne. It is possible that the role of eosinophils in pathogenesis will explain itch-dominated acne patients and may also lead to the development of new targets for treatment.

Keywords: Acne vulgaris, eosinophil/lymphocyte ratio, neutrophil/lymphocyte ratio

## INTRODUCTION

Acne vulgaris can be seen in all age groups. It is a chronic inflammatory disease of the pilosebaceous unit that usually affects about 85% individuals during the adolescent period.<sup>1</sup> In the etiopathology of acne, the increase in sebum production, follicular epidermal hyperprofillation, inflammation and propionibacterium acnes are relevant.<sup>2</sup>

In recent years, the relationship between acne vulgaris and some hematological parameters active in inflammation such as neutrophils, lymphocytes, and platelets has been demonstrated.<sup>3</sup> In addition, it has been shown that parameters such as neutrophil/lymphocyte ratio (NLR), mean platelet volume (MPV), C-reactive protein and (CRP) are accepted as indicators of inflammation and acne vulgaris.<sup>3</sup>

To cite this article: Daye M, Temiz SA, Yıldırım Öztürk EN, Işık B. Assessment of ELR, NLR, MPV, and CRP Levels in Patients With Acne Vulgaris. Cyprus J Med Sci 2022;7(2):241-244

ORCID iDs of the authors: M.D. 0000-0002-6614-1821; S.A.T. 0000-0003-4878-0045; E.N.Y.Ö. 0000-0003-1447-9756; B.I. 0000-0003-1462-3869.



Address for Correspondence: Selami Aykut Temiz E-mail: aykutmd42@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0003-4878-0045

Received: 31.03.2020 Accepted: 11.01.2021

Copyright 2022 by the Cyprus Turkish Medical Association / Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences published by Galenos Publishing House. Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License In recent years, eosinophil cells have also been associated with inflammation, and the eosinophil/lymphocyte ratio (ELR) has been shown to be an indicator of inflammation in some diseases.<sup>4</sup> There is no study in the literature showing the relationship between acne vulgaris and ELR. In this study, we aimed to evaluate the relationship between ELR, NLR, MPV, and CRP levels with acne severity in terms of both their role in inflammation and their role in pathogenesis in patients with acne vulgaris.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

A prospective study was planned with volunteers who were diagnosed with acne vulgaris in our clinic who required routine blood parameters and whose global acne score was calculated. In the sample size calculation made by G power analysis, we planned to include at least 76 cases with a 95% confidence interval, a 5% error margin, and an 80% power. Informed consent was obtained from the patients. Patients with hematological and systemic diseases who used medication for a chronic disease and who were smokers or used alcohol and/or illegal substances were excluded.

ELR, NLR, MPV, and CRP levels were obtained from hematological and biochemical parameters. Global acne score values, and, in accordance with this value, mild, moderate, severe, and very severe acne groups were defined. The study was approved by Local Ethics Committee of Necmettin Erbakan University (date: 2019, number: 1936).

#### Statistical Analysis

The IBM<sup>®</sup> SPSS<sup>®</sup> Statistics Version 16.0 (Chicago, IL, USA) statistical program was used to analyze the data. The relationships between numerical data were evaluated by an independent samples t-test, a One-Way analysis of variance, and a Pearson correlation coefficient in cases where normality assumptions were provided and nonparametric responses of the same tests in cases where normality was not achieved. The relationships between categorical variables were determined by a chi-square test. For statistical significance, cases where p-value was less than 0.05 were considered significant.

#### RESULTS

Of the 76 cases of individuals aged 16-35, 49 were women. The mean age of the patients was  $20.78\pm5.62$  years, and the mean global acne score was  $30.54\pm7.89$ . According to the global acne score, 6 (7.9%) of the cases had mild acne, 28 (36.8%) had moderate acne, 35 (46.1%) had severe acne, and 7 (9,2%) had very severe acne.

There was no significant difference between the eosinophil/lymphocyte ratio and the CRP levels in independent groups when mild/moderate and severe/very severe acne groups were analyzed according to global acne severity (p>0.05); the neutrophil/lymphocyte ratio (p=0.022) and the MPV levels (p=0.007) were significantly different between the groups (Table 1).

There were no significant differences in the neutrophil/lymphocyte ratio and the CRP levels between the four groups (mild, moderate, severe, very severe) according to their global acne severity (p>0.05). However, eosinophil/lymphocyte ratios (p=0.040), and MPV levels (p=0.014) were significantly different between the groups (Table 2). When paired group comparisons were made, it was found that the difference between severe and very severe acne groups was caused by

the eosinophil/lymphocyte ratio (Z= -2.449, p=0.014). The difference for MPV was found to be due to the MPV ratio between the mild and severe acne groups (p=0.007).

## DISCUSSION

Systemic inflammation is responsible for comorbidities in many diseases,<sup>5</sup> and these comorbidities are thought to be correlated with the severity of the systemic inflammation.<sup>6</sup> Studies have shown that some hematological parameters active in inflammation such as neutrophil and platelet and values such as the neutrophil/lymphocyte ratio (NLR) and the mean platelet volume (MPV) are indicative of inflammation.<sup>3,6,7</sup> There is also inflammation in the etiopathogenesis of acne vulgaris.<sup>1</sup>

CRP is one of the most well-known inflammatory markers and has been studied in many inflammatory diseases.<sup>8-10</sup> However, in the literature, no significant difference was found between groups with acne vulgaris and control groups in terms of CRP and it could not be associated with disease severity.<sup>8</sup> In our study, in accordance with the literature, no significant difference was found between the severity of acne vulgaris and CRP between the groups.

Neutrophils initiate the first step of defense in systemic inflammation.<sup>11</sup> The NLR value is an important parameter. It is obtained by dividing the total number of neutrophils by the number of lymphocytes. It has been shown that the NLR increases in many diseases with systemic inflammation.<sup>7,11,12</sup> It was found that the rate of NLR in acne inversa was higher compared to the control group.<sup>12</sup> In the literature, changes in the NLR rates after isotretinoin have been investigated in acne vulgaris patients; while some researchers have not observed a significant difference,<sup>13,14</sup> in other studies, it has been shown that NLR is significantly higher in acne cases compared to control groups and that it regresses with effective treatment.<sup>15</sup> In our study, the severity of acne vulgaris was compared to NLR, and there was a significant difference between severe/very severe and mild/moderate acne groups, but there was no significant difference when these acne groups were compared as quads.

Platelets are small discoid cells with an average life of approximately 8–10 days.<sup>16</sup> The MPV value is a marker for the function and activation of platelets.<sup>17</sup> A high MPV value indicates increased platelet production, and a low value indicates decreased production.<sup>18</sup> Increased MPV has been shown in low-grade severe inflammatory conditions such as recurrent aphthous stomatitis, Behcet's disease, psoriasis, and chronic hepatitis B.<sup>19</sup> These measurements showed that the MPV was directly related to the inflammatory grade. It has been observed that MPV values decrease with isotretinoin treatment in patients with acne vulgaris.<sup>20,21</sup> However, it is unclear whether the decrease in MPV value is due to decreased inflammation or bone marrow suppression. In the literature, there is no direct study investigating the relationship between the severity of the acne vulgaris disease and MPV. In our study, a significant difference was found between the acne vulgaris severity and MPV in both pair and quadruple groups. We think that the MPV value can be monitored in acne vulgaris severity follow-up.

Eosinophils are primarily white blood cells that play a very important role in the pathogenesis of allergic reactions.<sup>22</sup> In recent years, the role of eosinophils and the eosinophil/lymphocyte ratio in showing systemic inflammation has been discussed in many studies.<sup>4,22,23</sup> It was reported to be effective in demonstrating stent restenosis.<sup>4</sup> It has been reported

that the ELR is higher in patients with nasal polyposis compared to a control group.<sup>22</sup> Increased ELR was also detected in smokers.<sup>23</sup> There are no studies investigating the role of eosinophils in tissue and whole blood in acne cases in the literature. The role of eosinophils in the pathogenesis of acne is not fully understood. In our study, there was no significant difference between the pairs of severe-very severe and mild-moderate severe groups classified according to global acne severity. However, when the groups of four were compared, a significant difference was found, the difference being that the ELR value in the severe acne group was high. Based on these values, it is thought that ELR increases with the severity of acne and can be accepted as an indicator. In this context, we believe that there is a need for controlled studies involving the role of eosinophils in blood, tissue, and inflammation in

the pathogenesis of acne. It is possible that the role of eosinophils in the pathogenesis of acne will lead to a better understanding of itchdominated acne patients and may also lead to the development of new targets for treatment.

## CONCLUSION

According to our findings, MPV was found to be the most powerful hematologic marker for acne severity and inflammation. As far as we are aware, there has been no study of ELR levels in acne to date, and this is the first study to evaluate this rate. In conclusion, we think that the ratio of MPV and ELR may be a follow-up indicator for acne vulgaris severity.

Table 1. Analysis of mild to moderate and severe to very severe acne groups according to global acne severity								
Devemeters		Global Ad						
Parameters	Mild-moderate severe	Severe-very severe	p-value					
	Mean $\pm$ standard deviation	0.87±0.93	1.28±1.45					
CRP	Median (min–max)	0.69 (0.00–4.60)	0.85 (0.10–5.60)	0.753				
	Mean $\pm$ standard deviation	10.07±0.67	10.49±0.69					
МРУ	Median (min–max)	10.00 (9.00–11.90)	10.30 (9.30–12.00)	0.007				
	Mean $\pm$ standard deviation	0.08±0.15	0.07±0.03					
Eosinophil/Lymphocyte ratio	Median (min–max)	0.05 (0.02–0.94)	0.06 (0.03–0.15)	0.234				
	Mean $\pm$ standard deviation	1.59±0.62	1.98±0.70					
Neutrophil/Lymphocyte ratio	Median (min–max)	1.51 (0.14–3.13)	2.06 (0.75–3.53)	0.022				
Significant p-values are shown in bold.								

CRP: C-reactive protein, MPV: mean platelet volume, min: minimum, max: maximum.

Table 2. Analysis of the groups of mild, moderate, severe, and very severe acne according to global acne severity in four groups								
Parameters		Global Acne Score						
		Mild	Moderate	Severe	Very severe	p-value		
CRP	Mean ± standard deviation	1.20±1.70	0.81±0.71	1.27±1.54	1.36±1.03	0.740		
	Median (min– max)	0.45 (0.27–4.60)	0.80 (0.00–2.56)	0.30 (0.10–5.60)	1.10 (0.10–2.80)			
MPV	Mean ± standard deviation	9.81±0.29	10.13±0.72*	10.55±0.71*	10.17±0.53			
	Median (min– max)	9.75 (9.50–10.30)	10.00 (9.00–11.90)*	10.40 (9.30–12.00)*	10.00 (9.70–11.00)	0.014		
Eosinophil/Lymphocyte ratio	Mean ± standard deviation	0.06±0.03	0.09±0.17	0.07±0.03**	0.04±0.02**			
	Median (min– max)	0.05 (0.02–0.13)	0.05 (0.02–0.94)	0.07 (0.03–0.15)**	0.03 (0.03–0.11)**	0.040		
Neutrophil/Lymphocyte ratio	Mean ± standard deviation	1.15±0.62	1.69±0.58	2.03±0.72	1.74±0.61	0.054		
	Median (min– max)	1.35 (0.14–1.81)	1.54 (1.05–3.13)	2.07 (0.92–3.53)	1.71 (0.75–2.69)	0.054		
The groups marked with * ** and under	scored indicate the o	troups from which the	difference originates Signifi	cant n-values are shown in hol	d			

The groups marked with \*, \*\*, and underscored indicate the groups from which the difference originates. Significant p-values are shown in bold. CRP: C-reactive protein, MPV: mean platelet volume, min: minimum, max: maximum.

### **MAIN POINTS**

- According to our findings, MPV was found to be the most powerful hematologic marker for acne severity and inflammation.
- As far as we are aware, there has been no study of ELR levels in acne to date, and this is the first study to evaluate this rate. When the groups of four were compared, a significant difference was found, the difference being that the ELO value in the severe acne group was high. Based on these values, it is thought that ELO increases with the severity of acne and can be accepted as an indicator. In this context, we believe that there is a need for controlled studies involving the role of eosinophils in blood, tissue, and inflammation in the pathogenesis of acne.
- It is possible that the role of eosinophils in the pathogenesis of acne will lead to a better understanding of itch-dominated acne patients and may also lead to the development of new targets for treatment.
- In conclusion, we think that the ratio of MPV and ELO may be a follow-up indicator for acne vulgaris severity.

#### ETHICS

**Ethics Committee Approval:** The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Necmettin Erbakan University (date: 2019, number: 1936).

Informed Consent: Informed consent was obtained from the patients.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

#### **Authorship Contributions**

Conception: M.D., S.A.T., Design: M.D., S.A.T., Supervision: M.D., S.A.T., Analysis and/or Interpretation: M.D., S.A.T., E.N.Y.Ö., B.I., Literature Search: M.D., S.A.T., E.N.Y.Ö., B.I., Writing: S.A.T., E.N.Y.Ö., B.I., Critical Review: M.D., S.A.T.

#### DISCLOSURES

**Financial Disclosure:** The author declared that this study had received no financial support.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Bhate K, Williams HC. Epidemiology of acne vulgaris. Br J Dermatol. 2013; 168(3): 474-85.
- Şendur N. Akne Vulgarisin Epidemiyolojisi. Turkiye Klinikleri Dermatology-Special Topics. 2016; 9(2): 10-4.
- Ozuguz P, Ulu MS, Kacar SD, Ozuguz U, Karaca S. Does isotretinoin (ISO) Therapy Increase Coagulation Tendency? Evaluation of MPV values and MPV/platelet rate. Indian J Clin Exp Dermatol. 2015; 1(1): 14-6.
- Bilik MZ, Akıl MA, Acet H, Yüksel M, Oylumlu M, Polat, et al. Stent Restenozunu Öngördürmede Eozinofil-Lenfosit Oranının Kullanışlılığı. Dicle Tıp Dergisi. 2016; 43(2): 299-304.
- Bickers DR, Athar M. Oxidative stress in the pathogenesis of skin disease. J Invest Dermatol. 2006; 126(12): 2565-75.

- 6. Kundu S, Ghosh P, Datta S, Ghosh A, Chattopadhyay S, Chatterjee M. Oxidative stress as a potential biomarker for determining disease activity in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Free Radic Res. 2012; 46(12): 1482-9.
- Uslu AU, Küçük A, Şahin A, Ugan Y, Yılmaz R, Güngör T, et al. Two new inflammatory markers associated with Disease Activity Score-28 in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio and plateletlymphocyte ratio. Int J Rheum Dis. 2015; 18(7): 731-5.
- Namazi MR, Parhizkar AR, Jowkar F. Serum levels of hypersensitive-Creactive protein in moderate and severe acne. Indian Dermatol Online J. 2015; 6(4): 253-7.
- 9. Rhodes B, Fürnrohr BG, Vyse TJ. C-reactive protein in rheumatology: biology and genetics. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2011; 7(5): 282-9.
- Karabay EA, Çerman AA. Serum Levels of 25-Hydroxyvitamin-D and C-Reactive Protein in Acne Vulgaris Patients. Turkiye Klinikleri Journal of Dermatology. 2019; 29(1): 1-6.
- 11. Balta S, Cakar M, Demirkol S, Arslan Z, Akhan M. Higher neutrophil to lymhocyte ratio in patients with metabolic syndrome. Clin Appl Thromb Hemost. 2013; 19(5): 579.
- 12. Miller IM, Ring HC, Prens EP, Rytgaard H, Mogensen UB, Ellervik C, et al. Leukocyte profile in peripheral blood and neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio in hidradenitis suppurativa: a comparative cross-sectional study of 462 cases. Dermatology. 2016; 232(4): 511-9.
- 13. Ataseven A, Kurtipek GS, Ozturk P. Neutrophil lymphocyte ratio in patients receiving isotretinoin for acne vulgaris. Med Science. 2014; 3(1): 1026-31.
- Seçkin HY, Baş Y, Takçı Z, Kalkan G. Effects of isotretinoin on the inflammatory markers and the platelet counts in patients with acne vulgaris. Cutan Ocul Toxicol. 2016; 35(2): 89-91.
- Duman N, Uzunali E, Manav V. A Comparative Study on Hematological Inflammation Markers in Acne Vulgaris. International Blood Research & Reviews. 2015; 4(4): 1-5.
- 16. Yetkin E. Mean platelet volume not so far from being a routine diagnostic and prognostic measurement. Thromb Haemost. 2008; 100(1): 3-4.
- 17. Park Y, Schoene N, Harris W. Mean platelet volume as an indicator of platelet activation: methodological issues. Platelets. 2002; 13(5-6): 301-6.
- Jackson SR, Carter JM. Platelet volume: laboratory measurement and clinical application. Blood Rev. 1993; 7(2): 104-13.
- Ekiz O, Balta I, Sen BB, Rifaioglu EN, Ergin C, Balta S, et al. Mean platelet volume in recurrent aphthous stomatitis and Behçet disease. Angiology. 2014; 65(2): 161-5.
- Tamer F, Yuksel ME, Avcı E. Is mean platelet volume an inflammatory marker in acne patients treated with isotretinoin? Acta Dermatovenerol Alp Pannonica Adriat. 2019; 28(2): 65-9.
- 21. Ataseven A, Ugur Bilgin A. Effects of isotretinoin on the platelet counts and the mean platelet volume in patients with acne vulgaris. Scientific World Journal. 2014; 2014: 156464.
- 22. Matsuwaki Y, Ookushi T, Asaka D, Mori E, Nakayimo T, Yoshida T, et al. Chronic rhinosinusitis: risk factors for the recurrence of chronic rhinosinusitis based on 5-year follow-up after endoscopic sinus surgery. Int Arch Allergy Immunol. 2008; 146 (Suppl 1): 77-81.
- Çekici Y, Yılmaz M, Seçen Ö. New inflammatory indicators: association of high eosinophil-to-lymphocyte ratio and low lymphocyte-to-monocyte ratio with smoking. J Int Med Res. 2019; 47(9): 4292-303.
# ORIGINAL ARTICLE

DOI: 10.4274/cjms.2021.3383 Cyprus J Med Sci 2022;7(2):245-251



# Determining the Attitudes, Behaviours and Affecting Factors of Female Seasonal Agricultural Workers Relating to the Early Diagnosis of Cervical Cancer

Fatma Yavuz<sup>1</sup>, Fatma Ersin<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Adıyaman Training and Research Hospital, Adıyaman, Turkey <sup>2</sup>Department of Public Health Nursing, Harran University Faculty of Health Sciences, Şanlıurfa, Turkey

# ABSTRACT

**BACKGROUND/AIMS:** This study was conducted for the purpose of examining the attitudes and behaviours of female seasonal agricultural workers relating to the early diagnosis of cervical cancer.

**MATERIALS AND METHODS:** This descriptive study was carried out between February and June, 2016. The sample of the study consisted of 210 female seasonal agricultural workers.

**RESULTS:** It was determined that they obtained the highest score  $(30.32\pm6.38)$  from the lower dimension of perceived severity and the lowest score  $(22.63\pm3.96)$  from the lower dimension of perceived obstacles of the Attitude toward the Early Diagnosis of Cervical Cancer Scale. It was determined that the lower dimension of perceived sensitivity of the Attitude toward the Early Diagnosis of Cervical Cancer Scale was affected by age and educational background and the lower dimension of perceived benefits by age, educational background and language spoken at home (p<0.05).

**CONCLUSION:** As a consequence, it can be recommended to conduct interventional nursing studies to increase attitudes and behaviours.

Keywords: Seasonal agricultural worker woman, cervical cancer, early diagnosis

# INTRODUCTION

Gynaecological cancers are the most common type of cancer among women in the world and in our country.<sup>1</sup> Cervical cancer, which is one of the gynaecological cancers, is the most common important health problem in the world, after colorectal and breast cancer.<sup>2</sup> According to data from Globocan 2018, while the age-standardized speed rate of cervical cancer is 13.1/100,000, the mortality rate is 6.9/100,000.<sup>3</sup> While the age-standardized speed rate of West Asian countries, which include Turkey is 4.1/100,000, the mortality rate has been reported to be 2.5/100,000.<sup>4</sup> Our country is one of the West Asian countries that have the lowest incidence of cervical cancer.<sup>5</sup>

Thanks to successful smear test applications, morbidity and mortality rates due to cervical cancer have decreased by more than 70% in many countries.<sup>6</sup> While 5% of women in developing countries undergo screening tests, this rate reaches up to 90% in developed countries.<sup>7</sup> Studies have shown that the rate of having a pap smear test is not at the desired level.<sup>8,9-12</sup> In one study conducted with the participation of 966 women, in which the awareness of the pap smear test was explored in

#### This article derived from Fatma Yavuz's master thesis.

**To cite this article:** Yavuz F, Ersin F. Determining the Attitudes, Behaviours and Affecting Factors of Female Seasonal Agricultural Workers Relating to the Early Diagnosis of Cervical Cancer. Cyprus J Med Sci 2022;7(2):245-251

#### ORCID iDs of the authors: F.Y. 0000-0001-9427-080X; F.E. 0000-0001-7851-8625.



Address for Correspondence: Fatma Ersin E-mail: fatmaersin1@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0001-7851-8625

Received: 22.09.2020 Accepted: 17.01.2021

Copyright 2022 by the Cyprus Turkish Medical Association / Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences published by Galenos Publishing House. Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License Turkey, this awareness level was found to be 75.7%.<sup>13</sup> In addition, it has been reported that false attitudes and beliefs can be as effective as the level of knowledge in the participation rates of women regarding pap smear test screening.<sup>8</sup>

In Turkey, seasonal agricultural workers are an important risk group in terms of their working and living conditions, poverty and access to health services. For reasons such as poverty, and the inability to access health services, providing health care to seasonal agricultural workers in the environment in which they work is very important. In this process, the nurses involved in the teams that provide this service are key people. Considering that nurses are effective in improving early diagnosis behaviours, nurses have important roles in developing early diagnosis behaviours in this risk group. This study, which was conducted on female seasonal agricultural worker, provides both the identification of attitudes and behaviours related to cervical cancer in this at-risk group and can guide the planning and implementation of future nursing studies. In addition, there are no studies in the literature regarding the attitudes and behaviours of women toward the early diagnosis of cervical cancer. Therefore, this study was conducted to determine the attitudes, behaviours and affecting factors of women relating to the early diagnosis of cervical cancer.

### MATERIALS AND METHODS

Research Type: This was a descriptive research.

Time of the Research: The study was carried out between February and June, 2016.

**Population and Sample of the Research:** The population of this research consisted of married women over the age of 35, who work as seasonal agricultural workers and live in those neighbourhoods where agricultural workers live densely. The 30 cluster sampling technique of the World Health Organization was used in the sample selection. Seven people within each cluster were contacted (210 people in total). The starting points for the clusters were selected by a simple random method from the streets in the above-mentioned neighbourhoods.<sup>14</sup> The research was carried out in two neighbourhoods where seasonal agricultural workers predominately lived. The streets of the neighbourhoods were considered as clusters. Female seasonal agricultural workers who were married and aged 30–65 were included in this study. Women who were single, non-seasonal agricultural workers, under 30 or over 65 were not included in this study.

#### **Data Collecting Tools**

Data were collected using the seasonal agricultural workers information form and the attitude scale for the early diagnosis of cervical cancer.

The Seasonal Agricultural Workers Information Form consists of 23 questions including descriptive characteristics, characteristics related to cervical cancer, and characteristics related to seasonal agricultural labour. This form was created by the researcher after reviewing the literature.<sup>15-17</sup>

#### The Attitude Scale Related to the Early Diagnosis of Cervical Cancer

This scale was developed in 2009 by Özmen and Özsoy<sup>16</sup> to explore the attitudes of women towards the early diagnosis of cervical cancer. The scale consists of nine items for the perceived sensitivity sub-dimension, eight items for the perceived seriousness sub-dimension, seven items for

the perceived obstacles sub-dimension, and six items for the perceived benefits sub-dimension. It is a Likert type scale. The scoring of the scale is ordered from "I strongly disagree" with 1 point to "I fully agree" with 5 points. Of the 30 items in the scale, 22 are positive and eight are negative. Scoring of negative expressions is done in reverse order. The highest score that can be achieved in the scale is 150 and the lowest score is 30. The Chronbach Alpha value calculated for the whole attitude scale is 0.89. The Chronbach Alpha value that was obtained through this study for the whole scale was 0.75.

#### **Dependent and Independent Variables**

The dependent variables are the early diagnosis behaviours of cervical cancer, the scale score averages and the independent variables are the descriptive characteristics, characteristics related to cervical cancer and characteristics related to seasonal agricultural labour.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

SPSS 16.0 (Chicago, IL, USA) software was used in the evaluation of the data. Descriptive statistics (number, percentage, average), significance tests of difference between the two averages (t-test in independent groups), Mann–Whitney U test, Kruskal–Wallis analysis, and Variance analysis were used in the analysis of the data.

#### **Ethical Dimension of the Research**

Written permission was received from the Ethics Committee of Harran University (decision numbered: 16/01/22 and dated: 01.25.2016). In addition, informed consent was obtained from the participants. Permission was obtained from the relevant institution.

# RESULTS

38.1% of the women were in the 35–39 age range, 83.7% were illiterate, 89.0% had health insurance, 70.5% considered their income to be poor, 55.2% spoke Arabic at home, 97.1% had children (Table 1).

When the data were analysed, it was found that 86.7% had no family history of cancer. 79.5% of the women did not have regular gynaecological examinations, 42.6% did not have any symptoms of disease, 50.5% knew of cervical cancer, 48.2% had learned about it from healthcare personnel, 15.7% had routine screening, 22.4% had had pap smears, and that 82.2% of those who had not had pap smears did not have a pap smear as they did not have enough information about it (Table 2).

It was seen that, 40.5% of the women stayed in the agricultural production area for 7 months or more, 75.7% of them had been working as SAWs for 7 years or more, 85.2% stayed in tents in the agricultural production area and 60.0% did not have the chance to access health services while in the agricultural production area, 81.0% of them stated that they were not protected against the harmful effects of pesticides, and 70.0% of those protected did so by covering their mouths.

The average score of the perceived sensitivity sub-dimension of the women was  $27.24\pm6.29$ , the average score of the perceived seriousness sub-dimension was  $30.32\pm6.38$ , the average score of the perceived obstacles sub-dimension was  $22.63\pm3.96$ , and the average score of the perceived benefits sub-dimension was  $22.90\pm4.63$ .

There was found to be a statistically significant difference between the average score of the perceived sensitivity sub-dimension (K-W=19.930,

p=0.001) and the perceived benefits sub-dimension (K-W=17.312, p=0.004) of the attitude scale. There was a statistically significant difference between the average scores of the perceived sensitivity sub-dimension (KW=10.028 p=0.040) and the perceived benefits sub-dimension (KW=10.020, p=0.040) of the attitude scale (Table 3).

There was a statistically significant difference found in the average score of perceived benefits sub-dimension (t=2.654, p=0.009) of the attitude scale according to the status of women having regular gynaecological examinations. A statistically significant difference was found among the average scores of the perceived sensitivity sub-dimension (t=3.599, p=0.000), the perceived seriousness sub-dimension (t=2.678, p=0.008) and perceived benefits sub-dimension (t=2.522, p=0.021) of the attitude scale according to the status of women having knowledge about cervical cancer. Additionally, there was a statistically significant difference found between the average scores of the perceived benefits sub-dimension (t=2.320, p=0.021) and perceived benefits sub-dimension (t=2.927, p=0.003) according to the status of women having pap smear tests (Table 4).

#### DISCUSSION

In this study, it was found that 22.4% of SAW women had had a pap smear test and 82.2% of those who had not had a test did not have enough information about the test (Table 2). In a similar study conducted with women in a health centre region; it was found that most of the women who had had pap smear tests (80.8%) had not done so regularly. It was found that women did not have a pap smear tests for reasons such as not knowing that it is necessary to give a swab sample from the cervix, not

Table 1. Distribution of socio-demographic characteristics of women(n=210)					
Variables	Number (n)	Percent (%)			
Age		l			
35–39	80	38.1			
40-44	43	20.4			
45-49	31	14.8			
50-54	32	15.2			
55-59	14	6.7			
60 age and above	10	4.8			
Educational background					
Illiterate	176	83.7			
Literate	26	12.4			
Primary	8	3.8			
Health insurance		<u>'</u>			
Present	187	89.0			
Absent	23	11.0			
Income status		·			
High	6	2.8			
Medium	56	26.7			
Low	148	70.5			
The language spoken in home		·			
Turkish	11	5.2			
Arabic	116	55.2			
Kurdish	83	39.6			
Having a child(ren)		1			
Yes	204	97.1			
No	6	2.9			
Total	210	100.0			
n: number.					

# Table 2. Distribution of some characteristics of female seasonal agricultural workers (n=210)

Characteristics	Number (n)	Percent (%)
Cancer history in the family		
Yes	28	13.3
No	182	86.7
Having regular gynaecological examinations		I
Yes	43	20.5
No	167	79.5
The reason for not having gynaecological exa	minations (n=16	7)
Do not have any signs of medical problems	71	42.6
Omission	70	42.0
Being shy	13	7.8
Lack of health insurance	9	5.3
Financial difficulty	4	2.3
Awareness of the cervical cancer		
Yes	106	50.5
No	104	49.5
Where did you find out about cervical cancer	? informaiton? (r	1=106)
Medical personnel	51	48.2
From other women in the community	32	30.2
Media	23	21.6
Awareness of cervical cancer in relation to ro	utine screen test	<u> </u>
Vec	33	15.7
No	177	94.7
$\mathbf{S}_{n} = \mathbf{S}_{n} + \mathbf{S}_{n} $	177	04.7
	25	75 7
	25	/5./
Biopsy	6	18.2
Blood analysis	2	6.1
Where information was learnt (n=33)		
Medical personal	29	87.8
From other women in the community	3	9.1
Media	1	3.1
Pap smear test status		
Yes	47	22.4
No	163	77.6
The reason for pap smear test status (n=47)		
Cervical problems with the decision of the doctor	32	68.1
Due to cervical cancer screening	11	23.4
Due to regular health check	4	8.5
The reason for not having pap smear test (n=	163)	1
Lack of knowledge	134	82.2
Inability to spare the time	11	6.7
Not having any sign of medical problems	8	4.9
Being shy	5	3.1
Thinking that it is early for testing	3	1.9
Financial difficulty	2	1.2
n: number.		1

characteristics of the female seasonal agricultural workers						
The Attitude Scale related to the early diagnosis of cervical cancer sub-dimensions						
Characteristics	n	Sensitivity X±SD	Seriousness X±SD	Obstacles X±SD	Benefits X±SD	
Age	^					
35–39	80	3.18±0.65	3.94±0.68	3.17±0.50	4.02±0.66	
4044	43	2.92±0.64	3.67±0.74	3.23±0.56	3.79±0.65	
4549	31	3.23±0.63	3.90±0.70	3.31±0.52	3.94±0.66	
50–54	32	2.61±0.73	3.44±1.03	3.24±0.71	3.35±0.93	
55–59	14	3.09±0.68	3.91±0.79	3.25±0.51	3.89±0.75	
60 age and above	10	2.81±0.82	3.65±1.03	3.37±0.71	3.28±1.07	
Statistical value		K-W=19.930 p=0.001	K-W=8.849 p=0.115	K-W=2.374 p=0.795	K-W=17.312 p=0.004	
Educational status						
Illiterate	176	2.97±0.69	3.78±0.77	3.23±0.56	3.81±0.76	
Literate	26	3.17±0.64	3.70±0.90	3.27±0.56	3.62±0.79	
Primary	6	3.55±0.60	4.31±0.98	3.07±0.72	4.50±0.39	
Statistical value		K-W=10.028 p=0.040	K-W=3.741 p=0.442	K-W=2.263 p=0.687	K-W=10.020 p=0.040	
Health insurance						
Present	187	3.01±0.71	3.78±0.80	3.21±0.56	3.78±0.79	
Absent	23	3.14±0.59	3.84±0.77	3.36±0.60	4.05±0.47	
Statistical value		MU=-1.063 p=0.288	MU=-0.270 p=0.787	MU=-1.295 p=0.195	MU=-1.460 p=0.144	
Income status						
High	6	3.20±0.89	3.58±0.96	3.00±0.61	3.58±1.25	
Medium	56	3.09±0.67	3.68±0.81	3.18±0.57	3.69±0.79	
Low	148	2.99±0.70	3.83±0.78	3.26±0.56	3.87±0.73	
Statistical value		K-W=0.457 p=0.756	K-W=2.055 p=0.358	K-W=1.672 p=0.433	K-W=2.338 p=0.311	

Table 3. The comparison of the average scores of attitude scale relating to the early diagnosis of cervical cancer according to the socio-demographic characteristics of the female seasonal agricultural workers

Significant values are shown in bold. SD: standard deviation, n: number.

considering it necessary, being shy, a lack of money, or thinking that it is a painful procedure.<sup>18</sup> Similar to this study, in another study conducted in 2018, it was found that 28.7% of women had had at least one pap smear test and that 42.7% of those who had never had a pap smear test did not know about this test<sup>19</sup>. According to the study conducted by Ramathuba et al.<sup>20</sup> in Africa in 2016, only 3.2% of the participants had had a pap smear test and a lack of information was shown to be the reason for this rate being so low. In another study conducted on Turkish women, a lack of information was found to be one of the reasons why they had not had a pap smear test.<sup>21</sup> In a study conducted on Vietnamese women, about 50% of the participants believed that cervical cancer can be easily treated if diagnosed early and having a pap smear test is the most important way to prevent cervical cancer. In the same study, it was found that women with these thoughts were more likely to have pap smears than those who did not.<sup>22</sup> In this study, it is seen that the rate of having pap smear tests is not at the desired level, and this situation could be related to insufficient access to health services while working in agricultural production areas. At the same time, a woman's lack of family history of cancer, not knowing about screening tests for the early diagnosis of cervical cancer, and living in the field for a long time may have also negatively affected their pap smear test history.

In this study, it was observed that perceived sensitivity had the highest average score and perceived obstacles had the lowest average score. Increasing perceived sensitivity is important in terms of increasing the likelihood that individuals participate in positive health behaviours.<sup>23</sup> In one study conducted by Ersin et al.24, the average sensitivity perception score was reported to be 26.88±4.56. In another study conducted in Iran, an increase in perceived sensitivity was observed in the experimental group.<sup>25</sup> In this study, it is considered that the sensitivity perceptions of SAW women are not at the desired level and this situation may adversely affect the likelihood of early diagnosis behaviours. Also, in this study, the average score of the perceived seriousness sub-dimension was found to be 30.32±6.38 (Table 4). In a similar study, the average score of seriousness perception was found to be 25.32±4.66.8 In another study, the average score of perception of seriousness was found to be lower at 19.23±4.81.<sup>24</sup> According to the Health Belief Model, the perception of seriousness involves evaluating both the medical and clinical outcomes of an illness.<sup>23</sup> The results obtained from this study may be an indication that SAW women can evaluate the results of cervical cancer. In this study, the average score of the perceived obstacles sub-dimension was found to be 22.63±3.96. In another study, the perceived obstacles sub-dimension average score .. .

characteristics of seasonal agricultural	worker w	omen	ie early diagnosis of cervical ca	incer according to the	cancer-relateu
The Attitude Scale related to the early	diagnosis	of cervical cancer sub-dime	nsions		
Channe stanistica		Sensitivity	Seriousness	Obstacle	Benefit
Characteristics	n	X±SD	X±SD	X±SD	X±SD
Cancer history in the family					
Yes	28	3.23±0.79	3.67±0.98	3.17±0.41	3.83±0.98
No	182	2.99±0.69	3.80±0.76	3.24±058	3.81±0.73
Statistical value		MU=-1.781 p=0.075	MU=-0.357 p=0.721	MU=-1.025 p=0.305	MU=-0.533 p=0.594
Having regular gynaecological examinations					
Yes	43	3.19±0.68	3.98±0.63	3.17±0.49	4.09±0.60
No	167	2.98±0.69	3.74±0.82	3.24±0.58	3.74±0.79
Statistical value		t=1.811 p=0.072	t=1.827 p=0.069	t= -0.752 p=0.453	t=2.654 p=0.009
Awareness of cervical cancer					
Yes	106	3.19±0.62	3.93±0.72	3.17±0.53	3.94±0.72
No	104	2.85±0.73	3.64±0.84	3.29±0.58	3.68±0.80
Where did you learn this information? (n=	=106)				
Medical personnel	51	3.28±0.63	3.99±0.71	3.10±0.53	4.13±0.69
Media	23	3.25±0.66	4.03±0.67	3.20±0.51	4.11±0.46
From women in the community	32	3.01±0.54	3.76±0.76	3.26±0.56	3.54±0.76
Statistical value		K-W=0.033 p=0.856	K-W=0.006 p=0.806	K-W=0.571 p=0.470	K-W=0.079 p=0.778
The awareness of the cervical cancer in re	elation to i	routine screening tests			
Yes	33	3.22±0.67	3.92±0.70	3.18±0.52	3.88±0.66
No	177	2.99±069	3.76±0.81	3.24±0.57	3.80±0.79
Screen tests known of (n=33)				·	
Pap smear tests	25	3.31±0.70	3.93±0.71	3.18±0.52	4.01±0.69
Biopsy	6	3.05±0.61	4.02±0.71	3.30±0.31	3.61±0.34
Blood analysis	2	2.66±0.31	3.43±0.61	2.78±1.11	3.08±1.11
Statistical value		K-W=2.377 p=0.305	K-W=1.302 p=0.521	K-W=0.721 p=0.697	K-W=4.859 p=0.088
Pap smear test status					
Yes	47	3.23±0.65	3.97±0.78	3.16±0.54	4.10±0.72
No	163	2.96±0.70	3.73±0.79	3.16±0.54	3.73±0.76
Statistical value		t=2.320 p=0.021	t=1.786 p=0.076	t=-1.003 p=0.317	t=2.957 p=0.003
Significant values are shown in bold. SD: standard deviation, n: number.					

was found to be low.<sup>24</sup> Perceived obstacles is defined as those factors that prevent or complicate protective behaviours related to health.<sup>26</sup> The results obtained from this study may be due to the fact that the women stay in agricultural production areas for long periods, their lack of access to health services and their low-income status. The average score of the perceived benefits sub-dimension in this study was found to be 22.90±4.63. In their study, Ersin et al.<sup>24</sup> found the average score of the perceived benefits sub-dimension to be 17.86±3.27. Perceived benefits are an individual's belief in preventing a disease by changing their behaviour.<sup>23</sup> The result obtained from this study indicates that women's belief in preventing cervical cancer is not sufficient. This suggests that their awareness levels may be low. A statistically significant difference was found between the average sensitivity and benefits sub-dimension scores of the attitude scale relating to the early diagnosis of cervical cancer according to the age of the women (p<0.05) (Table 3). In another study, it was stated that perception of obstacles increases in those women between the ages of 52–63 but there was no significant difference in their perceptions of seriousness and sensitivity.<sup>26</sup> The result obtained from that study may be an indication that the importance given to health care decreases with age.

A significant difference was found between the sensitivity and benefits sub-dimensions in relation to the educational status of the women (p<0.05) (Table 3). In the study of Uluocak and Bekar<sup>27</sup>, it was found

that the total score average of the attitude scale relating to the early diagnosis of cervical cancer was higher in those with a postgraduate education or higher. As the level of education increases, it is expected that sensitivity and benefit perception scores will increase.

The perceived sensitivity, benefits and seriousness sub-dimension scores of those women who had regular gynaecological examinations were found to be higher, and their average scores of the perceived obstacles sub-dimension was found to be lower than those who did not (Table 4). In a study conducted by Kızılırmak and Kocaöz<sup>28</sup>, it was found that the perceived obstacles sub-dimension scores of those women who had regular genital examinations were low. In that same study, it was also found that those who had gynaecological examinations had low perceptions of pap smear test obstacles. The results of the study may be due to the belief that regular gynaecological examinations will reduce the risk of having cervical cancer.

The perceived sensitivity, seriousness and benefits sub-dimension scores of those women who knew about cervical cancer were found to be significantly higher and their average scores of the perceived obstacles sub-dimension were found to be lower (Table 4). In a study similar to our study, it was found that the pap smear perceived benefits and the health motivation of those women who received information about cervical cancer and screenings was significantly higher and their perception of obstacles was lower.<sup>29</sup>

In this study, the average sensitivity and perceived benefits subdimension scores of having a pap smear test were significantly high (Table 4). Aşılar et al.<sup>29</sup> reported that the benefit perceptions of those who had pap smear tests were significantly higher and their perceptions of obstacles were lower. In another study conducted by Özmen and Özsoy<sup>16</sup>, the perceived sensitivity, seriousness and benefit scores of those women who had pap smear tests was significantly higher than for those women who did not have tests. According to a study conducted by Demirgöz Bal<sup>8</sup> on women working in a Public Education Centre, the average scores of seriousness and benefit perceptions of those women who had pap smear tests were found to be higher. The result obtained from our study is an expected result. On the other hand, our result may be due to the fact that SAW women believe that having a pap smear test and the support they receive from health professionals will make it easier for them to protect themselves from cervical cancer. It can also be said that awareness of pap smear tests has positive effects on women's beliefs related to health.

#### CONCLUSION

It was found that SAW women had the highest score from the perceived seriousness sub-dimension and the lowest score from the perceived obstacles sub-dimension of the attitude scale relating to the early diagnosis of cervical cancer. It is clear that the ratio of women who have pap smear tests and gynaecological examinations is not at the desired level. It is recommended that continuous health education should be provided by health professionals via mobile health services in those areas where SAW women work in order to increase the sensitivity, seriousness and benefit perceptions of SAW women and their rate of having pap smear tests and also to reduce their perception of obstacles.

#### ETHICS

**Ethics Committee Approval:** This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Harran University (decision numbered 16/01/22 and dated 01.25.2016).

**Informed Consent:** Written permission was received from the women who participated in this study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

#### Authorship Contributions

Concept: F.Y., F.E., Design: F.Y., F.E., Supervision: F.E., Data Collection and/or Processing: F.Y., Analysis and/or Interpretation: F.Y., F.E., Literature Search: F.Y., F.E., Writing: F.Y., F.E., Critical Review: F.E.

#### DISCLOSURES

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The author declared that this study had received no financial support.

#### **MAIN POINTS**

- It was found that SAW women had the highest score from the perceived seriousness sub-dimension of the attitude scale relating to the early diagnosis of cervical cancer
- It was found that SAW women had the lowest score from the perceived obstacles sub-dimension of the attitude scale relating to the early diagnosis of cervical cancer.
- It is clear that the rate of women who have pap smear tests and gynaecological examinations is not at the desired level.

- 1. Kaya T, Gürbıyık A, Kılıç S. Exploring women's health promoting life- style profiles in a residential zone. TJTFP. 2008; 12(1): 18-24.
- Gökdemir Ö. Evaluation of Women attending rize cancer early diagnoses, screening and education center between 2005–2011 for breast and cervix cancer. Masters Thesis. Rize: 2016.
- Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin. 2018; 68(6): 394-424.
- Globocan 2018. Available from: http://gco.iarc.fr/today/data/factsheets/ cancers/23-Cervix-uteri-fact-sheet.pdf (Accessed on August 4, 2019)
- Kurtoğlu E, Gürz AA. Cervical cancer epidemiology. Türkiye Klinikleri J Gynecol Obst-Special Topics. 2014; 7(4): 1-4.
- Turkish Public Health Institution, 2013-2018 National Cancer Control Program. Available from: https://hsgm.saglik.gov.tr/depo/birimler/ kanserdb/yayinlar/raporlar/Ulusal\_Kanser\_Kontrol\_Plani\_2013\_2018.pdf (Accessed on April 5, 2019).
- Bekar M, Güler G, Doğaner G, Yılmaz M, Güler N, Güler H, et al. Akademisyenlerin serviks kanseri konusundaki bilgi düzeylerinin belirlenmesi. Turk J Obstet Gynecol. 2011; 14(4): 102-9.
- 8. Demirgöz Bal M. Kadınların Pap Smear Testi Yaptırma Durumlarının Sağlık İnanç Modeli Ölçeği ile Değerlendirilmesi. MÜSBED. 2014; 4(3): 133-8.
- Açıkgöz A, Çehreli R, Ellidokuz H. Women's knowledge and attitude about cancerand the behaviour for early diagnosis procedures. Dokuz Eylül University Faculty of Medicine 19th. National Cancer Congress: 2011, Antalya.
- Demirtas B, Acikgoz I. Promoting attendance at cervical cancer screening: understanding the relationship with Turkish womens' health beliefs. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2013; 14(1): 333-40.

- Güngör MY, Güngör L, Açık Y, Oğuzöncül F. Pap smear scanning of the married and non-pregnant nurses, midwives and female health technicianns who working in Elazığ State Hospital. Fırat University Medical Journal of Health Sciences. 2001; 15(3): 471-6.
- 12. Kaya G. The knowlegde of women who are tested of pap smear about cervical cancer and factors affecting. Master Thesis. Sivas: 2011.
- Aydın DS, Ekmez M, Göksedef BP, Hasanova M, Aşık H, Çetin A. Polikliniğe başvuran kadınlarda smear farkındalığı ve yaptırma sıklığı. Turk J Obstet Gynecol. 2015; 4: 127-30.
- Training Formid-Level Managers: the EPI Coverage Survey. Geneva: World Health Organization, 1991 (unpublished document, WHO/EPI/91.10; Avilable from: Vaccines and Biologicals, World Health Organization, 1211 Geneva 27, Switzerland).
- Ersin F, Bahar Z. Effects of nursing interventions planned with the health promotion models on the breast and cervical cancer early detection behaviors of the women. Int J Caring Sci. 2017; 10(1): 421-32.
- Özmen D, Özsoy S. Developing a valid and reliable instrument to examine attitudes toward early diagnosis of cervical cancer by using "health belief model" approach. JEUNF. 2009; 25(1): 51-69.
- Polat P, Ersin F. The effect of breast cancer fear levels of female seasonal agricultural laborers on early-diagnosis behaviors and perceptions of breast cancer. Soc Work Public Health. 2017; 32(3): 166-75.
- Sönmez Y, Keskin Y, Lüleci E. Assessment of women's knowledge, attitude and behaviors about use of early diagnosis methods in cervix cancer. Maltepe Med J. 2012; 4(2): 15-21.
- Demir F. Knowledge Attitudes and beliefs about women's risk of cervical cancer and screening for cervical cancer in Edirne. Master's Thesis. Edirne: 2018.
- Ramathuba DU, Ngambi D, Khoza LB, Ramakuela NJ. Knowledge, attitudes and practices regarding cervical cancer prevention at Thulamela

Municipality of Vhembe District in Limpopo Province. Afr J Prim Health Care Fam Med. 2016; 8(2): e1-7.

- Reis N, Bebis H, Kose S, Sis A, Engin R, Yavan T. Knowledge, behavior and beliefs related to cervical cancer and screening among Turkish women. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2012; 13(4): 1463-70.
- Ma GX, Gao W, Fang CY, Tan Y, Feng Z, Ge S, Nguyen JA. Health beliefs associated with cervical cancer screening among Vietnamese Americans. J Womens Health (Larchmt). 2013; 22(3): 276-88.
- 23. Glanz K, Rimer BK, Viswanath K. (Eds). Health Behavior and Health Education Theory, Research and Practice. 4th. ed. San Francisco, CA: Jossey Bass; 2008. p.45-69.
- Ersin F, Kıssal A, Polat P, Koca BD, Erdoğan M. Perception of female medical personnel toward cervical cancer and the affecting factors. J Res Nurs. 2016; 18(2-3): 31-43.
- Pirzadeh A, Mazaheri MA. The effect of education on women's practice based on the health belief model about pap smear test. Int J Prev Med. 2012; 3(8): 585-90.
- Gördes Aydoğdu N, Bahar Z. The effects of using health belief and health promotion models in low-income women with regard to breast and cervical cancer early detection behaviour. DEUHYO ED. 2011; 4(1): 34-40.
- Uluocak T, Bekar M. Kadın sağlık çalışanlarının servikal kansere ilişkin bilgi ve tutumlarının belirlenmesi. Turk J Obstet Gynecol. 2012; 15(2): 50-7.
- Kızılırmak A, Kocaöz S. Bir Üniversitedeki Kadınların Serviks Kanseri ve Pap Smear Testine İlişkin Sağlık İnançlarını Etkileyen Faktörler. Contin Med Educ. 2018; 27(3): 165-75.
- Aşılar RH, Köse S, Yıldırım A. Women's knowledge, beliefs and behaviors about cervical cancer and pap smear test. Turkish Clinics J Nurs Sci. 2015; 7(2): 102-11.

DOI: 10.4274/cjms.2021.2021-113 Cyprus | Med Sci 2022;7(2):252-258

# Fear of Birth: An Increasing Fear in Pregnancy During the **COVID-19** Period

🕲 Öznur Tiryaki<sup>1</sup>, 🕲 Özlem Doğu<sup>2</sup>, 🕲 Koray Gök<sup>3</sup>, 🕲 Mehmet Sühha Bostancı<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Midwifery, Faculty of Health Sciences, Sakarya University, Sakarya, Turkey <sup>2</sup>Department of Fundamentals, Sakarya University Faculty of Nursing, Sakarya, Turkey <sup>3</sup>Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Sakarya Training and Research Hospital, Sakarya, Turkey <sup>4</sup>Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Sakarya University Faculty of Medicine, Sakarya, Turkey

# ABSTRACT

BACKGROUND/AIMS: The inadequate prenatal and postnatal services due to the deployment of health services to coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19) related arrangements has led to an increased number of patients experiencing a fear of contracting COVID-19 in addition to their fear of childbirth. Therefore, this study aimed to examine the relationship between the fear of COVID-19 and the fear of childbirth.

MATERIALS AND METHODS: The study was designed in descriptive and correlational types. Three hundred forty-three pregnant women included in the study using descriptive and correlational methods were evaluated using the COVID-19 Fear Scale (CFS) and the Fear of Birth Scale (FOBS) for Pregnant Women.

**RESULTS:** The mean age of the pregnant women participating in the study was  $29.07\pm5.90$  years and the mean gestational week was  $35.51\pm2.70$ weeks. It was observed that pregnant women had more fear of COVID-19 (19.69±7.63) due to the fear of contracting the virus during the pandemic period, and as a result, the participants experienced a fear of birth  $(64.25\pm29.30)$ . It was observed that there was a significant, positive, and moderate relationship between CFS and FOBS in the pregnant women (p<0.001). It was found that 15.8% of the development of fear of birth is due to a fear of COVID-19.

**CONCLUSION:** Healthcare professionals can use practical scales to assess pregnancy and COVID-19 fears.

Keywords: Pregnancy, fear, birth, COVID-19

# INTRODUCTION

Pregnancy is a time of significant physiological change to meet the needs of the developing fetus and prepare the mother-to-be for labor and birth. These physiological changes can have psychological implications on pregnant women, inducing anxiety and depression.<sup>1-3</sup> Pregnant women may experience anxiety about the labor and delivery process, but if this anxiety negatively impacts their quality of life, it is termed tocophobia (fear of birth).<sup>4</sup> Cesarean rates have been reported as higher in nulliparous women with tokophobia.⁵

Fear of Birth (FOB) can be classified as mild, moderate, or severe.<sup>6</sup> There are some factors closely associated with FOB, namely low socio-economic status, lack of social support, pre-existing distrust of healthcare workers, feeling alone in an unfamiliar environment during labor, excessively worrying about the well-being of the baby, fear of pain during labor, inadequate milk supply and the possibility of cesarean section.6-8 FOB can complicate pregnancy, labor, and the postpartum period with an increased rate of cesarean deliveries, excessive need for pain medications, postpartum depression, attachment problems between the mother and newborn and fetal asphyxia.<sup>6-8</sup> FOB can be seen before pregnancy due to other women's adverse birth experiences.9

To cite this article: Tiryaki Ö, Doğu Ö, Gök K, Bostancı MS. Fear of Birth: An Increasing Fear in Pregnancy During the COVID-19 Period. Cyprus | Med Sci 2022;7(2):252-258

ORCID iDs of the authors: Ö.T. 0000-0001-8788-3077; Ö.D. 0000-0003-1257-2551; K.G. 0000-0002-7420-1484; M.S.B. 0000-0002-4776-6244.



🖬 🇱 🔲 Address for Correspondence: Öznur Tirvaki **E-mail**: oznuritirvaki@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0001-8788-3077

**Received:** 22.04.2021 Accepted: 30.06.2021

OPEN ACCESS

Copyright 2022 by the Cyprus Turkish Medical Association / Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences published by Galenos Publishing House. Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License

FOB may be intensified during pandemics. It has been shown that anxiety and excessive stress during pregnancy are accentuated by social isolation. This may be associated with adverse birth outcomes such as premature birth.<sup>10</sup> Coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19) was declared a pandemic by The World Health Organization. It has led to large-scale unprecedented negative impacts on public health, the economy, social life, and education.<sup>11</sup>

Pregnant women are worried about the well-being of their unborn babies, themselves, and their loved ones. As a result, many women perceive healthcare institutions as high-risk areas in terms of contracting COVID-19, and pregnancy follow-ups have been compromised due to this fear. In addition, the inadequate prenatal and postnatal services due to the deployment of health services to COVID-19 related arrangements has led to an increased number of patients experiencing childbirth with a fear of contracting COVID-19.<sup>12</sup>

This study aims to investigate the possible relationship between the fear of childbirth and the fear of contracting COVID-19 disease during the COVID-19 pandemic.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Research Type**

The study was designed in descriptive and correlational types.

#### **Research Questions**

1. What is the fear of birth in pregnant women in the COVID-19 period?

2. What is the fear of COVID-19 in pregnant women during the COVID-19 period?

**3.** Is there a relationship between the fear of birth and the fear of COVID-19 in pregnant women during the COVID-19 period?

**4.** Are there other factors affecting the development of the fear of birth in pregnant women during COVID-19?

#### **Population and Sample**

This study was conducted in the antenatal outpatient clinic of a tertiary pandemic hospital between December 1, 2020 and December 30, 2020. The study comprised pregnant women over 30 weeks of gestation presenting to a tertiary pandemic hospital in the Marmara region of Turkey. A total of 343 pregnant women included in the study were selected based on the criteria below:

- Pregnant women who can speak and write Turkish,
- Between 19 and 45 years old,
- Not previously diagnosed with COVID-19 disease,
- · No pre-existing psychiatric illness,
- No high-risk pregnancy diagnosis,
- · Women who consented to participate in this study.

#### **Data Collection Tools**

Data was collected via three different questionnaires; the first questionnaire consists of questions regarding demographic features.

The second was the COVID-19 fear scale questionnaire. The third was the fear of birth scale questionnaire, which was specifically designed for pregnant women. The demographic features in the first questionnaire included age, education, employment status, and risk stratification of the ongoing pregnancy.

**The Coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19) Fear Scale:** The COVID-19 fear scale was initially developed by Ahorsu et al.13 and adapted for use in the Turkish population by Bakioğlu et al.3 and comprises seven different points. The scale is one-dimensional and consists of seven items. There are no reverse-coded items on the scale. The scale's total score reflects the perceived (or experienced) level of fear of COVID-19 by an individual. Therefore, the higher the score, the higher the level of fear of COVID-19. The Cronbach's alpha value was found to be 0.880 during the initial scale development. We found it to be 0.979 in our study, and this value falls in the reliable range.

**The Fear of Birth Scale for Pregnant Women:** The Fear of Birth scale was developed by Haines et al.<sup>14</sup> for measuring the fear of birth, and this scale was adapted to Turkish society by Serçekus et al.<sup>15</sup>. Pregnant women were presented with the question, "How do you feel about the approaching birth?" Two different 100 mm lines are used; (0) calm and (100) worried, and (0) no fear at all, and (100) intense fear. The cut-off value for the scale is defined as 50 after calculating the average of two lines. Fear of birth is present if the score is 50 or above. This scale can be applied to both pregnant women and their partners. The Cronbach's value of this scale was found to be 0.920, and we found the Cronbach's value to be 0.785 in our study, which is consistent with the reliable range.

#### **Data Collection Process**

The data collection process was carried out voluntarily. Pregnant women attending for pregnancy follow-up were informed about the study by the researchers. A single room was arranged for the pregnant women who agreed to participate in this study to fill in the questionnaire. The researchers ventilated the room for 30 minutes after each person completed the questionnaire. Then, the next participant was taken to the room, and a new pen was given to each participant to fill in the questionnaire. The form was completed in an average of 10–15 minutes.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Statistical analyses were conducted using the Statistical Package for Social Sciences Version 23 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Number, percentage, mean and standard deviation were used in descriptive statistics. Mann–Whitney U test was used for group comparison, while Pearson chi-square test was used for scale correlation analysis. Results were accepted at a 95% confidence interval and the statistical significance as p<0.05.

Before starting this study, written approval (2020-10-27T20\_29\_46) was obtained by registering with the Ministry of Health of the Republic of Turkey (https://bilimselarastirma.saglik.gov.tr/). In addition, institutional permission from the pandemic hospital where the study was conducted and ethics committee approval (ethics committee no: 01/12/2020-583) from the university scientific research ethics committee was obtained. Furthermore, before commencing this study, informed consent was obtained in line with the voluntary principle, informing the participants about the study and confirming that their personal information would be protected. In addition, research and publication ethics were followed in this study.

### RESULTS

The mean age of the pregnant women participating in this study was  $29.07\pm5.90$  years and the gestational week was  $35.51\pm2.70$  weeks. In addition, 13.4% of the participants were smokers, and 48.1% were primary school graduates. It was observed that 27.1% of the pregnant women were having their first pregnancy, and 92.2% of those who gave birth before did not have any problems in their previous deliveries.

It was observed that 43.7% of the participants had at least one relative diagnosed with COVID-19 during their pregnancy (Table 1). When the pregnant women were asked about their behavior during the COVID-19 period, it was seen that 13.1% answered "no" and 57.1% answered "I do not know" to whether a mother diagnosed with COVID-19 can breastfeed her baby.

During this period, 94.5% of the participants were found to have increased the frequency of washing their hands, 39.4% did not go out unless it was necessary, and 99.1% gave importance to wearing a mask when they had to go out, while all participants were observed to comply with social distancing (Table 1).

According to the scores obtained from the COVID-19 Fear scale, it was found that the scale mean score of pregnant women was  $19.33\pm7.52$ , while the majority of the participants scored 21 points and above (Figure 1).

The fear of birth scale mean score of the participants was  $61.7\pm30.09$ , and according to the cut-off score, 25.7% (n=88) did not have a fear of birth, while 74.3% (n=255) experienced a fear of birth. Additionally, it was concluded that 81 pregnant women (23.6%) who gave ten total points on the scale experienced a severe fear of birth (Figure 2).

It was observed that pregnant women had more fear of COVID-19 (19.69 $\pm$ 7.63) due to the fear of contracting the virus during the pandemic period, and as a result, the participants experienced a fear of birth (64.25 $\pm$ 29.30). The researchers found that those who were worried about having COVID-19 before birth experienced an increased fear of COVID-19 (20.08 $\pm$ 7.36) and fear of birth (63.24 $\pm$ 30.15). Furthermore, it was found that pregnant women experienced more fear of COVID-19 (19.66 $\pm$ 7.42) and fear of childbirth (63.22 $\pm$ 29.65) due to the concern of having COVID-19 after birth, similar to before birth. In addition, it was observed that the participants who were worried about being separated from their babies after birth experienced more fear of COVID-19 (19.34 $\pm$ 7.40) and fear of birth (62.68 $\pm$ 30.29) (Table 2).

The total scores of the scales used in the study were examined with the Kolmogorov–Smirnov Normality test and found to be normally distributed (p>0.05). Relationships between the scales were examined with Pearson's Moments Multiplication Correlation. According to the statistical analysis results performed for this purpose, it was observed that there was a significant, positive, and moderate relationship between the COVID-19 Fear Scale and the Fear of Birth Scale of pregnant women (p<0.001) (Table 3).

In this study, the predictive power of COVID-19 fear on the fear of childbirth in pregnant women was examined. In order to search for an answer to this basic issue. Regression analysis of the scales to predict total means was performed. When Table 4 is examined, it is seen that the COVID-19 fear level is a significant predictor of the fear of birth [R = 0.400,  $R^2 = 0.160$ , F (1,360) = 64.958, p<0.001]. It can be said that the

fear of COVID-19 can explain 15.8% of the total variance regarding the fear of birth. According to the regression analysis results, the regression equation for predicting fear of birth is given below.

Fear of Birth =  $(30.821) + (1.160) \times \text{COVID-19}$  Fear Scale

#### DISCUSSION

In this study examining both the Fear of Childbirth and the fear of contracting COVID-19, it was seen that the fear of COVID-19 was a predictor in the development of Fear of Childbirth. In addition, this study found that the fear of COVID-19 (mean: 19.33 points) in pregnant women was at a medium level (Figure 1).

In the study where the Turkish validity version of the scale used was made, the mean score of the scale was determined to be 19.44.3 In a study in which the fears of female and male participants (n=649) about COVID-19 disease were examined, it was emphasized that the fear of COVID-19 was higher in women, and this was because women were more emotional.<sup>16</sup> Women have an emotional nature due to both their gender and the factor of pregnancy. Since most pregnant women (n=223) see healthcare workers as their source of information on COVID-19, expressing their feelings and thoughts about COVID-19 will partially reduce their fears and comfort them. It is seen that approximately one-fourth (23.6%) of the pregnant women participating in this study experienced severe fear of birth (Figure 2). In the last trimester of pregnant women in a study conducted on this issue in Turkey, there was increased concern regarding birth and baby care.<sup>17</sup> In a study examining the prevalence of indigenous and immigrant pregnant women (n=606) in Sweden, it was found that 22% of local pregnant women and 37% of immigrants experienced birth fear.<sup>18</sup> In a study conducted with a different scale in Egypt, it was seen that 55.33% of women experienced fear of birth.<sup>19</sup> The high rate of fear of birth in pregnant women in different countries such as Sweden and Egypt are similar to our study. The high level of fear of birth in different societies with cultural differences suggests that this fear is universal and requires the awareness of health professionals working in obstetrics. We are convinced that delivery should be evaluated with simple, understandable scales or questionnaires, if possible, before planning or during a pregnancy. When a pandemic situation such as COVID-19 is added to this process, it can be seen that this fear increases. There are not enough studies in the literature regarding the fear of childbirth during a pandemic period. Therefore, it should not be forgotten that healthcare professionals should consider this finding. There was a significant relationship between the participants' fear of contracting COVID-19 before and after birth, between the worry of separation with the baby after birth, and the fear of COVID-19 and the fear of birth (Table 2). In a study conducted in Iran, it was reported that the fear of having COVID-19 during pregnancy affects the mental health of the pregnant women. Pregnant women worry about contracting the disease and infecting their babies and loved ones.<sup>20</sup> In one study that stated that women with a fear of delivery during pregnancy had a high tendency to postpartum depression, it was emphasized that there was a significant relationship between smoking, low education levels, a history of psychiatric illnesses before pregnancy, depressive symptoms during pregnancy, and the fear of delivery.<sup>21</sup> In a case report study in which a pregnant woman gave birth at home due to an excessive fear of COVID-19, it was stated that the pregnant woman did not want to go to the hospital despite Rh incompatibility, and the postnatal period was managed at home by the midwife who had followed the pregnancy.<sup>22</sup>

Table 1. Descriptive data of participants						
Sociodemographic variables		n	%			
Age	29.07±5.90 years (min: 19 - max: 44)					
Smaking	Yes	46	13.4%			
Table 1. Descriptive data of participants   Sociodemographic variables   Age   Smoking   Income status   Income status   Family type   Working status   Gonceiving method   Previous delivery status   Problems in previous birth   Chronic disease status   Time between pregnancies   Previous delivery method   Nearby COVID-19 infection status   Information sources about COVID-19	No	297	86.6%			
Table 1. Descriptive data of participants         Sociodemographic variables         Age         Smoking         Income status         Income status         Family type         Working status         Educational status         Obstetric history         Pregnancy week         Conceiving method         Planned pregnancy status         Previous delivery status         Problems in previous birth         Chronic disease status         Time between pregnancies         Previous delivery method         Nearby COVID-19 infection status         Information status about COVID-19         Cov/ID-19 positive mother's ability to breastfeed her baby         Information sources about COVID-19         Hand washing frequency (according to pre-pandemic)         Nearing a mask when you have to go out         Compliance with social distancing when having to go out	Income is more than expenses	104	30.3%			
	Income is less than expenses	13	3.8%			
	Income is equivalent to expenses	226	65.9%			
Family type	Nuclear family	279	81.3%			
	Extended family	64	18.7%			
Working status	Yes	63	18.4%			
orking status	No	280	81.6%			
	Primary education	165	48.1%			
Educational status	High school/associate degree	140	40.8%			
	Undergraduate-Postgraduate	38	11.1%			
Obstetric history						
Pregnancy week	35.51±2.70 weeks (min: 30 - max: 40)					
	Spontaneous	328	95.6%			
Conceiving method	Assisted reproductive techniques	15	4.4%			
Conceiving method Planned pregnancy status Previous delivery status Problems in previous birth	Yes	254	95.6%			
Previous delivery status	No	89	4.4%			
Previous delivery status Problems in previous birth	Yes	250	72.9%			
	No	93	27.1%			
Problems in previous hirth	Yes	20	7.8%			
Problems in previous birth Chronic disease status	No	235	92.2%			
Chronic disease status	Yes	32	9.3%			
Problems in previous birth Chronic disease status	No	311	90.7%			
Chronic disease status	First pregnancy	97	28.3%			
	Less than 1 year	12	3.5%			
	1–2 years	56	16.3%			
	More than 2 years	178	51.9%			
	Normal vaginal delivery	119	49.0%			
Previous delivery method	Cesarean section	124	51.0%			
Nearby COVID-19 infection status	Yes	150	43.7%			
	No	193	56.3%			
Information status about COVID-19		1	1			
	Yes	102	29.7%			
COVID-19 positive mother's ability to breastfeed her baby	No	45	13.1%			
	Unknown	196	57.1%			
	Media	102	29.7%			
Information sources about COVID-19	Internet	35	10.2%			
	Health employee	223	65.0%			
Hand washing frequency (according to pre-pandemic)	Yes	324	94.5%			
	No	19	5.5%			
Not going out unless required	Yes	135	39.4%			
	No	208	60.6%			
Wearing a mask when you have to go out	Yes	340	99.1%			
	No	3	0.9%			
Compliance with social distancing when having to go out	Yes	343	100%			
	No	0	0			
COVID-19: coronavirus disease 2019, n: number.						

In a study conducted on social media in the United States, it was reported that pregnant women (n=592) wanted to stay at home until the birth began and planned to leave hospital as soon as possible after birth, thus thinking that they would reduce their risk of contracting COVID-19. In addition, it was found in this study that some of the pregnant women (n=81) did not intend to give birth in a hospital, and



Figure 1. Distribution of COVID-19 fear responses.

According to the scores obtained from the COVID-19 Fear scale, it was found that the scale mean score of pregnant women was  $19.33\pm7.52$ , while the majority of the participants scored 21 points and above.

COVID-19: coronavirus disease 2019





The fear of birth scale mean score of the participants was  $61.7\pm30.09$  and according to the cut-off score, 25.7% (n=88) did not have a fear of birth, while 74.3% (n=255) experienced fear of birth. It was concluded that 81 pregnant women (23.6%) who gave ten full points on the scale experienced severe fear of birth.

FOBS: The fear of birth scale, n: number

they were worried that they might become infected in the hospital and be separated from their babies.<sup>23</sup> Healthcare professionals may need to explain to pregnant women the demonstrated or possible effects of COVID-19 on the fetus and newborn in a language that the lay-person can understand. Good feelings such as being pregnant and knowing that you will be a mother should not be allowed to be overshadowed by such fears. In addition, investigating the social support (spouse, mother, sibling, friend, etc.) sources of pregnant women may also be effective in managing such fears.

One of our study findings is a significant positive correlation between the fear of childbirth and the fear of COVID-19 (Tables 3 and 4). In a qualitative study examining the adaptation of seven pregnant women to the pandemic process, researchers found three themes (pregnancy perception in a pandemic, coping with pregnancy, and supporting pregnant women).<sup>24</sup> In a study conducted with 190 pregnant women in Pakistan, it was reported that 74.7% of women were afraid of contracting COVID-19. It was observed that fear was higher in those who received service from a public hospital, had four or more pregnancies, and had low economic and educational levels.<sup>25</sup> Another study emphasized that 84.6% of pregnant women (n=242) had a high level of prenatal anxiety and fear of contracting COVID-19.<sup>24</sup> Some women may consider a home birth because they fear being infected with COVID-19 and the delivery room environment. However, delivery at home can adversely affect the health of the mother and baby.<sup>25</sup> In a study comparing counseling and art therapy under the leadership of a healthcare professional to cope with the fear of childbirth, it was found that neither method was superior to the other; they are both effective in controlling the fear of birth.<sup>7</sup> In order to control the fear of birth, methods such as health professional counseling, group therapy, telephone support, cognitive behavioral therapy, and obtaining birth preparation support from a health professional are recommended.<sup>26</sup> Our research examining the relationship between the fear of birth and the fear of COVID-19 shows similar features with other studies. We think that a pregnant woman's ability to visit the hospital and delivery room environment in which she plans to give birth, communicate with the healthcare professionals involved in the delivery, and to participate in birth preparation training will help pregnant women control their fear of birth and COVID-19.

It is not known precisely when the COVID-19 pandemic will end. In addition to the possible social and economic uncertainties in this process, being at risk of becoming sick inevitably causes people to experience intense stress and anxiety. In such a period, undergoing significant periods of a women's life such as pregnancy and childbirth, will increase the stress and anxiety experienced. Therefore, preventive health care, education, and consultancy services should be provided without delay during pregnancy follow-up during a pandemic period.

When pregnant women come to their health check-ups, in addition to routine obstetric examinations, fear of childbirth and fear of COVID-19 should be evaluated with practical scales or brief questioning by healthcare professionals. According to these evaluation results, it is recommended that at risk pregnant women be followed closely, and if necessary, they should be referred to a psychologist or psychiatrist.

#### **Limitations and Strengths**

This study has several limitations such as the fact that generalization cannot be made since this study was carried out in a single center and also that a psychological assessment tool based on individuals' reports may weaken its objectivity. However, the study's strengths are its ability

Table 2. Evaluation of the COVID-19 fear effect on the fear of birth					
	COVID-19 fear value, mean (SD)	p-value; U	Fear of birth value, mean (SD)	p-value; U	
The fear of contraction corona virus on arrival					
Yes (n=302, 88%)	19.69±7.63	0 010. 3910 000	64 25+20 30 43 20+20 76	0 000: 4657 500	
No (n=41, 12%)	16.68±6.10	0.010, 3819.000	04.23123.30 43.23123.70	0.000, 4057.500	
Worry of contraction COVID-19 before birth					
Yes (n=296, 86.3%)	20 09+7 36 14 50+6 91	0 000: 3803 500	63 24+30 15 52 34+29 22	0.009. 5309 500	
No (n=47, 13.7%)	20.08±7.3614.59±6.81 0.000; 3893.500		05.24±50.15 52.54±20.22	0.000, 9900.900	
Concern of contracting COVID-19 after birth					
Yes (n=315, 91.8%)	19.66±7.42	0 002. 2028 000	63.22±29.65	0.002.2046 500	
No (n=28, 8.2%)	15.53±7.76	0.005, 2928.000	45.17±30.65	0.005, 2940.500	
Worry of being separated from baby after birth					
Yes (n=319, 93.0%)	19.34±7.40	0 590, 2575 500	62.68±30.29	0 027: 2904 500	
No (n=24, 7.0%)	19.20±9.20	0.569, 5575.500	49.37±24.59	0.027, 2004.300	
Mann–Whitney U test, p<0.05. COVID-19: coronavirus disease 2019, SD: standard deviation, n: nu	nber.				

Table 3. Relationship of COVID-19 fear and fear of birth scale					
		Fear of birth scale			
(0)/ID 10 fear	r	0.400			
	р	0.000			
r: Pearson's correlation coefficient. P-values of the statistically significant correlation coefficients were shown as bold $p < 0.001$ .					

COVID-19: coronavirus disease-2019.

# Table 4. Findings regarding the power of COVID-19 fear effect on the fear of birth

Dependent variable: fear of birth					
Independent Variables	β	SE <sub>b</sub>	Std β	т	p-value
Constant	30.821	4.117		7.486	0.000
Fear of COVID-19	1.600	0.198	0.400	8.060	0.000
$R = 0.400/R^2 = 0.160/Adjusted R^2 = 0.158$					

 $F_{(1360)} = 64.958, p=0.000$ 

SE: standard error, Std: standard, COVID-19: coronavirus disease 2019.

to raise awareness of the fear that may occur during pregnancy in order to provide the necessary support.

# **MAIN POINTS**

- When pregnant women come to their health check-ups, in addition to routine obstetric examinations, fear of childbirth and fear of COVID-19 should be evaluated with practical scales or brief questioning by healthcare professionals.
- According to the evaluation results, it is recommended that the pregnant women at risk be followed closely, and if necessary, they should be referred to a psychologist or psychiatrist.
- COVID-19 is a contributing factor in the increase of the fear of birth.

#### ETHICS

**Ethics Committee Approval:** Ethics committee approval was obtained from Sakarya University Scientific Research Ethics Committee (decision no and date: 583-01/12/2020).

**Informed Consent:** Informed consent was obtained in line with the voluntary principle, informing the participants about the study and confirming that their personal information would be protected.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

#### **Authorship Contributions**

Concept: Ö.T., K.G., Design: Ö.T., K.G., Supervision: Ö.T., K.G., M.S.B., Data Collection and/or Processing: Ö.T., Ö.D., K.G., M.S.B., Analysis and/ or Interpretation: Ö.D., Literature Search: M.S.B., Writing: Ö.T., K.G., M.S.B., Critical Review: Ö.T., M.S.B.

#### DISCLOSURES

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The author declared that this study had received no financial support.

- Chen H, Selix N, Nosek M. Perinatal anxiety and depression during COVID-19. J Nurse Pract. 2021; 17(1): 26-31.
- Nodoushan RJ, Alimoradi H, Nazari M. Spiritual health and stress in pregnant women during the COVID-19 Pandemic. SN Compr Clin Med. 2020; 2(12): 2528-34.
- 3. Bakioğlu F, Korkmaz O, Ercan H. Fear of COVID-19 and positivity: mediating role of intolerance of uncertainty, depression, anxiety, and stress. Int J Ment Health Addict. 2021; 19(6): 2369-82.
- O'Connell MA, Leahy-Warren P, Khashan AS, Kenny LC, O'Neill SM. Worldwide prevalence of tocophobia in pregnant women: systematic review and metaanalysis. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2017; 96(8): 907-20.
- 5. Stoll K, Fairbrother N, Thordarson DS. Childbirth fear: relation to birth and care provider preferences. J Midwifery Womens Health. 2018; 63(1): 58-67.
- Gönenç İM, Aker MN, Güven H, Moraloğlu Tekin Ö. The effect of the personality traits of pregnant women on the fear of childbirth. Perspect Psychiatr Care. 2020; 56(2): 347-54.
- Wahlbeck H, Kvist LJ, Landgren K. Art therapy and counseling for fear of childbirth: a randomized controlled trial. Art Therapy. 2020; 37(3): 123-30.

- Kaya D, Evcili F. The affecting factors of childbirth fear for pregnant women admitted to a health center and university hospital in Turkey. J Health Res. 20201; 34(5): 389-97.
- 9. Ferreira MJS, Teixeira ZM. Preliminary study of the Portuguese version of the Childbirth Fear Prior to Pregnancy Scale in a sample of university students. Revista de Enfermagem Referência. 2020; 5(3): 1-8.
- Jago CA, Singh SS, Moretti F. Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) and Pregnancy: Combating Isolation to Improve Outcomes. Obstet Gynecol. 2020; 136(1): 33-6.
- 11. Kajdy A, Feduniw S, Ajdacka U, Modzelewski J, Baranowska B, Sys D, et al. Risk factors for anxiety and depression among pregnant women during the COVID-19 pandemic: A web-based cross-sectional survey. Medicine (Baltimore). 2020; 99(30): e21279.
- 12. Matvienko-Sikar K, Meedya S, Ravaldi C. Perinatal mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic. Women Birth. 2020; 33(4): 309-10.
- 13. Ahorsu DK, Lin CY, Imani V, Saffari M, Griffiths MD, Pakpour AH. The fear of COVID-19 scale: development and initial validation. Int J Ment Health Addict. 2020: 1-9.
- Haines H, Pallant JF, Karlström A, Hildingsson I. Cross-cultural comparison of levels of childbirth-related fear in an Australian and Swedish sample. Midwifery. 2011; 27(4): 560-7.
- Serçekuş P, Vardar O, Özkan S. Fear of childbirth among pregnant women and their partners in Turkey. Sex Reprod Healthc. 2020; 24: 100501.
- Tzur Bitan D, Grossman-Giron A, Bloch Y, Mayer Y, Shiffman N, Mendlovic S. Fear of COVID-19 scale: Psychometric characteristics, reliability and validity in the Israeli population. Psychiatry Res. 2020; 289: 113100.
- 17. Zengin H, Bafali IO, Caka SY, Tiryaki O, Cinar N. Childbirth and Postpartum Period Fear and the Related Factors in Pregnancy. J Coll Physicians Surg Pak. 2020; 30(2): 144-8.

- Ternström E, Hildingsson I, Haines H, Rubertsson C. Higher prevalence of childbirth related fear in foreign born pregnant women--findings from a community sample in Sweden. Midwifery. 2015; 31(4): 445-50.
- 19. Nasr EH, Alshehri N, Almutairi MA, AbdElmenim FM. Fear from Childbirth among Pregnant Women. Open Access Library Journal. 2020; 7: 1-13.
- Salehi L, Rahimzadeh M, Molaei E, Zaheri H, Esmaelzadeh-Saeieh S. The relationship among fear and anxiety of COVID-19, pregnancy experience, and mental health disorder in pregnant women: A structural equation model. Brain Behav. 2020; 10(11): e01835.
- 21. Bangma M, Kazemier BM, Papatsonis DNM, Van der Zaag-Loonen HJ, Paarlberg KM. The association between depressive symptoms during pregnancy and post-delivery fear of childbirth; a prospective study. J Reprod Infant Psychol. 2020; 38(4): 367-77.
- 22. Nosratabadi M, Sarabi N, Masoudiyekta L. A Case Report of Vaginal Delivery at Home due to Fear of Covid-19. Iran J Psychiatry. 2020; 15(4): 366-369.
- 23. Gildner TE, Thayer ZM. Birth plan alterations among American women in response to COVID-19. Health Expect. 2020; 23(4): 969-71.
- 24. Hossain N, Samuel M, Sandeep R, Imtiaz S, Zaheer S. Perceptions, Generalized Anxiety and Fears of Pregnant women about Corona Virus infection in the heart of Pandemic. Research Square. 2020: 1-16. DOI: 10.21203/rs.3.rs-32235/v1
- 25. Hermann A, Fitelson EM, Bergink V. Meeting Maternal Mental Health Needs During the COVID-19 Pandemic. JAMA Psychiatry. 2021; 78(2): 123-4.
- 26. Hildingsson I, Rubertsson C. Testing the birth attitude profile scale in a Swedish sample of women with fear of birth. J Psychosom Obstet Gynaecol. 2021; 42(2): 132-9.



# **Current Threat in COVID-19; Asymptomatic Carriers**

🕲 Feyza İzci<sup>1</sup>, 🕲 Zeynep Türe<sup>1</sup>, 🕲 Gamze Kalın Ünüvar<sup>1</sup>, 🕲 Burcu Baran Ketencioğlu<sup>2</sup>, 🕲 Gökmen Zararsız<sup>3</sup>, 🕲 Bilgehan Aygen<sup>1</sup>, Orhan Yıldız<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Infectious Diseases, Erciyes University Faculty of Medicine, Kayseri, Turkey <sup>2</sup>Department of Pulmonology, Ercives University Faculty of Medicine, Kayseri, Turkey <sup>3</sup>Department of Biostatistics, Ercives University Faculty of Medicine, Kayseri, Turkey

# ABSTRACT

BACKGROUND/AIM: Asymptomatic infections are not low in their inability to spread the virus and have no special clinical signs. Consequently, the detection of asymptomatic infections is the central issue for early prevention and control of the coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19) around the world. This study aimed to assess the demographic, clinical, and laboratory findings of symptomatic and asymptomatic patients with a diagnosis of COVID-19.

MATERIALS AND METHODS: In this retrospective single-center study, 165 laboratory-confirmed COVID-19 patients who were asymptomatic or symptomatic and followed up at home or in the hospital between March 15, 2020, and May 23, 2020, were included.

RESULTS: Among all 165 patients, 21 (12.7%) were asymptomatic and 144 (87.2%) were symptomatic. The median age of the symptomatic patients was higher than the asymptomatic patients, and there were no asymptomatic patients over 65 years older. Twenty-one patients were asymptomatic at admission, but four of them (19%) developed symptoms in the follow-up. Although the white blood cell (WBC) and lymphocyte counts were within the normal range for all patients, the asymptomatic

patients had a significantly higher WBC and lymphocyte count than the symptomatic patients. The symptomatic patients had higher median C-reactive protein levels than the asymptomatic patients. For the typical CT findings for COVID-19, there were fewer in the asymptomatic infections (12 cases, 57.1%) than those in the symptomatic infections (103 cases, 71.5%). There were 17 (10%) patients in need of intensive care and the mortality rate was 6.1%.

**CONCLUSION:** Asymptomatic infections spread silently in COVID-19. More importance should be given to the identification and guarantine of asymptomatic patients to eliminate COVID-19 transmission and to allow for the early diagnosis of pre-symptomatic patients.

Keywords: COVID-19, SARS-CoV-2, pre-symptomatic, asymptomatic, control

# **INTRODUCTION**

In late December 2019, a series of unexplained pneumonia cases were identified in Wuhan, China, which attracted the attention of health officials. As a result of studies, a new coronavirus (2019-nCoV) was identified by Chinese scientists on January 7, 2020. At the same time, the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses (ICTV) declared

that the new coronavirus to be severe acute respiratory syndromecoronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2). The World Health Organization announced "COVID-19" as the name of this new disease on February 11, 2020.1 Globally so far, nearly 145 million people have been infected with COVID-19, and more than 3 million people have died.<sup>2</sup> Drug and vaccination studies on this subject are ongoing. In the absence of effective treatment, the key points to control COVID-19 rests on the

To cite this article: İzci F, Türe Z, Kalın Ünüvar G, Baran Ketencioğlu B, Zararsız G, Aygen B, Yıldız O. Current Threat in COVID-19; Asymptomatic Carriers. Cyprus J Med Sci 2022;7(2):259-265

ORCID iDs of the authors: F.İ. 0000-0002-2492-3753; Z.T. 0000-0001-6895-0318; G.K.Ü. 0000-0001-7209-8826; B.B.K. 0000-0002-6757-3140; G.Z. 0000-0001-5801-1835; B.A. 0000-0002-7598-6578; O.Y. 0000-0001-6019-0430.



Address for Correspondence: Feyza İzci E-mail: fevzazci@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-2492-3753

Received: 18.11.2020 Accepted: 06.08.2021

OPEN ACCESS

Copyright 2022 by the Cyprus Turkish Medical Association / Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences published by Galenos Publishing House. Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License

early recognition and containment of an infected person, and the interruption of transmission.<sup>1</sup>

COVID-19 is a complicated illness with a broad spectrum of clinical patterns. Although approximately 20% of patients progress with moderate or severe disease, some remain asymptomatic.<sup>3</sup> Asymptomatic infections have no certain incubation period owing to the absence of clinical signs.<sup>4</sup> Knowing the frequency of asymptomatic infections will allow for a comprehension of the epidemiological capability of COVID-19 transmission and the genuine universality of the illness.

As reported in the literature, the incidence of asymptomatic carriers ranges from 1.6% to 51.7%.<sup>1</sup>

Asymptomatic patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection may become symptomatic during follow-up.<sup>5</sup> Asymptomatic patients are not low in their capacity to spread the infection and these patients are likely to give rise to new rounds of outbreaks. Thus, the detection of asymptomatic infections is the central issue for the early prevention and control of COVID-19 around the world.<sup>6,7</sup>

This study aimed to assess the demographic, clinical and laboratory findings of symptomatic and asymptomatic patients admitted to our university hospital with a diagnosis of COVID-19.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Study Design and Patients**

The study was conducted retrospectively in the Faculty of Medicine of Erciyes University. Patients who were asymptomatic or symptomatic and followed up at home or in the hospital between March 15, 2020 and May 23, 2020 were included in this study. Case definitions were made according to the Republic of Turkey Ministry of Health guidelines.<sup>8</sup>

#### Data Collection

Epidemiological, demographic, clinical, laboratory, treatment, and outcome data were obtained from the hospital's electronic records. In addition, chest computed tomography (CT) findings of the patients before treatment were recorded.

#### Definitions

**Asymptomatic infection:** Patient samples were positive for SARS-CoV-2 by reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction test (RT-PCR), and the absence of typical clinical symptoms or signs.

People who were close contacts of those patients diagnosed with COVID-19 in our hospital were screened by performing a COVID-19 PCR test and thus, asymptomatic patients were found.

**Symptomatic infection:** Patient samples were positive for SARS-CoV-2 by RT-PCR in conjunction with the typical clinical symptoms and signs.

**Pre-symptomatic infection:** Asymptomatic infection at admission and development of typical clinical symptoms and signs during follow-up.

#### Typical findings in chest CT:

- Peripheral, bilateral (multilobar) ground glass areas
- Multifocal ground glass areas (consolidation, crazy paving pattern can also be seen)

#### Atypical findings in chest CT

- Round or non-peripheral multifocal, diffuse, perihilar or unilateral ground glass areas
- Lobar or segmental consolidation or tree in bud view without areas of ground glass
- Cavitation
- Pleural effusion with interlobular septal thickening

Normal chest CT: No finding of pneumonia.8

#### **Laboratory Procedures**

Laboratory data include complete blood cell count, renal and liver function, creatine kinase, lactate dehydrogenase, electrolytes, coagulation profile (prothrombin time, active thromboplastin time,

INR, D-dimer and fibrinogen), myocardial enzymes, serum ferritin, CRP, procalcitonin and these were monitored periodically. Combined throat/ nasal swab samples were tested for SARS-CoV-2 RNA.

Trained personnel collected the nasopharyngeal/oropharyngeal swabs and transferred the samples onto viral transport media. The SARS-CoV-2 RNA from these samples was determined using the Biospeedy COVID-19 RT-PCR kit (Bioeksen R&D Technologies Ltd., Republic of Turkey Ministry of Health, Istanbul, Turkey) according to the manufacturer's protocols. All tests were carried out with the Roto-Gene platform (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany).

From those whom combined nose and throat swab samples were taken:

- Patients who were possible cases and were admitted to our hospital.8
- Patients whose first COVID-19 PCR result was negative, but clinically, laboratory or
- Radiologically were likely to be considered COVID-19 (with 24-hour intervals) and those
- Patients with positive COVID-19 PCR results included in this study.
- A control COVID-19 PCR sample was taken from patients with stable vital signs for 72 hours during treatment.
- For patients with a positive PCR results and whose treatment was completed, a PCR scan was
- Performed every 48 hours until a negative result was obtained.
- Patients whose positive PCR test turned negative were discharged.

In each case, symptoms such as fever, cough, nasal congestion, dizziness, fatigue, shortness of breath, arthralgia, etc. that occurred during their hospitalization were recorded.

#### Statistical Analysis

Histogram, q-q plots and Shapiro–Wilk's test were examined to assess the data normality. The Levene test was used to test variance homogeneity. To compare the differences between the symptomatic and non-symptomatic groups, either independent two samples t-test or Mann–Whitney U tests were applied for continuous variables, Pearson chi-square analysis or Fisher's exact test were applied for categorical variables. Kaplan–Meier plots were generated to compare the survival probabilities between the patient groups. Additionally, univariate and multiple Cox proportional hazards regression analysis were conducted to identify the risk factors of survival time. Significant variables at p<0.05 were included into a multiple model and forward elimination was performed using Wald statistic.

The proportional hazards assumption was assessed using Schoenfeld residuals. Hazard ratios were calculated with 95% confidence intervals. The Hosmer–Lemeshow test was used to assess the goodness of fit of the built model. To check for multiple testing, all p-values were adjusted using the Benjamini–Hochberg procedure. Adjusted p-values less than 5% were considered to be statistically significant. All analyses were conducted using R 3.5.1 (www.r-project.org) and TURCOSA (Turcosa Analytics Ltd. Co., Turkey, www.turcosa.com.tr) software.

#### **Ethical Consideration**

The study was approved by the Research Ethics Commission of University of Erciyes, Turkey (2020/357-2020.07.08).

#### RESULTS

#### **Demographic Characteristics**

In the planned study interval, 1157 patients admitted to our hospital were possible cases and 165 of them were determined as definite cases and were incorporated into this study. The flow diagram of the patients enrolled in this study is shown in Figure 1. Of these patients, 21 (12.7%) were asymptomatic and 144 (87.2%) were symptomatic. The demographic data of these two groups are shown in Table 1. The median age of the patients was 46 years and a preponderance of them was male (53%).

Asymptomatic patients had a lower median age than symptomatic patients, and there was no asymptomatic patient over 65 years. According to age, there was no significant differences between the groups (p=0.114). Twenty-seven (12.7%) patients were healthcare workers [5 (23.8%) of the asymptomatic patients and 16 (11.1%) of symptomatic patients]. There were 10 (6.1%) patients with a travel history abroad in the prior 14 days and all of them were symptomatic. From all of the patients, 41.8% had a history of exposure with cases diagnosed with COVID-19 in their family or at work and this rate was significantly higher in the symptomatic patients (71.4%) (p<0.05). There were 52 (31.5%) patients with a minimum of one comorbidity. The most frequent comorbidities were hypertension (18.2%), diabetes mellitus (DM) (12.7%) and coronary artery disease (CAD) (9.7%).

#### **Distribution of Symptoms in COVID-19 Patients**

The symptom distribution of those patients who were symptomatic at the time of admission is shown in Figure 2. Among the 144 symptomatic patients, the most common symptom was coughing (63.2%).

Other symptoms were fever (55,6%), dyspnoea (31.3%), myalgia (30.6%), sore throat (29.9%) and headache (17.4%). Twenty-one patients were asymptomatic at admission, but four of them developed symptoms in the follow-up. The demographic, clinical and laboratory findings of pre-symptomatic patients are shown in Table 2. Among them, 75% of these patients were 50 years or older and were male. Two patients had

at least one comorbidity and one patient who became symptomatic had a history of malignancy. No significant difference was found when laboratory findings (lymphocyte count, CRP, D-dimer) were observed at the time of admission. Only the patient with malignancy had a high level of CRP (70 mg/L). Three pre-symptomatic patients were found to have abnormal chest CT findings. Invasive mechanical ventilation was needed for just one patient who had malignancy but it was not fatal.

#### Laboratory and Radiologic findings

A comparison of first admission laboratory and radiological findings between the symptomatic and asymptomatic groups is shown in Table 3. Whereas the white blood cell (WBC) and lymphocyte counts were within the normal range for all patients, the asymptomatic patients had a significantly higher WBC and lymphocyte count than the symptomatic patients. The symptomatic patients had higher median CRP levels than the asymptomatic patients and there was statistically significant difference between the two groups (p < 0.05). When the radiological findings of all the patients were evaluated, 115 (69.7%) were typical for COVID-19, 26 (15.8%) were normal and 18 (10.9%) were atypical. For the typical CT findings for COVID-19, there were fewer in the asymptomatic infections (12 cases, 57.1%) than those in the symptomatic infections (103 cases, 71.5%). Among the 21 asymptomatic patients, 13 (61.9%) had abnormal radiological findings and 8 (38.1%) patients had no signs of pneumonia on chest CT. There was no significant difference between the symptomatic and asymptomatic patient groups in terms of age, gender, comorbidity, laboratory findings (except CRP levels) or prognosis.

#### **Treatment and Prognosis**

A comparison of the treatment and prognosis between the symptomatic and asymptomatic groups is shown in Table 4. Almost all of the patients (98.8%) received hydroxychloroquine treatment. Favipiravir treatment rates were higher in the symptomatic patients (p<0.05). There was no significant difference for other antiviral or antibacterial treatment rates in these groups. The median duration of hospitalization was 7 days and it was higher in the symptomatic patients (p<0.05). There were 17 (10%) patients in need of intensive care and the mortality rate was 6.1%. Invasive mechanical ventilation was needed for just one asymptomatic patient, but it was not fatal. No significant difference in terms of the



Figure 1. Flow diagram of patients enrolled in this study.



presence of nosocomial infection, invasive mechanical ventilation, and mortality between these two groups was found.

### DISCUSSION

Asymptomatic carriers have a significant role in the spread of COVID-19 disease.<sup>9</sup>

Asymptomatic patients are a silent source of infection, who can unknowingly place others at risk of infection as they have fewer admissions to hospital. Therefore, they can lead to a global increase in morbidity and mortality with the expansion of the pandemic.<sup>1,10</sup> Identifying asymptomatic patients is one of the most important strategies in disease control. This study included 165 COVID-19 patients and 21 (12.7%) of them were asymptomatic at admission. In a study conducted in 72,314 patients in China, 1.6% were found to be asymptomatic, whereas another study found that the incidence of asymptomatic infection was 30.8% in 565 Japanese people who were evacuated from Wuhan. The incidence of asymptomatic patients on the "Diamond Princess" ship, which was quarantined in early February, 2020 due to COVID-19 disease, was found to be 51.7%. In these last two studies, it has been suggested that the reason for the higher incidence is close contact in a certain closed area.<sup>1</sup>

In this study, the median age of the symptomatic patients was higher than the asymptomatic patients, but there was no significant difference between these groups. Also, there were no asymptomatic patients over 65 years of age. In previous studies comparing the demographic data of asymptomatic and symptomatic patients with COVID-19, asymptomatic patients were younger than the symptomatic ones.<sup>11,12</sup> In the literature, people with comorbidity or the elderly are more vulnerable to serious diseases.<sup>13,14</sup> There were 52 (31.5%) patients with a minimum of one comorbidity in this study. The most frequent comorbidities were hypertension (18.2%), DM (12.7%) and CAD (9.7%). There was no significant difference in terms of comorbidities between our groups.

Among the 165 patients with COVID-19, cough was the most common symptom (63.2%) and the second was fever with a rate of 55.6%. More than 370,000 patients diagnosed with COVID-19 in the United States

Table 1. Comparison of patient characteristics between symptomatic and asymptomatic groups							
Variables	Asymptomatic (n=21)	Symptomatic (n=144)	Total (n=165)	p-value	adj.p		
Age (years)	42.38±11.33	47.01±16.99	46.42±16.42	0.114	0.277		
Over 50 years old	6 (28.6)	61 (42.4)	67 (40.6)	0.229	0.360		
Over 65 years old	0 (0.0)	25 (17.4)	25 (15.2)	0.046	0.253		
Male (gender)	13 (61.9)	75 (52.1)	88 (53.3)	0.399	0.488		
Healthcare worker	5 (23.8)	16 (11.1)	21 (12.7)	0.151	0.277		
Imported cases	0 (0.0)	10 (6.9)	10 (6.1)	0.364	0.488		
Exposure history	15 (71.4)	54 (37.5)	69 (41.8)	0.003	0.033		
Comorbidity	3 (14.3)	49 (34.0)	52 (31.5)	0.069	0.253		
Hypertension	1 (4.8)	29 (20.1)	30 (18.2)	0.128	0.277		
Diabetes mellitus	1 (4.8)	20 (13.9)	21 (12.7)	0.480	0.528		
Coronary heath diseases	1 (4.8)	15 (10.4)	16 (9.7)	0.696	0.696		
Values are expressed as $n (\%)$ or mean + SD significant p-va	lues are shown in bold	·					

SD: standard deviation, n: number.

Table 2. Characteristics of pre-	Table 2. Characteristics of pre-symptomatic patients						
Variables	Patient 1	Patient 2	Patient 3	Patient 4			
Age (years)	50	39	56	57			
Gender	Male	Male	Male	Female			
Days of hospitalization	5	6	60	18			
Exposure history	Yes	Yes	No	No			
Any pre-existing comorbidity	Yes	No	Yes	Yes			
Comorbidities	HT, CAD	No	Malignancy	DM			
The median duration of PCR negativization	20	5	20	10			
Symptom	Cough-weakness	Myalgia	Fever-dyspnoea	Fever			
Thorax CT finding	No	Typical	Typical	Typical			
WBC (x10³/µL)	3950	6450	2220	6330			
Lymphocyte count (x10³/µL)	1080	1880	1580	1280			
Lactate dehydrogenase (u/L)	223	190	243	150			
D-dimer (µg/L)	290	420	420	250			
CRP (mg/L)	2,30	5,32	70,16	24,43			
Treatment	Hydroxychloroquine + Azithromycin	Hydroxychloroquine + Azithromycin + Oseltamivir	Hydroxychloroquine + Azithromycin + Favipiravir+ Oseltamivir	Hydroxychloroquine + Azithromycin +Oseltamivir			
Nosocomial infection	No	No	Yes	No			
Intubation	No	No	Yes	No			
Intensive care unit	No	No	Yes	No			
Outcome	Discharge	Discharge	Discharge	Discharge			

HT: hypertension, CAD: coronary artery diseases, DM: diabetes mellitus, PCR: polymerase chain reaction, WBC: white blood cell, CT: computed tomography, CRP: C-reactive protein.

reported to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and the most common symptoms were cough (50%), fever (43%), myalgia (36%), headache (34%), and dyspnea (29%).<sup>15</sup> Similar frequencies of clinical findings were found in other studies.<sup>13,16</sup> Of our patients, twentyone were asymptomatic at admission, but four of them (19%) developed symptoms during follow-up. These symptoms were similar to those of the symptomatic patients. In a skilled nursing facility, 27 (56%) of 48 confirmed COVID-19 cases were classified as asymptomatic at the time of diagnosis. However, 24 of them developed symptoms within 7 days of their follow-up.<sup>5</sup>

A study conducted in a nursing home in the United States showed that 23 novel coronary pneumonia virus RT-PCR tests were positive, 10 were symptomatic and 13 were asymptomatic.

Among them, 10 patients were reported to have developed symptoms within 7 days of testing and three of them with positive test results continued to be asymptomatic, suggesting that hidden infections account for approximately 13% (3/23) of the total number of infections.<sup>17</sup> As a result of these studies, it can be stated that, the earlier that testing is performed, the higher the rate of detected asymptomatic infections will be. In China, a total of 81,802 COVID-19 cases were reported as of April 7, 2020 and 1,190 of them were asymptomatic and 1095 of these asymptomatic patients were under follow-up. In the light of these results, the frequency of "true" asymptomatic infection was found to be between 1.5 % and 2.8%. On the other hand, the authors emphasized that this is unlikely to show the true prevalence of asymptomatic infection. The rate of asymptomatic case detection was found to be high due to the careful follow-up of close contacts.<sup>9</sup> Therefore, it is essential to follow asymptomatic patients, as they may not be true asymptomatic cases.

When the laboratory findings of all the patients were compared, WBC and lymphocyte values were within the normal range and the asymptomatic patients had a significantly higher WBC and lymphocyte counts than the symptomatic patients. Similarly, another study reported that WBC and lymphocyte count levels were significantly higher in asymptomatic infections than in symptomatic patients which confirmed that the lymphocyte count was important in clearing the virus.<sup>11,12</sup> Previous studies showed that CRP levels may be considered as a determinant of disease severity.<sup>7,18</sup> Considering our data, the CRP levels were found to be significantly higher in the symptomatic patients.

In our study, approximately 70% of the patients had typical radiological findings for COVID-19.

The proportion of asymptomatic patients with typical CT findings for COVID-19 was close to

the symptomatic patients (57.1%, 71.5% respectively). As a result, there was also a significant presence of tomography findings in those patients without clinical symptoms and they should be tested for COVID-19. Recent studies support this inference. In one study that included 24 asymptomatic patients, 50% had findings of ground-glass or patchy shadows in the lungs and 20% had atypical imaging abnormalities.<sup>6</sup> In a similar study of 55 patients with asymptomatic infection, 67% were found to have pneumonia on admission; only two patients developed hypoxia, and all were discharged.<sup>7</sup> The close follow-up of asymptomatic patients with radiological findings on chest tomography at admission is recommended for progression.

Table 3. Comparison of admission laboratory and radiological findings between symptomatic and asymptomatic groups							
Variables	Asymptomati (n=21)	Symptomatic (n=144)	Total (n=165)	p-value	adj.p		
WBC (x10³/µL)	6130 (4690–7300)	5745 (4735-7218)	5810(4740-7215)	0.870	0.979		
Lymphocyte count (x10³/µL)	1640 (1285–2425)	1490 (1100-1927.5)	1520(1105-1960)	0.145	0.447		
Neutrophil count (x10³/µL)	3540 (2525–4980)	3580 (2833-4653)	3580(2710-4645)	0.694	0.807		
Hemoglobin (g/L)	14.15±1.81	13.94±1.74	13.97±1.74	0.602	0.807		
Platelet count	247,000 (193,000–320,000)	230,000 (187,250–296,750)	230,000 (189,000–299,500)	0.303	0.671		
Aspartate aminotransferase (u/L)	22.0 (17.5-27.5)	22.0 (17.0–32.0)	22.0 (17.0–31.0)	0.736	0.807		
Alanine aminotransferase (u/L)	22.0 (15.5–36.7)	21.0 (14.9–29.0)	21.0 (15.0–30.0)	0.373	0.671		
Lactate dehydrogenase (u/L)	210 (167–236)	203 (174–244)	203 (172–242)	0.637	0.807		
Troponin (ng/mL)	0.004 (0.003–0.006)	0.005 (0.003–0.007)	0.0045 (0.003–0.007)	0.369	0.671		
Creatine kinase (U/L)	83.0 (57.8–95.8)	84.0 (52.5–111.0)	84.0 (54.0–110.0)	0.979	0.979		
Fibrinogen (mg/dL)	368.0 (312.0–418.5)	347.0 (270.5–473.8)	353.0 (278.0–455.0)	0.728	0.807		
D-dimer (µg/L)	370 (235–420)	410 (250–610)	385 (250–590)	0.149	0.447		
Ferritin (ng/mL)	192.0 (89.0–343.5)	219.5 (130.8–457.3)	210.0 (124.5–432.5)	0.573	0.807		
CRP (mg/ L)	4.25 (1.47–7.49)	10.10 (3.13–37.15)	8.82 (2.77–31.45)	0.006	0.108		
Procalcitonin (ng/mL)	0.030 (0.020–0.045)	0.050 (0.030–0.090)	0.040 (0.030–0.083)	0.057	0.266		
Blood urea nitrogen(mg/dL)	12.0 (11.0–15.5)	12.0 (9.5–16.2)	12.0 (9.7–16.0)	0.762	0.807		
Creatinine (mg/dL)	0.80 (0.67–1.00)	0.84 (0.70–1.04)	0.83 (0.70–1.03)	0.333	0.671		
Triglyceride (mg/dL)	173.0 (138.5–206.5)	128.5 (92.3–173.5)	136.0 (94.0–178.0)	0.059	0.266		
Torax CT finding							
No CT	0 (0.0)	6 (4.2)	6 (3.6)				
Normal	8 (38.1)	18 (12.5)	26 (15.8)				
Atypical	1 (4.8)	17 (11.8)	18 (10.9)	0.020	0.180		
Typical	12 (57.1)	103 (71.5)	115 (69.7)				
Asymptomatic patientwith typical CT finding	13 (61.9)	-		-			

Values are expressed as n (%), mean  $\pm$  SD or median (1<sup>st</sup>-3<sup>rd</sup> quartiles), significant p-values are shown in bold. SD: standard deviation, WBC: white blood cell, CT: computed tomography, n: number.

Table 4. Comparison of treatment and prognosis related variables between symptomatic and asymptomatic groups							
Variables	Asymptomatic (n=21)	Symptomatic (n=144)	Total (n=165)	p-value	adj.p		
Hydroxychloroquine	21 (100.0)	142 (98.6)	163 (98.8)	0.999	0.999		
Azithromycin	11 (52.4)	91 (63.2)	102 (61.8)	0.341	0.686		
Favipiravir	1 (4.8)	36 (25.0)	37 (22.4)	0.047	0.259		
Oseltamivir	7 (33.3)	67 (46.5)	74 (44.8)	0.256	0.686		
The median duration of PCR negativization	6 (5-16.5)	6 (5-8)	6 (5-8.8)	0.168	0.581		
Days of hospitalization	6 (3.5-7)	8 (6-11)	7 (5-11)	0.004	0.044		
Nosocomial infection	2 (11.1)	10 (7.5)	12 (7.9)	0.636	0.999		
Prone position	1 (5.20)	20 (17.5)	21 (15.9)	0.304	0.686		
Intensive care unit	1 (4.8)	16 (11.1)	17 (10.3)	0.700	0.999		
Intubation	1 (4.8)	11 (7.6)	12 (7.3)	0.999	0.999		
Mortality	0 (0.0)	10 (6.9)	10 (6.1)	0.364	0.686		
Values are expressed as n (%) or median (1 <sup>st</sup> -3 <sup>rd</sup> quartile	significant n-values are show	wn in hold	·				

Values are expressed as n (%) or median (1<sup>si</sup>–3' quartiles), significant p-values are shown in bold. PCR: polymerase chain reaction, n: number.

### CONCLUSION

In summary, we compared the demographic, clinical and laboratory findings of symptomatic and asymptomatic patients confirmed with COVID-19 in our university. In the light of this information, those with an absence of lymphopenia and low CRP levels are more likely to have the disease asymptomatically. Due to the high risk of the silent spread of the disease by asymptomatic people, testing programs should include those without symptoms. More importance should be given to the identification and quarantine of asymptomatic patients in order to eliminate COVID-19 transmission and to allow for the early diagnosis of pre-symptomatic patients. Transmission can be greatly reduced if both asymptomatic and symptomatic patients can be appropriately quarantined.

# **MAIN POINTS**

- The detection of asymptomatic infections is the central issue for the early prevention and control of COVID-19 around the world.
- Asymptomatic patients at admission may develop symptoms in follow-up. When earlier tests are performed for possible cases, the rate of asymptomatic infections will be seen to increase.
- Those of younger age, with an absence of lymphopenia, low CRP levels, and no signs of pneumonia on chest CT are more likely to have the disease asymptomatically.

#### **ETHICS**

**Ethics Committee Approval:** The study was approved by the Research Ethics Commission of the University of Erciyes, Turkey (2020/357-2020.07.08).

Informed Consent: Retrospective study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

#### **Authorship Contributions**

Concept: F.I., Z.T., Design: F.I., Z.T., B.B.K., Supervision: G.Z., B.A., O.Y., Data Collection and/or Processing: F.I., Z.T., G.K.Ü., B.B.K., Analysis and/ or Interpretation: F.I., Z.T., G.K.Ü., Literature Search: F.I., Z.T., B.A., O.Y., Writing: F.I., Z.T., G.Z., Critical Review: B.A., O.Y.

#### DISCLOSURES

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The author declared that this study had received no financial support.

- Gao Z, Xu Y, Sun C, Wang X, Guo Y, Qiu S, Ma K. A systematic review of asymptomatic infections with COVID-19. J Microbiol Immunol Infect. 2021; 54(1): 12-16.
- World Health Organization. Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/m/item/weekly-epidemiologicalupdate-on-covid-19---20-april-2021 (Accessed on April 24, 2021).

- 3. Wu Z, McGoogan JM. Characteristics of and important lessons from the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) outbreak in China: summary of a report of 72 314 cases from the Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention. JAMA. 2020; 323(13): 1239-42.
- 4. Huff HV, Singh A. Asymptomatic transmission during the coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic and implications for public health strategies. Clin Infect Dis. 2020; 71: 2752-6.
- Arons MM, Hatfield KM, Reddy SC, Kimball A, James A, Jacobs JR, et al. Presymptomatic SARS-CoV-2 infections and transmission in a skilled nursing facility. N Engl J Med. 2020; 382(22): 2081-90.
- 6. Hu Z, Song C, Xu C, Jin G, Chen Y, Xu X, et al. Clinical characteristics of 24 asymptomatic infections with COVID-19 screened among close contacts in Nanjing, China. Sci China Life Sci. 2020; 63(5): 706-11.
- Wang Y, Liu Y, Liu L, Wang X, Luo N, Li L. Clinical outcomes in 55 patients with severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 who were asymptomatic at hospital admission in Shenzhen, China. J Infect Dis. 2020; 221(11): 1770-4.
- 8. COVID-19 (SARS-CoV-2 enfeksiyonu), genel bilgiler, epidemiyoloji ve tanı. Available from: https://covid19.saglik.gov.tr/Eklenti/39551/0/covid-19rehbe rigenelbilgilerepidemiyolojivetanipdf.pdf (Accessed on April 29, 2021).
- 9. Zunyou WU. The role of asymptomatic infection of new coronavirus pneumonia in the spread of the epidemic and prevention and control strategies. Chinese J Epidemiol. 2020; 41(12): E036-6.
- 10. Horowitz RI, Freeman PR. Three novel prevention, diagnostic, and treatment options for COVID-19 urgently necessitating controlled randomized trials. Med Hypotheses. 2020; 143: 109851.
- 11. Mei X, Zhang Y, Zhu H, Ling Y, Zou Y, Zhang Z, et al. Observations about symptomatic and asymptomatic infections of 494 patients with COVID-19 in Shanghai, China. Am J Infect Control. 2020; 48(9): 1045-50.
- 12. Li Y, Shi J, Xia J, Duan J, Chen L, Yu X, et al. Asymptomatic and symptomatic patients with non-severe coronavirus disease (COVID-19) have similar clinical features and virological courses: a retrospective single center study. Front Microbiol. 2020; 11: 1570.
- Wang D, Hu B, Hu C, Zhu F, Liu X, Zhang J, et al. Clinical characteristics of 138 hospitalized patients with 2019 novel coronavirus-infected pneumonia in Wuhan, China. JAMA. 2020; 323(11): 1061-9.
- 14. Zhang JJ, Dong X, Cao YY, Yuan YD, Yang YB, Yan YQ, et al. Clinical characteristics of 140 patients infected with SARS-CoV-2 in Wuhan, China. Allergy. 2020; 75(7): 1730-41.
- Stokes EK, Zambrano LD, Anderson KN, Marder EP, Raz KM, El Burai Felix S, et al. Coronavirus Disease 2019 Case Surveillance - United States, January 22-May 30, 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2020; 69(24): 759-65.
- Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Zhao J, Hu Y, et al. Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. Lancet. 2020; 395(10223): 497-506.
- 17. Kimball A, Hatfield KM, Arons M, James A, Taylor J, Spicer K, et al. Asymptomatic and presymptomatic SARS-CoV-2 infections in residents of a long-term care skilled nursing facility - King County, Washington, March 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2020; 69(13): 377-81.
- Du RH, Liang LR, Yang CQ, Wang W, Cao TZ, Li M, et al. Predictors of mortality for patients with COVID-19 pneumonia caused by SARS-CoV-2: a prospective cohort study. Eur Respir J. 2020; 55(5): 2000524.

# ORIGINAL ARTICLE



# Long-Term Results of the Arthroscopic Meniscectomy Following Non-Traumatic Tears Due to Mucoid Degeneration and Traumatic Tears

Yunus Emre Bektaş<sup>1</sup>, Osman Nuri Eroğlu<sup>1,2</sup>, Halit Pınar<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Dokuz Eylül University School of Medicine, Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology <sup>2</sup>Dokuz Eylül University Graduate School of Health Sciences, Department of Biomechanics

# ABSTRACT

**BACKGROUND/AIM:** In this study, we aimed to radiologically and clinically compare the long-term results of arthroscopic meniscectomy in patients with non-traumatic meniscal tears due to mucoid degeneration (MD) (Group A) and those with traumatic tears (Group B). MD of the meniscus may indicate degenerative osteoarthritis (OA) of the knee or it may be a manifestation of a tendency to OA. Hence, non-traumatic meniscal tears of the knees treated with arthroscopic meniscectomy are more likely to develop into degenerative OA.

**MATERIALS AND METHODS:** A total of 38 patients (Group A: n=20 and Group B: n=18) aged 18 to 45 years, who underwent arthroscopic meniscectomy between 1995 and 2005, with an average follow-up period of 15 years (range: 11–21 years) were retrospectively analyzed. A senior orthopedic surgeon's arthroscopic database was used. The Lysholm score was used for the clinical comparison between the study groups. Radiographic changes were graded using the Kellgren–Lawrence classification of knee OA.

**RESULTS:** The demographic features and treatment protocols were the same for both groups. After a mean 15-year follow-up, the Lysholm score was found to increase following arthroscopic meniscectomy. Radiographic evaluation revealed grade 1 early degenerative changes in both groups according to the Kellgren–Lawrence classification.

**CONCLUSION:** The clinical and radiological outcomes of both the study groups were statistically similar in terms of clinical recovery and radiographic degenerative findings.

Keywords: Meniscus mucoid degeneration, knee trauma, sports injury

# INTRODUCTION

The menisci play a critical role in knee biomechanics, including in the prevention of articular degenerative changes.<sup>1,2</sup> Other crucial functions of these fibrocartilaginous structures include shock absorption, load distribution, enhancing articular viscosity, contributing to knee stability, and proprioception.<sup>3-5</sup>

Meniscal tears usually develop as a result of knee trauma in young people; tears may also develop without any significant trauma in some

cases. However, non-traumatic tears have not received much attention in the literature.<sup>6</sup> Degenerative lesions of the meniscal tissues can be classified as dystrophic or metastatic calcifications, hyaline acellular degeneration, or mucoid degeneration (MD).<sup>7</sup> MD of the meniscus should therefore be suspected when the meniscus is torn in a young healthy knee without any history of significant trauma. MD is characterized by an excessive accumulation of proteoglycan fragments in the interstitial tissue of the menisci.<sup>6,8</sup> Despite its relatively common occurrence, it has received little attention in the literature and its etiology remains

**To cite this article:** Bektaş YE, Eroğlu ON, Pınar H. Long-Term Results of the Arthroscopic Meniscectomy Following Non-Traumatic Tears Due to Mucoid Degeneration and Traumatic Tears. Cyprus J Med Sci 2022;7(2):266-270

ORCID iDs of the authors: Y.E.B. 0000-0001-5551-6475; O.N.E. 0000-0002-9807-239X; H.P. 0000-0002-9056-2685.



Address for Correspondence: Osman Nuri Eroğlu
 E-mail: onurieroglu@gmail.com
 ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-9807-239X

Received: 09.08.2021 Accepted: 09.01.2022

©Copyright 2022 by the Cyprus Turkish Medical Association / Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences published by Galenos Publishing House. Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License uncertain. Therefore, more emphasis on MD is deemed necessary owing to its tendency to cause the loss of the meniscus, depending on the type of the tear. A previous study conducted at our department revealed that advanced stages of meniscal MD are correlated with increased proteoglycan fragment concentrations in the synovial fluid. Our findings suggest that this correlation may be associated with the degenerative processes occurring in the joint.<sup>8</sup>

In selected cases, arthroscopic partial meniscectomy has been accepted as the standard treatment of certain choices for meniscal tears, when preservation is not possible.<sup>9,10</sup> However, several studies with long-term follow-ups (>10 years) have shown that arthroscopic meniscectomy increases the risk of degenerative changes in the knee joint and has adverse effects on the functional and clinical outcomes.<sup>2,11,12</sup> Subtotal meniscectomy has also been known to be associated with early degenerative changes in the knee joint to a lesser extent in comparison to total meniscectomy. Hede et al.<sup>13</sup> reported on the long-term results of partial and total meniscectomies in a randomized controlled study and revealed that the size of a resected meniscal tissue is correlated with a decrease in the functional outcomes of the knee. Another study also proved that meniscectomy causes irreversible damage to the knee joint.<sup>4,12</sup>

The present study aimed to compare the clinical and radiological outcomes of arthroscopic meniscectomy in patients with non-traumatic meniscal tears due to MD (Group A) and those with traumatic tears (Group B). Therefore, the hypothesis of this study is that non-traumatic meniscal tears due to MD have worse clinical and radiological outcomes than traumatic tears.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

A total of 38 patients aged 18–45 years who were treated arthroscopically by a senior orthopedic surgeon in our clinic between 1995 and 2005 and who had visited the outpatient clinic within the previous 2 years were included in our study (we requested our patients to visit for followup every 4 or 5 years in the period 5 years after the operation). Patients were selected for this study using the senior orthopedic surgeon's patient archive. All patients were diagnosed, treated, and followed up by a single surgeon. MD was diagnosed clinically during the operation. Those patients with a history of anterior cruciate ligament rupture and meniscal repair, those with a repeat surgery on the same knee, and those lacking preoperative and postoperative evaluation as well as nonambulatory care were excluded from this study.

Among the patients with cartilage lesions detected during arthroscopic meniscectomy, debridement with a shaver was applied to Outherbridge grade 1 and 2 patients and microfractures were applied to grade 3 and 4 patients. Patients who had microfractures as a result of arthroscopic meniscectomy were advised to perform a range of motion exercises for 4 weeks without weight, whereas the other patients were allowed to move with full weight.

When the patients visited the outpatient clinic, their examinations and X-ray evaluations were conducted by an orthopedic surgeon and a senior orthopedic assistant. A total of 20 patients with non-traumatic meniscal tears due to MD were assigned to Group A and 18 patients with traumatic meniscal tears were assigned to Group B (Figure 1).

In this study, the patients in both groups A and B were evaluated in terms of age, sex, body mass index (BMI;  $kg/m^2$ ), time to follow-up,

duration of complaints, physical examination, knee-related radiological and functional scores, and their preoperative and postoperative Lysholm scores.

Approval for this study was obtained from the Non-Interventional Ethics Committee of Dokuz Eylül University decision no: 2015/27-19, date: 03.12.2015).

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Firstly, the patients in the two groups were compared in terms of their age, BMI, follow-up times, duration of complaints, and their affected knee. Parametric and nonparametric data between the two groups were compared both within and between the groups. Gender, operated side of the knee, duration of complaint, follow-up duration, preoperative cartilage lesions, postoperative physical examination findings, Kellgren–Lawrence classification, and the type of operation performed were evaluated using the Chi-Square test. Preoperative and postoperative Lysholm scores were evaluated using the Wilcoxon test. BMI was evaluated using the student's-test. A p-value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

SPSS 22.0 statistical analysis software (IBM, Chicago, IL, USA) was used for all analyses.

#### RESULTS

A total of 38 patients, including 20 patients with meniscal tears without trauma (Group A) and 18 patients with traumatic meniscal tears (Group B), were evaluated. The mean distribution of age, gender,





BMI, and follow-up period in both the groups was similar. The average duration of complaints in Group A and Group B was 24.5 and 8.3 months, respectively (p=0.013). The involvement of menisci and tear localization was similar in both the groups (p=0.387 and p=0.127, respectively) (Table 1). The distribution of side meniscal tears and localization meniscal tears was also similar (Table 2). Regarding the type of arthroscopic meniscal resection, 16 partial and four subtotal meniscectomies were performed in Group A and 11 partial, six subtotal, and 1 total meniscectomies were performed in Group B; hence, no significant difference was noted between the groups ( $p_{chi-squared}$ =0.32). Chondral lesions according to the Outerbridge classification system were similar between the two groups ( $p_{chi-squared}$ =0.152). Groups A and B showed similar outcomes in terms of the location of the cartilage lesions (femur, tibia, and patella) (p<sub>chi-squared</sub>=0.712; Table 3). Cartilage lesions were treated as described in the method section. Joint line tenderness was positive in eight patients in Group A and in 10 patients in Group B. However, no significant difference was noted between the two groups (p=0.338).

According to the Kellgren–Lawrence classification system, 15 patients (39.5%) were classified as grade 0, nine patients (23.7%) as grade 1, six patients (15.8%) as grade 2, three patients (7.9%) as grade 3, and one patient (2.6%) as grade 4. The Kellgren–Lawrence grade at the follow-up showed a mean value of  $1\pm1.1$  for Group A and  $1\pm1.2$  for Group B. No significant difference was noted between the two groups according to Kellgren–Lawrence (p=0.72) classification.

Lysholm scores significantly improved in both groups at follow-up. In addition, the results were found to be similar in both groups at follow-up (p=0.609) (Table 4). Evaluation of the final control Lysholm scores revealed 65% excellent and 35% good results in Group A, 72.7% excellent and 22.8% good results in Group B, and 68.4% excellent and 28.9% good results for all patients (Table 5).

## DISCUSSION

In this study, improvement in the postoperative Lysholm scores was noted in both groups, but no statistical significance was detected between the groups in terms of radiological and clinical results. As a result, recovery was recorded in both groups after 15 years of follow-up. Radiologically, the Kellgren–Lawrence scores were also similar in both groups. During our research, we found no study on the comparison of the outcomes of traumatic and non-traumatic meniscus tears due to MD.

MD may lead to a loss of meniscus and result in early degenerative changes in the knee joint. Chatain et al.<sup>14</sup> reported that 5 years after arthroscopic meniscectomy, degenerative changes in the knee in patients aged >35 years were more common than those in younger patients. In another study by Burks et al.<sup>15</sup>, 146 patients with a 15-year follow-up period were evaluated and it was concluded that age does that affect degenerative changes in the knee joint. The findings of the present study were similar to those reported by Chatain et al.<sup>14</sup> In the present study, the average age of the patients in Groups A and B was 35 years. Considering our follow-up period of 15 years, detection of early degenerative findings seems likely. When preoperative and follow-up ages were considered, radiographic changes seemed suggestive of early osteoarthritis (OA). Our study results are similar to those of Chatain et al.<sup>14</sup> Although they did not divide the patients into those with traumatic and those with non-traumatic meniscal tears, the lesion mechanism in the patients without a history of trauma could be traced to MD, as in our study.

In a prospective cohort study by Lizaur-Utrilla et al.<sup>16</sup>, 258 patients underwent arthroscopic partial meniscectomy, including 115 patients with degenerative meniscal tears and 143 with traumatic tears. The patients belonged to the middle

Table 1. Demographic information of the patients			
Demographic information	Group A (n=20)	Group B (n=18)	p-value
Age (year, median, min–max)	37.5 (18–42)	38.5 (19–44)	0.986*
BMI (kg/m², mean, SD)	28.5 (3.9)	28.2 (4.34)	0.813**
Follow-up (year, median, min–max)	15 (11–18)	14 (11–21)	0.929*
Gender			
Male	13(65%)	9(50%)	0.363
Female	7(35%)	9(50%)	0.505
Average duration of complaints (months, mean)	24.5	8.3	0.013
*Mann–Whitney U test for comparison of non-parametric values, **t-test for comparison of Significant values are shown in <b>bold</b> .	of parametric values.		

min: minimum. max: maximum. SD: standard deviation.

#### Table 2. Distribution of meniscaltears of side and meniscaltears of localization

	Medial		Lateral		Medial-Lateral			
Group A	11		7		2		p=0.38	37
Group B	11		7		0			
	Anterior	Middle		Middle-Poste	rior	Posterior		
Group A	0	4		8		8		p=0.127
Group B	0	0		8		10		

and locali	zation					
	Grade 0	Grade 1	Grade 2	Grade 3	Grade 4	
Group A	11	6	1	2	0	n=0.152
Group B	8	3	6	1	0	p=0.132
	Normal	Femur	Tibia	Patella		
Group A	11	4	7	1	n=0.71	
Group B	9	6	5	2	p=0.71	

Table 3. Cartilage lesions noted according to Outerbridge Classification

Table 4. Lysholm Sco	res changes		
Lysholm Score	Pre-operative	Post-operative	p-value
Group A (mean, SD)	74.7±9.7	87.1±11.2	p<0.001*
Group B (mean, SD)	67.8±18.4	85.1±13.3	p<0.001*
*paired t-test, SD: standa	rd deviation.		

age group (45-60 years) and had no or only mild signs of OA. In Lizaur-Utrilla et al.'s<sup>16</sup> study, parallel to our study, no radiological difference was found between the two groups. However, in their study, the mean age of the patients was higher, the follow-up periods were shorter, and whether or not the degenerative tears were based on MD was not specified. On the other hand, in a multicenter comparative prospective cohort study conducted by Thorlund et al.<sup>17</sup>, 115 traumatic patients and 227 patients with degenerative meniscal tears aged 18-55 years who were treated with arthroscopic partial meniscectomy were followed up for approximately 1 year. After the 1-year follow-up, the functional recovery of the traumatic tears was found to be better than that of the degenerative tears.<sup>17</sup> Based on these previous studies, we can state that although the results of traumatic and degenerative meniscal tears treated with arthroscopic partial meniscectomy were more favorable for traumatic tears in the short term, no functional difference was noted in the long term.

Ferrer-Roca and Vilalta<sup>7</sup> stated that meniscal tears due to mucoid MD are usually horizontal, whereas Smillie<sup>18</sup> stated that MD usually leads to radial tears in the medial meniscus and horizontal tears in the lateral meniscus. In the present study, although statistically not significant, most of the tears in the MD group were found to be either horizontal or complex and slightly more common in the medial meniscus rather than in the lateral meniscus. In contrast to those in the MD group, traumatic meniscal lesions showed a tendency to be longitudinal and complex rather than horizontal.<sup>19</sup> Arthroscopically repaired menisci were excluded from the study.

Some long-term studies (>10 years)<sup>2,11</sup> on arthroscopic meniscectomy have reported that degenerative changes have negative effects on

functional and clinical results. However, in short-term follow-up studies, arthroscopic meniscectomy reportedly relieved meniscal symptoms.<sup>20,21</sup> Rockborn and Gillquist<sup>22</sup>, in their long-term study (a follow-up period of 12–15 years) of 60 meniscectomy patients aged 20–40 years, revealed significant degeneration radiologically, good functional scores, and an increased interest in active sports in comparison to the preoperative period. A detailed review of the findings of Rockborn and Gillquist<sup>22</sup> indicated similar results to those of the present study. In addition to the other studies mentioned earlier, this study was also a long-term study and early degenerative changes were detected in the knee joint; however, the functional and clinical outcomes of our study were satisfactory.

In a study by Hoser et al.<sup>23</sup>, 29 patients with a history of arthroscopic meniscectomy and an average age of 43.8 years were followed up for approximately 10.3 years and their average Lysholm score was found to be  $80.5\pm16.7$ . The authors grouped patients according to their Lysholm scores and reported 45.2% as excellent, 12.9% as good, 16.1% as fair, and 25.8% as poor outcomes. In the present study, the average postoperative Lysholm scores of groups A and B were 87.1 and 85.1, respectively. There was an increase in the scores when compared with the preoperative values indicating clinical recovery. When the Lysholm scores at follow-up were analyzed separately for the groups, the results were 65% as excellent and 35% as good in Group A and 72.7% as excellent, 22.8% as good, and 5.5% as poor in Group B. Overall, the results were 68.4% as excellent, 28.9% as good, and 2.6% as poor. Higher Lysholm scores in the present study than those in the study by Hoser et al.<sup>23</sup> may be attributed to a lower average age and the higher activity levels of our patients.

#### Limitations of the Study

To date, no study in the literature has compared degenerative meniscal tears due to MD with traumatic meniscus tears, which makes the long-term follow-up period in the present study the strength of this study. However, the retrospective nature of the study and small sample size are the weak points of this study.

#### CONCLUSION

We observed that 97% of the patients who had undergone arthroscopic meniscectomy with a mean follow-up of 15 years in this study had good or excellent outcomes and their long-term radiographical and clinical outcomes after arthroscopic meniscectomy were similar for those patients who had either traumatic or non-traumatic meniscal tears due to MD.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank Prof. Dr. Hülya Ellidokuz for her statistical contributions.

Table 5. Lysholm Scores cha	anges					
Pre-on and nost-on Lysholn	Scores	Poor	Moderate	Moderate-Good	Good	Excellent
Fie-op and post-op Lysnom	I SCOLES	0–20	21–40	41–60	61–80	81–100
Group A	Pre-op	-	-	2 (10%)	12 (60%)	6 (30%)
	Post-op	-	-	-	7 (35%)	13 (65%)
Group B	Pre-op	1 (5.5%)	1 (5.5%)	3 (16.6%)	7 (38.8%)	6 (33.3%)
	Post-op	-	-	1 (5.5%)	4 (22.8%)	13 (77.7%)
Pre-op: pre-operative, Post-op; p	ost-operative.					

### MAIN POINTS

- Meniscus MD, which causes meniscus tears in young patients with minor traumas, has been rarely studied.
- The long-term results of those patients who had undergone meniscectomy with the correct indication are good.
- When traumatic tears and tears due to MD were compared clinically and radiologically, no difference was found.

#### ETHICS

**Ethics Committee Approval:** This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Dokuz Eylül University Medical School (decision no: 2015/27-19, date: 03.12.2015).

**Informed Consent:** This study was designed and implemented resrospectively, no consent to participate.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

#### **Authorship Contributions**

Concept: Y.E.B., Design: Y.E.B., Supervision: H.P., Data Collection and/or Processing: Y.E.B., O.N.E., Analysis and/or Interpretation: Y.E.B., O.N.E., H.P., Literature Search: Y.E.B., O.N.E., H.P., Writing: Y.E.B., O.N.E., Editing: H.P.

#### DISCLOSURES

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The author declared that this study had received no financial support.

- Roos H, Laurén M, Adalberth T, Roos EM, Jonsson K, Lohmander LS. Knee osteoarthritis after meniscectomy: prevalence of radiographic changes after twenty-one years, compared with matched controls. Arthritis Rheum. 1998; 41(4): 687-93.
- Englund M, Lohmander LS. Risk factors for symptomatic knee osteoarthritis fifteen to twenty-two years after meniscectomy. Arthritis Rheum. 2004; 50(9): 2811-9.
- 3. Fithian DC, Kelly MA, Mow VC. Material properties and structure-function relationships in the menisci. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1990; (252): 19-31.
- Andrews SHJ, Adesida AB, Abusara Z, Shrive NG. Current concepts on structure-function relationships in the menisci. Connect Tissue Res. 2017; 58(3-4): 271-81.
- Grassi A, Di Paolo S, Lucidi GA, Macchiarola L, Raggi F, Zaffagnini S. The contribution of partial meniscectomy to preoperative laxity and laxity after anatomic single-bundle anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction: in vivo kinematics with navigation. Am J Sports Med. 2019; 47: 3203-11.
- Muellner T, Weinstabl R, Schabus R, Vécsei V, Kainberger F. The diagnosis of meniscal tears in athletes. A comparison of clinical and magnetic resonance imaging investigations. Am J Sports Med. 1997; 25(1): 7-12.

- 7. Ferrer-Roca O, Vilalta C. Lesions of the meniscus. Part I: Macroscopic and histologic findings. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1980; (146): 289-300.
- Pinar Hİ, Iscen O, Keles D, Ozkal S, Oktay G. Is there any relationship between the grade of mucoid degeneration of torn menisci and biochemical marker levels in synovial fluid? Orthop J Sport Med. 2014; 2(3 Suppl): 2016.
- 9. Fabricant PD, Jokl P. Surgical outcomes after arthroscopic partial meniscectomy. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2007; 15(11): 647-53.
- Abram SGF, Beard DJ, Price AJ; BASK Meniscal Working Group. Arthroscopic meniscal surgery: a national society treatment guideline and consensus statement. Bone Joint J. 2019; 101-B(6): 652-9.
- Chatain F, Adeleine P, Chambat P, Neyret P; Société Française d'Arthroscopie. A comparative study of medial versus lateral arthroscopic partial meniscectomy on stable knees: 10-year minimum follow-up. Arthroscopy. 2003; 19(8): 842-9.
- Salata MJ, Gibbs AE, Sekiya JK. A systematic review of clinical outcomes in patients undergoing meniscectomy. Am J Sports Med. 2010; 38(9): 1907-16.
- Hede A, Larsen E, Sandberg H. Partial versus total meniscectomy. A prospective, randomised study with long-term follow-up. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1992; 74(1): 118-21.
- 14. Chatain F, Robinson AH, Adeleine P, Chambat P, Neyret P. The natural history of the knee following arthroscopic medial meniscectomy. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2001; 9(1): 15-8.
- Burks RT, Metcalf MH, Metcalf RW. Fifteen-year follow-up of arthroscopic partial meniscectomy. Arthroscopy. 1997; 13(6): 673-9.
- Lizaur-Utrilla A, Miralles-Muñoz FA, Gonzalez-Parreño S, Lopez-Prats FA. Outcomes and patient satisfaction with arthroscopic partial meniscectomy for degenerative and traumatic tears in middle-aged patients with no or mild osteoarthritis. Am J Sports Med. 2019; 47(10): 2412-9.
- Thorlund JB, Englund M, Christensen R, et al. Patient reported outcomes in patients undergoing arthroscopic partial meniscectomy for traumatic or degenerative meniscal tears: comparative prospective cohort study. BMJ. 2017; 356: j356.
- Smillie IS. Injuries of the knee joint. Edinburgh, London and New York: Churchill Livingstone, 214, 220. 1978.
- Englund M, Roos EM, Roos HP, Lohmander LS. Patient-relevant outcomes fourteen years after meniscectomy: influence of type of meniscal tear and size of resection. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2001; 40(6): 631-9.
- Roposch A, Brunner G, Schatz KD, Kotz R, Wurnig C. Die arthroskopische Teilmenisektomie bei älteren Patienten: Erfassung der gesundheitsbezogenen Lebensqualität [Arthroscopic menisectomy in older patients: assessing health-related quality of life]. Z Orthop Ihre Grenzgeb. 2003; 141(5): 563-9.
- Bin SI, Lee SH, Kim CW, Kim TH, Lee DH. Results of arthroscopic medial meniscectomy in patients with grade IV osteoarthritis of the medial compartment. Arthroscopy. 2008; 24(3): 264-8.
- Rockborn P, Gillquist J. Long-term results after arthroscopic meniscectomy. The role of preexisting cartilage fibrillation in a 13 year follow-up of 60 patients. Int J Sports Med. 1996; 17(8): 608-13.
- 23. Hoser C, Fink C, Brown C, Reichkendler M, Hackl W, Bartlett J. Long-term results of arthroscopic partial lateral meniscectomy in knees without associated damage. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 2001; 83(4): 513-6.



# Pancreatic Ewing's Sarcoma Synchronously Diagnosed in a Patient of Carcinoma Cervix: A Case Report and Literature Review

### Rahul Patil<sup>1</sup>, Sucheta Gandhe<sup>1</sup>, Sasam Venkata Ramesh<sup>2</sup>, Raj Nagarkar<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Pathology, HCG Manavata Cancer Centre, Nashik - 422002, Maharashtra, India <sup>2</sup>Department of Academics, HCG Manavata Cancer Centre, Nashik - 422002, Maharashtra, India <sup>3</sup>Department of Surgical Oncology, HCG Manavata Cancer Centre, Nashik - 422002, Maharashtra, India

# ABSTRACT

Extraosseous Ewing's sarcoma is a rare neoplasm. It has been reported in several sites such as the prostate, lungs, kidney, biliary tract, oral cavity, uterus, gonads, stomach, cervix, urinary bladder, vagina, and salivary glands. However, Ewing's sarcoma/primitive neuroectodermal tumors (ES/PNET) of the pancreas is an extremely unusual finding. Although there are a handful of pancreatic ES/PNET cases in the literature, our case intensifies the importance as it was diagnosed in a patient with carcinoma of the cervix. Our case aims to add value to the body of literature considering a second primary neoplasm of a rare entity at an unusual site.

Keywords: Pancreas, Ewing's sarcoma, synchronously, carcinoma, cervix

# INTRODUCTION

Ewing's sarcoma/primitive neuroectodermal tumour (ES/PNET) is an unusual malignant neoplasm. In rare cases, PNETs may arise in solid organs that contain neuroendocrine cells. James Ewing first described Ewing's sarcoma (ES) in 1921, while the extra osseous Ewing's sarcoma or PNET was first described by Tefft in 1969.<sup>1,2</sup> ES/PNET comprises four subtypes: peripheral primitive neuroectodermal tumour (pPNET), Ewing's sarcoma of bone (ESB), Askin's tumour, and extraosseous Ewing's sarcoma (EES). ES/PNET has been reported in several case reports and series with unusual sites such as the salivary glands, oral cavity, adrenal gland, jejunum, pericardium, lung, stomach biliary tract, kidney, heart, prostate, cervix, vagina, gonads, uterine corpus, and pancreas.<sup>3</sup> Here, we report a rare case of ES/PNET in the pancreas of a 51-year old woman with synchronous carcinoma cervix. Reporting on such a rare form will help us in improving the characterization of the pathology, while contributing to cancer treatment advancement. In the future, it will also serve as guidance in the treatment of such rare cases.

# **CASE PRESENTATION**

A 51-year-old female presented to our hospital in July 2018 with a history of vaginal bleeding accompanied with leukorrhea. She also complained of lower back pain.

Her speculum examination showed an ulceroproliferative growth over the cervix which bled on touch. Computed tomography (CT) revealed a large 7x6.8x6.6 cm mass lesion involving lower uterine segment and upper vagina with multiple iliac nodes. A biopsy was carried out. The patient was diagnosed with squamous cell carcinoma of the cervix (Figure 1A). On immunohistochemistry, tumour cells showed strong nuclear positivity for P40 (Figure 1B).

The patient completed concurrent radiotherapy (50 Gray in 25 fractions) along with five cycles of cisplatin. The patient also received three fractions of intracavitary brachytherapy.

**To cite this article:** Patil R, Gandhe S, Ramesh YV, Nagarkar R. Pancreatic Ewing's Sarcoma Synchronously Diagnosed in a Patient of Carcinoma Cervix: A Case Report and Literature Review. Cyprus J Med Sci 2022;7(2)271-275

ORCID iDs of the authors: R.P. 0000-0002-3420-1877; S.G. 0000-0002-7143-280X; Y.V.R. 0000-0002-4288-1120; R.N. 0000-0002-4819-1446.



Address for Correspondence: Rahul Patil E-mail: academics@manavatacancercentre.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-3420-1877

Received: 30.04.2020 Accepted: 12.09.2020

Copyright 2022 by the Cyprus Turkish Medical Association / Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences published by Galenos Publishing House. Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License



Figure 1. (A) H and E (20x) image from cervix showing diffuse sheets of cells having squamous differentiation infiltrating into surrounding connective tissue. (B) p40 IHC on cervix lesion showing nuclear positivity in the tumor cells.

Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) was performed on routine followup after two months. A regression in the previously visualized cervical lesion was noted. There was a resolution of the previously mentioned pelvic nodes. A well-defined altered signal intensity heterogeneously enhancing tissue lesion measuring 58x44x50mm in size arising from the tail of the pancreas was noted. The possibility of a second primary of neoplastic origin rather than a metastatic one was suspected.

A whole body PET-CT scan showed a large FDG avid mass involving the tail of pancreas with metabolically active left para-aortic nodes just below the level of left renal hilum [maximum standardized uptake value ( $SUV_{max}$ ): 12.7].

Tumour markers, CA-19.9 and carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA test) were tested to rule out pancreatic adenocarcinoma and were found to be within normal limits. Fine needle aspiration cytology (FNAC) was positive for malignant cells.

The patient underwent laparoscopic distal pancreatic splenectomy. Gross analysis of the specimen showed a pancreatic segment of 13x12x7.5 cm infiltrated by a vague nodular grey mass measuring 6.2x5.5x4 cm at the tail end.

On histology, the tumour showed diffuse sheets of round cells (Figure 2A). The tumour cells exhibited small round cells with a large central nucleus and scanty cytoplasm. (Figure 2B). The tumour cells showed minimal nuclear pleomorphism. Brisk mitosis was noted.

On immunohistochemistry, these tumour cells showed perinuclear dotlike positivity for Pan-CK (Figure 2C); CD99 (Mic-2) showed cytoplasmic membranous positivity (Figure 2D), and Fli-1 showed strong nuclear staining (Figure 2E). Immunohistochemically, the cells were negative for CD-56, Desmin, LCA, AR, ER, Cyclin D1. Hence the diagnosis of Ewing/ PNET was made.

The patient had received one cycle of vincristine, doxorubicin (Adriamycin), and cyclophosphamide (VAC) and one cycle of ifosfamide and etoposide (IE). The patient is scheduled for three cycles of VAC and three cycles of IE followed by radiation therapy with vincristine. The patient is currently doing well.



**Figure 2.** (A) H and E (10x) of pancreatic tumor showing diffuse sheets of round cells. (B) H and E (40x) of pancreatic tumor showing small round cells with large central nucleus and scanty cytoplasm. (C) PAN-CK: Tumor showing perinuclear dot like positivity. (D) CD99 showing cytoplasmic membranous positivity. (E) Fli-1 showing nuclear positivity.

p40 IHC: p40 Immunohistochemistry, PAN-CK: pan-CK, pan-cytokeratin

Table	1. Present and pre	vious reported reports	s of Ewing sarcoma/peri	oheral primitive neuroect	odermal tumours				
No	Reported by (study type)	Site and nature	<b>Clinical presentation</b>	Radiologic diagnosis	Pathological	Immunohistochemistry	Diagnostic procedure	Cytogenetics	
<del>.</del>	Schutte and Knight <sup>4</sup> (case report)	Upper abdominal mass	Pubic hair, breast bud development, and vaginal bleeding	Enhancing mass lesion in the body of the pancreas	Venous and lymphatic vessel invasion	Negative - AEI/AE3. Moderate – EMA. Strong - Strong - SOM, Chromogranin A, S-100, VIM, CD99, ER, PR, and INB	Distal pancreatectomy	ž	
2.	Movahedi- Lankarani et al. <sup>6</sup> (case series)	Head of the pancreas	Jaundice and/or abdominal pain	NR	Typical morphologic features of PNETs	Expressed 013 (CD99, p30/32MIC2)	Whipple resection, biopsy	Evidence of t(11;22)(q24;q12) chromosomal translocation	
'n	Mao et al. <sup>8</sup> , (case report)	Tumor grown superiorly to the infrahepatic space, postero-lateral aspect of the duodenum, and inferiorly to the hepatic flexure of colon	Mild abdominal pain, anorexia, polyuria, polydipsia, weight loss, and immobile firm mass that was tender to deep palpation	A large mass was seen between the liver, the pancreas and the right kidney with focal irregular intensification in the arterial period	a thin and flat neoplasm which was seen in the uncinate process of pancreas	Negative – SOM, <sup>131</sup> I-MIBI	Surgical resection	۳	
4.	Kim et al. <sup>9</sup> (case series)	Body of the pancreas	Incidentally detected	Pancreatic cancer/ metastatic tumour/ neuroendocrine tumour	INR	INR	Biopsy/chemotherapy	INR	
ы	Rao et al. <sup>14</sup>	Body and tail of the pancreas	Abdominal pain	Exophytic pancreatic mass or exophytic gastrointestinal stromal tumour (GIST) from the posterolateral wall of the stomach was proposed	Peripherally compressed pancreatic tissue was seen and no tumour infiltration was discerned	Positive - CD99, Negative - AE1/AE3, DES, SYP, and CHR	Distal pancreatectomy	۲	
ف	Teixeira et al. <sup>17</sup> (case report)	Pancreatic head and body	Epigastric pain, cutaneous pruritus, jaundice, choluria, and acholia	A voluminous expansive lesion in pancreatic head and body, with well delimited borders was observed	Neoplasm of small round blue cells with scant cytoplasm arranged in nests with fibrovascular stroma was seen	Positive - CD99, VIM, automated CKM, and CD56. Negative - CHR, SYN, NBL, MYG, automated CD10, <i>β</i> -catenin, automated RP (ribosomal protein), and LCA	GDPSx	٣ Z	
	Welsch et al. <sup>12</sup> (case report)	Pancreatic tail	Acute abdominal pain	A mass arising from the pancreatic tail compressing the stomach and spleen	Nests of medium-sized round or oval tumour cells with enlarged round or oval nuclei and scant cytoplasm surrounded by fibrovascular septae and focally, Homer-Wright rosettes were observed	Positive – CD99, VIM, cytokeratin (KL-1,18), cytokeratin 18, EMA, SYN, CD56, and CD117. Negative - Cytokeratins (7, 8 and 19), CEA, AFP, ⊠1ACT, protein S100, melan A, and HMB-45.	Left pancreatic resection	Tumour cell nuclei showed one fused signal and one dislocated hybridization signal on on chromosome 22q12, indicative of a chromosomal translocation involving the EWS gene	

Table	e 1. Present and pr	evious repor	ted reports of Ewing sar	coma/peripheral primitive	e neuroectodermal tumours				_
٩	Reported by (study type)	Site and nature	<b>Clinical presentation</b>	Radiologic diagnosis	Pathological	Immunohistochemistry	Diagnostic procedure	Cytogenetics	
αj	Khuri et al. <sup>18</sup> (case report)	Pancreatic tail	Upper abdominal pain and coffee ground vomiting	Mass at lesser curvature of the stomach, with compression on the splenic vein was observed	Mass invading the gastric wall, pancreas, and splenic hilum was observed	Positive – CD99, FLI1, VIM, and Ki67. Negative - Cytokeratin, S100, CD20, CD3, CD79A, PAX5, CD30, CD43, D0G-1, CD68, CD163, CD33, MPOX, and DES	Distal pancreatectomy	Positive for EWSR1 gene rearrangement (11:22 translocation)	
	Nishizawa et al. <sup>19</sup> (case report)	Pancreatic head	Upper abdominal discomfort and nausea	Giant tumour with mild enhancement occupied the pancreatic head	Atypical small round cells with scant cytoplasm, and each had a round nucleus with a distinct nuclear membrane	Positive - CD99, NSF, NEAM, VIM, SYN, and CAM5.2. Negative - CHR A, AE1/AE3, cytokeratin (7 and 20), carbohydrate antigen 19-9, and CD10	D	Breakpoint region 1 gene, 22q12 rearrangement was proven	
10.	Perek et al. <sup>20</sup> (case report)	Head and the body of the pancreas	Malaise and fever	Subhepatic, hypodense, solid mass with hyperdense borders and focal necrotic areas	Irregular nuclear membranes with occasional deaving. round or oval nuclei without any distinctive cytoplasm; coarser chromatin pattern and more prominent nucleoli	Positive – CD99, and ß2-microglobulin	Surgical resection	Inconclusive	
AE1/A comn specif CT: co	$\mbox{KB}$ : cytokeratin AE1/. non antigen, AFP: $\mbox{$\alpha$}$ 1 $\mbox{$i$}$ cenolase, NEAM: $\mbox{$n$}$ mputed tomography.	AE3, NSE: neu I-fetoprotein, eural cell adhe y, USG: ultraso	ron-specific enolase, CHR: $\alpha$ $\alpha$ 1ACT: $\alpha$ 1-antichymotryps sion molecule, ER: estroge nography, NR: nor reported	chromogranin, SYN: synaptor iin, NBL: neuroblastoma, ACT in receptors, PR: progesterond d, INR: individually not repor	physin, EMA: epithelial membrane antigen, ( : actin, INS: insulin, GLU: glucagon, MPOX: n e receptors, INB: inhibin, <sup>1341</sup> -MIBI: Methoxyi ted.	CKM: creatine kinase muscle, VIM: vimentin, nyeloperoxidase, FLI1: friend leukemia integ sobutyl isonitrile, GDPSx: gastroduodenopar	DES: desmin, MYG: ration 1, SOM: soma icreatectomy, PD: pa	myogenin, LCA: leucocyte ttostatin, NSE: neuron- ancreaticoduodenectomy,	

# DISCUSSION

PNETs comprise nearly 1% of all sarcomas with an estimated five-year survival rate of 50%.<sup>4-7</sup> PNETs have been reported to develop in solid organs, although this is rare. In some cases, PNETs have been found arising from the pelvis, thoracopulmonary region, and the lower limbs of children and young adults.<sup>6</sup> In organs that contain neuroendocrine cells such as the pancreas, PNETs are extremely rare and account for only 0.3% of all primary tumours.<sup>8,9</sup> To the best of our knowledge, there are only a few pancreatic ES/PNET cases seen with synchronous tumours reported in the literature.<sup>1-20</sup> Herein, we present the first synchronous case of PNET with a squamous cell carcinoma of the cervix.

Patients with such neoplasms are often asymptomatic or have a poorly symptomatic course even in advanced stages, as observed in our case.<sup>8,9</sup>

ES/PNET is comprised of small round cell tumours, morphologically. They are poorly differentiated tumours. There are several entities that have small round cell morphology such as desmoplastic small round cell tumour (DSRCT), lymphoma, extra-adrenal neuroblastoma, pancreatic endocrine tumour (PET), visceral small cell neuroendocrine carcinoma (SCNC), extra-renal Wilm's tumour, and pancreatoblastoma.<sup>14-17</sup>

In terms of imaging tests, abdominal MRI and CT are the most useful in the detection of such tumours. However, their diagnosis is not easy as there are no specific patterns in the radiological findings as shown in Table 1.<sup>13</sup> A histopathological test with immunohisotchemistry is required to confirm the diagnosis of ES/PNET as in our case, but it varies from case to case (Table 1).<sup>13</sup>

Although pancreatic ES/PNETs are an extremely rare disease, they should be considered in the differential diagnosis of the pancreatic mass panel. We also suggest that cases with pancreatoblastoma, undifferentiated small cell carcinoma, and neuroendocrine carcinomas should be investigated for ES/PNET.<sup>17</sup> The clinical presentation of the tumour is diffuse while its histological findings are not exclusive.

In our case, the pathologic diagnosis was based on the positive immunoreactivity for CD99, Fli-1, and PAN-CK in many of the tumour cells. The diagnosis of pancreatic ES/PNET is made by a combination of clinical, pathological, immunohistochemical, and cytogenetic features. However, in our case, cytogenetic features were not taken into account due to limited resources.

Molecular analysis of translocation and cytogenetic evaluation have been a recognized and dominant adjunct for sarcoma diagnosis and classification. As per the evidence, ES/PNET demonstrate chromosomal translocations including the EWS gene on chromosome 22 and a member of the ETS family of genes. The most common translocation include t (11; 22) (q24; q12) that results in the fusion product EWS-FLI1 which is observed in 85%–95% of cases.<sup>7</sup> The second most common translocation is t (21; 22) (q22; q12) which is observed in nearly 5%–10% of cases.<sup>7</sup>

The standard treatment of PNET involves the use of systemic multiagent chemotherapy along with surgery and/or radiotherapy.<sup>12</sup> Poor outcomes are associated with tumour dissemination in comparison to a localized disease at the time of diagnosis.<sup>12</sup>

In conclusion, Ewing's sarcoma/PNET of the pancreas is a rare pancreatic malignancy. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first case of Ewing's sarcoma synchronously diagnosed in a patient with carcinoma cervix.

Round cell tumours of the pancreas can be diagnosed as lymphomas, neuroendocrine carcinomas or PNET. Thus, a combination of histology and immunohistochemistry is required to differentiate PNET from other round cell tumours of the pancreas. We think that our case may contribute to the literature for this rare and unusual entity.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to thank Dr. Yasam Venkata Ramesh from HCG Manavata cancer center, Center for difficult cancers (CDC), Nashik, India, for his medical writing assistance.

# **MAIN POINTS**

- Ewing's sarcoma/primitive neuroectodermal tumor (ES/PNET) is an unusual malignant neoplasm.
- ES/PNET synchronous with carcinoma cervix is extremely rare and reporting it can help in improving the characterization of the pathology, while contributing to the cancer treatment advancement.

#### **ETHICS**

**Informed Consent:** There is informed consent of patient for this case report.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

#### **Authorship Contributions**

Concept: R.P., S.G., R.N., Design: R.P., S.G., Y.V.R., R.N., Supervision: S.G., R.N., Data Collection and/or Processing: R.P., S.G., Y.V.R., R.N., Analysis and/or Interpretation: R.P., S.G., Y.V.R., R.N., Literature Search: Y.V.R., Writing: Y.V.R., Critical Review: R.P., S.G., R.N.

#### DISCLOSURES

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The author declared that this study had received no financial support.

- 1. Ewing J. Diffuse Endothelioma of Bone. CA Cancer J Clin. 1972; 22(2): 95-8.
- Crist WM, Raney AB, Tefft M, Heyn R, Hays DM, Newton W, et al. Soft tissue sarcomas arising in the retroperitoneal space in children a report from the intergroup rhabdomyosarcoma study (IRS) committee. Cancer. 1985; 56(8): 2125-32.
- 3. Aurias A, Rimbaut C, Buffe D, Zucker JM, Mazabraud A. Translocation involving chromosome 22 in Ewing's sarcoma. A cytogenetic study of four fresh tumors. Cancer Genet Cytogenet. 1984; 12(1): 21-5.
- Schutte WP, Knight PJ. Precocious puberty because of a pancreatic neuroectodermal tumor. J Pediatr Surg. 2006; 41(11): 1916-8.

- Hashimoto H, Enjoji M, Kiryu H, Daimaru Y. Malignant neuroepithelioma (peripheral neuroblastoma). A clinicopathologic study of 15 cases. Am J Surg Pathol. 1983; 7(4): 309-18.
- Movahedi-Lankarani S, Hruban RH, Westra WH, Klimstra DS. Primitive neuroectodermal tumors of the pancreas: A report of seven cases of a rare neoplasm. Am J Surg Pathol. 2002; 26(8): 1040-7.
- 7. De Alava E, Gerald WL. Molecular biology of the Ewing's sarcoma/primitive neuroectodermal tumor family. J Clin Oncol. 2000; 18(1): 204-13.
- 8. Mao Y, Sang X, Liang N, Yang H, Lu X, Yang Z, et al. Peripheral primitive neuroectodermal tumors arising in the pancreas: the first case report in Asia and a review of the 14 total reported cases in the world. Hepatobiliary Surg Nutr. 2013; 2(1): 51-60.
- Kim JY, Song JS, Park H, Byun JH, Song KB, Kim KP, et al. Primary mesenchymal tumors of the pancreas: single-center experience over 16 years. Pancreas. 2014; 43(6): 959-68.
- Kumar V, Singh A, Sharma V, Kumar M. Primary intracranial dural-based Ewing sarcoma/peripheral primitive neuroectodermal tumor mimicking a meningioma: A rare tumor with review of literature. Asian J Neurosurg. 2017; 12(3): 351.
- 11. Jin SG, Jiang XP, Zhong L. Congenital Ewing's Sarcoma/Peripheral Primitive Neuroectodermal Tumor: A Case Report and Review of the Literature. Pediatr Neonatol. 2016; 57(5): 436-9.
- Welsch T, Mechtersheimer G, Aulmann S, Mueller SA, Buechler MW, Schmidt J, et al. Huge primitive neuroectodermal tumor of the pancreas: Report of a case and review of the literatur. World J Gastroenterol. 2006; 12(37): 6070-3.
- 13. Lee ES, Lee JM. Imaging diagnosis of pancreatic cancer: A state-of-the-art review. World J Gastroenterol. 2006; 20(24): 7864-77.
- Rao L, Monappa V, Rodrigues G, Suresh BP. Ewing's sarcoma of the lesser sac masquerading as a pancreatic tumor. Korean J Intern Med. 2012; 27(1): 91-4.
- Plis A, Zygulska A, Püsküllüoğlu M, Szczepański W, Bialas M, Krupiński M, et al. Synchronous extraskeletal Ewing's sarcoma/PNET and gallbladder carcinoma: a case report and literature review. Contemp Oncol (Pozn). 2016; 20(6): 496-500.
- Tural D, Molinas Mandel N, Dervisoglu S, Dincbas FO, Koca S, Colpan Oksuz D, et al. Extraskeletal Ewing's sarcoma family of tumors in adults: prognostic factors and clinical outcome. Jpn J Clin Oncol. 2012; 42(5): 420-6.
- 17. Teixeira U, Goldoni M, Unterleider M, Diedrich J, Balbinot D, Rodrigues P, et al. Primitive neuroectodermal tumor of the pancreas: a case report and review of the literature. Case Rep Surg. 2015; 2015: 276869.
- Khuri S, Gilshtein H, Sayidaa S, Bishara B, Kluger Y. Primary Ewing Sarcoma/ primitive neuroectodermal tumor of the stomach. Case Rep Oncol. 2016; 9(3): 666-71.
- 19. Nishizawa N, Kumamoto Y, Igarashi K, Nishiyama R, Tajima H, Kawamata H, et al. A peripheral primitive neuroectodermal tumor originating from the pancreas: a case report and review of the literature. Surg Case Rep. 2015; 1: 80.
- Perek S, Perek A, Sarman K, Tuzun H, Buyukunal E. Primitive neuroectodermal tumor of the pancreas: A case report of an extremely rare tumor. Pancreatology. 2003; 3(4): 352-6.

# Ascending Aorta and Aortic Root Replacement With the Bentall Procedure in a Patient With Dextrocardia and Situs **Inversus Totalis**

# 🕲 Özlem Balcıoğlu<sup>1</sup>, 🕲 Barçın Özcem<sup>1</sup>, 🕲 Aşkın Ali Korkmaz<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Near East University Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus <sup>2</sup>Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Memorial Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

# ABSTRACT

We report a case of situs inversus totalis with severe aortic regurgitation, ascending aorta aneurysm and aortic root dilatation in an adult patient. This is the first report in the literature concerning a Bentall operation which was performed successfully in situs inversus totalis patient. The post-operative period of our patient was uneventful and he was discharged from the hospital after 10 days.

Keywords: Situs inversus totalis, dextrocardia, Bentall procedure, ascending aort aneurysm

# INTRODUCTION

Situs inversus totalis is an autosomal recessive congenital anomaly characterized by the opposite positioning of the thoracic and abdominal organs in a reverse mirror image. Dextrocardia is a component of situs inversus totalis. In this particular case, aortic valve insufficiency, aortic root and ascending aorta dilatation were also co-existent. We report a successful Bentall operation that can be a reference for the treatment plans of similar cases in the future

# CASE PRESENTATION

A 57-year-old male patient with known dextrocardia was admitted to the cardiology department with shortness of breath and chest pain complaints. In spite of his suspicious symptoms such as chronic sinusitis, chronic rhinitis and red eye that were consistent with primary ciliary dyskinesia syndrome; he was fertile and did not suffer from any lower respiratory tract diseases. Physical examination revealed the presence of a sinus rhythm and a diastolic murmur becoming more prominent at the left parasternal border.

Echocardiography showed dextrocardia with left ventricular (LV) dilatation, a slightly depressed LV ejection fraction (45%-50%) and severe aortic regurgitation. Sinus valsalva, sinotubular junction and ascending aorta measurements were recorded as 52 mm, 49 mm and 47 mm, respectively (Figure 1). After, contrast enhanced computerized tomography (CT), the patient was diagnosed with "Situs Inversus Totalis" (SIT) which is the presence of reversed mirror images of all thoracoabdominal organs (Figures 2 and 3).

Surgery was performed under general anesthesia using standard median sternotomy. After the pericardiectomy, dextrocardia and rightsided aortic arch were observed. The brachiocephalic trunk and both vena cava were located on the left side of the patient (Figure 4). No venous return abnormalities were detected. Despite the dilatation of the proximal ascending aorta, there was a safety cross clamping area just below the brachiocephalic trunk. Cardiopulmonary bypass was established by the chief surgeon standing on the right side of the patient by using the left sided right atrial appendage and the distal ascending aorta for cannulation. After the aortic cross clamp, both anterograde and retrograde cardioplegia were given and subsequently, aortotomy was performed. The aortic wall was extremely thinned, the valve ring

To cite this article: Balcioğlu Ö, Özcem B, Korkmaz AA. Ascending Aorta and Aortic Root Replacement With the Bentall Procedure in a Patient With Dextrocardia and Situs Inversus Totalis. Cyprus | Med Sci 2022;7(2)276-278

ORCID iDs of the authors: Ö.B. 0000-0002-8935-1477; B.Ö. 0000-0003-1459-7939; A.A.K. 0000-0002-2263-785X.



Address for Correspondence: Özlem Balcıoğlu E-mail: ozlem.balcioglu@neu.edu.tr ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-8935-1477

**Received:** 21.03.2021 Accepted: 26.05.2021

OPEN ACCESS

Copyright 2022 by the Cyprus Turkish Medical Association / Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences published by Galenos Publishing House. Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License

was dilated and the cusps were highly degenerated. For complete myocardial protection, selective cardioplegia was also applied.

Severe aortic regurgitation, ascending aorta aneurysm and dilatation of the aortic anulus led us to consider that valve sparing surgery would not be beneficial; therefore, the team decided to replace the root and the ascending aorta completely by performing the Bentall procedure. Both coronary buttons were prepared as usual and the aortic valve was excised. A 25 mm mechanical aortic valve (SJM<sup>™</sup> Masters Series Mechanical Heart Valve SJM) was sutured to the 30 mm dacron graft



**Figure 1.** Preoperative aortic root measurements by transthoracic echocardiography and sinus valsalva was measured at 5.2 cm and is shown with an arrow.



**Figure 2.** Preoperative CT scans showed reverse mirror images of all thoracoabdominal organs. CT: Computed tomography

and this was implanted with a continuous suturing technique, by using a 4/0 propylene suture. After the re-connection of the coronary buttons, the tubular graft length was trimmed and distal anastomosis was completed. The patient was weaned from the cardiopulmonary bypass with normal sinus rhythm. No complications were observed in the early postoperative period and no inotropic support was required. The patient was extubated at the 6<sup>th</sup> hour of the post-operative period and was discharged from the hospital after 10 days.

#### DISCUSSION

SIT is an autosomal recessive congenital anomaly characterized by opposite positioning of the thoracic and abdominal organs as mirror images. Dextrocardia with SIT is a very rare condition occurring in approximately 1–2 per 10,000 in the general population.<sup>1</sup> Apart from the small percentage of SIT patients that have other congenital heart anomalies, such as transposition of the great vessels or heart defects, most affected adult patients live a normal lifespan and diagnosis takes place by chance when an X-ray or CT scan is performed for another reason.<sup>2</sup>



**Figure 3.** Preoperative CT scans showed reverse mirror images of all thoracoabdominal organs. CT: Computed tomography

Reverse positioning of the internal organs takes place during embryological development. Although the genes that regulate the anatomical positioning of the organs are known, the specific genetic cause of dextrocardia with SIT is still unidentified. Some patients have association with primary ciliary dyskinesia called Kartagener syndrome and are diagnosed in the early childhood period. For the genetic research of this case, blood samples of the patient and family were collected and further investigations were performed.

In our opinion, the pre-operative evaluation, the imaging techniques that were used and the surgical plan were the key points in the success of this case. CT imaging presented the anatomical abnormalities sufficiently and it was extremely helpful for planning the cannulation strategy, setting-up the operative tools and positioning the team during the surgery. However, conventional angiography was also applied in order to eliminate the presence of concurrent coronary artery disease and venous perfusion defects. No coronary artery lesions or venous perfusion defects were found. As neither a left atrial approach nor coronary bypass surgery were required, in contrast with some articles in the literature, the surgical team decided to implement the conventional positioning where the chief surgeon stands on the right side of the patient.<sup>3</sup> The surgery was successfully completed with no difficulties or complications encountered.

Ascending aortic aneurysm is a life-threatening disease related with rupture and aortic dissection risk. As is well-known, a well-planned elective surgery, applied by experienced centers, is the curative treatment. The Bentall procedure is still the most helpful technique,



Figure 4. Preoperative view.

especially for ascending aortic aneurysms that include aortic root dilation and aortic valve regurgitation and are inappropriate for valve sparing surgery.<sup>4</sup>

In conclusion, the presence of SIT with dextrocardia is an extremely rare condition. In this particular case, aortic valve insufficiency, aortic root and ascending aorta dilatation were also co-existent with SIT with dextrocardia. In the literature, no cases which involved the use of the Bentall procedure were reported. In our opinion, the Bentall procedure can be safely applied to such cases without any requirement to change the positions of the surgical team in the surgery. This particular case can be a reference for the treatment plans of similar cases which may be encountered in the future.

# **MAIN POINTS**

- The Bentall Operation is still a life-saving procedure in aortic root dilatation and severe aortic regurgitation if aortic valve sparing techniques are not suitable.
- Complete diagnosis and well-planned operation techniques carried out by experienced centers is the key point of success in such cases.
- A small percentage of SIT patients have additionally heart defects which may lead to diagnosis in early childhood.
- Chronic sinusitis, chronic rhinitis, red eyes and infertility may be associated with primary ciliary dyskinesia in SIT patients and these patients should undergo genetic investigation for Kartagener syndrome.

# ETHICS

**Informed Consent:** Informed consent was obtained from the patient before the surgery.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

#### **Authorship Contributions**

Concept: Ö.B., Design: Ö.B., Supervision: A.A.K., Data Collection and/or Interpretation: B.Ö., Literature Search: B.Ö., A.A.K., Writing: Ö.B., Critical Review: A.A.K.

# DISCLOSURES

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The author declared that this study had received no financial support.

- Garg N, Agarwal BL, Modi N, Radhakrishnan S, Sinha N. Dextrocardia: an analysis of cardiac structures in 125 patients. Int J Cardiol. 2003; 88(2-3): 143-55; discussion 155-6.
- 2. Grant RP. The syndrome of dextroversion of the heart. Circulation. 1958; 18(1): 25-36.
- Altarabsheh SE, Al-Azzam FM, Deo SV, Almomane AF, Al-Omari A, Alma'ayeh SM, et al. Left side approach for aortic valve replacement in patient with dextrocardia and situs inversus totalis. J Saudi Heart Assoc. 2017; 29(4): 297-99.
- 4. Nardi P, Ruvolo G. Current indications to surgical repair of the aneurysms of the aneurysms of ascending aorta. J Vasc Endovasc Surg. 2016; 1(2): 1-4.



# Transparent Foreign Body Randomly Found in the Nasopharynx During Adenotonsillectomy

# 🛛 Hasan Şafakoğulları

Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Near East University Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

# ABSTRACT

During a preoperative examination, foreign objects may be missed due to their transparency and, as a result, these objects may obstruct the tracheal airways. This article was written to show the risk of foreign bodies escaping within the airway. As in this experience, each surgery shows that the risks involved and, in some cases, the results are unexpected.

Tonsillectomy and adenotonsillectomy operations are performed all over the world. All operations have peri-operative and post-operative complications. During an adenotonsillectomy operation I had undertaken, I came across an unexpected situation that I had not previously encountered, either through experience or in the medical literature.

Keywords: Adenotonsillectomy, foreign body nasopharynx

### INTRODUCTION

Tonsillectomy and adenotonsilectomy operations are performed all over the world. All operations have perioperative and postoperative complications. During an adenotonsilectomy operation I had undertaken, I came across an unexpected situation that I had not previously encountered, either through experience or in the medical literature.

# CASE PRESENTATION

A 13-year-old patient was admitted to our outpatient clinic suffering from breathing difficulties and uncomfortable nightly breathing patterns. Endoscopic examination of the patient revealed adenoid tissue sufficient to fill the choana patency and grade IV tonsil tissue according to Friedman Scala. No foreign body was seen.

An adenotonsillectomy operation was recommended to the patient's family and they accepted. Pre-operative blood tests were normal. Under general anesthesia, adenotonsillectomy was carried out in the operating room according to the procedure.

After the necessary bleeding control, saline was poured into the surgical site and the washing phase was completed. The oropharynx was aspirated first.

Afterwards, a nelaton catheter was used for nasal and nasopharynx aspiration. A drain was encountered in the transition from the right nasal cavity to the nasopharynx. Some resistance was encountered in the passage of the nasopharynx from the right nasal cavity. While the catheter was being pushed forward with a little force, a transparent leaf-shaped foreign body came into the oropharynx area (Figure 1).

This material was taken out and the required washing was completed and the operation was terminated. Post-operative follow-up was not different from other operations.

# DISCUSSION

Nasopharynx is a place where the foreign bodies inserted into the nose and mouth of children can be located.<sup>1</sup>

**To cite this article:** Şafakoğulları H. Transparent Foreign Body Randomly Found in the Nasopharynx During Adenotonsillectomy. Cyprus J Med Sci 2022;7(2)279-280

**ORCID iDs of the authors:** H.Ş. 0000-0001-8896-4290.



Address for Correspondence: Hasan Şafakoğulları E-mail: safakogullari@hotmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0001-8896-4290

Received: 10.09.2020 Accepted: 29.09.2020



Copyright 2022 by the Cyprus Turkish Medical Association / Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences published by Galenos Publishing House. Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License Foreign bodies placed or inhaled into the nose can pass through the nasopharynx and settle there. These foreign bodies may mimic upper airway infections or may manifest as a mild swelling of the soft palate.<sup>1</sup>

If an X-ray is taken, radiographs may be seen on the lateral radiographs, and foreign material that is opaque can be seen by the X-ray.

In children, foreign bodies such as buttons, beads, pea-type foods, and toy pieces, as well as rings, teeth, leeches, and fish are found.<sup>2</sup> latrogenic gauze forgotten in the nasopharynx has also been found.<sup>3</sup> In addition, vomiting and coughing may also be the cause of foreign bodies being deposited in the nasopharynx.<sup>2</sup>

The standard approach in suspicious foreign body aspiration is physical examination, bronchoscopy, esophagoscopy and radiographic examination (chest radiography at inspiration and expiration and lateral neck radiography). Even if the foreign substance is removed, we should consider that a second foreign body may be present. As explained in one article, even in cases suggesting an acute aerodigestive foreign substance, a foreign substance can also be found in the nasopharynx.<sup>4</sup> Nasopharynx foreign bodies can lay dormant for years without symptoms.<sup>5,6</sup> The presence of foreign bodies in the nasopharynx can be determined, either as a result of the observation of nasopharyngeal obstructions following coughing attacks or by random detection.<sup>7-9</sup> As foreign bodies travel to the stomach, they orient superiorly after a gag reflex thus settling in the nasopharynx.7 Aspiration performed without providing the necessary airway safety may result in death.<sup>10</sup> A nasopharynx foreign body can also result in adenoid hypertrophy and obstructive sleep apnea.<sup>11</sup>

In conclusion, the nasopharynx is a potential void where foreign bodies can be deposited. Even though nasopharynx examination is performed in the pre-operative evaluation, the foreign body may be overlooked as in this case. The foreign body of the nasopharynx can be determined after the examination. Therefore, the examination of the nasopharynx from both sides is important in pre-operative evaluation.

As in my case, we should keep in mind that unexpected situations may occur in every operation.



Figure 1. Foreign body identified during operation

# **MAIN POINTS**

- This case emphasizes the importance of careful physical examination before an operation.
- In every operation, the surgeon can come across unexpected situations and complications.
- Nasopharyngeal foreign bodies can result in life-threatening conditions.

#### ETHICS

Informed Consent: Informed consent was taken.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

#### DISCLOSURES

**Financial Disclosure:** The author declared that this study had received no financial support.

- Jotdar A, Dutta M, Kundu S. Nasopharynx The secret vault for lost foreign bodies of the upper aerodigestive tract. Iran J Otorhinolaryngol. 2016; 28(89): 431-3.
- Alshehri WM, Al-Qahtani B. A rare incidental finding of a foreign body in the nasopharynx during adenotonsillectomy. Case Rep Otolaryngol. 2018; 2018: 8361806.
- Dirik MA, Kazıkdaş KC, Yalçınozan ET. A pediatric nasopharyngeal swelling. Vis J Emerg Med. 2018; 11: 64-5.
- MacNeil SD, Moxham JP, Kozak FK. Paediatric aerodigestive foreign bodies: remember the nasopharynx. J Laryngol Otol. 2010; 124(10): 1132-5.
- 5. Briggs RD, Pou AM, Friedman NR. An unusual catch in the nasopharynx. American Journal of Otolaryangology. 2001; 22(5): 354-7.
- 6. Awty MD. Removal of a large shell fragment from the nasopharynx. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1972; 33(4): 513-9.
- 7. Oysu C, Yilmaz HB, Sahin AA, Külekçi M. Marble impaction in the nasopharynx following oral ingestion. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol. 2003; 260(9): 522-3.
- Eghtedari F. Long lasting nasopharyngeal foreign body. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2003; 129(3): 293-4.
- 9. Berry S, Tay H. An unusual cause of nasal obstruction: a hair clip in the nasopharynx. Ear Nose Throat J. 2006; 85(4): 210.
- 10. Baigel GD. An unfortunate cause of death. Anaesthesia. 1999; 54(9): 917-8.
- 11. Leiberman A, Yagupsky P, Lavie P. Obstructive sleep apnoea probably related to a foreign body. Eur J Pediatr. 1985; 144(2): 205-6.